
  

 
Meeting of the  

 

CABINET 
__________________________________ 

 
Wednesday, 8 April 2009 at 5.30 p.m. 

_______________________________________ 
 

A G E N D A – SECTION ONE 
______________________________________ 

 
VENUE 

Committee Room C1, 1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove 
Crescent, London, E14 2BG 

 
 
 

Members: 
 

 
Councillor Lutfur Rahman (Chair) – (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Sirajul Islam (Vice-Chair) – (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Ohid Ahmed – (Lead Member, Regeneration, Localisation and 

Community Partnerships) 
Councillor Rofique U Ahmed – (Lead Member, Culture and Leisure) 
Councillor Anwara Ali – (Lead Member, Health & Wellbeing) 
Councillor Alibor Choudhury – (Lead Member, Employment and Skills) 
Councillor Marc Francis – (Lead Member, Housing and Development) 
Councillor Clair Hawkins – (Lead Member, Children's Services) 
Councillor Joshua Peck – (Lead Member, Resources and Performance) 
Councillor Abdal Ullah – (Lead Member, Cleaner, Safer, Greener) 
 
[Note: The quorum for this body is 3 Members]. 

 
 
 
If you require any further information relating to this meeting, would like to request a large 
print, Braille or audio version of this document, or would like to discuss access arrangements 
or any other special requirements, please contact: 
Angus Taylor, Democratic Services,  
Tel: 020 7364 4333, E-mail: angus.taylor@towerhamlets.gov.uk  
 



 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

CABINET  
 

WEDNESDAY, 8 APRIL 2009 
 

5.30 p.m. 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Pages 1 - 2) 
 
 To note any declarations of interest made by Members, including those restricting Members from 

voting on the questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992.  See 
attached note from the Chief Executive. 
 
 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 

3 - 14  

 To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the 
unrestricted minutes of the ordinary meeting of the Cabinet 
held on 11th March 2009.  
 

  

4. DEPUTATIONS & PETITIONS  
 

  

 To receive any deputations or petitions. 
 

  

5. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

  

5 .1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to 
Unrestricted Business to be considered   

 
  

 To receive any advice of key issues or questions in relation 
to the unrestricted business of the Cabinet, arising from the 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 
7th April 2009. 
 
 

  

5 .2 Any Unrestricted Decisions "Called in" by the 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee   

 
  

 (Under provisions of Article 6 Para 6.02 V of the 
Constitution). 
 
Nil items.  
 
 

  



 
 

 UNRESTRICTED REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

6. A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE  
 

  

6 .1 Amendments to the Council's Lettings Policy (CAB 
138/089)   

 
15 - 20 All Wards 

6 .2 Local Authority Carbon Management Programme (CAB 
139/089)   

 
21 - 70 All Wards 

6 .3 Communities, Localities & Cultural Services 
Directorate Capital Programme 2009/2010  (CAB 
140/089)   

 

71 - 80 All Wards 

7. A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items.  
 

  

8. A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY  
 

  

8 .1 Commission into the Public Safety of Young People in 
Tower Hamlets (CAB 141/089)   

 
81 - 124 All Wards 

8 .2 Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children's Board Annual 
Report 2008/9, Business Plan 2007/10, Summary of 
Lord Laming's report and outcome of Serious Case 
Review Evaluations (CAB 142/089)   

 

125 - 154 All Wards 

9. A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

10. ONE TOWER HAMLETS  
 

  

10 .1 Age, Race, Religion/Belief and Sexual Orientation 
Equality Schemes 2009-2012 (CAB 143/089)   

 
155 - 346 All Wards 

10 .2 Annual Report on the Workforce to Reflect the 
Community Strategy and Progression of Under-
Represented Groups in the Council (CAB 144/089) - To 
Follow   

 

 All Wards 

11. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS 
CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  

 

  

12. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS FOR 
INFORMATION  

 

  

 Nil items.  
 

  



 
 

  
 

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 
 In view of the contents of the remaining items on the agenda, the Committee is 

recommended to adopt the following motion: 
 
“That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local Government Act, 1972 as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act, 1985, the Press and 
Public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting for the consideration of the Section 
Two business on the grounds that it contains information defined as Exempt in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government, Act 1972”. 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL SECTION (PINK) 
The Exempt / Confidential (Pink) Committee papers in the Agenda will contain 
information, which is commercially, legally or personally sensitive and should not be 
divulged to third parties.  If you do not wish to retain these papers after the meeting, 
please hand them to the Committee Officer present. 
 
 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

14. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES  
 

  

 Nil items.  
 

  

15. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

  

15 .1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to 
Exempt / Confidential Business to be considered.   

 
  

 Nil items.  
 
 

  

15 .2 Any Exempt / Confidential Decisions "Called in" by the 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee   

 
  

 (Under provisions of Article 6 Para 6.02 V of the 
Constitution). 
 
Nil items.  
 
 

  

 EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

16. A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE  
 

  

 Nil items.  
 

  

17. A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items.  
 

  



 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

18. A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items.  
 

  

19. A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items.  
 

  

20. ONE TOWER HAMLETS  
 

  

 Nil items.  
 

  

21. ANY OTHER EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL 
BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  

 

  

22. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS FOR 
INFORMATION  

 

  

 Nil items.  
 

  
 SCRUTINY PROCESS 

 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting on Tuesday 5th May 2009 may 
scrutinise provisional decisions made in respect of any of the reports attached, if it is 
“called in” by five or more Councillors except where the decision involves a 
recommendation to full Council. 
 
The deadline for “Call-in” is: Friday 17th April 2009  (5.00 p.m.) 
 
The deadline for Deputations is:  Wednesday 29th April 2009  (5.00 p.m.) 
 
Councillors wishing to “call-in” a provisional decision, or members of the public wishing to 
submit a deputation request, should contact: John Williams 
 Service Head Democratic Services: 
 020 7364 4205 

 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\1\0\AI00019013\Notefromchiefexecutiveredeclarationofinterests07010850.doc 
    

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 
This note is guidance only.  Members should consult the Council’s Code of Conduct for further 
details.  Note: Only Members can decide if they have an interest therefore they must make their 
own decision.  If in doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to 
attending at a meeting.   
 
Declaration of interests for Members 
 
Where Members have a personal interest in any business of the authority as described in 
paragraph 4 of the Council’s Code of Conduct (contained in part 5 of the Council’s Constitution) 
then s/he must disclose this personal interest as in accordance with paragraph 5 of the Code.  
Members must disclose the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting and 
certainly no later than the commencement of the item or where the interest becomes apparent.   
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to 
affect: 
 

(a) An interest that you must register 
 
(b) An interest that is not on the register, but where the well-being or financial position of you, 

members of your family, or people with whom you have a close association, is likely to be 
affected by the business of your authority more than it would affect the majority of 
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision. 

 
Where a personal interest is declared a Member may stay and take part in the debate and 
decision on that item.   
 
What constitutes a prejudicial interest? - Please refer to paragraph 6 of the adopted Code of 
Conduct. 
 
Your personal interest will also be a prejudicial interest in a matter if (a), (b) and either (c) 
or (d) below apply:- 
 

(a) A member of the public, who knows the relevant facts, would reasonably think that your 
personal interests are so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgment of the 
public interests; AND 

(b) The matter does not fall within one of the exempt categories of decision listed in 
paragraph 6.2 of the Code; AND EITHER   

(c) The matter affects your financial position or the financial interest of a body with which 
you are associated; or 

(d) The matter relates to the determination of a licensing or regulatory application 
 

The key points to remember if you have a prejudicial interest in a matter being discussed at a 
meeting:- 
 

i. You must declare that you have a prejudicial interest, and the nature of that interest, as 
soon as that interest becomes apparent to you; and  

 
ii. You must leave the room for the duration of consideration and decision on the item and 

not seek to influence the debate or decision unless (iv) below applies; and  

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



2 
 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\1\0\AI00019013\Notefromchiefexecutiveredeclarationofinterests07010850.doc 
    

 
iii. You must not seek to improperly influence a decision in which you have a prejudicial 

interest.   
 

iv. If Members of the public are allowed to speak or make representations at the meeting, 
give evidence or answer questions about the matter, by statutory right or otherwise (e.g. 
planning or licensing committees), you can declare your prejudicial interest but make 
representations.  However, you must immediately leave the room once you have 
finished your representations and answered questions (if any).  You cannot remain in 
the meeting or in the public gallery during the debate or decision on the matter. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE CABINET 
 

HELD AT 5.40 P.M. ON WEDNESDAY, 11 MARCH 2009 
 

COMMITTEE ROOM M71, 7TH FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 
CLOVE CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG 

 
Members Present: 
 
Councillor Lutfur Rahman (Chair) (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Ohid Ahmed (Lead Member, Regeneration, 

Localisation and Community 
Partnerships) 

Councillor Rofique U Ahmed (Lead Member, Culture and Leisure) 
Councillor Anwara Ali (Lead Member, Health & Wellbeing) 
Councillor Alibor Choudhury (Lead Member, Employment and Skills) 
Councillor Marc Francis (Lead Member, Housing and 

Development) 
Councillor Clair Hawkins (Lead Member, Children's Services) 
Councillor Sirajul Islam (Vice-Chair) (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Joshua Peck (Lead Member, Resources and 

Performance) 
Councillor Abdal Ullah (Lead Member, Cleaner, Safer, Greener) 
  

 
Other Councillors Present: 
Councillor M. Shahid Ali  
Councillor Tim Archer  
Councillor Abdul Asad (Chair, Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee) 
Councillor Stephanie Eaton (Leader Liberal Democrat Group and 

Scrutiny Lead Member: A Healthy 
Community) 

Councillor Peter Golds (Leader Conservative Group) 
Councillor Fazlul Haque  

 
Others Present: 
  

 
Officers Present: 
Lutfur Ali – (Assistant Chief Executive) 
Isobel Cattermole – (Service Head, Resources) 
Kevan Collins – (Corporate Director, Children's Services) 
Aman Dalvi – (Corporate Director, Development & Renewal) 
Tony Finnegan – (Communications Officer) 

Agenda Item 3

Page 3



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

2 

Isabella Freeman – (Assistant Chief Executive (Legal Services)) 
John Goldup – (Corporate Director, Adults Health & Wellbeing) 
Dean Grant – (Diary Secretary to Lead Members) 
Stephen Halsey – (Corporate Director, Communities, Localities & 

Culture) 
Fiona Heyland – (Waste Services Group Manager) 
Chris Holme – (Service Head, Resources) 
Helen Jenner – (Service Head,  Early Years Children & Learning) 
Kevin Kewin – (Policy Manager) 
Paul Leeson – (Finance Manager, Development & Renewal) 
Lolita Muhammad – (Parking Appeals Officer) 
Jim Ricketts – (Corporate Accounting Manager) 
Martin Smith – (Chief Executive) 
Claire Symonds – (Service Head, Customer Access) 
Louise Fleming – Senior Committee Officer 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Chris Naylor, Corporate 
Director of Resources. 
 
Apologies for lateness were received on behalf of Martin Smith, Chief 
Executive. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Ohid Ahmed declared a personal interest in Agenda item 12.2 
“Corporate Revenue Budget Monitoring 2009/2010 Third Report – Housing 
Revenue Account” (CAB 136/089).  The declaration of interest was made on 
the basis that the report contained recommendations relating to the Housing 
Revenue Account and Councillor Ahmed was a member of the Tower 
Hamlets Homes Board. 
 
Councillor Sirajul Islam declared a personal interest in Agenda item 12.2 
“Corporate Revenue Budget Monitoring 2009/2010 Third Report – Housing 
Revenue Account” (CAB 136/089). The declaration of interest was made on 
the basis that the report contained recommendations relating to the Housing 
Revenue Account and Councillor Islam was a tenant of Tower Hamlets 
Homes. 
 
Noted.  
 

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 
Resolved 
 
That the unrestricted minutes of the ordinary meeting of the Cabinet held on 
11th February 2009 be approved and signed by the Chair, as a correct record 
of the proceedings. 
 

Page 4



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

3 

4. DEPUTATIONS & PETITIONS  
 
Nil Items. 
 
 

5. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
 

5.1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to Unrestricted 
Business to be considered  
 
The Chair informed members of the Cabinet that Councillor Asad, Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, had Tabled a sheet of advice/ comments 
arising from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 10th March 2009. 
 
Councillor Asad, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, addressed 
the Cabinet and thanked Councillor Ohid Ahmed, Lead Member 
Regeneration, Localisation and Community Partnerships, for his Scrutiny 
Spotlight.  He advised that the final remaining Scrutiny Spotlight for the 
2008/09 municipal year would be presented by Councillor Lutfur Rahman, 
Leader of the Council. 
 
Councillor Asad advised that the Lead Member for Children Services had 
reported to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the Children and Young 
People’s Plan 2009-12 and the Committee’s comments were tabled.  The 
Committee welcomed the extensive work which had been carried out and 
asked the Cabinet to monitor the progress with the Action Plan. 
 
Resolved 
 
That the advice/ comments of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be 
noted, and that these be given consideration during the Cabinet deliberation 
of the items of business to which the advice/ comments related. 
 
 

5.2 Any Unrestricted Decisions "Called in" by the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee  
 
There had been no requests to call in for further consideration any decisions 
made by the Cabinet at its meeting on 11th February 2009. 
 
 

6. A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE  
 
 

6.1 Review of Local Land Charges Search Fees (CAB 128/089)  
 
Mr Chris Holme, Services Head Resources, briefly introduced the report and 
responded to the question tabled by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny.  
He advised the Cabinet that the fee for a personal search was set by 
legislation.  Fees for a full personal search and a full official search were 

Page 5



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

4 

discretionary.  However, Members must take government guidelines into 
consideration when setting fees, in that the fees must not be significantly 
higher than the cost of providing the service.  The Cabinet was advised that 
the proposed fees also reflected the current climate and the downturn in the 
housing market. 
 
Resolved:  
 
(1) That the proposed official full search fee and the full personal search 

fee for the Local Land Charges service, as set out in paragraph 4.1 of 
the report (CAB 128/089), to be effective from 1st April 2009, be 
approved; and 

 
(2) That it be noted that the Local Authorities (England) (Charges for 

Property Searches) Regulations 2008 require that the Land Charge 
Service operate as a separate trading account with effect from 1 April 
2009, and must break even over a rolling three year period (as set out 
in paragraphs 3.9 and 3.10 of the report (CAB 128/089). This 
legislation was passed by Parliament on 16 December 2008.  

 
 

6.2 Development of a Municipal Waste Strategy (CAB 129/089)  
 
Mr Stephen Halsey, Corporate Director Communities, Localities and Culture, 
briefly introduced the report and highlighted the key recommendations.  In 
response to questions from Members, Mr Halsey advised the Cabinet that he 
had liaised with both the North and the East London Waste Authorities and 
concluded that entering into a contract with either would not be the 
appropriate way forward and was, in some instances, contrary to the Council’s 
Procurement rules. 
 
Ms Fiona Heyland, Waste Services Group Manager, in response to questions 
from Members, advised that the first part of the Strategy would achieve waste 
minimisation and prevention, which was a priority for the Council.  The 
Cabinet also noted the importance of using alternatives to Landfill, and that 
residents of the Fairfield Road Recycling Centre were supportive of the 
strategy. 
 
Resolved: 
 
1. That it be agreed that the Authority commences a procurement process 

under the EU Public Contracts Regulation for a Merchant Capacity 
(spare/available capacity at facilities that are currently operating or are 
due to be delivered in the near future by the commercial sector) and/or 
a Joint Venture Project for long term Municipal Waste treatment and 
disposal solutions as set out in paragraphs 5.2.1 to 5.2.11 and 5.4.1 to 
5.4.6 of the report (CAB 129/089);  

 
2. That it be agreed that the procurement process runs concurrently with 

development of the Municipal Waste Strategy as set out in proposed 
timetable in section 5.5 of the report (CAB 129/089); 

Page 6



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

5 

 
3. That the link between the development of the new Municipal Waste 

Strategy and the development of the Core Strategy particularly in 
relation to the potential medium to long term option of developing a 
waste fuelled Combined Heat and Power facility in Fish Island or 
elsewhere within the Borough be noted;    

 
4. That it be noted that the current Medium Term Financial Strategy until 

2010/11 includes necessary Budget provision to meet the costs of 
Waste Disposal, but that from 2011/12 it is anticipated that additional 
funding will be required (which has been included in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan) to meet the costs of a new residual waste treatment 
solution or the cost implications of the Authority continuing with Landfill 
Disposal; 

 
5. That the actions to be taken to ensure maximum efficiency and 

effectiveness and the reduction of duplication in terms of Waste 
Education and Outreach services be noted. The potential changes to 
these areas will be carried out in parallel with the development of the 
Waste Strategy as set out in paragraphs 5.1.3 to 5.1.5 of the report 
(CAB 129/089); 

 
 

7. A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 
 

7.1 Children and Young People's Plan 2009 -12 (CAB 130/089)  
 
Mr Kevan Collins, Corporate Director Children’s Services, briefly presented 
the report and summarised the salient points.  In response to the comments 
tabled by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, he advised that 
Priority 2 – Significantly Reduce Bullying would tackle all bullying, but that the 
specific issue of homophobic bullying would be worked into the detail of the 
plan.  He also reported that a significant amount of work was being carried out 
in respect of engaging children and young people in the 2012 Olympics and 
Paralympics. 
 
The Cabinet noted that the Council had recently been awarded the Beacon 
Award for preventing Child Poverty.  Members welcomed the Plan and noted 
the importance of working constructively with the Council’s Partners in 
tackling Child Poverty. 
 
In response to Members questions, Mr Collins advised that the proposed 
change of the Directorate name to “Children, Schools and Families 
Directorate” reflected the name of the relevant government department.  He 
also informed the Cabinet that the bullying policies of all schools would be 
monitored closely.  It was important that schools co-operate with the Council’s 
Social Services. 
 
Resolved:  
 

Page 7



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

6 

1. That the draft Children and Young People's Plan 2009 -12 at Appendix 
1 of the report (CAB 130/089) be endorsed and that Full Council be 
recommended to approve the plan subject to any appropriate 
amendments to reflect the views of Members; 

 
2. That the Corporate Director of Children’s Services, after consultation 

with the Lead Member for Children’s Services, be authorised to make 
appropriate amendments to the Children and Young People’s Plan in 
advance of consideration by Full Council;  

 
3. That the proposed change of name from ‘Children’s Service’s 

Directorate’ to ‘Children, Schools and Families Directorate’ as set out in 
paragraph 4.6 of the report (CAB 130/089), be agreed.  

 
 

7.2 Results of the Consultation on the 2010/11 Admission Arrangements for 
Tower Hamlets Community and Voluntary Controlled Schools (CAB 
131/089)  
 
Mr Kevan Collins, Corporate Director Children’s Services, briefly presented 
the report and responded to the questions tabled by the Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.  He advised that the issue of admission 
arrangements would be raised at all Governing Body meetings.  In respect of 
nursery/play groups, the Council provided enough places for every child in the 
Borough, however could not make attendance at the groups mandatory.  The 
growth of buildings provision would deal with the increases in population in 
the Borough. 
 
In response to Members questions, Mr Collins advised that very few children 
and young people had to travel out of the Borough to school (approximately 
5%) whereas the figure in other London boroughs was as much as 30-40%.  
The Council was working closely with the Faith schools in the Borough to 
ensure the welfare of all students and to develop teaching and leadership.  
However, not all students at Faith schools were from Tower Hamlets.  It was 
noted that the key was to ensure that every school in the Borough achieved 
excellence. 
 
Resolved:  
 
1. That the admissions criteria to nursery schools, classes and early years 

units and primary schools be amended as set out at paragraph 4.1 of the 
report (CAB 131/089); 

 

2. That re adoption be agreed as set out in (a) – (c) below:   
 

(a) the primary co-ordinated admissions scheme, as set out at paragraph 
5.1 of the report (CAB 131/089);  

(b) the secondary co-ordinated admissions scheme as set out at 
paragraph 6.1 of the report (CAB 131/089) 

(c) Tower Hamlets as the "relevant area" for admissions purposes as set 
out at paragraph 7.1 (CAB 131/089) 

Page 8



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

7 

 
3. That the recommendation for the oversubscription criteria to 6th forms, 

as explained in paragraph 6.2 of the report (CAB 131/089), be agreed; 
and  

 
4. That the recommendation to retain the current method for measuring 

home to school distance, as set out in paragraph 7.3 of the report (CAB 
131/089), be agreed.  

 
8. A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY  

 
There were no items to be considered. 
 

9. A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 
There were no items to be considered. 
 

10. ONE TOWER HAMLETS  
 
There were no items to be considered. 
 
 

10.1 Local Area Agreement (LAA) - Refresh (CAB 132/089)  
 
Mr Kevin Kewin, Policy Manager, presented the report and advised that 
negotiations on indicators were ongoing.  Mr Lutfur Ali, Assistant Chief 
Executive, responded to the question tabled by the Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, advising that target levels were being reconsidered in 
respect of housing delivery due to the economic downturn.  It was noted that 
there was a proposed initiative to invest £20 million into Right to Buy Homes. 
 
In response to Members’ questions, Mr Ali advised that there had been a 6% 
improvement in the 3rd Sector Strategy and it was noted that PI N17 had been 
deferred by central government rather than the Council.  Members requested 
that the appropriate Lead Member be consulted on Performance Indicators to 
enable them to feed into the process at an earlier stage; and that baseline 
data be included in future reports. 
 
Resolved:  
 
1. That the Local Area Agreement, attached at appendix A to the report 

(CAB 132/089), be endorsed; 
 
2. That the Chief Executive, after consultation with the Leader of the 

Council, be authorised to make appropriate and necessary 
amendments to the LAA in advance of final submission and 
publication; and 

 
3. That the Chief Executive, after consultation with the Leader of the 

Council, be authorised to prepare the revision proposal for submission 
to the Secretary of State. 

Page 9



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

8 

 
10.2 Future of Out of Hours Telephone Service (CAB 133/089)  

 
Ms Claire Symonds, Service Head Customer Access, presented the report 
and responded to the questions tabled by the Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  It was not known how many of the 60,000 calls received 
were from RSL properties.  However, the Council charged the RSLs £20 per 
order which amounted to approximately £46,000 for the year and equated to 
approximately 10% of the total call volume.  This would continue to be 
monitored.  Members welcomed the improved service to residents and the 
better support for staff. 
 
Resolved:  
 
1. That the signing of an Access Agreement to join the Pan London Out 

Of Hours (PLOOH) service from 1st April 2009 for the life of the 
Framework Agreement (ie until September 2012), be agreed; and   

 
2. That it be noted that the contract will be monitored and can be 

terminated with immediate effect in the event of unsatisfactory 
performance. 

 
 

10.3 Award of the Benefits' Resilience Contract (CAB 134/089)  
 
Ms Claire Symonds, Service Head Customer Access, presented the report 
and responded to the questions tabled by the Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  The Cabinet was advised that the contract could be 
reviewed as often as Members wished.  There was no intention to outsource 
the service of dealing with benefits.  Potential savings of £171,000 had been 
identified.  The Council provided information and training for the organisations 
within the Borough dealing with benefit claims.  The contract for the 
successful service provider would comply with the Council’s policies and 
procedures, including those of equal pay and workforce to reflect the 
community.  Members highlighted the need to reduce agency staff whilst still 
maintaining a service for residents.   
 
Resolved:  
 
1. That the Resilience Contract be awarded to RB Solutions Limited 

commencing April 2009 for a period of two years with an option of a 
further one year extensions by agreement to a total maximum contract 
period of four years; 

 
2. That it be noted that this contract will be monitored and can be 

terminated by the Authority at the end of each year of the contract 
should performance not be to the satisfaction of the Corporate Director 
of Resources; and  

 
3. That it be agreed that the award of the Contract, referred to in 

resolution 1 above, will be on the basis of the conclusions of the tender 

Page 10



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

9 

evaluation on the grounds that RB Solutions Limited have   
demonstrated that they meet the agreed criteria for the selection of the 
supplier through the contract process, and as follows: 

 
(i) the needs of the Authority as set out throughout the tendering 

process; 
 

(ii) the ability to demonstrate the required service outcomes in 
terms of cost and quality; and 

 
(iii) the ability to support the effective development of the Council’s 

developing requirements of the Service, in terms of innovation 
and of further partnership growth to mutual advantage. 

 
11. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  

 
Councillor Rofique Ahmed informed the Cabinet that free swimming had been 
secured for under 16s and over 60s, taking place on Fridays in the Borough. 
 
 

12. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS FOR INFORMATION  
 
 

12.1 Strategic Plan and Corporate  Revenue Budget Monitoring report 2008-
09 Performance to 31st December 2008 (CAB 135/089)  
 
Ms Claire Symonds, Service Head Customer Access, presented the report 
and advised that the transfer of the residual Housing Benefits Administration 
budget of £245,000 to Resources would not take place until further 
consultation had taken place with the new Corporate Director of Development 
and Renewal. 
 
Resolved:  
 
1. Consider any further action requested by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee; 
 
2. That performance against targets for Strategic Indicators (Section 3 

and Appendix 1 of the report (CAB 135/089)), be noted;  
 
3. That performance against targets for Priority Indicators (Section 3 and 

Appendix 2 of the report (CAB 135/089)), be noted; 
 
4. That the projected outturn for Directorate service budgets and for the 

total General Fund net expenditure budget for 2008/2009 in section 4.2 
and Appendices 3A-G of the report (CAB 135/089), be noted;  

 
5. That projected outturn for Directorate Trading Accounts for 2008/2009 

as detailed in section 5.2 and Appendix 4 of the report (CAB 135/089), 
be noted; 

 

Page 11



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

10 

6. That the budget target adjustments as detailed in section 7, with the 
omission of 7.2.2.1 (transfer of residual Housing Benefits 
Administration budget to Resources) and Appendix 5 of the report 
(CAB 135/089), be agreed;  

 
7. That the performance against Service Improvement Growth targets in 

section 8.1 of the report (CAB 135/089), be noted;   
 
8. That the projected spend against Area Based Grant (ABG) as detailed 

in section 9.1 of the report (CAB 135/089), be noted; and  
 
9. That the 2008/09 performance against savings targets as detailed in 

section 10 and Appendix 6 of the report (CAB 135/089), be noted.   
 
 

12.2 Corporate Revenue Budget Monitoring 2009/2010 -Third Report - 
Housing Revenue Account (CAB 136/089) - To Follow  
 
Mr Chris Holme, Service Head Resources, presented the report and 
highlighted the salient points.  Councillor Marc Francis, Lead Member for 
Housing and Development advised the Cabinet that the lobbying of central 
government to reduce rent increases had been successful and that the 
Housing Minister had announced a 3.1% increase.  The revised guidelines 
would amount to an approximately £2 per week increase.  A report on the 
revised rent increase would be presented to the next meeting of the Cabinet.   
 
Resolved:  
 
1. That the projected outturn in respect of the 2008/09 Housing Revenue 

Account as detailed in Appendix A to the report (CAB 136/089), be 
noted; and 

 
2. That the increase in the 2008/09 Management Fee for Tower Hamlets 

Homes from £39,253,000 to £39,823,000 in order to reflect the 
changes set out in paragraphs 3.3 to 3.5 of the report (CAB 136/089),  
be approved;  

 
 

12.3 2008/09 Capital Programme:  Capital Monitoring Report as at 31st 
December 2008 (CAB 137/089)  
 
Mr Chris Holme, Service Head Resources, presented the report. 
 
Resolved:  
 
1. That the contents of the report (CAB 137/089), be noted;  
 
2. That a capital estimate in the sum of £2.500 million for the acquisition 

of telephony equipment as set out in section 6 of the report (CAB 
137/089), be adopted; and  

 

Page 12



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

11 

3. That prudential borrowing of £2.500 million in 2009/10 to finance the 
purchase of the equipment as set out at Section 6 of the report (CAB 
137/089), be approved. 

 
13. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  

 
Resolved:  
 
That in accordance with the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act 1985, the press and public be excluded from the remainder of 
the meeting for the consideration of the Section Two business on the grounds 
that it contained information defined as exempt or confidential in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government, Act 1972. 
 

14. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES  
 
Minutes of the ordinary meeting of the Cabinet held on 11th February 2009 
agreed. 
 

15. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
There were no items to be considered. 
 
 

15.1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to Exempt / 
Confidential Business to be considered.  
 
There were no items to be considered. 
 
 

15.2 Any Exempt / Confidential Decisions "Called in" by the Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee  
 
There were no items to be considered. 
 

16. A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE  
 
There were no items to be considered. 
 

17. A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 
There were no items to be considered. 
 

18. A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY  
 
There were no items to be considered. 
 

19. A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 
There were no items to be considered. 

Page 13



CABINET, 11/03/2009 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

12 

 
20. ONE TOWER HAMLETS  

 
There were no items to be considered. 
 

21. ANY OTHER EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE 
URGENT  
 
There were no items to be considered. 
 

22. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS FOR INFORMATION  
 
There were no items to be considered. 
 

 
 

The meeting ended at 6.45 p.m.  
 
 

Chair, Councillor Lutfur Rahman 
Cabinet 

 

Page 14



 1 
 

 
 
Committee 

Cabinet  
 

Date 

8 April 2009 
 

Classification 
Unrestricted 

Report No: 
CAB 138/089 

Agenda No: 

Report of:  
Corporate Director,    Development & 
Renewal  
 
Author:  Jackie Odunoye  
               Service Head -  Strategy,   
               Regeneration & Sustainability. 
                 

Title:   
Amendments to the Council’s Lettings 
Policy 
 
Wards affected: 
All  
 

 
 
1.      SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report recommends changes to the Council’s existing Letting Policy 

following the Judicial Review hearing in the case of Mr Alam  – v – London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets and the judgement issued by the High Court on 23 
January 2009 (reference [2009] EWHC 44 (Admin)).    
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

That Cabinet agrees: 
 
2.2  To amend paragraph 2.2.2 of the Lettings Policy (Community Group 2) as 

follows:   “to include persons who are statutorily homeless and who have an 
assessed priority need and are accepted as unintentionally homeless.”  

 
2.3 To amend paragraph 2.2.3 of the Lettings Policy (Community Group 3) as 

follows:   “to include persons who are statutorily homeless and who do not 
have an assessed priority need, and all other housing applicants who do not 
fall within groups 1,2 or 4” 

 
2.4 To amend paragraph 2.3 of the Lettings Policy as follows:  “Group 3   If you 

are not included in any of these other groups or have been assessed as 
homeless but are not in priority need, your application will normally be placed 
in Group 3”. 

 

Agenda Item 6.1

Page 15



 2 
 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In February 2007 Mr Alam applied to the Council for assistance under part 7 

(Homelessness) of the Housing Act 1996.  He was provided with temporary 
accommodation pending further investigation of his homeless application. 

 
3.2 On July 23 2007 the Council determined that he was homeless and eligible for 

assistance but was not in priority need.  This meant that although entitled to 
advice and assistance, the Council did not have a statutory duty to house him 
permanently and he was not entitled to retain his temporary accommodation.  
An internal review of this decision did not alter the outcome.  

 
3.3 Mr Alam appealed against this decision in the county court.  His appeal was 

dismissed on 16 April 2008.  The Council agreed he could remain in his 
temporary accommodation pending further legal proceedings being 
undertaken by him.   

 
3.4 Mr Alam had also made an application for permanent accommodation under 

part 6 of the Housing Act 1996.  His application was accepted and he was 
placed in Community Group 3 in accordance with existing practice for 
homeless applicants who were not in priority need.  Mr Alam brought further 
judicial review in respect of this decision.   

 
BODY OF THE REPORT 

 
3.5 The Judicial Review hearing was held in December 2008. Mr Alam claimed he 

had been incorrectly placed in Community Group 3 because according to the 
Council’s Lettings Policy he should have been in Community Group 2.   

 
3.6 The criteria for homeless cases in Community Group 2 states,   “those 

assessed by the Council as homeless under the Housing Act 1996 Part 7 and 
other Homeless households who have an assessed priority need”.  Mr Alam 
argued that this meant that as a homeless person he did not also have to be in 
priority need to qualify for Community Group 2.    

 
3.7 The Court issued its judgement on 23 January 2009 and found in favour of Mr 

Alam. The judge stated that although the practice of the Council was not 
unlawful, the Lettings Policy did not reflect the practice.  Therefore on the 
present wording of the Lettings Policy (as above):   

 
“ the Borough’s Lettings Policy requires, in compliance with s167 (2) (a) those 
who are assessed by the Council as homeless under the Housing Act Part 7 
to be allocated to Community Group 2 whether or not the Borough owes them 
a duty of any kind under Part 7.   The Claimant, who was and is such a 
person, was wrongly allocated to Community Group 3 and the Borough was in 
error to that extent.” 

 
3.8 There is a risk that the judgement means that in addition to having to place Mr 

Alam in Community Group 2, in future    “all homeless persons are to be 

Page 16



 3 
 

placed into Community Group 2…..   There is simply no provision in the policy 
itself for placing any homeless person in Community Group 3.”     

 
3.9 Previously applicants assessed as homeless but not in priority need have 

been placed in Community Group 3.   Unless the existing Lettings Policy is 
amended, the Council could be faced with a significant increase in the 
numbers in Community Group 2, that will place even further pressure on the 
limited housing resources available.   

 
3.10 The Council has appealed against the judgement and Counsel has advised 

that the Lettings Policy should be amended.   Although a full review of the 
Allocations Scheme is underway, a revised scheme will not come to Cabinet 
for decision until later in the year.    Pending the outcome of the appeal and 
the conclusions of the full review it is proposed that in relation to homeless 
cases, the existing scheme is amended as follows:  -  

 
3.11      Community Group 2 to be amended:  
 

From:  “those assessed by the Council as homeless under the Housing Act 
1996 part 7 and other homeless households who have an assessed priority 
need”  

 
To:  “to include persons who are statutorily homeless and who have an 
assessed priority need and are accepted as unintentionally homeless.”  
 

3.12      Community Group 3 to be amended 
 

From:  “this group includes applications from all others on the housing list 
whose applications are not included in groups 1,2 or 4”,  

 
To: “ to include persons who are statutorily homeless and who do not have an 
assessed priority need, and all other housing applicants who do not fall within 
groups 1,2 or 4”.   

 
3.13 Paragraph 2.3. Of the scheme to be amended:  

 
From:   “Group 3 If you are not included in any of these other groups, your 
application will normally be placed in Group 3.”  

 
To:  “Group 3   If you are not included in any of these other groups or have 
been assessed as homeless but are not in priority need, your application will 
normally be placed in Group 3”.   

 
3.14 These amendments will ensure that the wording of the Lettings Policy is fully 

in line with existing practice.   These amendments will not alter or reduce the 
service that has been provided for some time for homeless applicants who are 
not in priority need.   The amendments will simply ensure that the wording of 
the Lettings Policy is clear and transparent and in line with existing practice.    

 

Page 17



 4 
 

3.15 Before altering an existing Lettings Policy, the Councils has a statutory duty to 
inform partner RSL’s of the proposed alteration and give them reasonable 
opportunity to comment.  All members of the Common Housing Register 
Forum including RSL partners were formally written to setting out the 
proposed amendments to the Lettings Policy and invited to comment.   The 
proposed amendments were further considered at a full meeting of the Forum 
on 3 March 2009 where RSL partners were given a further opportunity to 
comment upon the proposed amendments.   There were no objections or 
concerns raised in relation to the proposed amendments to the Lettings Policy.   
A concern was expressed that the Lettings Policy needed to ensure it gave 
reasonable preference to non priority homeless cases but it was agreed that 
this was a matter for the full review of the Lettings Policy currently under way 
with a report due to  go to Cabinet later in the year.  

 
4 COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
4.1   The report seeks agreement to a number of amendments to the current   
        published Lettings Policy of the Council to mitigate the potential impacts, both 

in  terms of finance and service delivery, of the decision of the High Court with  
        regard to the case outlined. 
 
5 CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

(LEGAL) 
 
5.1 Cabinet is asked to authorise changes to the Council’s existing Lettings Policy 

following the outcome of the Judicial Review hearing in the case of R (X) v 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets (judgment reference [2009] EWHC 44 
(Admin)). 

 
5.2 The Council is required by section 167 of the Housing Act 1996 to have a 

scheme for determining priorities and the procedures to be followed in 
allocating housing accommodation.  The Council is required to allocate 
housing in accordance with the allocation scheme.  The Lettings Policy serves 
the function of an allocation scheme in Tower Hamlets. 

 
5.3 The Council has been following the lawful practice of allocating applicants 

assessed as homeless but not in priority need to Community Group 3 under 
the Lettings Policy.  Unfortunately, the decision of the court in the case 
referred to above is that the correct construction of the Lettings Policy in its 
current wording is that such applicants should be placed in Community Group 
2.  This would be an unintended consequence, inconsistent with the Council’s 
practice, and lead to the inconvenient consequences addressed in the report. 

 
5.4 Before making an alteration to the Lettings Policy reflecting a major change in 

policy, the Council is required by section 167(7) of the Housing Act 1996 to 
carry out the following consultation – 

 
(a) send a copy of the proposed alteration, to every registered landlord with 

which the Council has nomination arrangements; and 

Page 18



 5 
 

(b) afford those people a reasonable opportunity to comment on the 
proposals. 

 
5.5 The expression “major change in policy” is undefined in the Housing Act 1996. 

There is relevant guidance which suggests that a major change would include 
any amendment that affects the relative priority of a large number of people 
being considered, and a significant alteration to procedures.  By reference to 
the construction that the Court has given to the Lettings Policy, it is best to 
consider the proposed amendments as a major change, even though they 
really just bring the Lettings Policy into line with what has always been the 
Council’s practice. 

 
5.6 The code of guidance for local housing authorities on allocation of 

accommodation contains the Secretary of State’s view that, in addition to the 
mandatory statutory consultation referred to above, housing authorities should 
consult social services departments, health authorities, supporting people 
teams, connexions partnerships, relevant voluntary sector organisations and 
other recognised referral bodies.  The guidance recommends a minimum 
consultation period of 12 weeks.  It has not been possible to comply fully with 
these recommendations.  However, the consultation that has been conducted 
complies with the statutory requirements and is considered adequate in 
circumstances where the Council needs to respond as rapidly as possible to 
the judgment referred to above and bring the Lettings Policy in line with 
existing practice.  The Lettings Policy (which will include these proposed 
changes) will be the subject of a review in July 2009 that will comply fully with 
the consultation recommendations contained within the code of guidance. 

 
6 RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The judgement means that unless the Lettings Policy is amended, the Council 

can no longer place homeless applicants who are not in priority need, or other 
applicants for housing who meet the criteria for homelessness, in Community 
Group 3 but must place them in Community Group 2.   This will be a significant 
change from the practice adopted since the inception of the Lettings Policy in 
2002.   

 
6.2 Placing these applicants in Community Group 2 will give them significantly 

higher priority for a limited supply of housing and raise expectations that are 
unlikely to be met unless higher priority and more vulnerable applicants are 
displaced.    This risks undermining the Council’s management of the limited 
supply of social housing and damage to the Council’s reputation by raising 
unrealistic expectations.   

 
7 ANTI POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no anti-poverty implications.  

 

Page 19



 6 
 

 
8 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 

The changes recommended to the Lettings Policy will bring the wording of the 
policy into line with the status quo in relation to homeless applicants who are 
not in priority need.  Although there is no indication that the recommendations 
to amend the Lettings Policy have any specific equal opportunities 
implications, a full equalities impact assessment will be carried out on the 
Lettings Policy as part of the planned review of the policy.   The outcome will 
be reported to Cabinet later in the year.    

 
 
9 SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 

None 
 
10 EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 

Implementing the changes to the practice of placing homeless applicants who 
are not in priority need required by the judgement will place considerable 
additional administrative and customer contact demands on housing officers to 
no real purpose expect to manage unrealistic expectations and meet 
information needs that will potentially be required.    This will impair efficiency 
and the effective delivery of the lettings service.       

 
 
  
 

Local Government Act, 2000 (Section 97) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this Report 

  
Tower Hamlets Lettings Policy 
1996 Housing Act  
High Court judgement Raihan Alam – v –  London Borough of Tower, Hamlets 23 January 2009 (reference [2009] 
EWHC 44 (Admin)) 
 
Contact Officer  Contact Officer:    Jim Elliott   jim.elliott@towerhamlets.gov.uk 

   

Page 20



 1 
 

 

Committee 

Cabinet  
 

Date 

8 April 2009 
 

Classification 
Unrestricted 

Report No: 
CAB 139/089 

Agenda 
No: 

Report of:   
Aman Dalvi  
Corporate Director Development & 
Renewal 
Author:   Jackie Odunoye 
Service Head Strategy, Regeneration 
and Sustainability  

Title:   
Local Authority Carbon Management 
Programme 
 
Wards affected: 
All  
 

 
 
 
1.      SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Council has joined the sixth round of the Local Authority Carbon 

Management Programme which was launched in June 2008.  The aims of this 
Programme are: 

 
� To reduce CO2 emissions. 
� To reduce energy costs and improve energy efficiency. 
� To show credible leadership in the community with regards to Climate 

Change mitigation 
 
1.2 This report asks Cabinet to agree to the attached Carbon Management Plan 

which proposes that the Council commits to reducing CO2 emissions from its 
own operations by 60% from the 2007 baseline by 2020. 

 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
2.1 Approve the Carbon Management Plan attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 
 

2.2 Agree the following targets for reducing carbon emissions from Council 
operations as outlined in the Carbon Management Plan:- 
•                    25% by 2012 
•                    40% by 2016 
•                    60% by 2020 

 

2.3 Agree that a corporate framework be developed to verify, achieve and 
maintain carbon reduction targets over the longer term within the Authority’s 
Strategic Plan 

Agenda Item 6.2

Page 21



 2 
 

 

2.4 Agree that the Authority’s Capital Strategy be revised to include the aim of 
‘Reducing the Council’s carbon footprint and assisting the community to do 
likewise’. 

 

2.5 Agree that all new capital scheme funding applications include a Carbon 
Impact Assessment. 

 

2.6 Instruct the Corporate Director Development and Renewal to review the Asset 
Management Plan (AMP) to assess the forward ‘Carbon Reduction 
Commitment’ risks being created by schemes already agreed within the capital 
programme, in the context of the Asset Management Plan’s ability to deliver 
savings and cost reductions over the medium term. 

 

2.7  Note that the target carbon reductions included in the Carbon Management 
Plan and the implementation of the projects detailed in the plan are essential 
to the achievement of the following National Indicators: 
•                    NI185 %C CO2 reduction from LA operations 
•                    NI186 Per capita CO2 emissions in the LA area 

 

2.8  Note the introduction of the Carbon Reduction Commitment from 2010/2011 
onwards and the potential financial penalties for not reducing carbon 
emissions. 

 
 
3. LOCAL AUTHORITY CARBON MANAGEMENT PROGRAMME 
 
3.1 To reduce corporate operational carbon emissions the Council joined the sixth 

round of the Local Authority Carbon Management Programme (LACMP), 
launched in June 2008.  A Board is in place to steer the project, along with a 
Team involving representatives from all Directorates.   

 
3.2  A Carbon Management Plan has now been produced and this is attached at   

Appendix 1. The Plan sets out a number of reasons why it is essential that the 
Council puts in place projects and systems that will reduce its carbon 
emissions: 

 
� As  a signatory to the Nottingham Declaration the Council committed itself 

to tackling the causes and effects of a changing climate in the borough  
� The introduction of the Carbon Reduction Commitment in 2010 will mean 

that poorly performing authorities (i.e. those that do not reduce their carbon 
emissions) will be penalised dependant on their position in a league table 
� There are two national indicators specific to CO2 reduction 
� Measures to increase energy efficiency will reduce energy costs, which 

have been rising dramatically 
� Taking action to combat climate change will have a positive impact on an 

organisation’s reputation and there is evidence to suggest it also improves 
staff morale 

Page 22



 3 
 

� It is part of a wider strategy to reduce its use of natural resources and its 
impact on the environment 
� Sustainability will form a core part of the CAA 
� The July 2008 CPA assessment included giving greater priority to 

environmental sustainability as an ‘Area for Improvement’ 
 

3.3. It is recommended that in adopting this Plan Cabinet also agrees to adopt the 
following target reductions against the 2007 carbon baseline of 42,853 tonnes 
CO2 per annum. 

 
� 25% by 2012 
� 40% by 2016 
� 60% by 2020 

 
3.4 The Carbon Management Plan lists in section 4, a number of projects which 

have already been identified which will contribute to this target; this shows that 
almost 14% reduction on the baseline has already been identified provided the 
projects listed are implemented. The Carbon Trust advises that this is a 
reasonable number of projects to have started at this stage. Further projects 
will be identified and implemented as the work proceeds. 

 
3.5 A Value at Stake assessment has been undertaken that suggests around £4 

million cumulative cost avoidance if energy saving projects can achieve the 
25% reduction by 2012.  However, this is entirely dependant on the projects 
identified being funded, implemented and where relevant embedded into 
Council practice. A number of carbon reduction projects already have funding 
in place - some of which have already completed (section 4.1 of Carbon 
Management Plan).  

 
3.6 The annual estimated cost avoidance of the 19 projects is not yet determined. 

This is because many of the projects need to be quantified further. Together 
they represent an annual 5,914 tCO2 emission reduction from 2012.  This 
contributes 13.6% of the ‘25% by 2012’ target, leaving a further 4,800tC to be 
delivered over the next four years. Whilst this target appears difficult to 
achieve, the revenue effect of capital schemes completed in the past few 
years at schools and other premises, together with the gains from the BSF 
schemes completing by 2012, will provide a significant part of this total.   

 
  3.7 Over the medium term more CO2 reduction will emerge from review of the 

Asset Management Plan (AMP), regeneration of housing estates and the 
Building Schools for the Future programme. The potential annual revenue cost 
avoidance in excess of £1.4 million identified in the project has built in some 
assumptions of future increases in consumption but not factored in the impact 
of energy price rises going forward. The % year on year increase in energy 
consumption coupled with the ongoing rise in energy prices is putting a strain 
on the Councils revenue budgets which needs to be managed downwards 

 

Page 23



 4 
 

3.8 Achieving the carbon reduction targets recommended in the Plan is also 
essential to the achievement of two National Indicators:  

 
� NI186 Per capita CO2 emissions in the LA area   
� NI 185 Percentage CO2 reduction from LA operations 

 
It also contributes to NI 194 (air quality) and NI 187 (fuel poverty) 

 
3.9 In order to ensure that further projects are identified, costed,  justified and 

implemented  a corporate framework will be developed  to verify, achieve and 
maintain carbon reduction targets over the longer term within the strategic 
planning  process.  Governance arrangements will be developed which 
consider the business case for each project, and ensure that investment in 
energy reduction projects derives optimum carbon, financial and promotional 
outputs from the carbon reduction agenda. 

 
 3.10 Meanwhile, it is important that the Council takes every opportunity to embed 

carbon reduction into management thinking, both to reduce energy costs and 
to minimise the Council’s carbon impact.   In this regard, it is recommended 
that the Capital Strategy be amended to include the aim of ‘Reducing the 
Council’s carbon footprint and assisting the community to do likewise’.   
Cabinet is asked to agree to add a Carbon Impact Assessment into the capital 
programme review process, with a requirement that all new funding 
applications include a Carbon Impact Assessment that is auditable.  

 

3.11 Both the Asset Management Plan and the Revenue Implications Assessment 
of the 2008-09 Capital Programme need to be re-visited to assess the forward 
risks being created, in the context of the AMP’s ability to deliver savings over 
the medium term, where opportunities exist to offset emissions growth through 
further efficiency measures. Programme managers are already able to source 
additional funds:-   

 
� The Prudential Code may be well suited to support longer paybacks on 

carbon reduction capital expenditure. 
� It is possible to lever-in match funding from the Carbon Trust via Salix, 

typically around £250,000.   
� In the social housing sector there are grant funds available from the CERT 

and Low Carbon Buildings Programmes, each representing good leverage 
from housing investment budgets, which in turn will improve Tower 
Hamlets Homes performance on its Use of Resources assessment.    

 
  3.12 Manager training needs are being evaluated, with a view to providing 

additional support on carbon budgeting for service planning, in order to embed 
carbon management across the Council. 

 
4. CARBON REDUCTION COMMITMENT 
 
4.1 The Carbon Reduction Commitment is a statutory obligation which covers all 

mains gas and grid electricity consumption from the Council’s direct or 

Page 24



 5 
 

contracted-out1 operation of its functions. State-funded schools are included 
and will have a new duty placed on them to supply their Local Authority with 
annual energy use data.  

  
4.2 The Council will need to register its total 2008 half-hourly electricity 

consumption in December 2009 as part of the Baseline Survey, monitor all its 
energy use between October 2009-March 2010 as part of the Baseline 
monitoring phase and report actual energy use at the end of each financial 
year, commencing July 2010.  The Council will need to purchase allowances 
to cover its carbon emissions from April 2010, the first sale of allowances 
taking place in April 2011. Subsequent allowance sales will be open for one 
month (each April), when sufficient allowances must be secured for the 
forthcoming year’s energy use.   .  

 

4.3 The Carbon Reduction Commitment will be rolled out in two phases:  Phase 1 
covers the period 2010–2013 with CO2 priced uniformly at £12 per tonne. 
Monies raised from carbon allowance sales within the Carbon Reduction 
Commitment process are recycled back to Carbon Reduction Commitment 
participants on the basis of their position in a ‘league table’ 

 
4.4 Phase 2 will run for 5 years between 2013/14 and 2017/18 - the price of 

carbon allowances will vary each year, on the basis of a sealed bids auction, 
and there will be a cap on the total amount of allowances available.  For the 
first year of Phase 2 (2013/14) the cap will be set on the baseline of the 
Council’s 2011/12 emissions.  Thereafter the caps will be set on a reducing 
trend, assisting the national target of saving 1.2mtC p.a. by 2020.   

   
4.5 Based on the latest available year’s data (2007) the total CO2 emissions from 

mains gas and grid electricity were 32,441tC. Assuming these were the Year 1 
emissions for Carbon Reduction Commitment, the cost of 2010/11 allowances 
would be £389,292. This cost will only be fully recoverable if the Council can 
hit the median point in the league table. Realistically it is possible that a 
penalty of up to 10% might be payable, and as energy usage increased by 9% 
between 2006/07 and 2007/08, and this upward trend  continued through 2008 
this would produce a ‘cost at risk’ in Year 1 of up to £50,000.  This is the ‘best 
case’ scenario. 

 
4.6 From year 2 onwards the initial position in the league table will be determined 

by whether the Council’s energy usage has increased or decreased from the 
previous year.  Penalties for poor performance will become progressively 
higher, adding further impetus to the drive to reduce energy consumption. 

 
4.7 In addition there will be registration costs and ‘fines’ if the Council does not 

keep the mandatory information pack up to date or does not submit the 
statutory returns on time. The following table illustrates the potential costs to 
the Council: 

 
 
 
                                            
1 Where the Council is a party to the Contractor’s energy supply contract. 

Page 25



 6 
 

 
 
 
Summary for the First Three Years of the Scheme 
 
Year of Scheme Best Case Scenario 

£’000 
Worst Case Scenario 
£’000 

Registration 
 

- 105 

Year 1 (2009/10) 
 

(38) 405 

Year 2 (2010/11) 
 

(269) 700 

Year 3 (2011/12) 
 

(403) 834 

 
 
4.8 The costs shown in the above table are all additional to the costs of the energy 

consumed. Therefore the total potential cost avoidance if the 25% CO2 
emission reduction by 2012 is achieved may be in excess of £1million per 
year. 

 
5 COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
5.1. The financial consequences of carbon management relate to;  
  
� The costs of implementation of carbon management schemes. The cost of 

achieving the recommended targets proposed in this report (para 2.2) are not 
identified in the report, but could be considerable.  
� The risk of incurring costs under the Carbon Trading Scheme (CRC) as set out 

in section 4 above. It should be noted that the figures are indicative figures 
only and could be higher or lower than described in this report. 

 
5.2. The Carbon Management Programme contains proposals for a number of 

carbon management schemes and indicates draft financial implications. These 
implications continue to be revised as the Programme develops. At this stage 
it appears more likely that initial schemes will not deliver financial savings that 
support the medium term financial strategy. All projects must adhere to strict 
invest to save criteria being developed as part of the Carbon Management 
programme and subject to CFO approval. 

 
5.3. Funding for the Carbon Trading Programme would need to come from a 

number of sources, including the Capital Programme and Revenue growth. 
Identification of funding would need to take the form of either revenue or 
capital growth bids in future budget rounds. It is possible that some projects 
may qualify as invest to save projects that could be sponsored and delivered 
through the Council’s Efficiency Programme. Accordingly a robust financial 
business case would need to be developed for each of these proposals on a 
case by case basis.  

 
5.4. The Carbon Trading Scheme involves potential costs from;  
 

Page 26



 7 
 

� Fines as a result of failure to comply with elements of the scheme. It is 
not anticipated that the authority will fall foul of any of these provisions. 

 
� Penalties incurred by the authority’s position in the carbon trading 

‘league table’. It is important to realise that it is the authority’s 
performance relative to other organisations that will determine these 
payments, so it is possible (if not likely) that the authority would incur 
costs even if it reduces its carbon usage.  

 
� Any costs incurred in the early years of the scheme will therefore need 

to be met from existing budgets or from reserves. A report to Members 
would be submitted at the appropriate time.  

 
5.5 The costs of administration of the Carbon Trading Scheme and the 

management of the programme will need to be met within existing resources.  
 
 
6 CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

(LEGAL) 
 
 
6.1 Cabinet is requested to approve the Carbon Management Plan in Appendix 1, 

adopt specified targets for carbon emissions and agree to development of a 
corporate framework for addressing the targets within the strategic plan. 

 
6.2 The Council has power to pursue action on climate change.  The Council may 

do anything which it considers likely to achieve promotion of the economic, 
social or environmental well-being of the whole or any part of Tower Hamlets 
or all or any people resident or present in Tower Hamlets.  In determining how 
to exercise this power, the Council must have regard to its sustainable 
community strategy. 

 
6.3 The Community Plan makes improving the environment and tackling climate 

change a priority as part of the theme of A Great Place to Live.  The 
Community Plan specifically states that this priority will be achieved by 
specified means, including: reducing energy use and using more renewable 
energy sources.  The strategic plan sets out the Council’s contribution to 
achieving the Community Plan. 

 
6.4 It is open for Cabinet to conclude that there is power to make the requested 

decisions. 
 
 
7.        ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
7.1      Implementing the Carbon Management Plan will positively contribute to the               
 One Tower Hamlets objectives of ensuring strong community cohesion and   
 strengthening community leadership.  
 
 

Page 27



 8 
 

 
 
8 RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Implementing the Carbon Management Plan will have a number of beneficial 

outcomes for the Council, including substantial potential cost avoidance and 
the ability to achieve  two national indicators as well as enhancing its’ 
reputation as an organisation which takes climate change seriously.  

 
8.2 However, these outcomes will only be achieved if the projects included within 

the plan, are funded, implemented and embedded into Council practice.  
These projects will therefore need to be carefully monitored via the Asset & 
Capital Management Board. 

 
9 ANTI POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Projects which reduce energy consumption and thus cost in the communal 

areas of the Council’s housing stock will help keep service charges to tenants 
and leaseholders at a reasonable level. 

 
 
10 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 

There are no implications to this report   
 
 
11 SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 

 
11.1 Climate change is already damaging the world’s ecosystems and if we are to 

avoid its worst effects we have to stay below a 20 C increase in average global 
temperatures, compared to what they were before the industrial era. The 
government has placed emphasis on local authorities setting a leading 
example on climate change. 

 
11.2 Actions by local authorities will be critical to the achievement of the 

government’s climate change objectives such as the long term goal to reduce 
CO2 emissions by 80% of 1990 levels by 2050. This report sets out the 
Council’s response to this challenging agenda, in as far as carbon emissions 
from its own operations are concerned. As such it sets out a programme of 
actions which when implemented will have a positive impact on the local 
environment and will contribute to the wider climate change agenda. 

 
 
12 EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 
 
12.1 Energy costs continue to rise and the Council’s use of energy has also risen 

by 9% between 2006/07 and 2007/08. Implementation of the projects included 
in the Carbon Management Plan will reverse this trend of ever increasing 
energy usage and therefore avoid a proportion of the energy costs which the 
Council would otherwise have incurred. 

 

Page 28



 9 
 

13 APPENDIX 
 
 London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme  
 
 
 
 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this Report 
  

Tower Hamlets Community Plan, 2020 Vision 
Tower Hamlets Procurement Policy 
Climate Change Act 
Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change 
 
 
Contact Officer: Rachel Carless   
Sustainable Development team, D&R 
rachel.carless@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
                     

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 1 

 
London Borough Tower Hamlets  
Carbon Management Programme  
 
Carbon Management Plan (CMP) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Image for front page to be confirmed.  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: 23rd  March 2009 
Owner: Rachel Carless 
Status: Draft 
Approval route: 

• LACM Board - 4th Feb  
• Submission draft report - 17th Feb  
• Final report - 23rd March  
• Cabinet - 8th April.

Page 31



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 2 

Contents 
Foreword from Chief Executive and Lead Member for Reosurces 3 
Foreword from the Carbon Trust 4 
Management Summary 4 
1 Introduction 10 
2 Carbon Management Strategy 11 
2.1 Context and drivers for Carbon Management 11 
2.2 Our low carbon vision 14 
2.3 Key Areas of Activity 14 
2.4 Targets and objectives 16 

3 Emissions Baseline and Projections 17 
3.1 Scope 17 
3.2 Baseline 18 
3.3 Projections and Value At Stake 20 

4 Carbon Management Projects 22 
4.1 Existing projects 22 
4.2 Planned / funded projects 23 
4.3 Near term projects 23 
4.4 Medium to long term projects 24 

5 Carbon Management Plan Financing 26 
5.1 Assumptions 26 
5.2 Benefits / savings – quantified and un-quantified 27 
5.3 Additional resources 28 
5.4 Financial costs and sources of funding 29 

6 Actions to Embed Carbon Management in the Organisation 30 
6.1 Corporate Strategy – embedding CO2 saving across your organisation 30 
6.2 Programme Management – bringing it all together effectively 31 
6.3 Responsibility – being clear that saving CO2 is everyone’s job 31 
6.4 Data Management – measuring the difference, measuring the benefit 32 
6.5 Communication and Training – ensuring everyone is aware 32 
6.6 Finance and Investment – the money to match the commitment 33 
6.7 Policy Alignment – saving CO2 across your operations 33 

7 Programme Management 34 
7.1 The Programme Board – strategic ownership and oversight 35 
7.2 The Carbon Management Team – delivering the projects 36 
7.3 Succession planning for key roles 37 
7.4 Ongoing stakeholder management 38 
7.5 Annual progress review 38 

Appendix A: Carbon Management Embedding Matrix  39 
 
 

Page 32



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 3 

 
 
Foreword from the Chief Executive and Lead Member for Resources 
 
Climate change is one of the most pressing issues facing the planet today. In 2007 the 
Council demonstrated its commitment to tackling climate change by signing the 
Nottingham Declaration1. This Carbon Management plan is further evidence that as an 
organisation we are serious about our responsibilities and it represents an important 
building block in what will become an overarching Climate Change Strategy for the 
Borough. 
 
Carbon management is important to the Council as it not only helps to combat climate 
change but reduces the Council’s costs allowing it to operate in an efficient way, 
thereby embracing the principles of value for money for the Borough’s residents. This 
Carbon Management Plan reinforces the priorities outlined in the Community Plan to 
protect the environment, tackle climate change and secure sustainable development 
for the future.  
 
The Council has two roles to play in this - firstly by addressing its own impacts as a 
major organisation and consumer of resources and secondly as a community leader 
by raising awareness and encouraging and co-ordinating action across communities 
and organisations. 
 
As a community leader the Council should lead by example, setting the standard for 
other local organisations to follow. It is essential that the Council’s efforts to manage 
its carbon emissions are seen as part of effective resource and asset management for 
the Council, and as such are considered by all of those who have an impact on it. 
 
Xxxxxxx      xxxxxxxxxxx 
 
 
 
 
Signed by Martin Smith and Cllr Joshua Peck 
 
 

                                                      
1 The Nottingham Declaration recognises the central role of local authorities in leading society's response to the challenge of 
climate change. More info at http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/nottingham/Nottingham-Declaration/Why-Sign/About-the-
Nottingham-Declaration 

Page 33



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 4 

 
 
Foreword from the Carbon Trust 
 
 
Cutting carbon emissions as part of the fight against climate change should be a key 
priority for local authorities - it's all about getting your own house in order and leading 
by example.  The UK government has identified the local authority sector as key to 
delivering Carbon Reduction across the UK in line with its Kyoto commitments and the 
Local Authority Carbon Management programme is designed in response to this. It 
assists councils in saving money on energy and putting it to good use in other areas, 
whilst making a positive contribution to the environment by lowering their carbon 
emissions.   
 
Tower Hamlets Council was selected in 2008, amidst strong competition, to take part 
in this ambitious programme. Tower Hamlets Council partnered with the Carbon Trust 
on this programme in order to realise vast carbon and cost savings. This Carbon 
Management Plan commits the council to a target of reducing CO2 by 30% by 2012 
and underpins potential cumulative financial savings to the council of around £4.7 
million to 2012. 
 
There are those that can and those that do. Local authorities can contribute 
significantly to reducing CO2 emissions. The Carbon Trust is very proud to support 
Tower Hamlets Council in their ongoing implementation of carbon management.  
 
 

 
Richard Rugg, Head of Public Sector, Carbon Trust 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 5 

Breakdown of emissions by sector

Civic Buildings
22%Street Lighting

7%

Other Buildings
6%

Housing
19%

Leisure
12%

Schools
27%

Business Travel
3%Fleet

1%Waste Vehicles 
3% Civic Buildings

Leisure
Schools
Housing
Other Buildings
Street Lighting
Waste Vehicles 
Fleet
Business Travel

Management Summary 
 
Tackling climate change is now a core policy driver at both local and national 
government level. From 2009 all councils will be assessed by government, through the 
Comprehensive Area Assessment, on their ability to work together with local public 
and private partners to reduce their energy consumption both within and beyond 
organisational boundaries while also adapting services to the expected changes 
climate change will bring.  
 
This Carbon Management Plan sets out the ambition around becoming a low carbon 
Council and details its first steps, over an initial three year programme of investment. 
The council’s carbon baseline in year ending April 2008 was 42,853 tCO2 (tonnes 
CO2) with associated energy costs of £3.4 million. 
 
The total (non cashable) savings that will be gained through fulfilling the 25% 
reduction target by 2012 (the Cumulative Value At Stake) is around £4 million. The 
cost to achieve the 25% reduction is still being determined. So far nineteen Carbon 
Reduction projects have been identified that represent 13.8% of the reduction target. 
Fourteen of these projects are already quantified, the cost for implementation is 
around £3.7 million. 

 
Figure 1 – Breakdown of emissions by sector 
Note: Housing in this pie chart refers to the authority’s Landlord supplies for the housing stock managed 
by Tower Hamlets Homes, not housing emissions themselves. 

 
 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets will reduce CO2 emissions 
from Council Operations by 60% by 2020 (from 2007 levels) 

Page 35



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 6 

Figure 2 – Financial Value At Stake 
Comparison of emissions with BAU increases and reduction 

targets - financial

-

1,000,000
2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000
5,000,000

6,000,000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Year

£

Actual cost BAU cost Target cost

 
BAU = Business As Usual.  BAU is the scenario if no action is taken to reduce 
carbon emissions. The BAU in this case is that the council’s energy costs will rise by 
around £1.9 million (from £3.4 million to £5.3 million) per annum by 2012. This takes 
into account future utility prices and increased consumption. 
 
The Cumulative Financial Value At Stake (VAS) is the difference between the business as 
usual (BAU) scenario and the reduced emissions scenario and is represented by the 
triangular space between the red and blue lines on the graph. The Cumulative VAS (non 
cashable savings) is around £4 million if the council hits the 25% reduction target by 2012. 
(This does not take into account the cost of implementing the projects). 
 
Figure 3 – Carbon Value At Stake 

Comparison of actual emissions with BAU increases and 
reduction targets predicted

-
5,000,000

10,000,000
15,000,000
20,000,000
25,000,000
30,000,000
35,000,000
40,000,000
45,000,000
50,000,000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Year

Ca
rb

on
 em

iss
ion

s (
kg

CO
2)

Actual emissions BAU emissions Target
 

Page 36



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 7 

Composition of carbon value at stake

93%

7%

Buildings

Transport

Composition of financial value at stake

86%

14%

Buildings

Transport

Figure 3 – Carbon Value At Stake (above) 
Figure 3 demonstrates the Business As Usual (BAU) scenario whereby if no action is 
taken the Council’s carbon footprint will increase by 1,521 tCO2 to 44,374 tCO2 per 
annum by 2012. 
 
Figure 4       Figure 5 

        
 
Figure 4 - Composition of Carbon Value At Stake 
Figure 4 shows where the biggest carbon savings can be made. It shows that 93% of 
the Value At Stake lies in stationary sources or the Council’s buildings. This 
demonstrates the importance of ensuring that the Council’s buildings are the focus of 
the council’s Carbon Management Programme. 
 
Figure 5 - Composition of Financial Value At Stake 
This pie chart shows that 86% of the non-cashable savings are to be found in Carbon 
Reduction projects associated with the council’s buildings. 
 
So far nineteen projects have been identified within the Carbon Management 
Programme, which together will save an estimated 5914 tonnes CO2. This represents 
13.8% of the reduction target. As the Programme progresses more carbon saving 
projects will need to be identified.  
 
A key challenge will be to maintain the Programme’s impetus, momentum and 
sufficient investment over time. In order to ensure success a dedicated ring fenced 
fund will need to be established in order to finance projects over the course of the 
Programme. In addition the authority shall need to ensure there is full ‘buy in’ from 
Tower Hamlets Homes and schools. 
 
Salix Finance, a subsidiary company of the Carbon Trust, set up to fund public sector 
energy efficiency projects, will be utilised to provide 50% match funding for the 

Page 37



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 8 

Programme’s capital projects, where the projects offer cashable savings, the funding 
shall be utilised to fund 100% of school schemes where possible. 
 
The Council will achieve the aims set out in this Carbon Management Plan through 
activity in 5 key areas;  
 

1. Implementing Carbon Reduction projects 
 

2. Making Carbon Reduction everyone’s responsibility 
 

3. Targeting budgets to Carbon Reduction projects and seeking new external 
funds 

 
4. Creating strong leadership and ownership of Carbon Management within 

the Council 
 

5. More effective partnership working 
 
(These are explored in further detail in Section 2.3 of this Plan). 
 
 
Policy Framework 
 
Community Plan 2020 
Tower Hamlets new Community Plan, 2020 Vision, recognises both the challenge, 
and importance of reducing CO2 emissions and ensuring sustainable development 
across the Borough. A key target of the Community Plan is that; by March 2011 we 
will reduce the level of CO2 emissions in the borough by 10%.  
 

Carbon Reduction is a recurring tenant throughout the Community Plan; it is reflected 
throughout all of the themes; a Great Place to Live, A Prosperous Community, A Safe 
and Supporting Community and a Healthy Community. This acknowledges that 
Carbon Reduction must be embedded in all Partnership activities if we are to lead in 
tackling climate change.  
 
This Carbon Management Plan sits within the Community Plan theme of a Great 
Place to Live, where one of the four priorities is;  

 
Improving the environment and tackling climate change by: Reducing energy 

use and using more renewable energy sources 
 

 
 

Page 38



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 9 

 
 
 
Local Development Framework (LDF) 
The LDF has been developed and produced in line with our Community Plan 2020, it 
sets out the spatial strategy for the Borough for the next 15 years, giving geographic 
expression to the economic, social, cultural and ecological policies of society. Tackling 
Climate Change is a key theme in the Core Strategy document (currently out to 
consultation). The following key aims are set out under this theme;  
 

• Work towards zero carbon built form 
• Encourage renewable energy within the Borough and linked into a wider 

network for East London 
• Ensure that all new homes reach zero carbon by 2016 and that all non-

domestic properties reach zero-carbon by 2019 
• Achieve a zero carbon borough in the current century, with a 60% reduction by 

2025 
 
Other Plans 
 
Local Area Agreement 
The partnerships commitment to Carbon Reduction is also expressed in the council’s 
Local Area Agreement (LAA). The outcomes in the LAA have been developed in line 
with the Community Plan, and identified and agreed through the Tower Hamlets 
Partnership, involving all key local partners and stakeholders. Through the “Golden 
Thread” approach, our commitment to Carbon Reduction is reflected through the 
annual Strategic Plan (Community Plan Implementation Plan) and the business 
planning process.  
 
Procurement Sustainability Policy 
As part of the council’s procurement policy, sustainability, environmental and social 
factors must be considered in all purchase, tender, contract and contract management 
activity. The policy involves consideration of the following;  
 

• What the product is made from 
• Whether the product can be reused/re-cycled at the end of its life 
• The processes involved in its production and distribution  
• Possibility of purchasing and consuming less  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 10 

 
1. Introduction 
 
The purpose of this Carbon Management Plan is to establish a comprehensive 
process for managing carbon emissions by the Council. The primary focus of the work 
is to reduce emissions under the control of the local authority such as buildings, 
transportation (fleet and staff travel) and street lighting. The Programme will also result 
in increased operational efficiency and cost savings. The Plan outlines the Council’s 
vision and Carbon Reduction targets up to 2020. 
  
The Carbon Trust Local Authority Carbon Management (LACM) Programme is a ten 
month, 5 step process that began at a launch event hosted by the Carbon Trust in 
May 2008. The Programme was launched internally on June 18th 2008. Since then the 
Council has been working through the 5 steps; 
 
� Mobilise the organisation  
� Set baseline, forecast and targets 
� Identify and quantify options 
� Finalise Carbon Management Plan 
� Implement Carbon Management Plan 

 
This Plan will come into effect in April 2009, following successful adoption by Cabinet 
and covers the first three years of the Implementation Phase of the Carbon 
Management Programme (to March 2012).  
 
This Plan builds on previous work undertaken by the Council to address its 
environmental impacts. The Council’s Environmental Strategy and Action Plan (2007-
2010) were adopted by Cabinet in June 2007 setting out the vision for improving the 
environmental performance of the council in five key areas of significant and direct 
environmental impact; Transport, Energy management, Water management, Waste 
management and Procurement. 
 
Leading on from this Carbon Management Plan, work will be undertaken to produce 
an overarching Climate Change Strategy that will address the causes and impacts of 
climate change, according to our local priorities, securing maximum benefit for our 
communities. This is also a requirement for the Council as a signatory of the 
Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change.1 
 

                                                      
1 The Nottingham Declaration recognises the central role of local authorities in leading society's response to the challenge of 
climate change. More information can be found at http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/nottingham/Nottingham-Declaration/Why-
Sign/About-the-Nottingham-Declaration 

Page 40



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 11 

2. Carbon Management Strategy 
 
This section sets the Carbon Management Plan in the wider context – international 
through to local drivers. It will outline what the Authority is aiming for and the key 
areas of activity that will be undertaken to get there.  
2.1 Context and Drivers for Carbon Management 
 

Climate change is already damaging the world's ecosystems. Left unchecked, it is set 
to cause a global humanitarian and environmental disaster affecting species, habitats 
and people everywhere. If we are to avoid the worst effects of climate change (and to 
avoid dangerous tipping points) we have to stay below a 2°C increase in average 
global temperatures, compared to what they were before the industrial era. 
 
Nottingham Declaration: 
The council signed the Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change in 2007: 

 
The UK Government has placed an emphasis on local authorities setting a leading 
example on Climate Change.  Action by local authorities will be critical to the 
achievement of the Government’s climate change objectives such as the long-term 
goal to reduce CO2 emissions by (the recently raised target of) 80% by 2050 (on 1990 
levels) in the Climate Change Bill. This has created a number of legislative drivers for 
Local Authorities:  
 
• Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC): 
 
The Carbon Reduction Commitment2 is a mandatory “cap & trade” emissions trading 
scheme for organisations (in public and private sectors) whose total electricity 
consumption is greater than 6,000MWh or approximately £500k. If an organisation 
falls within the CRC scheme all electricity and fuel emissions are covered. From 2010 
poorly performing Local Authorities will be penalised depending on their position in a 
CRC league table when compared with other members of the scheme. An analysis 
has been undertaken on what the financial implications of the scheme might be, taking 
into account the “cap and trade” element and the potential penalties which may be 
incurred. This is summarised in the table below. 
                                                      
2 More info on the CRC can be found at: http://www.defra.gov.uk/Environment/climatechange/uk/business/crc/index.htm 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets acknowledges the 
increasing impact that climate change will have on our 

community during the 21st century and commits to tackling the 
causes and effects of a changing climate on our borough 

Page 41



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 12 

 
Table 1 - Summary for the First Three Years of the CRC Scheme: 
Year of Scheme Best Case Scenario 

£’000 
Worst Case Scenario 
£’000 

Registration - 105 
Year 1 (2010/2011) (38) 405 
Year 2 (2011/2012) (269) 700 
Year 3 (2012/2013) (403) 834 

 
Defra have also created two National Indicators specific to CO2 reduction: 
 
• NI185 – Percentage CO2 reduction from LA operations 
The public sector is in a key position to lead on efforts to reduce CO2 emissions by 
setting a behavioural and strategic example to the private sector and the communities 
they serve. Measurement against this indicator requires each local authority to 
calculate its CO2 emissions from analysis of the energy and fuel use in their relevant 
buildings and transport, including where these services have been outsourced.3 
 
Tower Hamlets is using the work in this Programme to effect the reductions required 
by this National Indicator, and will report to Defra annually on performance. 
 
• NI186 – Per capita CO2 reduction of emissions in the LA area:  
Government estimates that in 2006 some 2,348,000 tonnes of CO2 were emitted in 
Tower Hamlets - just over 11 tonnes per head - the second highest emitting Borough 
in London. Most of this comes from the commercial and industrial sector (65%), with 
18% from housing and 17% from transport. 
 
The Council has included NI 186 as a committed target within its LAA - one of the 35 
National Indicators selected from the National set. The Council has committed to the 
following CO2 reduction targets in per capita carbon emissions. The percentage 
reduction in CO2 per capita in each LA will be reported to DCLG annually: 
 
� 3% by the end of 2008 
� 6% by 2009 
� 10% by 2010 

 
 
 
 
                                                      
3 More information on NI185 and NI186 can be found at: www.defra.gov.uk/environment/localgovindicators/indicators.htm  

Page 42



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 13 

 
• Cost 
Measures to increase energy efficiency will reduce energy costs, which is particularly 
important for the future given the predicted increases in energy prices. Energy and 
fuel costs have seen a dramatic rise in recent years, with energy prices increasing by 
well over 50% since 2004 and by as much as 80% in the last year alone (June 2007 
to June 2008). The energy market is currently very volatile but we must accept that 
the price we pay for our energy is likely to increase in the coming years. Saving 
money on energy allows the Council to divert valuable funds elsewhere and to 
therefore tackle better the considerable challenges of inequality, poverty, health and 
education that exist in the Borough. 
 
• Reputation 
Climate change is a critical global issue which requires leadership. Taking action to 
combat climate change will increase public confidence and have an immensely 
positive impact on the organisation’s reputation. There is also growing evidence that 
organisations that are active in addressing environmental impacts boast enhanced 
employee morale leading to higher productivity. 
 
• Reduce Use of Natural Resources 
The Council recognises its responsibility to manage its consumption of the world’s 
natural resources and to work towards the principles of One Planet Living4 - that is to 
say to operate sustainably using the resources available. This Plan is an important 
part of the Council’s commitment to reduce its own use of natural resources and its 
impact on the environment. 
 
Other Drivers: 
 
• Display Energy Certificates 
From the 6th April 2008 it became a legal requirement for all public buildings with a 
usable floor area of over 1000 sq metres, to display the Display Energy Certificate 
(DEC) in a public place (normally the entrance).5 This certificate provides an asset 
rating and an operational rating and is only valid for 12 months for public buildings 
and authorities; it is a requirement to be updated annually. A programme of 
implementation is now in place to ensure compliance. 
 
• Performance against other National Indicators 
Achieving the Aims of the CMP and progress towards the reduction targets also 
benefits the Council’s performance in several National Indicators. The per capita 
reduction of energy use within the Borough, NI 186, has already been mentioned. As a 
consequence of the Council using less gas the levels of atmospheric nitrogen oxides 
                                                      
4 More information can be found at www.oneplanetliving.org 
5 More information on DEC can be found at 
www.communities.gov.uk/planningandbuilding/theenvironment/energyperformance/certificates/displayenergycertificates 

Page 43



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 14 

and PM10s (particulate matter, a recognised air pollutant) reduce, directly assisting Air 
Quality, measured by NI 194, whilst improving the efficiency of communal heating 
helps residents avoid fuel poverty, measured by NI 187. 
 
• CPA & CAA Assessment 
The report from the Corporate Assessment element of the Comprehensive 
Performance Assessment (CPA) was published in July 2008. Overall this stated that 
the Council was performing strongly and enabled us to achieve a 4 star rating – the 
highest possible. One of the two recommendations for improvement was that the “the 
Council should ensure that it gives greater priority to environmental sustainability.” 
 
From the 1st April 2009 the Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA) is to replace the 
CPA. The Audit Commission have made it clear that sustainability will form a core 
part of the CAA. For example the Key Lines of Enquiry for the Use of Resources 
element of the CAA requires the Council to “Make effective use of natural resources”. 
Specifically within this we will be assessed against our ability to: 
 
1. Understand and quantify our use of natural resources and identify the main 

influencing factors 
2. Manage performance to reduce our impact on the environment  
3. Manage the environmental risks we face, working with partners 
 

2.2  Our Low Carbon Vision  
 

 
 
In order to achieve this, the council commits to the following; 
 
� Reducing its carbon emissions year on year  
� Reaching Level 5 in each area of the Carbon Management Embedding Matrix 

by April 2011 [See Appendix A of this Plan] 
 

2.3 Key Areas of Activity 
 
The Council has made a good start on embedding carbon management within the 
Council through changing existing policies and procedures, but there is still much to 
do to ensure carbon management receives due regard in all areas of the Council’s 
operations and becomes a true corporate priority.  

London Borough Tower Hamlets –  
Reducing Carbon, Reducing Costs 

 

Page 44



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 15 

As the Carbon Management Programme develops, the Council will need to consider 
more aspirational, larger investment projects in order to reach the higher Carbon 
Reduction targets it has set itself. 
 
There are 5 key areas of activity that will move the Council towards its Low Carbon 
vision; 
 

1. Implementing Carbon Reduction projects 
See Projects Table in Section 4 of this Plan for further detail on the nineteen Carbon 
Reduction projects and ideas for further Carbon Reduction opportunities. 

 
2. Making Carbon Reduction everyone’s responsibility 

Making Carbon Reduction everyone’s responsibility means embedding carbon 
management throughout the Council and ensuring that the aims of the programme are 
aligned with and not working against the rest of the organisation’s activities. This 
involves working across diverse areas such as policy, finance and investment, 
communications and training and data management. The main way the Council will do 
this is by implementing the Carbon Embedding Matrix [See Appendix A].  

 
3. Targeting budgets to Carbon Reduction projects and seeking new 
external funds 

The authority need to identify funding internally within existing resources and take full 
advantage of any external funding opportunities available to fund energy efficiency 
projects and schemes aimed at reducing carbon emissions and to reduce energy 
usage levels. This is further explored in section six. 

 
4. Creating strong leadership and ownership of Carbon Management within 
the council 

This will be achieved by embedding carbon management throughout the Council using 
the Embedding Matrix [See Appendix A]. This involves a wide range of activities 
including ensuring carbon management is integrated into responsibilities of senior 
managers, as well as activity in areas such as communications and training and data 
management. 

 

5. Effective partnership working 
Carbon Reduction by the Council cannot be achieved efficiently without full 
involvement and buy in from its partners. This is a Partnership issue of considerable 
importance and as such will be pursued within the partnership governance structure. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 16 

 
 
2.4  Targets and objectives 

 
 
The Council has set Carbon Reduction targets (using 2007 as the baseline) as 
follows; 
  
25% reduction by 2012 
40% reduction by 2016  
60% reduction by 2020 
 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets will reduce CO2 emissions 
from Council Operations by 60% by 2020 (from 2007 levels). 

Page 46



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 17 

3 Emissions Baseline and Projections 
3.1 Scope 
 
This section outlines the current emissions and sets out what the Council hopes to 
achieve in terms of Carbon Reduction. 
 
The scope of NI 185 is described as follows:  “NI 185 is to include all CO2 emissions 
from the delivery of Local Authority functions. In terms of the meaning of the word in 
legislation "function" covers both the duties and powers of an Authority. It covers all an 
Authority’s own operations and outsourced services. Even if the services are being 
provided by an external body (e.g. a private company) they remain the function of the 
Authority”.  
 
Due to the challenges in collecting data, the scope of the Carbon Management 
Programme baseline is different to the one for NI 185. Work continues to finalise the 
NI 185 baseline, which will be more comprehensive than the LACM. The scope for the 
LACM baseline is as follows; 
 
Stationary Sources: 
� Council Offices (10 buildings)  
� Community Centres (12 buildings)  
� Idea stores (4 buildings)  
� Libraries (5 buildings) 
� Leisure centres (7 buildings) - These are managed by Greenwich Leisure 

Limited (GLL) 
� Secondary schools (14 schools) 
� Special schools (6 schools) 
� Primary schools (63 Primary, 3 Junior, 3 Infants & 6 Nursery Schools) 
� Housing (13 Blocks). This relates to electricity consumption for the landlords’ 

areas and gas used by communal boilers. Emissions from housing itself is not 
included 

� Street lighting and street furniture 
 
Transport: 
� Transport from Waste collection service (Veolia) 
� Transport from Parks department services (Fountains) 
� Council fleet 
� Essential car user 
� Casual car user 

Page 47



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 18 

� Business transport including taxis 
 

The council has not included the following emissions in its baseline; 
 
� Social housing 
� Transport related to procurement contracts 
�  Embedded carbon from goods procured 
� CO2 emissions from water usage 
� Commuting (council staff traveling to and from work), emissions from staff 

working remotely and courier services 
� Embedded emissions from Waste from Council buildings   

 
It was decided not to include social housing because the council does not manage this 
sector itself. The Borough’s social housing is managed by an Arms Length 
Management Organisation (ALMO) – Tower Hamlets Homes (THH).  
 
Procurement based emissions pose a significant challenge for any local authority 
carbon management programme due to the sheer volume of outsourced services the 
Council procures. Council Procurement staff are currently looking at how to address 
carbon emissions in this significant area and are developing a robust sustainable 
procurement strategy that will incorporate Carbon Reduction and accounting 
measures.  
 
The Council has not included CO2 emissions from water usage because it does not, 
as yet, have the full consumption figures. Work is being undertaken in this area and 
there are also targets around reducing water consumption in the council’s 
Environmental Strategy and Action Plan (2007-2010). 
 
3.2 Baseline 
 
 
The baseline has been calculated to determine the carbon ‘footprint’ of the Council. 
This data allows the Council to understand and prioritise those areas where action is 
required and can be best achieved and also to measure progress in Carbon Reduction 
over the forthcoming years. 
 
The baseline data is for the financial year ending 31st March 2008. This coincides with 
NI 185 reporting. The baseline uses the carbon factors outlined in the Annex of this 
Plan. [See Factors Benchmarking & References table] 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 19 

 
Table 2 – Summary table of emissions for baseline year 2007/08: 
 
  

Total Buildings and 
street lights 

Transport 

Baseline CO2 emissions (tonnes) 
 42,870 40,025 2,845 
Baseline Cost (£) 

 
3,412,416 2,923,222 489,194 

 

Figure 6:  Summary of emissions for baseline year 2007/08 

Baseline CO2 emissions (tonnes)

Buildings and street 
lights 
93%

Transport
7%

 
 
Figure 7: Emissions broken down by Sector 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Breakdown of emissions by sector

Civic Buildings
22%Street Lighting

7%

Other Buildings
6%

Housing
19%

Leisure
12%

Schools
27%

Business Travel
3%Fleet

1%Waste Vehicles 
3% Civic Buildings

Leisure
Schools
Housing
Other Buildings
Street Lighting
Waste Vehicles 
Fleet
Business Travel

Page 49



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 20 

 
3.3 Projections and Value At Stake 
 
The Cost of Not Doing the Programme 
 
 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 
Total Value At Stake 
 (£) 232,717 492,192 781,002 1,101,964 1,458,158 
Cumulative Value At 
Stake (£) 232,717 724,909 1,505,910 2,607,875 4,066,033 
 
Figure 8 (below) shows the comparison between the Government’s predicted 
increases in energy costs to the Council if it continues ‘Business As Usual’ and does 
not take steps to reduce its carbon emissions compared with the ‘Reduced Emissions 
Scenario’ which is the predicted reduction in costs if the Carbon Reduction targets are 
met. This is known as the Value At Stake (VAS). 
 
The Cumulative Value At Stake (Value At Stake over time) is represented in the graph 
by the triangular space between the red and blue lines. This has been calculated to be 
around £4 million if the Council hits the 25% reduction target by 2012. (This does not 
take into account the cost of implementing the projects). 
 
Figure 8 – Financial Value At Stake 

Comparison of emissions with BAU increases and reduction 
targets - financial

-

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Year

£

Actual cost BAU cost Target cost

 
 [The projections in the Value At Stake graph are based on DTI, BERR and Carbon Trust assumption 
growth factors] 
 

Page 50



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 21 

Figure 9 (below) shows the Carbon Value At Stake. This is the total cumulative CO2 
savings to be gained from achieving the 2012 reduction target of 25% and is 
calculated to be 37,913 tCO2. The Business As Usual (BAU) scenario (if no action is 
taken) is that the Council’s carbon footprint will increase by 1,521 tCO2 to 44,374 tCO2 
per annum by 2012. 
 
Figure 9 – Carbon Value At Stake 

Comparison of actual emissions with BAU increases and 
reduction targets predicted

-

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

30,000,000

35,000,000

40,000,000

45,000,000

50,000,000

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Year

Ca
rb

on
 em

iss
ion

s (
kg

CO
2)

Actual emissions BAU emissions Target
 

Page 51



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 22 

4 Carbon Management Projects 
 
This section provides the detail around the Programme’s Carbon Reduction projects, 
for example how they were identified and prioritised; how the projects move forward, 
how well they add up against the reduction target and how the shortfall will be met 
over time and finally how future projects will be identified. 
 
Background 
At the beginning of the Programme, the Board and Team began by looking at types of 
projects from the Carbon Trust’s “Top Ten” list – some of the lower investment 
projects that have delivered the best savings for other organisations that have 
participated in the Programme. The Top Ten list is as follows; 
 

• Cavity & Loft Insulation 
• Voltage Optimisation 
• Variable Speed Drives 
• Pool Covers 
• Lighting Upgrades & Controls  
• Heating Controls & Zoning 
• Server Virtualisation 
• Printer Rationalisation 
• Photocell control streetlights/bollards 
• Hybrid/Alternative Fuel Vehicle 

 

Projects have been developed in 7 of the 10 areas. The Council also identified existing 
projects that were already being undertaken that would also contribute to the Carbon 
Reduction targets. 
 
4.1 Existing projects 
All the projects in this table have funding identified and allocated and are in some 
stage of implementation. 
 

Cost Annual Saving 
Ref Project Lead Cap’l Rev’ue Res’ce Fin (£) tCO2 

Pay 
back 
(yrs) 

% of 
Base 
line 

Year 

RE1 Chillers at 
Anchorage House 

Paul 
Harve
y 

18,000  0 N/a 12 4.5 0.028 2008 

CL1 Street Lighting - 
Westferry Circus 

Jason 
Minnet
te 

Existin
g 
budge
ts 

0  63,070 37 2.5 0.09 2008 

CL2 Leisure centre – 
pool covers 

Andre
w 
Meads 

N/a   N/a 100 3 0.42 2009 

Page 52



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 23 

CL3 Leisure services – 
Variable Speed 
Drives 

Andre
w 
Meads 

N/a   N/a 40 3 0.09 2008 

CL4 
 

Green Travel Plan 
business mileage 
reduction 

Sam 
Margol
is 

Existin
g 
budge
ts 

  N/a 16 - 0.037 April 
2008-
2012 

 
TOT
ALS 

  18,000   63,070 205  0.67  

 
4.2 Planned and funded projects 
These projects are likely to take place and have funding allocated. They are well 
defined and the quantification of costs and savings fairly robust (in some cases the 
costs might need to be amended pending submission of contractor quotes). In order 
for these projects to move into the ‘Existing projects’ category, they must either be 
given senior management approval within the relevant directorate or project 
implementation must be further defined or any blockages to implementation removed. 
 

Cost Annual Saving 
Ref Project Lead 

Cap’l Rev’ue Res’ce Fin (£) tCO2 
Pay 
back 
(yrs) 

% of 
Base 
line 

Year 

RE2 Mulberry Voltage 
Optimiser 

Paul 
Harve
y 

0  0 36,055 368 0 0.86 2009 

CL5 EST efficiency / 
“Eco driving” 
training for fleet 
drivers 

John 
Steven
s 

28,000   19,000 66 1.5 0.15 2009/1
0 

RE3 Corporate Energy 
Saving campaign 
(4 main staff 
buildings -
Mulberry, 
Anchorage, 
Gladstone, 62 
Roman Rd) 

? 3,000   £26,59
6 (3 
buildin
gs exc 
AH) 

340 0 0.79 Being 
deliver
ed 
over 2 
years 
2009/1
1 

DR1 System  
optimisation 
project at 10 boiler 
houses within 
ALMO 

Mick 
Cappe
r 

Extern
ally 
funde
d 

  N/a 647 N/a 1.5 2009 

TOT
ALS 

  31,000   £81,65
1 

1,421  3.3%  

 

4.3 Near term projects 
These are projects that are planned to take place but do not as yet have funding 
allocated. In order to move to the existing projects table, the funding source must be 
defined and allocated. 

Page 53



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 24 

 
Cost Annual Saving 

Ref Project Lead 
Cap’l Rev’ue Res’ce Fin (£) tCO2 

Pay 
back 
(yrs) 

% of 
Base 
line 

Year 

CL6 Parks – 3 
operational 
buildings  

Kather
ine 
O’Brie
n 

6,300   N/a 24 1.85 0.056 2010/ 
11 

CL7 Reduction in 
Parks contractors’ 
mileage 

Kather
ine 
O’Brie
n 

0   N/a 16 0 0.037 2011/2
012 

TOT
ALS 

  6,300   0 40  Neg  

 
4.4 Medium to long term projects 
This section includes projects that may take place but are not yet planned in detail. 
The detail on these may be subject to feasibility studies or further work and therefore 
the quantification of costs and savings are less accurate. 
 

Cost Annual Saving 
Ref Project Lead 

Cap’l Rev’ue Res’ce Fin (£) tCO2 
Pay 
back 
(yrs) 

% of 
Base 
line 

Year 

RE4 ICT – Thin Client   Paul 
Ingra
m 

£c3 
million 

  TBC 640 3  1.49 2012 

RE4 ICT – Server 
Rationalisation 

Ken 
Bates 

641,00
0 

  TBC 512 2.5 1.19 2012 

CS1 AMR – all schools 
 

? ?   N/a 1218  2.84 2012 

CS2 Energy awareness 
campaign  – all 
schools 

? ?   N/a 255 
(5% 
total) 

 0.59 2012 

CL8 AMR & energy 
awareness GLL 

? ?   N/a 195   0.46 Annua
lly to 
2012 

CL9 Street lighting 
bulb replacement 
programme  

Jason 
Minnet
te/ 
Stan 
Perpie 

Within 
existin
g 
budge
ts 

   150?  
TBC 

  2012 

CL1
0 AMR – 3 Ideas 

Stores & 5 
Libraries 

Sian 
Pipe 

?    104  0.24 2012 

DR2 Automated Meter 
Readings (AMR) in 
council offices* 

 
Sian 
Pipe 

?    1,174  2.74 2012 

TOT
ALS 

  3,641,
000 

   4,248  9.55  

GRAND TOTAL ALL 
PROJECTS 

 3,696,
300 

   5,914  13.62
% 

 

*Council offices means here – 23 buildings 

Page 54



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 25 

 
It should be noted that some projects are not being considered only for Carbon 
Reduction purposes. For example the ICT Thin Client project offers a host of benefits 
including reduction in costs for software licensing and will therefore will be considered 
not only on the value for money it offers in terms of Carbon Reduction (cost per tonne 
of carbon saved) but in terms of the other benefits. 
 
Further Carbon Reduction Opportunities Being Considered 
 
Over the medium to long term more Carbon Reduction projects will emerge from 
review of the Asset Management Plan (AMP), the Building Schools for the Future 
programme and other work programmes. The council is also looking to develop 
projects in the following areas: 
 
Street lighting/ furniture 
There are various street lighting and street furniture projects being considered. The 
Council has been selected to participate in a pilot project for LED street lighting with 
the London Development Agency that will be starting in 2009. The street lighting team 
are also looking at several developments in lighting technology. 
 
Schools 
It has been estimated that energy savings of up to 15% could be possible through 
carrying out a combination of energy saving measures including reviewing heating 
control settings, upgrading controls, upgrading building fabric insulation/draught 
proofing, boiler upgrades etc. The carbon footprint of the Borough’s 99 schools has 
been calculated to be 11,910 tCO2 so potential carbon savings of 1786 tonnes may be 
achievable or 4.1 % of the baseline. 
 
Energy Management 
The council has recently commissioned a monitoring and targeting software database 
- TEAM Sigma.  The database will be used to import all utility bills, eventually including 
water, check and validate all bills within a nominated tolerance and pass for timely 
payment.  The main advantage being the automated accuracy of the verification 
resulting in at least a saving of 5-10% over the customary hand checked bills.   
 
Heating and Controls 
Reviewing and optimising control settings typically achieves energy savings of 5 - 15% 
of gas and HVAC (heating, ventilation and air conditioning) electricity. (Typically HVAC 
accounts for 35% of total consumption).  
 

AMR - Automated Meter Reading 
An AMR implementation programme is on track to install upgraded meters across all 
council sites and the majority of schools in the borough.  Some capital funding has 
already been secured for this project. The meters will allow data to be fed back half 
hourly for both gas and electricity pulses directly into the TEAM Sigma software 

Page 55



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 26 

allowing each site to be accurately measured and recorded.  Savings of at least 10-
15% can be expected on completion of this project. 
  

Boiler replacement  
Boiler plant serviceable life is 20 years so there should be a regular replacement of 
heating plant across the sites. Replacing an older boiler with an efficiency of 70% with 
a condensing boiler with a seasonal efficiency of 89% will achieve a 27% energy 
saving.  
 
Lighting 
8% energy savings can be achieved by replacing T12 (38mm) fluorescent lamps with 
T8 (26mm) fluorescent lamps.  Savings of approximately 20% can be achieved by 
upgrading to electronic light fittings. Lighting controls typically achieve 20 - 40% 
savings. Lighting upgrades in suitable buildings will be explored by the Facilities 
Management team. 
 
 
5. Carbon Management Plan Financing  
 

5.1 Assumptions 
 
• Assumption 1 - Carbon impact of other council activities  
The impact of projects within the Capital Programme on the Carbon Management 
Programme has not been measured. There may be building projects scheduled that 
may negatively impact on the Carbon Reduction targets.  
 
The need to carry out an impact assessment of the Capital Programme and other 
council work programmes that may impact on this programme has been identified and 
agreed as an action by Corporate Management Team (CMT) in November 2008. The 
resources to undertake this piece of work have not yet been identified. However the 
work should aim to be completed by March 2010. 
 
• Assumption 2 - Effective project management  
Effective programme management is critical to the success of the Programme as a 
whole and it is imperative that projects employ council protocol around project 
management. Where appropriate, risk assessments should be carried out and 
recorded in the Council’s risk register. 
 
• Assumption 3 - Difficulties of estimating savings per project  
It is difficult to estimate savings per project as the Carbon Reduction will be an 
estimated figure. The cost of the current utility supplies is already known, however 
given the volatility of the market, it is difficult to forecast for future years. 
 

Page 56



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 27 

For example, a project may save 5,000 kWh of electricity units bringing in a potential 
saving of £5,000 and then due to an increase of electricity prices by 50%, the £5,000 
saving may not be realised. (These values are for example purposes only and do not 
represent a true example). 
 
It is thought that the majority of the projects are non-cashable on the grounds that 
current budgets do not reflect actual expenditure. This shall need to be considered in 
the future and reflected in the medium term financial plan accordingly. 
 
• Assumption 4 - Difficulties in calculating the opening baseline 
The Council is in the process of implementing a target and monitoring piece of energy 
software, which shall capture all energy related information for the Council’s buildings 
and this will provide substantial information for management. Included in the baseline 
some properties are shown with their estimated energy consumption as this software 
is not in place. Therefore, potentially the opening baseline is over or understated..  
 
The collection of some energy usage is difficult due to its nature, for example 
business travel and therefore there is again potential scope that the opening balance 
is misstated. 
 

5.2 Benefits / savings – quantified and un-quantified 
 

 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 
Annual cost saving 
(£) 

63,070 
 

81,651 N/a ? 

Annual CO2 saving 
(tonnes) 

193  
(projects RE1, 
CL1, CL2, CL3, 
CL4)  

1,421 
(projects RE2, 
CL5, RE3, DR1) 

24  
(project CL6) 

5,914  
(all medium to 
long term 
projects & CL7) 

%Reduction of 
baseline 

0.45% 
 

3.3% neg 9.55% 

 
 
Unquantified benefits: 
• This programme will directly contribute towards NI 186.  As a consequence of the 

Council using less gas the levels of atmospheric nitrogen oxides and PM10s 
reduce, directly assisting performance against NI 194 (Air Quality indicator), whilst 
improving the efficiency of communal heating helps residents avoid fuel poverty, 
measured by NI 187.  

 
• Another important benefit is improved reputation with staff, stakeholders and the 

public 
 

Page 57



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 28 

5.3 Additional resources 
 
The Council does not currently have any additional resource identified to invest in 
Carbon Reduction projects. Therefore it will explore the use of the following two 
external funding streams that have been identified: 
 
Salix Finance 
Salix Finance was set up in 2004 by the Carbon Trust to work exclusively with 
Local Authorities and other members of the public sector to reduce energy costs 
and carbon emissions through investment in energy efficiency and renewable 
technologies. The focus of Salix Finance is that projects must deliver both CO2 and 
revenue benefits and operates on a match-funding basis (typically £250,000 on a 
50/50 split). A key element of the application is focussed on how energy 
consumption and costs are captured and monitored and therefore the Council will 
need to ensure that robust monitoring systems are in place before any application 
is proposed. 
 
London Climate Change Agency 
The London Climate Change Agency (LCCA) is a subsidiary of the London 
Development Agency (LDA) and implements and supports climate change 
mitigation projects across London. Their energy efficiency fund provides interest 
free loans to London Boroughs for compliant energy saving capital projects. 
Successful projects are funded 50% by the London Development Agency and 50% 
by Salix Finance. The loan repayments are then reinvested in new projects. 
The advantage of the LCCA Energy Efficiency Fund is that no match funding is 
required by the Council and they provide the resource to manage the fund.  

 
Internal Resource 
 
The authority will need to identify an additional fund to invest in Carbon Reduction 
projects which if feasible could then be used as match funding for Salix Finance. 
This would need to be proposed in line with the annual budget process for revenue 
and/or capital resources. The funding would need to operate as a self-financing 
trading account.  
 
Some schemes, could qualify as invest to save projects and proposals would need 
to follow procedures already in place for Capital Projects. The project management 
would need to be robust in order to ensure that savings are made and therefore 
the funding effectively repaid through the savings achieved by consuming less 
energy. 
 
Specific agreements would need to be made with schools if project funding was to 
be provided to them as they are responsible for their own finances and the 
authority would want to ensure the funding was returned for future reinvestment in 
further projects. 

Page 58



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 29 

 
For example, a project could need £15,000 of investment which will mean a 
reduction in energy consumption resulting in £5,000 saved on energy costs per 
annum. This project would therefore pay back the £15,000 over the following three 
years and then any additional savings would remain with the service or could be 
offered up as a Gershon saving. 
 

5.4 Financial costs and sources of funding 
 
This is an important table. It summarises the total costs, split into revenue and 
capital. The Carbon Trust strongly recommends every Carbon Management 
Programme to have its first two years fully funded.  
 

Figures in £ 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 
Annual costs: 18,000 31,000 6,300 3,696,300  

(2 projects 
only) 

Total annual capital 
cost 

18,000 31,000 6,300 3,696,300  

Total annual 
revenue cost 

    

Total costs 18,000 31,000 6,300 3,696,300 
Committed funding: 18,000 31,000 0 0 
Committed annual 
capital 

    

Committed annual 
revenue 

    

Total funded     
Unallocated funding 0 0 6,300 3,696,300 
Unallocated annual 
capital 

    

Unallocated annual 
revenue 

    

Total unfunded 0 
 

0 6,300 3,696,300 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 30 

 
6. Actions to Embed Carbon Management in the Organisation 
 

See Appendix A (page 39) for the Embedding Matrix 
 
At the beginning of the Programme (June 2008) the council scored 10 out of a 
possible 35 points using the Carbon Management Embedding Matrix, scoring an 
average of 1.4 for each section and performing best in the area of Data Management 
at 3.5. At the time of writing this Plan, the council has made some improvement and 
now scores 15 out of a possible 35.  
 
 Corporate 

Strategy 
Prog 
Managem’t 

Respons 
ibility 

Data 
Managem’t 

Comms 
& 
Training 

Finance & 
Investment 

Policy 
alignment 

Total 

June 
08 
 

1.5 1 1 3.5 1 1 1 10 

April 
09 
 

1.5 3 2 4 1.5 2 1 15 

Aril 
2011 

5 5 5 5 5 5 5 35 

 
The council aims to achieve Level 5 in each if the six sections of the Matrix by April 
2011. The Council has already made progress in embedding carbon management 
within its operational activities.  A report was submitted to the Corporate Management 
Team (CMT) in November 2008 with various recommendations, all of which have 
been agreed and are included below.  
 

6.1 Corporate Strategy – embedding CO2 saving across the organisation 
 
The Council currently scores 1.5 for Corporate Strategy. Although it does not have a 
Climate Change Strategy as yet, this Carbon Management Plan makes reference to 
Climate Change and is a significant step forward in addressing the council’s emissions 
and reducing its impact. The following actions were agreed by the Corporate 
Management Team (CMT) in November 2008; 
 
� To refer approval of business cases for Carbon Reduction projects to the Asset 

& Capital Management Board.  
� To require that all new capital scheme funding applications include a Carbon 

Impact Assessment 
� To review the Asset Management Plan (AMP) and the Revenue Implications 

assessment of the 2008-11 Capital Programme to assess the forward CRC 
risks being created by schemes already agreed within the programme, in the 
context of the AMP’s ability to deliver savings over the medium term.   

Page 60



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 31 

� To consider whether all 2009/10 Service Plans should include a carbon budget 
assessment to inform   financial planning for 2010/11 and include delivery of 
identified Carbon Reduction projects 

 
Further actions to make progress in this area include; 
 

• Senior endorsement and publication of the Carbon Management Plan and CO2 
reduction targets  

• Inclusion of CO2 saving targets in the Strategic Plan 
• Embedding Carbon Management actions into Strategic, Directorate, Service 

and Team Plans.  
 

6.2 Programme Management – bringing it all together effectively 
 
The Council currently scores 3 out of 5 against Programme Management. The Carbon 
Management Board and Team meet regularly and plans are in place for regular 
reporting to Senior management, for example annual reporting against targets to 
Cabinet and CMT. Actions to make progress in this area are covered in Section 7 of 
the Plan. 
 

6.3 Responsibility – being clear that saving CO2 is everyone’s job 
 
The Council currently scores 2 in this area. Carbon Reduction is currently a part time 
responsibility of a small number of individuals. Actions to make progress in this area 
include; 
 

• Carbon Management integrated in to responsibilities of department heads and 
senior managers 

• Lead Member identified with responsibility for Carbon Reduction 
• Establishing a network of ‘carbon champions’ across directorates to build 

engagement at the local level through the Corporate energy saving campaign 
• The inclusion of specific carbon saving responsibilities in relevant job 

descriptions from Heads of Service through to junior positions. 
• The use of carbon saving objectives for staff as part of their performance 

management 
• Carbon Reduction targets included in Directorate plans  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 32 

6.4 Data Management – measuring the difference, measuring the benefit 
 
The Council currently scores 4 in this area. Annual collection of CO2 emissions must 
now be undertaken as part of NI 185 reporting. This presents a real challenge, one 
that this authority shares with all local authorities across the country. Actions to make 
progress in this area include; 
 
� The asset register will be studied in more depth to identify emissions from 

sources not already identified 
 
� Where the council does not procure energy for a particular building, the Council 

will contact the building occupier to request the actual energy consumption 
data. This will be collected annually. 

 
� To ensure that the Council has a joined up approach to data gathering it is 

suggested that all data is consolidated enabling a one stop approach for all 
national indicators, the Carbon Management Programme and the CRC 
programme. This will be achieved by bespoke reporting automated by the 
TEAM Sigma database. 

 
� In conjunction with the collection of energy consumption data we will collect 

other building related information e.g. Gross Internal Area (GIA), type of fuel 
used, age of the building, thermal performances of building and information on 
building services equipment, this enable detailed energy analysis of the building 
to be completed, allowing the worst performing buildings to be targeted for 
carbon savings projects. This will also ensure £/per tonne of CO2 savings is 
minimised.  

 
� Occupiers of the buildings will be notified of their building performance 

annually. Where a building is the subject of an energy awareness programme, 
they will be notified of their performance each month. Where the building is part 
of a carbon saving project, energy savings will be captured and communicated 
through this Programme and related communications strategy. 

 

6.5 Communication and Training – ensuring everyone is aware 
 
The Council currently scores 1.5 in this area. Staff are currently given Carbon 
Management information on an ad hoc basis. Actions to make progress in this area 
include; 
 

• Develop a Communications Plan to communicate the Authority’s successes to staff 
and local residents 

• Develop rolling awareness campaign for staff around Carbon Reduction   
• Training programme to be developed for specific groups of staff, e.g. support staff, 

cleaners, security etc 

Page 62



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 33 

• Carry out staff surveys to monitor staff attitudes to carbon saving 
• Put Carbon Management on the Senior Managers Conference agenda 
• Inclusion of ‘low carbon council culture’ guidance in corporate induction programme 

(10 or so bullet points characterising what is expected of everyone to save carbon, 
e.g. ‘we turn our computers and monitors off when we leave each night’)  

• Develop Corporate training programme around Carbon Reduction  
• Ensure the Aspiring Leaders Programme includes Carbon Management training  
 

6.6 Finance and Investment – the money to match the commitment 
 
This area is covered comprehensively in Section 5 of this Plan. The Council currently 
scores 2 in this area. Carbon Reduction projects currently rely on ad hoc financing. 
The Council is looking to apply for funding from the Energy Efficiency Fund operated 
by the London Climate Change Agency (LCCA), as explained in section 5.3, and will 
implement the following actions in order to make progress on financing of Carbon 
Reduction projects; 
 

• Write protocol for all projects being considered by the three corporate boards 
incorporating whole life costing methodology and funding opportunities. Project 
owner – Polly Wicks, Procurement. By Dec 2009. 

 
• Set up Invest to Save fund for Carbon Reduction projects. Owner Alan Finch. 

By Dec 09. 
 

• Look into opportunities for exploring regional collaboration/ shared solutions 
with other Local Authorities around sustainability agenda e.g bulk procurement 
of energy, sustainable procurement and Carbon Reduction opportunities. By 
Dec 09. 

 
 

6.7 Policy Alignment – saving CO2 across your operations 
 
The Council currently scores 1 in this area meaning that policy alignment is very weak. 
Although a comprehensive review of existing policies is yet to happen, the following 
key actions were agreed by CMT and LAB in November 2008; 
 
� To commence development of a corporate framework to verify, achieve and 

maintain Carbon Reduction targets over the longer term within the Strategic 
Plan. 

� To amend the Capital Strategy to include the aim of ‘reducing the Council’s 
carbon footprint and assisting the community to do likewise’. 

 
Further actions to move forward in this area include; 

Page 63



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 34 

 
� Acting on policy alignment opportunities when they arise (for example the 

Leisure Services strategy is currently being drafted, Carbon Reduction options 
are currently being explored with colleagues in Leisure services) 

� Review of key policies to be undertaken  
� Formulate procedure for the ongoing review of policies  
� Review of Capital projects from an energy / carbon whole life costing 

perspective 
 
 
7 Programme Management  
 
Good Programme Governance is fundamental to the success of this Programme. 
Significant time was spent choosing the right people for the Programme Board – 
individuals with sufficient knowledge and experience and most importantly 
commitment to ensuring the Programme’s success. It was also important to ensure 
that the key areas of the council in carbon management terms were represented.   
 
Responsibility for the day to day running of the Carbon Management Programme falls 
to the Sustainable Development team within the Development and Renewal 
directorate, where the Programme Lead sits. It is the responsibility of the Programme 
Lead to work with project owners to help develop and support Carbon Reduction 
projects as well as drive forward the Programme as a whole.  
 

7.1 The Programme Board – strategic ownership and oversight 
 
How the Programme Board sits within the council governance structure 

      Carbon Management Team 
 

 DMT 

 
Programme Board 

 

Project Lead  
 

CMT 

Cabinet 

Transformation 
Board Asset & Capital 

Management 
Board 

Page 64



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 35 

 
 
From May 2009, the Programme Board will meet monthly. The Board comprises; 
 

� Chair: Jackie Odunoye (Chair) 
� Councillor Sponsor: Joshua Peck, Lead Member for Resources 
� Finance Champion: Alan Finch 
� Programme Leader – Rachel Carless 
� William Roberts, Area Director LAPs 7&8  
� Robin Beattie – Strategy & Resources, CLC 
� Mark Grimley - Organisational Development 
� Richard Parsons –Procurement & Corporate Programmes 
� Jim Roberts, Head ICT 
� Pat Watson, School Buildings Development 
� Ann Sutcliffe – Building Schools for the Future (BSF). TBC 
� Andy Algar – Corporate Property 

Programme Board Terms of Reference: 
The Programme Board provides strategic oversight of the Carbon Management 
Programme. Specifically the Programme Board will: 
 

• Champion and provide leadership on carbon management within the 
Authority 

• Set and review the strategic direction and targets, ensuring the objectives of 
the Carbon Management Programme are in line with those of the Local 
Authority 

• Own the scope of the Carbon Management Programme and prioritise the list 
of Carbon Reduction projects which it comprises, ensuring sufficient projects 
are identified, quantified and prioritised to reach the targets 

• Monitor progress towards meeting the objectives and targets, based on 
reports provided by Rachel Carless, the Programme Lead. 

• Remove obstacles to the successful completion of carbon management 
projects 

• Review and champion plans for financial provision to support carbon 
management projects 

• Ensure that there is a framework in place to coordinate the management of 
projects within the Carbon Management Programme 

 

Board meetings consist of reports on the health of the Programme provided by the 
Programme Lead. Updates are given on specific projects, risks to the programme, and 
performance against the aspirational targets. Issues are also discussed such as how 
the Carbon Management Programme can be effectively integrated into council 
procedures. 

Page 65



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 36 

 

7.2 The Carbon Management Team – delivering the projects 
 
� The Programme Lead will chair quarterly Team meetings 
� The Programme Lead will review progress on activities and projects, identifying 

any blockages that need to be raised with the Programme Board 
� The Programme Lead will meet at least monthly with the Project Sponsor to 

discuss progress. 
 
The Carbon Management Team comprises; 
 

• Rachel Carless (Programme Lead) 
• Abdul Khan (Programme deputy) 
• Corporate Property Services - Jonathan Arnold 
• Energy contracts – Sian Pipe 
• Finance – Paul Thorogood 
• Communications – Claire Rudd 
• Facilities management– Angela Dillon / Paul Harvey 
• Street lighting – Stan Perpie 
• Street lighting – Jason Minnette 
• Fleet management – John Stevens  
• Parks – Katherine O’Brien 
• Schools - Kevin Joyce  
• Sustainable procurement – Imran Yasin/ Ambia Begum 
• ICT - Ken Bates 
• ICT - Paul Ingram 
• Adult Services – Angie Bull 
• Leisure Services – Andrew Meads/ Michelle Davies 

 
7.3 Succession planning for key roles 
 
 
The Programme Sponsor is the Service Head Strategy, Regeneration and 
Sustainability. Should the current post holder leave this responsibility has been built 
into the work routine for this role. The Director of Development and Renewal, in future 
consideration of the responsibilities of this Service Head post will ensure that the 
function is covered effectively. 
 

Page 66



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 37 

The Programme Leader responsibilities will be built into the job description of the 
Sustainability Officer’s role and the Sustainability Manager will make sure that this is 
adequately resourced in the annual team plan, 
 

7.4  Ongoing stakeholder management 
 

Stakeholder Means of 
Communication How Often 

Communicated With Contacted by Whom 

Board 
 

Meetings Monthly Programme Lead 

Team 
 

Meetings, email, 
phone, in person Quarterly meetings Programme Lead 

All staff 
 

Via Comms 
Strategy  As required Comms Lead 

Strategic Partnership  
 

Great Place to 
Live Community 
Plan Delivery 
Group 

Bi - monthly Programme Lead / 
William Roberts (Board 
Member) 

Community Plan Public 
Realm Sub Group 
Delivery Group 

Update at 
meetings Quarterly  Programme Lead 

 
PCT Develop  

Employee 
engagement 
strategy 

Regular comms through 
Mark’s role of Joint 
Director Organisational 
Development for PCT 

Mark Grimley (Board 
Member) 
 

Tower Hamlets Homes 
 

Via THH Board 
membership Quarterly Programme Sponsor 

Schools 
 

Headteachers 
Bulletin & 
Quarterly schools 
energy newsletter 

Minimum of quarterly Programme Lead/ 
Childrens Services Lead 

Community Groups and 
 Wider Community 

Local press and 
website Minimum of quarterly Comms Lead 

 

7.5 Annual progress review 
 
Progress will be monitored against the target regularly by the programme Board. The 
Carbon Trust will also follow up to measure the scale of our Carbon Reduction at the 
end of each financial year.  The review will; 
 
� Cover the cost and all benefits from the Programme - financial savings, either 

cashable or returned to ‘rotating fund’ 

Page 67



London Borough Tower Hamlets Carbon Management Programme 
Carbon Management Plan                   working with 

Page 38 

� CO2 savings against reduction targets 
� Less quantifiable benefits, such as influencing the local community (supporting 

NI 186) 
� Align with NI185 reporting 
� Report to CMT and Cabinet annually 
� Report to DMTs twice yearly 

 
 
 
Projected CO2 savings  
 
 2008/2009 2009/2010 2010/2011 2011/2012 
Total annual carbon savings 
(tCO2) of quantifiable projects 193 1,421 24 5,914 
   Total 7,552 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 68



 Lo
nd

on
 Bo

rou
gh

 To
we

r H
am

let
s C

arb
on

 M
an

ag
em

en
t P

rog
ram

me
 

Ca
rbo

n M
an

ag
em

en
t P

lan
 

    
    

    
    

  
 

wo
rki

ng
 w

ith
 

 

Pa
ge

 39
 

Ap
pe

nd
ix 

A:
 C

arb
on

 M
an

ag
em

en
t M

atr
ix 

- E
mb

ed
din

g 
 

CO
RP

O
RA

TE
 

ST
RA

TE
G

Y 
PR

O
G

RA
M

M
E 

M
AN

AG
EM

EN
T 

RE
SP

O
NS

IB
IL

IT
Y 

DA
TA

 M
AN

AG
EM

EN
T 

CO
M

M
UN

IC
AT

IO
N 

& 
TR

AI
NI

NG
 

FI
NA

NC
E 

& 
IN

VE
ST

M
EN

T 
PO

LI
CY

 A
LI

G
NM

EN
T 

* 

  5 

• T
op

 le
ve

l ta
rge

t 
all

oc
ate

d a
cro

ss
 

org
an

isa
tio

n 
• C

O 2
 re

du
cti

on
 ta

rge
ts 

in 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
 Bu

sin
es

s 
Pla

ns
 

• C
ab

ine
t / 

SM
T r

ev
iew

 
pro

gre
ss

 ag
ain

st 
tar

ge
ts 

on
 qu

art
erl

y b
as

is 
• Q

ua
rte

rly
 di

ag
no

sti
c 

rep
ort

s p
rov

ide
d t

o 
Dir

ec
tor

ate
s 

• P
rog

res
s a

ga
ins

t ta
rge

t 
pu

bli
sh

ed
 ex

ter
na

lly 

• C
M 

int
eg

rat
ed

 in
 

res
po

ns
ibi

litie
s o

f s
en

ior
 

ma
na

ge
rs 

 
• C

M 
pa

rt o
f a

ll jo
b 

de
sc

rip
tio

ns
 

• C
en

tra
l C

O 2
 re

du
cti

on
 

ad
vic

e a
va

ila
ble

 
• G

ree
n C

ha
mp

ion
s 

lea
din

g l
oc

al 
ac

tio
n 

gro
up

s 

• Q
ua

rte
rly

 co
lla

tio
n o

f 
CO

2 
em

iss
ion

s f
or 

all
 

so
urc

es
 

• D
ata

 ex
ter

na
lly 

ve
rifi

ed
 

• M
&T

 in
 pl

ac
e f

or:
  

o
 bu

ild
ing

s 
o
 st

ree
t li

gh
tin

g 
o
 w

as
te 

• A
ll s

taf
f g

ive
n f

orm
ali

se
d 

CO
2 
red

uc
tio

n: 
 

o
 in

du
cti

on
 an

d t
rai

nin
g 

o
 c

om
mu

nic
ati

on
s 

• J
oin

t C
M 

co
mm

un
ica

tio
ns

 w
ith

 
ke

y p
art

ne
rs 

• S
taf

f a
wa

ren
es

s t
es

ted
 

thr
ou

gh
 su

rve
ys

 

• F
ina

nc
e c

om
mi

tte
d f

or 
2+

yrs
 of

 Pr
og

ram
me

 
• E

xte
rna

l fu
nd

ing
 be

ing
 

rou
tin

ely
 ob

tai
ne

d  
• R

ing
-fe

nc
ed

 fu
nd

 fo
r 

Ca
rbo

n R
ed

uc
tio

n 
ini

tia
tiv

es
 

• C
O 2

 fri
en

dly
 op

era
tin

g 
pro

ce
du

re 
in 

pla
ce

 
• C

en
tra

l te
am

 pr
ov

ide
 

ad
vic

e a
nd

 re
vie

w,
 w

he
n 

req
ue

ste
d 

• B
arr

ier
s t

o C
O 2

 re
du

cti
on

 
rou

tin
ely

 co
ns

ide
red

 an
d 

rem
ov

ed
 

4 

• C
O 2

 re
du

cti
on

 
co

mm
itm

en
t in

 
Co

rpo
rat

e S
tra

teg
y 

• T
op

 le
ve

l ta
rge

ts 
se

t fo
r 

CO
2 
red

uc
tio

n 
• C

lim
ate

 C
ha

ng
e 

Str
ate

gy
 re

vie
we

d 
an

nu
all

y 

• S
po

ns
or 

rev
iew

s 
pro

gre
ss

 an
d r

em
ov

es
 

blo
ck

ag
es

 th
rou

gh
  

reg
ula

r P
rog

ram
me

 
Bo

ard
s 

• P
rog

res
s a

ga
ins

t ta
rge

ts 
rou

tin
ely

 re
po

rte
d t

o 
Se

nio
r M

gt 
Te

am
 

• C
M 

int
eg

rat
ed

 in
 to

 
res

po
ns

ibi
litie

s o
f 

de
pa

rtm
en

t  h
ea

ds
 

• C
ab

ine
t / 

SM
T r

eg
ula

rly
 

up
da

ted
 

• S
taf

f e
ng

ag
ed

 th
ou

gh
 

Gr
ee

n C
ha

mp
ion

 
ne

tw
ork

 

• A
nn

ua
l c

oll
ati

on
 of

 C
O 2

 
em

iss
ion

s f
or:

  
o
 bu

ild
ing

s 
o
 st

ree
t li

gh
tin

g 
o
 tr

an
sp

ort
 

o
 w

as
te 

• D
ata

 in
ter

na
lly 

rev
iew

ed
 

• A
ll s

taf
f g

ive
n C

O 2
 

red
uc

tio
n: 

 
o
 in

du
cti

on
 

o
 c

om
mu

nic
ati

on
s 

o
 C

M 
ma

tte
rs 

co
mm

un
ica

ted
 to

 
ex

ter
na

l c
om

mu
nit

y  

• C
oo

rdi
na

ted
 fin

an
cin

g 
for

 C
O 2

 re
du

cti
on

 
pro

jec
ts 

via
 Pr

og
ram

me
 

Bo
ard

 
• F

ina
nc

es
 co

mm
itte

d 1
yr 

ah
ea

d 
• S

om
e e

xte
rna

l fi
na

nc
ing

 

• C
om

pre
he

ns
ive

 re
vie

w 
of 

po
lici

es
 co

mp
let

e 
• L

ow
er 

lev
el 

po
lici

es
 

rev
iew

ed
 lo

ca
lly 

• U
np

op
ula

r c
ha

ng
es

 
be

ing
 co

ns
ide

red
 

3 

• C
O 2

 re
du

cti
on

 vi
sio

n 
cle

arl
y s

tat
ed

 an
d 

pu
bli

sh
ed

 
• C

lim
ate

 C
ha

ng
e 

Str
ate

gy
 en

do
rse

d b
y 

Ca
bin

et 
an

d p
ub

lici
se

d 
wit

h s
taf

f 

 • C
ore

 te
am

 re
gu

lar
ly 

rev
iew

 C
M 

pro
gre

ss
: 

o
 ac

tio
ns

 
o
 pr

ofi
le 

& t
arg

ets
 

o
 ne

w 
op

po
rtu

nit
ies

 

 • A
n i

nd
ivid

ua
l p

rov
ide

s  
ful

l ti
me

 fo
cu

s f
or 

CO
2 

red
uc

tio
n a

nd
 

co
ord

ina
tio

n a
cro

ss
 th

e 
org

an
isa

tio
n 

• S
en

ior
 Sp

on
so

r a
cti

ve
ly 

en
ga

ge
d  

 

• C
oll

ati
on

 of
 C

O 2
 

em
iss

ion
s f

or 
lim

ite
d 

sc
op

e i
.e.

 bu
ild

ing
s o

nly
 

• E
nv

iro
nm

en
tal

 / e
ne

rgy
 

gro
up

(s)
 gi

ve
n a

d h
oc

:  
o
 tr

ain
ing

 
o
 c

om
mu

nic
ati

on
s 

• A
 vi

ew
 of

 th
e c

os
t o

f C
O 2

 
red

uc
tio

n i
s d

ev
elo

pin
g, 

bu
t  f

ina
nc

e r
em

ain
s a

d-
ho

c  
• S

om
e c

en
tra

lise
d 

res
ou

rce
 al

loc
ate

d 
• F

ina
nc

e r
ep

res
en

tat
ion

 
on

 C
M 

Te
am

 

• A
ll h

igh
 le

ve
l a

nd
 so

me
 

mi
d l

ev
el 

po
lici

es
 

rev
iew

ed
, ir

reg
ula

rly
 

• S
ub

sta
nti

al 
ch

an
ge

s 
ma

de
, s

ho
win

g C
O 2

 
sa

vin
gs

 

2 
• D

raf
t C

lim
ate

 C
ha

ng
e 

Po
licy

 
• C

lim
ate

 C
ha

ng
e 

ref
ere

nc
es

 in
 ot

he
r 

str
ate

gie
s 

• A
d h

oc
 re

vie
ws

 of
 C

M 
ac

tio
ns

 pr
og

res
s 

• 
CO

2 
red

uc
tio

n a
 pa

rt-
tim

e r
es

po
ns

ibi
lity

 of
 a 

few
 de

pa
rtm

en
t 

ch
am

pio
ns

 

• N
o C

O 2
 em

iss
ion

s d
ata

 
co

mp
ile

d  
• E

ne
rgy

 da
ta 

co
mp

ile
d o

n 
a r

eg
ula

r b
as

is 

• R
eg

ula
r a

wa
ren

es
s 

ca
mp

aig
ns

 
• S

taf
f g

ive
n C

M 
inf

orm
ati

on
 on

 ad
-ho

c 
ba

sis
 

• A
d h

oc
 fin

an
cin

g f
or 

CO
2 

red
uc

tio
n p

roj
ec

ts 

• P
art

ial
 re

vie
w 

of 
ke

y, 
hig

h l
ev

el 
po

lici
es

 
• S

om
e f

ina
nc

ial
 qu

ick
 

win
s m

ad
e 

1 
• N

o p
oli

cy
  

• N
o C

lim
ate

 C
ha

ng
e 

ref
ere

nc
e 

• N
o C

M 
mo

nit
ori

ng
 

• N
o r

ec
og

nis
ed

 C
O 2

 
red

uc
tio

n r
es

po
ns

ibi
lity

 
• N

o C
O 2

 em
iss

ion
s d

ata
 

co
mp

ile
d  

• E
sti

ma
ted

 bi
llin

g 
• N

o c
om

mu
nic

ati
on

 or
 

tra
ini

ng
  

• N
o s

pe
cif

ic 
fun

din
g f

or 
CO

2 
red

uc
tio

n p
roj

ec
ts 

• N
o a

lig
nm

en
t o

f p
oli

cie
s 

for
 C

O 2
 re

du
cti

on
  

 

BE
ST

 

W
or

st
 

* M
ajo

r o
pe

rat
ion

al 
po

lici
es

 an
d p

roc
ed

ure
s, 

e.g
. C

ap
ita

l P
roj

ec
ts,

 Pr
oc

ure
me

nt,
 H

R,
 Bu

sin
es

s T
rav

el 
Th

e b
lac

k l
ine

 re
pre

se
nts

 th
e c

ou
nc

il’s
 cu

rre
nt 

po
sit

ion
 (a

t M
arc

h 2
00

9).
 Th

e t
arg

et 
is 

to 
rea

ch
 Le

ve
l 5

 in
 al

l a
rea

s b
y A

pri
l 2

01
1. 

 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\0\AI00019048\CLCCapitalProgrammereport0.doc 

 
 

 
 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1  This report seeks Cabinet approval to the Capital Programme for Communities 

Localities & Cultural Services Directorate for 2009/2010.  
 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
2.1 Include the schemes listed in appendices A & B to the report within the Communities 

Localities & Cultural Services Directorate’s 2009/2010 Capital Programme. 
 
2.2 Subject to the identification of available funding as set out in paragraph 3.2 of the 

report, adopt Capital Estimates (sum specified in estimated scheme cost column) for 
the schemes as outlined in Appendices A & B to the report. 

 
2.3 Agree that the Council’s  Measured Term Contracts be used for the implementation of 

the Transportation and Highways Works where appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMMITTEE 
 
Cabinet  
 

DATE 
 
8th April 2009 

CLASSIFICATION 
 
Unrestricted 
 

REPORT NO. 
 
CAB 140/089  

AGENDA ITEM 
NO. 
         

REPORT OF 
Corporate Director (Communities, 
Localities & Culture) 
 
ORIGINATING OFFICER(S) 
Luke Cully - Finance Manager 
Communities, Localities  & Culture 

TITLE 
Communities, Localities & Cultural Services 
Directorate 
Capital Programme 2009/2010 
 
Wards Affected  All 

Agenda Item 6.3

Page 71



2 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\0\AI00019048\CLCCapitalProgrammereport0.doc 

 

 
 
 
3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 This report contains details of schemes which will form the Communities Localities & 

Cultural Services Capital Programme for 2009/2010 and in accordance with Financial 
Procedure FP3.3. Cabinet are requested to approve capital estimates for the projects.  
Funding for the programme is available from the following sources. 
 
• Local Priorities Programme (LPP) 
• Transport for London (TfL) 
• Developer Contributions (S106) 
• Capital Grants 
 

3.2 All schemes link with the Council’s Strategic Plan and Community Plan.  Priority will be 
given to those schemes which are time constrained and must be subject to practical 
completion by the 31st March 2010. The estimated cost of schemes within the attached 
programme is approximately £5.8m, (Council contribution £1.45m, Transport for 
London LIP £2.24m, S106 £1.72m, Capital Grants £400k) and funding identified for 
schemes at this stage equates approximately to this level. 

 
4.0 TfL - LIP ALLOCATION –TRANSPORTATION & HIGHWAYS CAPITAL 

PROGRAMME 
 
4.1 The Transportation & Highways capital programme for 2009/10 is developed from 

successful bids to a variety of funding sources including the Local Implementation Plan 
bid to Transport for London, and the Council’s own Local Priorities Programme. In total 
the amount of capital funding available for 2009/10 totals approximately £2.2m at this 
stage. 
 

4.2 Capital estimates include a fee of 20% of the total works cost which contributes 
towards the cost of staff resources engaged in the entire scheme development 
process from inception to construction. These fees are currently under review with 
other Local Authorities and external agencies to ensure that value for money is 
maintained for the service. 
 

4.3 This capital programme aims to deliver the programme set out in the Council’s Local 
Implementation Plan for transport, progress on which will be reported to a future 
Cabinet. Schemes funded under the Local Area Agreement are targeted at meeting 
stretch targets on road safety and mandatory targets for the introduction and 
implementation of school travel plans set by central Government and are also 
consistent with the LIP aims. 

 
 
4.4 All works are fully funded and further opportunities may arise through the year to 

supplement this funding. Details of schemes and funding are included at Appendix A 
and Members are recommended to adopt the capital estimates for these schemes in 
order to facilitate efficient delivery of the programme.  As in previous years the 
Council’s Capital Works Contract will be utilised for the implementation of the 
Programme in addition to other specialist Measured Term Contracts for drainage, 
street lighting and road marking works.   

 
 
 

Page 72



3 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\0\AI00019048\CLCCapitalProgrammereport0.doc 

 
 
5. OTHER SERVICES  
 
5.1 Appendix B sets out the Capital Programme for the remainder of the Directorates 

Services (Culture, Community Safety and Public Realm) and consists of schemes 
intended to improve the Borough’s Parks and Open Space leading to increased 
participation in activities linked to these services, as outlined within the Council’s 
Strategic Plan and Open Space Strategy, improvements to Bancroft Library and further 
investment in CCTV and Environmental Improvements in pursuit of reducing crime and 
anti social behaviour.  

 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
6.1 This report outlines to Committee the Capital Programme for Communities Localities & 

Cultural Services Directorate for 2009/2010. Schemes within the programme will only 
be able to proceed when requisite resources have been identified and necessary 
Capital Estimates approved.    

 In utilising the Measured Term Contracts, the Head of Public Realm must be satisfied 
that these represent value for money for the Council. 

 
7. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL)  
 
7.1 Cabinet is requested to approve estimates for projects identified in the appendices for 

the Communities, Localities and Cultural Services Directorate capital programme. 
 
7.2 In accordance with Financial Procedure FP 3.3, Senior Managers are required to 

obtain a capital estimate for any scheme in the capital programme.  Where the 
estimate is over £250,000 the approval of the adoption of that capital estimate must be 
sought from the Cabinet. 

 
7.3 There is no legal impediment to approval of the estimates, which apparently relate to 

projects within the Council’s statutory functions.  It will be the responsibility of officers 
to ensure that in respect of individual projects the Council complies with its obligation 
as a best value authority within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1999 to 
secure continuous improvement in the way its functions are exercised having regard to 
the combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

 
 
8. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
8.1 The Council’s Accessible Transport Consultative Forum advises and directs traffic and 

transport projects from the point of view of people with mobility impairments.  Direct 
engagement between users and providers has enabled several improvements to be 
made in service delivery, including the accessibility projects which have been funded in 
this programme. 

 
9. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR GREENER ENVIRONMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The use of monies as outlined within the report will support current policies to improve 

the local environment.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



4 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\0\AI00019048\CLCCapitalProgrammereport0.doc 

 
 
10. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 All Projects will be closely monitored to ensure that programmes are completed on 

time and within budget and to ensure that the Council is not exposed to financial risk. 
 
 
11. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 
 
11.1 All Transportation & Highways Capital Schemes will be implemented using the new 

Measured Term Contract.  Efficiencies in the management and administration of this 
contract will be achieved in 2009/10 through reductions in numbers of low value 
individual works orders and invoices, and through introduction of on-line invoicing 
systems.  
 

 
List of Appendices 

 
Appendix A – Transportation & Highways Schemes  
Appendix B – Other Schemes 
 
 

   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 1972  SECTION 100D (AS AMENDED) 
    LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 

Brief Description of background paper                             Name and telephone number of holder 
          and address where open to inspection.         
 
Capital Programme papers & files       Luke Cully 
                                                                                                        5221  
 
                                       Anchorage House 
 

Page 74



Ap
pe

nd
ix 

A 
- T

ran
sp

or
t &

 H
igh

wa
ys

 Sc
he

me
s

Pr
og

ram
me

Sc
he

me
 D
eta

ils
Ca

teg
or
y

£’0
00

£‘0
00

20
mp

h Z
on

es
Zo

ne
 10

 ar
bo

ur 
sq

ua
re

13
0

TfL
Sig

nin
g f

or 
20

 m
ph

 zo
ne

 an
d t

raf
fic

 ca
lm

ing
 wh

ich
 wi

ll 
be

 de
sig

ne
d t

o s
low

 tra
ffic

 an
d t

o i
mp

rov
e 

ac
ce

ss
ab

ility
 fo

r p
ed

es
tria

ns
 m

ov
ing

 ar
ou

nd
 wi

thi
n 

the
 zo

ne
 e.

g  
 ju

nc
tio

n e
ntr

y t
rea

tm
en

ts 
an

d s
pe

ed
 

Bu
s P

rio
rity

Va
lla

nc
e r

oa
d /

be
thn

al 
gre

en
 ro

ad
 ju

nc
tio

n
30

TfL
Ju

nc
tio

n R
ev

iew
Bu

s P
rio

rity
Ch

ris
p s

tre
et

50
TfL

Im
ple

me
nta

tio
n o

f m
ea

su
res

 fro
m 

D8
 Bu

s R
ou

te 
Stu

dt 
(27

/11
/08

) F
oo

twa
y c

utb
ac

k t
o i

ns
et 

pa
y &

 
dis

pla
y p

ark
ing

 in
 fro

nt 
of 

So
me

rfie
ld 

ca
r p

ark
, 

mo
dif

ica
tio

ns
 to

 sp
ee

d t
ab

le 
(j/w

 G
old

alm
ing

 St
) a

nd
 

rev
ise

d W
ait

ing
 & 

Lo
ad

ing
Bu

s P
rio

rity
Co

rde
lia

 st
ree

t
66

TfL
Im

ple
me

nta
tio

n  
of 

me
as

ure
s f

rom
 30

9 B
us

 R
ou

te 
Stu

dy
 (2

7/1
0/0

8).
 R

ati
on

ali
se

 tra
ffic

 ca
lm

ing
.

Bu
s P

rio
rity

Bla
ir s

tre
et

44
TfL

Im
ple

me
nta

tio
n  

of 
me

as
ure

s f
rom

 30
9 B

us
 R

ou
te 

Stu
dy

 (2
7/1

0/0
8).

 Al
ter

ati
on

s t
o t

raf
fic

 ca
lm

ing
 an

d 
rel

oc
ati

on
 of

 on
-st

ree
t p

ark
ing

 ba
ys

 an
d b

us
 st

op
s.

Bu
s P

rio
rity

Ab
erf

eld
y s

tre
et

45
TfL

Im
ple

me
nta

tio
n  

of 
me

as
ure

s f
rom

 30
9 B

us
 R

ou
te 

Stu
dy

 (2
7/1

0/0
8).

 Al
ter

ati
on

s t
o t

raf
fic

 ca
lm

ing
 an

d 
rel

oc
ati

on
 of

 on
-st

ree
t p

ark
ing

 ba
ys

 in
clu

din
g i

ns
et 

pa
rki

ng
 ba

y.
Bu

s P
rio

rity
Bu

rch
am

 st
ree

t
25

TfL
Pa

rki
ng

 su
rve

y w
ith

 a 
vie

w t
o h

alf
 on

 ha
lf o

ff p
ark

ing
.

Bu
s P

rio
rity

Bo
rou

gh
 ad

mi
nis

tra
tio

n
15

TfL
Co

ntr
ibu

tio
n t

o B
oro

ug
h P

roj
ec

t M
an

ag
em

en
t C

os
ts.

Bu
s S

top
 Ac

ce
ss

ibi
lity

BS
A s

top
 no

.bp
26

91
10

TfL
To

 im
pro

ve
 ac

ce
ss

ibi
lity

 fo
r b

oa
rdi

ng
 an

d a
lig

hti
ng

 
bu

se
s, 

by
 th

e p
rov

isio
n o

f p
av

em
en

t w
ork

 an
d k

erb
 re

-
ali

gn
me

nts
 or

 he
igh

t a
lte

rat
ion

s a
nd

 th
e r

em
ov

al 
or 

rel
oc

ati
on

 of
 an

y o
bs

tru
cti

on
s. 

 
Bu

s S
top

 Ac
ce

ss
ibi

lity
BS

A s
top

 no
.bp

26
92

10
TfL

To
 im

pro
ve

 ac
ce

ss
ibi

lity
 fo

r b
oa

rdi
ng

 an
d a

lig
hti

ng
 

bu
se

s, 
by

 th
e p

rov
isio

n o
f p

av
em

en
t w

ork
 an

d k
erb

 re
-

ali
gn

me
nts

 or
 he

igh
t a

lte
rat

ion
s a

nd
 th

e r
em

ov
al 

or 
rel

oc
ati

on
 of

 an
y o

bs
tru

cti
on

s. 
 

Bu
s S

top
 Ac

ce
ss

ibi
lity

BS
A s

top
 no

.bp
26

98
10

TfL
To

 im
pro

ve
 ac

ce
ss

ibi
lity

 fo
r b

oa
rdi

ng
 an

d a
lig

hti
ng

 
bu

se
s, 

by
 th

e p
rov

isio
n o

f p
av

em
en

t w
ork

 an
d k

erb
 re

-
ali

gn
me

nts
 or

 he
igh

t a
lte

rat
ion

s a
nd

 th
e r

em
ov

al 
or 

rel
oc

ati
on

 of
 an

y o
bs

tru
cti

on
s. 

 
Bu

s S
top

 Ac
ce

ss
ibi

lity
BS

A s
top

 no
.15

14
1

10
TfL

To
 im

pro
ve

 ac
ce

ss
ibi

lity
 fo

r b
oa

rdi
ng

 an
d a

lig
hti

ng
 

bu
se

s, 
by

 th
e p

rov
isio

n o
f p

av
em

en
t w

ork
 an

d k
erb

 re
-

ali
gn

me
nts

 or
 he

igh
t a

lte
rat

ion
s a

nd
 th

e r
em

ov
al 

or 
rel

oc
ati

on
 of

 an
y o

bs
tru

cti
on

s. 
 

Bu
s S

top
 Ac

ce
ss

ibi
lity

BS
A s

top
 no

.36
86

8
10

TfL
To

 im
pro

ve
 ac

ce
ss

ibi
lity

 fo
r b

oa
rdi

ng
 an

d a
lig

hti
ng

 
bu

se
s, 

by
 th

e p
rov

isio
n o

f p
av

em
en

t w
ork

 an
d k

erb
 re

-
ali

gn
me

nts
 or

 he
igh

t a
lte

rat
ion

s a
nd

 th
e r

em
ov

al 
or 

rel
oc

ati
on

 of
 an

y o
bs

tru
cti

on
s. 

 
Bu

s S
top

 Ac
ce

ss
ibi

lity
BS

A s
top

 no
.15

13
6

10
TfL

To
 im

pro
ve

 ac
ce

ss
ibi

lity
 fo

r b
oa

rdi
ng

 an
d a

lig
hti

ng
 

bu
se

s, 
by

 th
e p

rov
isio

n o
f p

av
em

en
t w

ork
 an

d k
erb

 re
-

ali
gn

me
nts

 or
 he

igh
t a

lte
rat

ion
s a

nd
 th

e r
em

ov
al 

or 
rel

oc
ati

on
 of

 an
y o

bs
tru

cti
on

s. 
 

Sc
he

me
 

Ca
pit

al 
Es

tim
ate

 
£0
00
 (in

cl 
 fe

es
)
Fu

nd
ing

 
So

ur
ce

1

Page 75



Ap
pe

nd
ix 

A 
- T

ran
sp

or
t &

 H
igh

wa
ys

 Sc
he

me
s (

Co
nt)

Pr
og

ram
me

Sc
he

me
 D
eta

ils
Ca

teg
or
y

£’0
00

£‘0
00

Bu
s S

top
 Ac

ce
ss

ibi
lity

BS
A s

top
 no

.32
01

10
TfL

To
 im

pro
ve

 ac
ce

ss
ibi

lity
 fo

r b
oa

rdi
ng

 an
d a

lig
hti

ng
 

bu
se

s, 
by

 th
e p

rov
isio

n o
f p

av
em

en
t w

ork
 an

d k
erb

 re
-

ali
gn

me
nts

 or
 he

igh
t a

lte
rat

ion
s a

nd
 th

e r
em

ov
al 

or 
rel

oc
ati

on
 of

 an
y o

bs
tru

cti
on

s. 
 

En
vir

on
me

nt
Ec

o-l
oc

k b
ike

15
TfL

OY
Bik

e c
yc

le 
hir

e s
ch

em
e. 

Un
de

r re
vie

w w
ith

 Tf
L t

o 
en

su
re 

no
 du

pli
ca

tio
n w

ith
 M

ay
or'

s b
ike

 hi
re 

sc
he

me
.

En
vir

on
me

nt
Sp

ita
lfie

lds
/br

ick
 la

ne
 pm

2.5
 m

on
ito

rin
g

20
TfL

Ap
pro

x. 
10

 st
ati

on
s w

ill b
e l

oc
ate

d i
n d

es
ign

ate
d a

rea
 

to 
mo

nit
or 

the
 im

pa
ct 

of 
PM

2.
5 a

nd
 ju

sti
fy 

the
 

su
sta

ina
ble

 tra
ns

po
rt i

mp
rov

em
en

ts 
e.g

.20
mp

h 
zo

ne
s a

nd
 to

 m
on

ito
r a

nd
 im

pro
ve

 ai
r q

ua
lity

 in
 

Sp
ita

lfie
lds

 ar
ea

 an
d a

lon
g B

ric
k L

an
e.

LC
N

Lin
k 1

95
 - N

arr
ow

 St
ree

t b
etw

ee
n S

pe
rt 

Str
ee

t a
nd

 H
ors

efe
rry

 R
oa

d
20

0
TfL

Co
ns

ide
r c

yc
le 

co
ntr

afl
ow

 or
 sh

are
d a

rea
 wi

th 
pe

de
str

ian
 pr

ior
ity

. In
clu

de
 pa

rki
ng

 re
vie

w a
nd

 
im

pro
ve

d a
cc

es
s t

o s
win

g b
rid

ge
.

LC
N

Lin
k 1

95
 - S

t J
am

es
 G

ard
en

20
TfL

Up
gra

de
 ac

ce
ss

 to
 & 

fro
m 

the
 pa

rk,
 in

clu
din

g t
he

 
tac

tile
s, 

sig
nin

g a
nd

 im
pro

ve
me

nts
 to

 la
yo

ut 
of 

ga
te 

an
d s

ha
red

 us
e a

rea
.

LC
N

Lin
k 2

00
 - t

he
 gr

ee
nw

ay
20

TfL
Re

de
sig

n c
yc

le 
ba

rrie
r, l

igh
tin

g, 
ma

rki
ng

s, 
im

pro
ve

 
en

tra
nc

e t
o G

ree
nw

ay
.

LC
N

Lin
k 2

00
 - o

ld 
for

d r
oa

d
70

TfL
Pr

ov
ide

 a 
cy

cle
 co

ntr
afl

ow
, u

pg
rad

e s
ign

als
.

LC
N

Lin
k 1

99
 - v

yn
er 

str
ee

t; m
ow

lem
 st

ree
t;

55
TfL

Ge
ne

ral
 Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 al
on

g c
yc

lr r
ou

te 
19

9: 
sig

nin
g 

lin
ing

 et
c.

Lo
ca

l S
afe

ty 
Sc

he
me

s
Ca

ble
 st

/wa
tne

y s
t

10
0

TfL
Pr

op
os

ed
 am

en
dm

en
t to

 st
ree

t fu
rni

tur
e a

t j/
w C

ab
le 

Str
ee

t a
nd

 on
e w

ay
 wo

rki
ng

 no
rth

bo
un

d b
etw

ee
n 

Ma
rth

a S
tre

et 
an

d C
ab

le 
Str

ee
t

Lo
ca

l S
afe

ty 
Sc

he
me

s
Sp

ee
d i

nd
ica

tor
 de

vic
es

5
TfL

Ins
tal

lat
ion

 of
 5 

fur
the

r S
pe

ed
 In

dic
ato

r D
ev

ice
s

Lo
ca

l S
afe

ty 
Sc

he
me

s
Ze

bra
 cr

os
sin

g h
alo

s
12

0
TfL

Ze
bri

te 
be

lish
a b

ea
co

n H
alo

s t
o b

e e
rec

ted
 to

 a 
nu

mb
er 

of 
be

lish
a b

ea
co

ns
 in

 O
ld 

Fo
rd 

Ro
ad

 & 
Gl

ob
e R

oa
d.

No
n-L

CN
+ C

yc
lin

g S
ch

em
es

Cy
cle

 pa
rki

ng
30

TfL
Co

nti
nu

ati
on

 of
 In

sta
lla

tio
n p

rog
ram

me
 of

 cy
cle

 
pa

rki
ng

 ra
ck

s.

No
n-L

CN
+ C

yc
lin

g S
ch

em
es

Cy
cle

 sc
he

me
 02

30
TfL

Ca
stl

em
ain

e S
tre

et
No

n-L
CN

+ C
yc

lin
g S

ch
em

es
De

live
ry 

& s
ign

ag
e -

 nc
n r

ou
tes

 1 
& 1

3
50

TfL
Sig

nin
g a

nd
 lin

ing
, a

s l
ea

d b
oro

ug
h f

or 
pro

gra
mm

e 
co

ve
rin

g r
ou

tes
 cr

os
sin

g s
ev

era
l b

oro
ug

hs
.

Pr
inc

ipa
l R

oa
d R

en
ew

al
Ca

mb
rid

ge
 he

ath
 ro

ad
27

7
TfL

Re
su

rfa
cin

g, 
ad

jus
t ir

on
wo

rk,
 th

erm
op

las
tic

 lin
ing

 an
d 

an
ti-s

kid
 tre

atm
en

t. U
pg

rad
e o

f s
tre

et 
lig

hti
ng

.
Sc

ho
ol 

Tra
ve

l P
lan

s
Ol

d f
ord

 sc
ho

ol
30

TfL
To

 im
ple

me
nt 

sa
fer

 ro
ute

 to
 sc

ho
ol 

typ
e w

ork
s i

n t
he

 
vic

ini
ty 

of 
sc

ho
ols

 wi
th 

ap
pro

ve
d t

rav
el 

pla
ns

 wh
o 

ha
ve

 re
qu

es
ted

 st
ree

tsc
ap

e m
ea

su
res

 to
 en

co
ura

ge
 

mo
re 

wa
lkin

g a
nd

 cy
clin

g b
y s

tud
en

ts 
an

d s
taf

f, a
nd

 
red

uc
e c

ar 
us

ag
e b

y t
he

 wh
ole

 sc
ho

ol 
co

mm
un

ity
. 

Tra
ve

l A
wa

ren
es

s
In 

my
 to

wn
 wi

tho
ut 

ca
r (c

ar 
fre

e d
ay

)
10

TfL
To

 ra
ise

 aw
are

ne
ss

 of
 al

ter
na

tiv
e t

rav
el 

op
tio

ns
 an

d 
en

co
ura

ge
 in

div
idu

als
 to

 le
av

e t
he

ir c
ar 

at 
ho

me
.

Sc
he

me
 

Ca
pit

al 
Es

tim
ate

 
£0
00
 (in

cl 
 fe

es
)
Fu

nd
ing

 
So

ur
ce

2

Page 76



Ap
pe

nd
ix 

A 
- T

ran
sp

or
t &

 H
igh

wa
ys

 Sc
he

me
s (

Co
nt)

Pr
og

ram
me

Sc
he

me
 D
eta

ils
Ca

teg
or
y

£’0
00

£‘0
00

Tra
ve

l A
wa

ren
es

s
Bik

e w
ee

k
9

TfL
To

 ra
ise

 aw
are

ne
ss

 of
 al

ter
na

tiv
e t

rav
el 

op
tio

ns
 an

d 
en

co
ura

ge
 in

div
idu

als
 to

 co
ns

ide
r u

sin
g a

 bi
ke

 as
 a 

me
an

s o
f tr

an
sp

ort
Tra

ve
l A

wa
ren

es
s

Es
tat

e c
yc

lin
g p

lan
8

TfL
Th

ere
 ar

e s
tro

ng
 re

qu
es

t fr
om

 th
e p

ub
lic 

an
d s

ma
ll 

bu
sin

es
se

s f
or 

on
 st

ree
t c

yc
le 

pa
rki

ng
, fu

rth
er 

mo
re 

rec
en

t s
urv

ey
 fro

m 
loc

al 
ho

us
ing

 es
tat

es
 in

dic
ate

d a
 

str
on

g s
up

po
rt a

nd
 de

ma
nd

 fo
r c

yc
le 

sto
rag

e i
n l

oc
al 

are
as

. 
W

alk
ing

Ab
bo

tt r
oa

d
15

3
TfL

Clo
su

re 
of 

Ab
bo

tt R
oa

d a
dja

ce
nt 

to 
loc

al 
pa

rk 
to 

im
pro

ve
 ac

ce
ss

ibi
lity

 an
d c

rea
te 

a m
ore

 pl
ea

sa
nt 

en
vir

on
me

nt 
in 

the
 vi

cin
ity

 of
 th

e p
ark

.
W

alk
ing

Mi
le 

en
d t

o l
im

eh
ou

se
65

TfL
On

 go
ing

 pr
oje

ct 
to 

cre
ate

 a 
via

ble
 ne

w ‘
gre

en
’ 

wa
lkin

g r
ou

te 
be

twe
en

 Li
me

ho
us

e S
tat

ion
s (

DL
R 

&N
R)

 an
d M

ile
 En

d P
ark

/M
ile

 En
d S

tad
ium

. Im
pro

ve
 

pe
de

str
ian

 pr
ior

ity
 at

 ju
nc

tio
ns

 an
d c

ros
sin

g f
ac

iliti
es

 
alo

ng
 th

e r
ou

te,
 ac

ce
ss

ibi
lity

, s
igh

tlin
es

 an
d s

ign
ag

e; 
att

rac
tiv

en
es

s, 
int

ere
st 

an
d h

um
an

 sc
ale

 of
 th

e r
ou

te.
 

Str
ee

t L
igh

tin
g I

mp
rov

em
en

ts
Lo

w e
ne

rgy
 la

nte
rns

 
Ol

ym
pic

 D
ev

elo
pm

en
t

Op
tem

s f
ea

sib
ility

 wo
rk 

25

En
vir

on
me

nta
l  I

mp
rov

em
en

ts
Cu

ba
 St

ree
t - 

Fo
otw

ay
s

13
S1

06
Re

pla
ce

 an
d r

en
ew

 fo
otw

ay
s.

Cy
clin

g o
n G

ree
nw

ay
s

Be
thn

al 
Gr

ee
n t

o O
lym

pic
 Pa

rk
50

TfL
Su

str
an

s c
on

ne
ct 

2 r
ou

te 
 wi

th 
25

k i
n 2

01
0/1

1

Ol
ym

pic
W

alk
ing

an
d

Cy
clin

g
Pr

og
ram

me
Sa

lm
on

 La
ne

 ju
nc

tio
n w

ith
 R

ho
de

sw
ell

 R
d 

(D
ata

sh
ee

t 7
a)

45
TfL

Re
as

se
me

nt 
of 

pri
ori

ty 
at 

thi
s j

un
cti

on
 to

 im
pro

ve
 

fac
ility

 fo
r c

yc
list

Ol
ym

pic
W

alk
ing

an
d

Cy
clin

g
Pr

og
ram

me
So

uth
 of

 R
om

an
 R

oa
d -

 M
ile

 En
d P

ark
 

un
de

rne
ath

 th
e b

rid
ge

 on
 R

om
an

 R
oa

d 
(D

ata
sh

ee
t 2

a)
10

TfL
Ch

ica
ne

s o
n e

ith
er 

sid
e o

f th
e b

rid
ge

Ol
ym

pic
W

alk
ing

an
d

Cy
clin

g
Pr

og
ram

me
Mi

le 
En

d P
ark

 (n
ort

h) 
(D

ata
sh

ee
t 2

a)
12

TfL
Pa

ral
lel

 ac
ce

ss
 po

int
 th

rou
gh

 th
e p

ark
, i.

e. 
no

t a
t 9

0 
de

gre
es

 to
 to

wp
ath

 wi
th 

im
pro

ve
d s

ign
ing

Ol
ym

pic
W

alk
ing

an
d

Cy
clin

g
Pr

og
ram

me
Mi

le 
En

d P
ark

 C
en

tra
l - 

Ro
ute

 th
rou

gh
 Pa

lm
 

Tre
e P

H 
(D

ata
sh

ee
t 3

a)
5

TfL
Pr

op
os

e c
yc

le 
rou

te 
thr

ou
gh

 th
e c

ar 
pa

rk,
 si

gin
g a

nd
 

ma
rki

ng
Ol

ym
pic

W
alk

ing
an

d
Cy

clin
g

Pr
og

ram
me

Ra
ilw

ay
 Br

idg
e, 

Mi
le 

En
d P

ark
 ne

xt 
to 

Cli
mb

ing
 wa

ll (
Da

tas
he

et 
4a

)
25

TfL
W

ide
n t

ow
pa

th 
for

 50
m 

inc
lud

ing
 re

loc
ati

ng
 lig

hti
ng

 
co

lum
ns

 - p
rop

os
al 

to 
inc

orp
ora

te 
wo

rks
 wi

th 
the

 ne
w 

bri
dg

e (
Me

ath
 Br

idg
e)

Ol
ym

pic
W

alk
ing

an
d

Cy
clin

g
Pr

og
ram

me
Re

ge
nts

 C
an

al 
- R

ail
wa

y B
rid

ge
, M

ile
 En

d 
Pa

rk 
(D

ata
sh

ee
t 4

a)
5

TfL
Lig

hti
ng

 to
 be

 pr
ov

ide
d u

nd
er 

rai
l b

rid
ge

Ol
ym

pic
W

alk
ing

an
d

Cy
clin

g
Pr

og
ram

me
Mi

le 
En

d P
ark

 C
en

tra
l - 

Be
twe

en
 R

om
an

 R
d 

an
d M

ile
 En

d P
ark

 (D
ata

sh
ee

t 5
a)

10
TfL

Re
mo

ve
 ba

rrie
rs 

at 
en

tra
nc

e t
o p

ark
 an

d r
ep

lac
e w

ith
 

so
ft p

lan
tin

g t
o c

rea
te 

ch
ica

ne
 ef

fec
t

Str
ee

t L
igh

tin
g

20
0

LP
P

En
vir

on
me

nta
l im

pro
ve

me
nts

Cu
ba

 St
ree

t, M
an

illa
 St

ree
t, T

ob
ag

o S
tre

et 
an

d B
yn

g S
tre

et 
87

1

Pla
nn

ed
 m

ain
ten

an
ce

 to
 pr

olo
ng

 th
e l

ife
 of

 th
e a

ss
et 

wh
ilst

 in
tro

du
cin

g m
ore

 su
sta

ina
ble

 in
fra

str
uc

tur
e t

o 

Fu
nd

ing
 

So
ur
ce

Sc
he

me
 

Ca
pit

al 
Es

tim
ate

 
£0
00
 (in

cl 
 fe

es
)

To
 de

ve
lop

 sc
he

me
s f

or 
fut

ure
 fu

nd
ing

 bi
ds

 re
lat

ing
 

to 
am

eli
ora

tin
g t

raf
fic

 im
pa

ct 
of 

the
 G

am
es

.
OD

A 
(S

ec
10

6)

Str
ee

tsc
en

e, 
tra

ffic
 ca

lm
ing

 , t
raf

fic
 m

an
ag

em
en

t , 
cy

cle
 / p

ed
es

tria
n a

nd
  e

nv
iro

nm
en

tal
 im

pro
ve

me
nts

. 
S1

06

3

Page 77



Ap
pe

nd
ix 

A 
- T

ran
sp

or
t &

 H
igh

wa
ys

 Sc
he

me
s (

Co
nt)

Pr
og

ram
me

Sc
he

me
 D
eta

ils
Ca

teg
or
y

£’0
00

£‘0
00

Ol
ym

pic
W

alk
ing

an
d

Cy
clin

g
Pr

og
ram

me
Rh

od
es

we
ll R

d/M
ile

 En
d P

ark
 En

tra
nc

e 
(D

ata
sh

ee
t 7

a)
10

TfL
Re

mo
ve

 se
cti

on
 of

 ra
ilin

gs
 an

d b
oll

ard
s t

o w
ide

n 
ap

pro
ac

h f
or 

cy
clis

t 
Ol

ym
pic

W
alk

ing
an

d
Cy

clin
g

Pr
og

ram
me

Re
ge

nts
 C

an
al 

To
wp

ath
 - B

etw
ee

n C
him

ne
y 

& t
ou

ca
n c

ros
sin

g o
f R

od
es

we
ll R

d 
(D

ata
sh

ee
t 7

a)
25

TfL
W

ide
n t

ow
pa

th 
int

o t
he

 pa
rk 

to 
fac

ilita
te 

sh
are

d u
se

 
pa

th
Ol

ym
pic

W
alk

ing
an

d
Cy

clin
g

Pr
og

ram
me

Pa
st 

ch
im

ne
y t

o T
urn

ers
 R

d (
Da

tas
he

et 
7a

)
40

TfL
Im

pro
ve

 di
ve

rge
 pa

st 
ch

im
ne

y f
or 

cy
clis

t 
Ol

ym
pic

W
alk

ing
an

d
Cy

clin
g

Pr
og

ram
me

Na
rro

w S
tre

et 
(D

ata
sh

ee
t 5

a)
12

.15
TfL

Pr
ov

ide
 co

ntr
a-f

low
 cy

cle
 fa

cili
ty

Ol
ym

pic
W

alk
ing

an
d

Cy
clin

g
Pr

og
ram

me
Na

rro
w S

tre
et/

Th
am

es
 Pa

th 
(D

ata
sh

ee
t 4

f)
Ins

tal
l m

irro
r

Ol
ym

pic
W

alk
ing

an
d

Cy
clin

g
Pr

og
ram

me
Or

na
me

nta
l C

an
al,

 W
ate

rm
an

 W
ay

/M
ac

e 
Clo

se
 (D

ata
sh

ee
t 3

a)
20

.25
TfL

Re
pla

ce
 st

air
s w

ith
 ac

ce
ss

 ra
mp

s
Ol

ym
pic

W
alk

ing
an

d
Cy

clin
g

Pr
og

ram
me

Ke
pp

ier
 W

ha
rf, 

Th
am

es
 Pa

th 
(D

ata
sh

ee
t 4

f)
35

.30
3

TfL
Re

mo
ve

 st
ep

pe
d a

rea
, w

ide
rn 

ac
ce

ss
 ra

mp
 an

d 
rel

oc
ate

 se
ati

ng
Ol

ym
pic

W
alk

ing
an

d
Cy

clin
g

Pr
og

ram
me

Gl
am

is 
Ro

ad
 (D

ata
sh

ee
t 4

b)
36

.85
5

TfL
Cr

os
sin

g f
ac

ility
 fo

r c
yc

list
 ac

ros
s G

lam
is 

Ro
ad

, 
ins

tal
l c

hic
an

e t
o s

low
 tra

ffic
Ol

ym
pic

W
alk

ing
an

d
Cy

clin
g

Pr
og

ram
me

Th
am

es
 Pa

th 
- S

ton
e S

tai
rs/

Ja
rdi

ne
 R

oa
d 

(D
ata

sh
ee

t 4
d)

12
.42

TfL
Fe

as
ibi

lity
 st

ud
y t

o r
ep

lac
e b

rid
ge

Ol
ym

pic
W

alk
ing

an
d

Cy
clin

g
Pr

og
ram

me
Sh

ad
we

ll b
as

in 
- G

lam
is 

Ro
ad

 (D
ata

sh
ee

t 4
a)

38
.81

3
TfL

W
ide

n s
ec

tio
n a

rou
nd

 90
 de

gre
e b

en
d w

ith
 

ca
nti

lev
ere

d s
tru

ctu
re

Ol
ym

pic
W

alk
ing

an
d

Cy
clin

g
Pr

og
ram

me
Ma

nc
he

ste
r R

d (
Da

tas
he

et 
2c

)
44

.8
TfL

Ad
vis

ory
 cy

cle
 la

ne
Ol

ym
pic

W
alk

ing
an

d
Cy

clin
g

Pr
og

ram
me

Isl
an

d G
ard

en
s (

Da
tas

he
et 

2d
)

44
TfL

Ne
w r

ou
te 

thr
ou

gh
 pa

rk
Ol

ym
pic

W
alk

ing
an

d
Cy

clin
g

Pr
og

ram
me

Pr
es

ton
s R

oa
d (

Da
tas

he
et 

2b
)

1.7
TfL

Ad
vis

ory
 cy

cle
 la

ne
Ol

ym
pic

W
alk

ing
an

d
Cy

clin
g

Pr
og

ram
me

Bla
ck

wa
ll W

ay
 (D

ata
sh

ee
t 2

a)
4

TfL
Im

pro
ve

 lig
hti

ng
Su

str
an

s
Be

thn
al 

Gr
ee

n t
o V

ict
ori

a p
ark

30
0

Su
str

an
sI

mp
rov

e f
ac

ility
 on

 Su
str

an
s c

on
ne

ct 
2 r

ou
te 

wit
h 

10
0k

 in
 20

10
/11

, 1
00

k a
lre

ad
y a

pp
rov

ed
 vi

a M
ea

th 
Br

idg
e c

ab
ine

t re
po

rt o
n 1

1th
 Fe

b 0
9

To
tal

3,6
58

Sc
he

me
 

Ca
pit

al 
Es

tim
ate

 
£0
00
 (in

cl 
 fe

es
)
Fu

nd
ing

 
So

ur
ce

4

Page 78



Ap
pe

nd
ix 

B 
- O

the
r S

ch
em

es
Ca

teg
or
y

Sc
he

me
 

Ca
pit

al 
Es

tim
ate

 
(in

cl 
Fe

es
)

Fu
nd

ing
 

So
ur
ce

Sc
he

me
 D
eta

ils
£’0

00
£‘0

00
Ke

y P
ark

s
Be

thn
al 

Gr
ee

n G
ard

en
s –

 Im
pro

ve
me

nts
.

46
0

LP
P/S

ec
 

10
6

Im
pro

ve
me

nts
 to

 sp
ort

 su
rfa

ce
s, 

roa
dw

ay
s, 

pla
y 

are
as

 an
d l

an
ds

ca
pe

 tre
atm

en
t

Ke
y P

ark
s

Mi
llw

all
 Pa

rk/
isla

nd
 G

dn
s

20
0

Se
c 1

06
Im

pro
ve

me
nts

 to
 ch

ild
ren

s p
lay

 ar
ea

s, 
int

eg
rat

ion
 of

 
sit

e w
ith

 M
ud

ch
ute

, tr
ee

 pl
an

tin
g b

as
ed

 on
 an

 ag
ree

d 
Ma

ste
rpl

an
Ke

y P
ark

s
Me

ath
 G

ard
en

s I
mp

rov
em

en
ts

15
0

LP
P

Ke
y a

cc
es

sib
ility

 im
pro

ve
me

nts
 to

 in
teg

rat
e a

 ne
w 

pa
rkl

an
d a

rea
 wi

th 
ne

w b
rid

ge
, e

ntr
an

ce
, li

gh
tin

g a
nd

 
se

cu
rity

 im
pro

ve
me

nts
Lo

ca
l P

rio
rity

 Pa
rks

Po
pla

r P
ark

24
0

Se
c 1

06
Co

nti
nu

ati
on

 of
 pr

og
ram

me
 to

 im
pro

ve
 in

fra
str

uc
tur

e, 
bri

ng
 a 

red
un

da
nt 

bu
ild

ing
 in

to 
po

sit
ive

 us
e, 

ref
urb

ish
 

ten
nis

 fa
cili

tie
s, 

lan
ds

ca
pe

 en
ha

nc
em

en
t

Lo
ca

l P
rio

rity
 Pa

rks
St 

Jo
hn

s P
ark

10
9

Se
c 1

06
Im

pro
ve

me
nt 

of 
mu

lti 
us

e g
am

es
 ar

ea
, re

de
sig

n o
f 

wh
ee

l p
ark

 an
d c

hil
dre

n's
 pl

ay
 ar

ea
, fo

otp
ath

 
im

pro
ve

me
nts

Lo
ca

l P
rio

rity
 Pa

rks
W

ap
pin

g G
dn

s
10

0
LP

P
Im

pro
ve

me
nt 

of 
mu

lti 
us

e g
am

es
 ar

ea
, la

nd
sc

ap
e 

im
pro

ve
me

nts
, b

iod
ive

rsi
ty 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t

Lo
ca

l P
rio

rity
 Pa

rks
Ca

ntr
ell

 R
d O

pe
n S

pa
ce

10
0

LP
P

W
ork

 wi
ll im

pro
ve

 in
teg

rat
ion

 wi
th 

the
 ce

me
ter

y p
ark

 
thr

ou
gh

 la
nd

sc
ap

e a
nd

 bi
od

ive
rsi

ty 
en

ha
nc

em
en

ts,
 

na
tur

al 
pla

y a
rea

 an
d r

ela
ted

 fa
cili

tie
s

Lo
ca

l P
rio

rity
 Pa

rks
Ste

pn
ey

 G
ree

n G
dn

s
55

LP
P/S

ec
 

10
6

Lo
w k

ey
 im

pro
ve

me
nts

 to
 im

pro
ve

 in
fra

str
uc

tur
e a

nd
 

lan
ds

ca
pe

 di
ve

rsi
ty 

of 
thi

s s
ite

 wi
th 

he
rita

ge
 va

lue

Lib
rar

ies
Ba

nc
rof

t L
ibr

ary
 - I

mp
rov

em
en

ts
25

5
LP

P
To

 un
de

rta
ke

 H
ea

lth
 & 

Sa
fet

y w
ork

, re
no

va
te 

an
d 

red
ec

ora
te 

pu
bli

c a
rea

s o
f th

e l
ibr

ary
 an

d i
ns

tal
l 

im
pro

ve
d I

T a
cc

es
s

Pr
ev
en

tin
g C

rim
e

CC
TV

 In
ve
stm

en
t F

un
din

g. 
50

0
LP

P
CC

TV
 In

ve
stm

en
t F

un
din

g t
o i
nc
rea

se
 C
CT

V c
ov
era

ge
 in
 

vie
w 
of 

the
 su

cc
es
s o

f th
e C

CT
V C

on
tro

l C
en

tre
, a

nd
 to

 
rep

lac
e l
ife
 ex

pir
ed

 eq
uip

me
nt 

wh
ere

 C
CT

V i
s s

till 
jus

tifi
ed

 
To

tal
 

2,1
69

5

Page 79



Page 80

This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8 April 2009 

Classification: 
 
 
Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: 
 
 
CAB 141/089 

Agenda 
Item: 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director  
Kevan Collins 
 
Originating officer(s) Mary Durkin 
Service Head 
 

Title:  

Report of the Commission into the Public 
Safety of Young People 
 
 
Wards Affected:  
All 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The attached report summarizes the commission’s findings, and makes 

a number of recommendations. These recommendations will be 
presented to the Stay Safe Community Plan development Group and to 
Cabinet, as part of the report, with a view to incorporation in the next 
Youth Justice Plan, and other relevant planning tools. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
2.1 Cabinet is recommended to endorse the recommendations of the 

commission. 
 

Agenda Item 8.1

Page 81



3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Officers were asked in May last year to convene a commission into the 

public safety of young people in the borough, as part of the overall 
community safety strategy. The commission met six times from 
September to December 08. 

3.2 The commission was composed of senior representatives from relevant 
organisations including the local authority, Metropolitan Police, 
academics, those involved in the justice system and members of the 
community. Witnesses were called and documentary evidence was 
submitted. In particular, commissioners listened to scores of young 
people, to their parents and teachers, and to people who had been 
victims of crime. There were six commission sessions in total between 
October and December 2008. 

3.3 The findings of the commission, in line with “Time for Action”, the 
mayor’s report on youth violence across London (Nov 08), were that 
reporting is disproportionate, and that violence is not as rampant as we 
are led to believe. The vast majority of teenagers are law abiding, and 
the crime rate is falling. Moreover, knife crime and gang culture are 
less prevalent in Tower Hamlets than in similar boroughs. 
Nevertheless, a worrying number of young people are nervous 
travelling within the borough and violence and anti-social behaviour are 
real features of life on the streets.  

3.4 Commissioners looked at the causes of violence and the fear of 
violence. They have made recommendations which they believe will 
help prevent knife crime, reduce anti-social behaviour, and address the 
fear of crime on the streets. The recommendations are included here in 
the body of the report. The full report is appended. 

 
4. BODY OF REPORT 

 
4.1  Outcomes of the Commission’s Report 

 

Having received and heard evidence from various sources, the 
commission is confident that Tower Hamlets offers a very good 
environment in which most of the residents, most of the time, can live 
and learn safely and happily. The recommendations from the 
commissioners address the exceptional circumstances when young 
people are at risk, and the environment is less secure. 

 
 

Page 82



l One Tower Hamlets 
 
Commissioners noted that there was a disparity between the image and 
the reality of safety in the borough. In particular, the reputation of young 
people and the quality of community relations suffered from sensationalist 
reporting in some newspapers and television programmes. As a result 
there was a danger of a culture of fear developing, between cultures and 
generations. Commissioners were convinced that we should counter this 
with positive reporting and celebrating the successes in the borough. We 
must value distinct cultures in the borough, and draw young people and 
adults together, promoting inter-generational and inter-cultural work 
wherever possible.  We should: 

 
• Ensure young people’s representation to feed into the Living Safely/ 

CDRP groups 
• Promote and fund inter-generational working in the borough 
• Develop and encourage volunteering schemes for the Olympics, 

where young people and adults work closely together 
• Endorse positive action schemes for young people   
 

II A Great Place to Live 
 
Commissioners noted the disparity between popular belief and evidence – 
particularly in regards to the high fear of crime and the fact that actual 
crime has fallen over the last 7 years. We should: 

 
• Ensure accurate information exchange between agencies 
• Myth busting – narrowing the gap between perceptions and the 

evidence 
• Avoid the vilification of young people 
• Ensure resources are directed towards early intervention/family 

projects (e.g. YIP, YISP & FIP) 
 

III A Prosperous Community 
 
The commission wants our young people to fully engage in the 
educational, artistic, sporting and cultural opportunities within the borough 
as well as focussing upon the rich learning experience provided by schools 
and colleges. We should: 

 

Page 83



• Ensure greater focus upon the arts and creative projects for the ‘hard 
to reach’ groups of young people 

• Ensure young people have access to improve their skills levels (e.g. 
social & communication skills) to adequately prepare them for training 
& work 

• Re-settlement pledge for all young offenders leaving custody to ensure 
‘wrap around’ services proportionate to their needs and risk 

 
IV A Safe and Supportive Community 

 
The commission believes the use of Restorative Justice (RJ) across 
agencies is a key model of working with young people. In suitable cases 
young people to attend a RJ meeting, admit the harm they have caused, 
and then put in place a process of righting that wrong by understanding 
the core values of their community. We should: 
 
• Develop a borough-wide policy of central training, and adequate 

resourcing of RJ 
• Promote the value of Play within the borough 
• Implement the ‘New Destiny Trust’ model, whereby ex-offenders work 

with young gang members to de-glamorize and divert these youngsters 
• Focus support for young people on the transition period between the 

end of Primary, and the start of Secondary school 
• Ensure that travel for young people is safe, particularly when moving 

between areas and postcodes 
• Support young people to resist bullying in and out of school 
• Prioritise early intervention strategies and positive engagement of 

families – e.g. working with families of young offenders  
 

V  A Healthy Community 
 

The commission noted that from the medical evidence presented that 
young people were getting seriously hurt within our communities. The 
Consultant Trauma Surgeon at the Royal London Hospital presented his 
perspective of a ‘parental postcode’: those children raised in poverty may 

Page 84



be less likely to adequately safeguard their own children, and this cycle 
perpetuates. We should: 
 
• Provide more information to young people about knife crime and its 

consequences 
• Improve the disclosure between the police and NHS around knife crime 

injuries 
• Intelligence sharing and positive partnership working in order that the 

evidence that the supply of drugs to young people is significantly 
reduced 

• Look at ways of ensuring licensees, parents and older siblings are held 
to account for an unchecked pattern of underage drinking 

 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
6.1 In 2008 the East London Borough of Tower Hamlets established a 

commission which set itself the task of looking at how serious the 
problem is and what can be done to make young people safe.  The 
report produced a series of recommendations which it believes will help 
prevent knife crime and reduce anti-social behaviour.  

 
All of the recommendations build on existing youth service delivery 
within the borough and, as such, the enhanced provision will be 
contained within existing budgets. 

 
7. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

(LEGAL) 
 
7.1 Cabinet is asked to endorse recommendations made by the 

Commission into the Public Safety of Young People. 
7.2 The recommendations are expressly targeted towards the Council’s 

goal of One Tower Hamlets and associated themes expressed in the 
Community Plan for promoting or improving the economic, social and 
environmental well-being of Tower Hamlets. 

7.3 Endorsement of the Commission’s recommendations is consistent 
with the Council’s duty under the Children Act 2004 to ensure that 
every child whatever their background or circumstances has the 
support they need to be safe. 

7.4 It may also be possible to justify the endorsement by reference to the 
well-being power in section 2 of the Local Government Act 2000, 
having regard to the links made to the Community Plan.  That power 
authorises the Council to do anything it considers likely to promote 
improvement of the economic, social and environmental well being of 
Tower Hamlets (provided it is not otherwise prohibited by statute). 

Page 85



 
8. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
8.1 The thrust of this work is to promote One Tower Hamlets, developing 

a cohesive community in which young people can move freely 
geographically and socially.  

 
9. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
9.1 There are no specific implications for a greener environment, although 

increased involvement of young people in positive activities and 
volunteering should, long-term, have a positive impact on the 
condition of the streets, reducing litter, graffiti, and low-level 
vandalism. 

 
10. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 Risk management implications are addressed within the individual 

plans 
 
11. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  

 
Reports concerned with proposed expenditure, reviewing or changing 
service delivery or the use or resources must now incorporate an 
Efficiency Statement. 

 
______________________________________________________________ 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

List of  “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
  

Brief description of  “back ground 
papers” 

Name and telephone number of 
holder  
and address where open to 
inspection. 
 

To be completed by author To be completed by author ext. xxx 
 
 
12. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – The Report 
 
 
 

Page 86



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 1 

 1 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT COMMISSION INTO 

THE PUBLIC SAFETY OF YOUNG PEOPLE IN 

TOWER HAMLETS 

 

 

DRAFT 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 87



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 2 

 2 

      
CONTENTS 
 
 
 

PAGE 

Executive summary 
 

 3 
Foreword 
 

 4 
Introduction 
 

 5 
Our approach 
 

9 
Membership of the Commission 
 

10 
Crime in Tower Hamlets: What’s the reality?  
 

11 
Tower Hamlets in Context: What Works? 
 

14 
Feeling safe on the streets 
 

17 
Early intervention: how to prevent trouble before it starts 20 
Building bridges, breaking cycles 
 

24 
Lessons learned, further actions 
 

28 
Summary 
 

30 
 

Outcomes of the Commission’s Report 
 

33 
Acknowledgments 
 

36 
References and further reading 
 

37 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 88



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 3 

 3 

Executive Summary 
 

Knife crime, reports and fears of teenage gangs, a climate of fear of on the streets: these are some of the 
concerns of the press, and often the fears of the residents. In response, in 2008 Tower Hamlets established a 
commission which set itself the task of looking at how serious the problem is and what can be done to make 
young people safe. 
The commission was composed of senior representatives from relevant organisations including the local 
authority, Metropolitan Police, academics, those involved in the justice system and members of the community. 
Witnesses were called and documentary evidence was submitted. In particular, commissioners listened to scores 
of young people, to their parents and teachers, and to people who had been victims of crime. There were six 
commission sessions in total between October and December 2008. 
The findings of the commission, in line with “Time for Action”, the mayor’s report on youth violence across 
London (Nov 08), were that reporting is disproportionate, and that violence is not as rampant as we are led to 
believe. The vast majority of teenagers are law abiding, and the crime rate is falling. Moreover, knife crime and 
gang culture are less prevalent in Tower Hamlets than in similar boroughs. Nevertheless, a worrying number of 
young people are nervous travelling within the borough and violence and anti-social behaviour are real features 
of life on the streets.  
Commissioners looked at the causes of violence and the fear of violence. They have made recommendations 
which they believe will help prevent knife crime, stop young people becoming involved in gangs, and address the 
fear of crime on the streets. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 4 

 4 

Foreword  
Councillor Lutfur Rahman 
 
As Leader of Tower Hamlets Council I am delighted to introduce the report of the Independent Commission into 
the Public Safety of Young People, the outcome of an investigation into concerns about violence on the streets. 
Why has the number of young people murdered across the capital been rising? Just how serious is the problem, 
and what can we do about it? These, and numbers of related questions exercised us throughout the autumn of 
2008, and our findings and recommendations are recorded here. 
Commissioners want to be sure that enough is being done to protect young people. We were concerned to see 
that often young people were not confident that older people and the community at large could protect them, and 
that when young people go out they are “on their own”. This must change. We not only want to cut crime, we also 
have an obligation to protect young people; we must accept that responsibility. 
Issues around knife crime and gang culture are deeply complex, which is why the commission sought the views 
of so many expert witnesses, including young people themselves. The commission was highly impressed with the 
quality of the witnesses, and the way young people spoke eloquently and intelligently about their experience. 
This report includes a series of recommendations that all the organisations forming the Tower Hamlets 
Partnership are committed to acting on to ensure young people, and the rest of the community, feel safe. The 
report makes for surprising reading, and we believe it reflects the thoroughness, seriousness and commitment of 
all those who took part and are working to make Tower Hamlets a safer place to live. 
Cllr Lutfur Rahman 
Chair 
February 2009 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 5 

 5 

 
Introduction 
 
This multi-agency panel was established to determine the extent of violent crime and the prevalence of gang 
culture in the borough, and to find lasting, practical and radical solutions to these and linked issues.  
What are we doing right and what more needs to be done? What services are available for young people to keep 
them, and the communities in which they live, safe? How do we stop young people joining gangs in the first 
place? These are a few of the questions the commission was set up to address. 
 
Perception and reality 
Recently the media has reported a number of tragic cases of violent crime in which young people have died as a 
result of knives, firearms and assaults. These crimes have mainly taken place in deprived areas of our larger 
cities. This commission notedd that here in Tower Hamlets, despite the fact it scores highly on many of the 
indices of deprivation, the problem is less severe than in similar boroughs. 
Tower Hamlets has many of the same social problems as other areas in which gang-related violence is much 
worse. Levels of deprivation are high by most indicators; housing is often poor and overcrowded; the youth 
population is proportionally high and there are relatively few large open spaces.  
Nevertheless, Tower Hamlets is a safer place for young people, and the population as a whole, than many of its 
neighbours. Last year (2008) not one young person died in the borough as a result of violent crime. In 2008, 
within the 33 boroughs of London, Tower Hamlets was 18th for violent crime and 22nd for robbery. These figures 
were not comforting, but neither were they alarming. Our young people are our future, and we must invest in our 
future. We are fortunate within the borough that through the Tower Hamlets Partnership, young people’s level of 
participation and involvement in decision making is comparatively high. The aim is to build on this work and to 
place Tower Hamlets near or at the top of these tables. 
Although the most recent police data show that the rate of knife crime is falling, our most recent residents’ survey 
showed that the public perception is that knife crime is rising. It is important to differentiate between the scale of 
concern felt by the public and the scale of the problem dealt with by the agencies involved in prevention. 
Moreover, any future course of action must deal with the twin approach public safety, and the perception of public 
safety. 
The recent Tower Hamlets Residents Panel Consultation report conveyed a cautionary note of realism: 
“46% felt that anti-social behaviour in their neighbourhood had stayed the same over the past 3 years. A 
third felt it had got worse. Younger respondents were most likely to feel anti-social behaviour has got 
worse. ‘Teenagers hanging around on the street’ was perceived to be the biggest problem in 
respondents’ local areas.” (1) 

Page 91



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 6 

 6 

So there is an underlying public concern to address, and we are clear that this will be a test for both the Tower 
Hamlets Partnership and the local community. This commission has looked at what we are doing better than our 
neighbours, but also at what we can learn from their experiences. 
It’s important that we distinguish perception from reality. One effect of the media focus on gangs and violence is 
that many people believe crime is worse than it really is; that the streets are dangerous and out of control and 
that “no-go zones” exist in our cities.  
This phenomenon becomes a self-fulfilling prophecy: if people are too scared to go out after dark, then the only 
people left on the street are those who are either unafraid or who have no choice. We need to demonstrate that 
violent crime is relatively low, violent criminals are locked up, and most young people aren’t involved in gangs or 
crime. In fact, they are more often than not the victims. As was noted in the DCSF’s Youth Crime Action Plan: 
“Youth crime means young victims. Young people can be victims of crime as well as the perpetrators. In 
fact they are more likely than adults to be victims of crime. Our criminal justice system aims to ‘put the 
victim at the centre’. However, many young people do not report crime, are not involved in the justice 
system and are therefore not accessing the support on offer to them.“ (2) 
 
What is a “gang”? 
Great care should be taken when choosing terms like “gangs” and “groups”, “young people” and “youths.” It’s not 
always easy to distinguish between a group of young people and a gang – especially when walking down the 
street, or when lots of young people enter the DLR carriage. The media’s sensationalising of gang culture can 
lead us to assume that all young people are “up to no good”, and a threat to those around them. 
We know that young people feel a great deal of frustration that so much of the attention paid to them by the 
media is negative. A focus on gangs, knives, guns, hoodies, “postcode wars”, all reinforce public perceptions that 
young people are out of control. 
It is especially important to define the difference between a gang and a group of young people. A great many 
academic studies have sought to define what constitutes a “gang”. For the purposes of this report, the 
commission used the definition given by the Islington Report: 
"...a group of people coming together on a regular basis in order to commit crime." (3) 
Using this definition, most young people in the borough are not members of any gang, and probably have no 
intention of ever joining one. Nevertheless, many young people do tend to congregate in large numbers, 
particularly when traversing the borough and beyond, because they feel safer.  
 
 
 
 

Page 92



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 7 

 7 

Historical and geographical perspectives 
Territorialism is nothing new, particularly in areas like the East End; Victorian London was a vastly more 
dangerous place than it is today. There have been gangs for centuries. By the standards of many other major 
world cities, 21st Century London is relatively safe, and the East End probably safer than at any point in recorded 
history. 
A particularly encouraging finding of this commission is that young people tend to define themselves by their 
neighbourhood rather than by their race, religion or ethnicity. Where an area is predominantly Bengali, then so 
are the groups of young people from that area; when the area is mixed, so too is the make-up of local groups. 
Ours is a tolerant and inclusive borough and we need to celebrate that fact. 
However, the commission has identified some worrying trends. As well as consulting specialists, this commission 
has actively sought the views of young people, many of whom provided personal experiences to the commission.  
Too many young people in our borough feel afraid to travel, even to and from school. Many are worried by the 
violence and drugs in their neighbourhood. Some believe that joining a gang will provide them with safety, 
respect, a sense of belonging and a lifestyle otherwise unobtainable in their lives.  
We need to show young people that gangs and knives make them less safe, not more; that being feared is not 
the same as earning respect; that this sense of belonging gangs claim to offer is false; there are other ways to 
become happy, successful adults, without any of the dangers that are the result of being in a gang. 
 
Consultation 
Ours is one of the first local authorities to have established a commission into young people’s safety. We have 
been extremely impressed by the thoroughness of the recent Islington Report, whose authors provided excellent 
guidance as we planned and set up our own commission. 
It was obvious from the start that to get a full picture, and find the right answers, we needed to formulate cross-
directorate strategies and multi-organisational involvement. Consequently we invited an influential range of 
witnesses and commission members of the highest quality and from the highest levels across a wide range of 
relevant parties, including health, the law and academia. 
As part of the consultation, members of the commission also visited organisations and projects which are working 
to combat knife crime and gang culture. Then they reported back to the commission with their findings. Each 
member of the commission also read extensive background literature –  reports, articles, and academic papers – 
to inform them in their decision-making. 
There are many questions that can only be answered by young people themselves. What do young people 
experience, what are they afraid of, and what do they want us to do to enable them to make the right choices in 
their lives?  

Page 93



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 8 

 8 

What makes our commission distinctive, and its findings so relevant, is the level of input provided by young 
people. A survey was conducted by Tower Hamlets Youth Service, and the main questions centred on ‘Crime 
and Safety – how does it affect you?’  The survey was conducted on an internet blog (amp.uk.net) as well as 
through a focus group and at Young Democracy Week. 
It is the input by so many of our young people, some of whom were also directly involved in decision making and 
presentations to the commission, that makes this such a relevant, thorough and important document. Its finding 
are sometimes surprising, and occasionally make for sombre reading, but altogether provide both a useful 
summary of the commission’s findings and a practical tool for ensuring the future safety of young people in Tower 
Hamlets. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 9 

 9 

Our approach 
 
The commission into the Public Safety of Young People in Tower Hamlets is composed of elected members of 
the Council and a range of Children’s Services partners. These partners include representatives of the 
Metropolitan Police, Crown Prosecution Service, academics, community groups, senior council officers and 
religious organisations.  
To help enable the commission understand the nature of the problem of youth crime and safety, and make 
recommendations that will help tackle the problems, key stakeholders and decision makers from within the 
borough and further afield were called as witnesses. 
The commission ran over six sessions between 3rd October 2008 and 11th December 2008. Each session had a 
distinct theme, and witnesses were called according to their area of expertise. For the purposes of lucidity, some 
statements have been moved to the most relevant sections and their evidence summarised.  
The six sessions were chaired under the “Chatham House Rule”, which enables the free sharing of information 
and a guarantee of anonymity: "When a meeting, or part thereof, is held under the Chatham House Rule, 
participants are free to use the information received, but neither the identity nor the affiliation of the 
speaker(s), nor that of any other participant, may be revealed". 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 10 

 10 

 
Membership of the Commission 
 
Cll Lutfur Rahman, Leader + Chair 
Cll Clair Hawkins, Deputy Chair 
Cll Abdal Ullah 
Kevan Collins, Director of Children’s Services 
Alex Kuye, Deputy Young Mayor 
Faiza Mukith, Deputy Young Mayor 
Abdi Hassan, Ocean Somali  
Sally Bentley, Head of Thames Youth Magistrates Bench  
Toks Adesuyan, Borough Crown Prosecutor, Tower Hamlets 
Margaret Barker, GOL/Home Office 
Professor John Pitts, University of Bedfordshire 
Reverend Houston, Bethnal Green Mission Church  
Hira Islam, Council of Mosques  
Chief Sup Paul Rickett, Inspector Stephen Manger, Inspector Steve Kennedy (Metropolitan Police) 
Commander Dave Sharman, Commander Bruce Epsley (Fire and Rescue Service) 
Joanna Gaukroger, Principal, Tower Hamlets College  
Joan Murphy, Poplar HARCA (Housing Association) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 11 

 11 

 
Crime in Tower Hamlets: what’s the reality?  
 
Box quote 
“I’ve never had trouble, but me and my friends just stay near – we don’t go far. Even on the bus, after school, you 
have to watch it. I don’t think no-one would help.” 
14 year-old 
 
 
The first commission session took place on 3rd October 2008 under the heading:  ‘What is the scale of concern 
for young people’s safety within the borough?’  and set itself the task of establishing the extent of the problem of 
youth safety in Tower Hamlets. In order to examine whether the perception of crime is worse than the reality, 
witnesses were called from the front line organisations who deal with the aftermath of anti-social behaviour and 
violent crime. 
By far the greatest cause of public concern is knife crime. There is a widespread belief – encouraged by some 
elements of the media – that many, if not all young men carry weapons and are prepared to use them.  
Tower Hamlets has often been under the spotlight in media coverage about violent crime, and anecdotal 
evidence suggests many people in London believe the East End to be one of the most dangerous areas of the 
city. However, the reality is that knife crime is still relatively low in the borough. A surgeon from the Royal London 
Hospital provided a unique perspective on violent crime here in Tower Hamlets: 
“The Trauma Unit treats major trauma injuries – that is, injuries which are life threatening or limb threatening, 
admitted via helicopter or ambulance. One third of patients come from local catchment areas, including Tower 
Hamlets. In 2004 we saw 10 young people up to the age of 18 with severe life threatening injuries, caused by 
stabbing. Last year, there were 32: and this year (up to end September 2008) there are 37. Often (being stabbed) 
leads to permanent disability. These are not Tower Hamlets figures, we only know figures where the victims 
lives/from where the ambulance ‘call out’ is made. Trauma in general, and penetrating injuries, is a young man’s 
problem. Overall, in terms of fatalities London is a safe city; in the media there is a lot of focus on young people 
dying, but there are also young people who are stabbed and rendered permanently disabled. There is little 
evidence of repeat stabbing. The injuries are not more serious due to weapons type, rather according to intent. 
There are recurrent themes: mostly, wrong person wrong time, essentially school pupils usually picked on. They 
are essentially normal kids that get into this situation, though it takes a while to break down “adults-and-kids” 
barriers.  
“We have a duty to prevent not just cure. We have spoken to local schools, though you have to be very careful as 
research indicates that shock tactics don’t always have the desired effect: it can have a backlash.  

Page 97



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 12 

 12 

 “There is a postcode effect, but it is the postcode in which the parents of these victims grew up. The groups 
which need targeting are the teenagers and five year olds who are potentially at risk; and those people who are 
about to have children.” 
 
Commissioners found this evidence very persuasive. These are “essentially normal kids” who are seriously hurt, 
physically and psychologically. There are patterns as to where the crimes are committed. Most disturbingly, this 
witness emphasised that patterns of perpetrators related parental attitudes, and aspirations; that anti-social 
behaviour in young people was more common where the children’s parents had been raised in poverty. 
Commissioners became very interested in the links between a prosperous and a safe community as part of the 
strategy for safety. 
 
It appeared that direct links to gang-related crime in Tower Hamlets wass lower than in similar Inner London 
boroughs. According to statistics released by Tower Hamlets Partnership, the borough is 18th highest out of 33 
for violence and 22nd highest for robbery. 
Despite these encouraging figures, the public perception is that crime in the borough is both rife and increasing. 
As well as fighting crime, therefore, it’s important to tackle misconceptions around crime and gangs. 
It’s too easy to blame the media alone for the widely-held belief that our streets are dangerous. In fact, in Tower 
Hamlets over the last five years violent crime in Tower Hamlets has fallen consistently. Sadly, however, the 
number of teenagers dying violently across the capital is rising. 
Certain crimes are more “glamorous” than others; when a teenager is stabbed and that crime is linked to gangs 
it’s easier for some branches of the media to repeat stories about “postcode wars” and refer to loose associations 
of young people as gangs with exciting names rather than what they often are: groups of young people. 
Tower Hamlets is a densely-populated borough, with a high number of over-crowded households. Young people 
tend to congregate on the street and this can make older people in particular feel insecure, even when the young 
people are just “hanging around”. 
There are many reasons why young people like to hang out together. It’s important that they should not be seen 
as a problem when that’s all they are doing: socialising. However, large groups do tend to intimidate, whether 
intentionally or not, because people tend to act differently in groups. According to the University College London 
(UCL) report “guns, gangs & weapons”: 
“There is a strong social science research literature which shows that individuals in groups behave very 
differently than they do when alone. They take more risks, they feel pressure to conform with the 
majority, and they feel less personal responsibility.” (4) 
Within larger groups younger people often feel safer, and are more likely to commit crime. However, in groups 
they are at greater risk of being involved in violence (including becoming a victim) and of being arrested. As was 

Page 98



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 13 

 13 

noted in the UCL’s “Five Borough Alliance”: 
”Research on gangs – conducted in both the United States and the United Kingdom – consistently 
reveals that gang membership tends both to enhance offending and to facilitate offending. In other 
words, some individuals who previously engage in minor offending tend to engage in more serious 
offending after joining gangs; and some individuals start offending after joining gangs.” (5) 
According to a survey operated by the police and council (February 2007 – February 2008), 80% of young people 
feel safe at school. However, 50% said they feared gangs and groups and 50% feared anti-social behaviour and 
bullying. This report will examine the effectiveness of restorative justice, which is being used with increasing 
regularity in schools nationwide. 
 
Box quote 
“It’s not enough to congratulate ourselves that there are fewer stabbings and gang problems in Tower Hamlets. 
Whatever the reality here, too many young people feel afraid. Unless we can find out why this is the case and 
ensure they can move around the borough not just being safe but feeling safe, we are failing our young people.” 
Kevan Collins, Director of Children’s Services 
 
One of the greatest problems within Tower Hamlets and across London is crime committed by young people 
against young people outside school and outside school hours, mainly on the transport hub. This often consists 
of young people being robbed of their mobile phones. There is a huge “spike” in crime at around 4pm.  
In neighbouring Newham, the Youth Offending Team and British Transport Police (BTP) are taking part in a 
groundbreaking Youth Intervention Programme (YIP) aimed at reducing crime and increasing safety on the 
borough’s trains and DLR system (buses are the jurisdiction of the Met). The YIP gives presentations in schools 
based on incidents that have been dealt with by the BTP.  
Partly this multi-agency approach involves talking to young people about the dangers of the system itself; for 
instance, many young people are unaware that DLR tracks are electrified. The YIP is also looking at other 
measures to lessen crime, including staggering school closing times. 
The issue of gang-related violence on the transport system, particularly to and from school and college, is an 
ongoing one. This is an issue that needs to be tackled urgently, partly to improve the quality of life for young 
people but also because the high visibility nature of this problem can provide a false perception of gang problems 
in the area. 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 14 

 14 

 
 
 
Tower Hamlets in Context:  What Works 
 
Box quote 
“Young people frequently say they feel unsafe travelling to other areas, yet incidents where young people are 
attacked are incredibly rare. We have to demonstrate to young people the vast difference between perception 
and reality – while doing everything we can to keep them safe, we also need them to feel safe.” 
Joanna Gaukroger, Principal, Tower Hamlets College  
 
The second Commission session took place on 14th October 2008 and focussed on how the experience of young 
people within Tower Hamlets experience compared with those of young people in other areas. The heading for 
commission 2 was ‘what is the pan-London perspective: present and future resource implications?’ A range of 
work was discussed, and the most effective shared an emphasis on information-sharing between professionals, 
involving the family, and focusing on reconciliation. 
Witnesses were called who were able to provide a geographical and historical perspective on whether Tower 
Hamlets faces similar problems to other areas.  
The most extraordinary aspect of the Tower Hamlets experience is that our  gang problem is small compared to 
neighbouring boroughs, ( figure 1). Our neighbours Newham, Hackney, Waltham Forest and, south of the 
Thames, the “Five Borough Alliance” (Greenwich, Croydon, Southwark, Lewisham and Lambeth) have higher 
crime rates and more gangs. The question is: why? 

 

Page 100



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 15 

 15 

Figure 1: serious youth violence 2008: top 10 boroughs 
The problem of gangs varies from borough to borough. The evidence seemed to show that Waltham Forest and 
Hackney have more generational gangs who have been around for a long time. In Newham there are more street 
gangs and the issues around dealing with postcode and territorialism. Within London the situation can be chaotic; 
within some areas there is more invisible crime committed. In some boroughs (e.g. Hackney and Newham) gangs 
operate at a more sophisticated level, sometimes leading to gun crime and fatalities.  
 
 At the moment Tower Hamlets is mainly territorial, but gangs from other boroughs do have an influence within 
the borough. The general age of members involved in street gangs is 15-20, and they are closely aligned with 
their postcode: many justify this as “defending their space”. Gang members often form groups for protection, 
rather than being formed to carry out attacks. 
So what lessons can be learned from other areas with similar and greater problems? A witness from a 
neighbouring borough which has been afflicted by gang crime related her experience: 
“In our borough, in May 2008, there was the shooting of a young Somali, after which there was a view that we 
needed to target needs better. You need strategies to involve young people in decision-making and to design 
activities. 
“We have identified gangs and began to use police intelligence and information from youth workers about 
particular names and associates. We also began building a detailed profile. Once we managed to identify the 
names we then created a situation to speak to these people and their parents.  
“We had individual mini network meetings with the young people and parents in a school, and invited relevant 
partner organisations to the meeting, and set out plans for the young people and their families. In the context of 
the Somali community in particular, working with mums was paramount: finding out whether or not mums knew 
about their sons’ involvement within gangs.  
“The result of these meetings was that summer crime and violence figures dropped. 95% of the parents’ 
response was positive. Only two sets of parents were resistant and didn’t want to know; that’s when we used 
housing as ‘leverage’.  
“We know that housing affects the safety of young people. Lack of housing is a risk factor. The Youth Offending 
Team has a named accommodation officer. However we used leverage in looking at their behaviour/compliance 
with programmes and the extent to which lack of co-operation would risk their council accommodation. We also 
looked at the issue from the other perspective of supporting young people: providing dedicated bed spaces, 
securing housing in their own right.  
“We have a range of intervention programmes, there is summer university, PAYP, and programmes young 
people have provision to access throughout the year. We involve young people in the design of programmes and 
focus them towards targeted need areas.” 

Page 101



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 16 

 16 

Within Tower Hamlets, there is a problem with older gang members selling drugs to younger people. These 
groups have traditionally been hard to reach and harder to manage. We are seeing complex relationships 
develop between non-offenders, offenders, and adults.  
Characterisation as a gang member can become a self-fulfilling prophecy.  We need to be very careful about the 
language we use. Using the Islington definition, there are only two gangs in Tower Hamlets, and their identities 
are well known to the Youth Offending Team and police. However, there are a number of other gangs primarily 
based in neighboring boroughs who frequently operate in our borough. 
It’s a sad fact that many young people believe that they need to congregate in large numbers for what they 
perceive as “protection”, especially when travelling. This report examines why this is the case. However, 1800 
young people travel to and from Tower Hamlets College each day, for instance, and the actual number of cases 
each year are minimal, so it seems perceptions aren’t always borne out in reality. 
It is important to recognise that not every young person who carries a knife belongs to a “gang”. Nor is a group of 
young people from the same neighbourhood who hang around necessarily a gang. As was remarked in “Building 
Bridges”: 
“…The situation in London has become so chaotic that someone can be at risk due to the postcode that 
they live in regardless of whether they individually affiliate themselves with the gang from that postcode. 
Rivalries can develop along geographical lines with or without gang involvement. The same applies to 
the sale of drugs. Simply assuming that all deaths are related to gangs, or that all gangs fit within a 
particular model is unhelpful and misses the vast number of young people who arm themselves or sell 
drugs but are not officially part of a gang.” (6) 
The issue of territorialism is a serious one. Despite evidence to the contrary, many young people believe that if 
they travel beyond their immediate neighbourhood they run the risk of being attacked. It is for this reason that 
some young people carry knives, albeit less frequently in Tower Hamlets than in other similar boroughs. 
Projects like the Rapid Response Team (RRT), Positive Activities for Young People (PAYP) and a focus on 
prevention and early intervention all contribute to keeping gang-related crime relatively low in Tower Hamlets. 
However, as we will demonstrate in the next chapter, many young people don’t feel safe, particularly in other 
neighbourhoods within the borough. Why is this, and what can be done? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 17 

 17 

 
 
Feeling safe on the streets 
 
Box quote 
“The thing that most struck me about meeting so many young people from Tower Hamlets was their eloquence, 
their intelligence, the quality of their input. The media often portray all young people as yobs, but most young 
people care just as passionately about issues like crime – more so, because they’re so often the victim.” 
Margaret Barker, GOL/Home Office 
 
The third commission session took place on 6th November 2008 and listened to young people from Tower 
Hamlets as they described their experiences in the borough. The session was headed: ‘Young people and their 
community – obstacles and solutions.’ 
First – the good news. Young people feel safer at school in Tower Hamlets than they do in most other parts of the 
country. Schools are seen as “neutral” environments where young people from across the borough and beyond 
can mix and learn in safety. However, young people in Tower Hamlets feel more unsafe outside school than in 
most other areas. So what are the reasons for these starkly different figures? 
Many young people within Tower Hamlets feel unsafe doing things that many older people take for granted – 
waiting for a bus, visiting the cinema, travelling within or outside the borough. This insecurity often causes young 
people to congregate in large groups. 
The Docklands Light Railway (DLR) does see a disproportionate amount of trouble as groups use it to travel 
between areas. Free transport for under-16s has seen groups congregating on certain bus routes, particularly 
during school hours. 
Young people have to travel through the borough and further afield in order to go to school, which means 
travelling into or through areas in which they feel vulnerable (being caught “slipping”). Consequently many travel 
in groups, and/or carry weapons as “protection”. Many young people assume that other young people carry 
knives, and so choose to carry a knife, exposing them to great risk of injury or imprisonment. 
When consulting young people in the borough, the issue of travelling to and from school and college was one 
about which they had strong views and many suggestions for improvements. Proposals put forward by young 
people include staggering school opening hours, making uniforms less recognisable and re-drawing school 
allocation boundaries.  
Within Tower Hamlets, there are a number of project initiatives that actively promote integration, respect and 
harmony between groups from different areas. Members of some of these organisations described their 
experiences to the commission. 

Page 103



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 18 

 18 

“Tolerance in Diversity” unifies young people across postcodes through activities and trips. The young people 
involved were hand-picked by their teachers and asked to take part in projects which integrate “post-coders”.  
It was explained by the group how young people identify one another as being from another postcode. 
Identification has less to do with what people wear or how they behave than by whether they are familiar or not. 
“Strangers” in a district find themselves challenged – sometimes in a threatening manner – and this initial 
exchange sometimes leads to violence. This project helps to teach young people how to talk to others in a non-
threatening way.  
For projects like “Tolerance in Diversity” to work, young people need to be involved at a much earlier stage. By 
the time they reach their teenage years, young people may already begin to see people from other areas as a 
threat. More resources need to be invested in activities such as residential trips out of the borough to “neutral” 
locations.  
The commission heard from “Tolerance in Diversity”, a project that specializes in tackling hate crime and 
discrimination. They visit schools and youth groups where they give a presentation and then ask for the view 
points and experiences of young people. They help each young person to identify a problem issue that’s relevant 
to them, and help them resolve it. 
This project regularly recruits young people to join them as peer workers.  During this time they receive training in 
handling social interaction situations.  After a year of volunteering, peer workers can apply for paid positions with 
the project. 
The main issues for safety for young people are different for every group.  Tolerance in Diversity has dealt with 
issues of “turf wars” between Bengali and Somali groups and also with issues of teenage joyriding. They 
encourage young people to get feedback from the community about problem issues so they can begin to 
understand the other side of the conflict. 
The work of Tolerance in Diversity is about empowering young people.  Many problems arise from young people 
not knowing where they can and can’t be and what they can and can’t do; it’s important to get information to 
young people about these issues. Tolerance in Diversity mediates by listening to troubles and encouraging young 
people to talk them through and come up with a solution on their own.  
The Commission also heard from the Aasha Project, a group which works with some of the most hard to reach 
young people involved in gangs and conflicts.  As a senior manager explained, its team of dedicated staff along 
with network of volunteers from the community has helped to mediate, prevent and often resolve gang conflicts: 
“The Aasha Project discusses issues like conflict and violence with young people. Often the project works to 
resolve silly issues and misunderstandings, like perceived slights or someone misinterpreting another person’s 
look.  We also look at conflict and safety, exploring the idea of ‘safety in numbers’, which helps create gang 
culture. 

Page 104



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 19 

 19 

“One suggestion to dispel postcode related tensions has been a borough-wide football team work to dispel 
postcode related tensions. It might work, but on the other hand, something like that may just appeal to football 
fans. However, we rolled out a similar initiative with supervisors, which was successful. The activity would 
probably be more effective if it encouraged people to talk to one another.” 
A common complaint among young people across the borough is that the police aren’t always sensitive and 
respectful towards young people.  
 
Box quote 
“Sometimes the police just don’t ask, they don’t ask properly what’s happened. They just look and it’s trouble. 
Once we all got done. The police was just laughing and jeering.” 
Teenager from a youth project 
 
 
It was clear to the commissioners that there was a lot of very good practice, particularly from successful 
neighbourhood policing initiatives, but that continued training was needed. Good relations between the police and 
the community had to be worked at continually, they couldn’t be taken for granted. This was particularly true of 
police coming into the borough from outside. 
Referring to an example of this misunderstanding, at a community barbecue in July 2008, a young witness from 
the Aasha Project said: 
“The police can make narrow-minded assumptions. They are intimidating, and that’s why youth don’t want to 
engage with them.  A mechanism should be put in place between youth and police to foster a greater 
understanding.” 
The police, however, reiterate that their number one priority is protecting people and preventing crime, 
particularly violent crime. That’s why they are now working alongside young people and asking them for guidance 
on how best to stop and search people they believe are “up to no good”. The Met also oversee Operation Blunt, a 
cross-borough campaign that uses amnesties, educational programmes and other measures to discourage knife 
crime. 
The responsibility for policing groups of young people is that of the police alone. Nor is their response to 
observing large groups untypical of the adult population as a whole. As has already been stated in this report, 
many adults are concerned when witnessing large groups of youths. 
Although doing an excellent job, groups like Tolerance in Diversity and the Aasha Project mainly work with young 
people who are already on the cusp or already in trouble. The commission looked at ways to stop young people 
becoming involved in the first place, by early intervention and targeting potential problems. In the next chapter 
this report will look at groups that work with families to try to prevent problems later on. 

Page 105



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 20 

 20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Early intervention 
 
Box quote 
“Two rival gangs were engaged in conflict that left two members injured.  One of these injured young people was 
not going to school for fear of the other.  The Pupil Referral Unit resolved the conflict with a conversation and a 
contract of behaviour.  Part of the contract stipulated that the boys would sit next to one another at the school 
assembly the next day. They did, and this dispelled not only the tension between them, but also the tension at the 
school.” 
Dena Adams, Pupil Referral Unit 
 
The fourth Commission session took place on 13th November 2008 and was headed: ‘Best Practice to identify, 
prevent and intervene early?’ Subjects up for discussion included identifying possible victims and instigators of 
crime and better parenting. 
Many studies have been undertaken into young people’s behaviour and why they form and join gangs. Some join 
because they lack positive role models; some because they have experienced neglect at home; most come from 
relatively deprived backgrounds. The YJB’s report, “Groups, gangs & weapons”, noted: 
“For all [gang members], their current involvement in group offending was the result of a gradual 
process which had often begun with anti-social behaviour at an early age. Progression to increasingly 

Page 106



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 21 

 21 

serious forms of delinquency, however, did not occur evenly and might be triggered by a number of 
factors, including coming under the influence of a new set of friends and attempts to emulate older 
siblings and their associates, as well as the impact of specific distressing events in their personal lives. 
A common theme, though, was the influence of older males and some respondents cited the transition to 
secondary school as an important turning point.” (7) 
Session 4 looked at ways in which children who could potentially become involved in gangs can be identified and 
helped to make the right choices early in life. Identifying children at risk and targeted early intervention can make 
an enormous difference later on.  
One difficulty with this preventative approach is in targeting the “right” children: some children from happy, stable 
home lives, adult role models and relative affluence join gangs; others who suffer from all these factors never join 
a gang or get into trouble.  
What seems certain is that early years are important in shaping the rest of children’s lives. By ensuring all 
children are given nurturing, safe environments in which to play and learn, and providing additional resources for 
those most at risk, relevant agencies can have a profound impact on behaviour. 
In Tower Hamlets, the Youth Inclusion Support Panel (YISP) support children at risk of becoming offenders of 
violent crime because they have an older sibling who is involved in gangs and violent crime. The YISP was 
established in 2003 under the Children’s Fund to help 8-13 year olds at risk, and has since been extended in 
Tower Hamlets to aid the 8-15 age groups. 
Parents and children are usually referred to the YISP by the police as a result of anti-social behaviour, and 
occasionally by parents who have heard about the scheme from other parents. Referrals are also made through 
schools. The scheme is voluntary. 
 
Box quote 
“My dad was always yelling. I used to stay out. He’d always be on: you’re no good, your clothes, your talk. You’re 
no good at school. Now (X) comes in. I go out. My dad knows about it and he talks to (X). It’s better. I did music. 
My dad came and saw me.” 
10-year old on the impact of his YISP key-worker 
Parents whose children have been helped by the YISP were overwhelmingly positive about their influence. Often 
these parents are already at their wits’ end, and when it is demonstrated that the YISP is there to help and not to 
judge they listen to the panel’s advice. 
The YISP organises trips for young people, who then begin to understand that the panel are there to help, and 
listen to their advice on how to stay out of trouble. The YISP also offers parents advice on how to deal with their 
children’s behavioural issues. 
Over the last two years the YISP has worked with 316 children, of whom just 2% went on to offend. These 2% 

Page 107



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 22 

 22 

have a particularly high incidence of having parents or siblings in prison, and/or drugs misuse problems. The 
YISP is now looking at ways to better target this hard-to-help group. 
The Family Intervention Programme (FIP) was set up under the Government Prevention Programme to work with 
families who are considered hard to reach. FIP provides intensive intervention over six months. In Tower Hamlets 
the programme works with all members of the family rather than just the offender. The FIP take on the Lead 
Professional Role for families, negotiating for them with other agencies. 
Although FIP works on the Sanction and Reward model, it has no sanctions or rewards in and of itself, and relies 
on partner agencies. FIP can work with families to spend small amounts of money, for instance to allow a parent 
to take a course that will increase their learning potential. The FIP works mainly with the Third Sector. 
Established less than two years ago and funded by the DCSF, the FIP has been strongly embraced in Tower 
Hamlets, where a Child Poverty FIP has already been set up and a Baby FIP is being planned to work with 
pregnant women in difficult to reach families. 
The FIP is in a good position to identify some of the problems faced by families and young people. These include 
disempowerment, low expectations of what kind of help people can get from services, isolation and negative 
support systems.  There’s a large turnover in council flats which contributes to a loss of community, debt, drug 
use, overcrowding and lack of places for young people to go where they feel safe.   
The question of how and where children play is one that is increasingly being seen as important in how they 
develop as teenagers and adults. Play Association Tower Hamlets (PATH) encourages children to take part in 
unstructured play, rather than simply participating in video games or sport. Playgrounds can be an important 
place for positive conflict resolution. 
PATH is particularly concerned with how the current furore about knife crime impacts on young people who may 
be traumatized by violence. Necessary inoculations and lessons in how to cope with life occur in play spaces, 
and this is where children learn to deal with conflict. Play spaces allow children to distinguish between “good” and 
“bad” affiliations. 
The commission took note of a Stonewall report into homophobic bullying in schools, and noted that young 
lesbian, gay, and bi-sexual young people were x times more likely to be victims of bullying than their heterosexual 
peers. The Stonewall survey showed that “Almost two thirds (65 per cent) of young lesbian, gay and bisexual 
people experience homophobic bullying in Britain’s schools. ………Of those who have been bullied, 92 per cent 
have experienced verbal homophobic bullying, 41 per cent physical bullying and 17 per cent death threats.” 
 
Dealing with bullying (including cyber bullying) is a key factor in order to deal with youth violence. Young people 
who are bullied, whatever the presenting cause, and very unlikely to reach their potential and to achieve the sort 
of positive social engagement Tower Hamlets wants for its residents. Young people who bully are most at risk of 
committing future criminal acts. Commissioners noted that an anti-bullying policy is being rolled out across the 

Page 108



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 23 

 23 

borough and feedback on anti-bullying strategies provided to local schools.  An anti-bullying helpline is being 
launched and cards given out to young people advertising the number. Commissioners considered this work to 
be central in the whole safety strategy. 
 
Restorative Justice is increasingly being used in schools and other settings as a means of encouraging young 
people to take responsibility for their own actions and understand the impact their actions have on other people. 
Victims of bullying are given the opportunity to express how they feel to their bully.  
Bullies are made to account for their actions and understand how their behaviour affects others. Under the terms 
of restorative justice, young people sign contracts that stipulate how they will behave in future.  
The commission heard from the head teacher at a secondary school in E1 using restorative justice: 
“Our school has a strict disciplinary code, including zero tolerance for weapons. A knife arch is used and students 
found with weapons are permanently excluded. When a child is found to be carrying a knife they are reported to 
the police. The school works with parents to find that child a placement in another school. 
“Restorative Justice is used widely at our school. The system works extremely well because it forces parents to 
face up to the fact that their children can’t go on breaking laws. Since its introduction there have been zero 
instances of recurrence of problems between any two individuals.” 
“Streets of Growth” is a value-led organization, working with kids aged 13-19 years old in career programs. The 
ethos of the organization is based around transitional coping. The program aims to help young people move 
away from negative situations and involves intensive case management, as a representative explained: 
“Change is where conflict arises, so periods of change in the lives of young people are a major focus; safety is a 
key issue.  There are three main thrusts to the approach of the program, Belonging, Harm, and Generosity. 
“As an example, recently we dealt with a young man attending a local school who was involved in anti-social 
behaviour.  The young man was expelled in Year 11.  Streets of Growth had been working with this young man 
since he was 13 years old.  On expulsion, he got sent to a PRU at which his gang involvement was raised. 
“The young man explained that he’d been pulled into gang activity and hadn’t thought to resist, but when his 
education was taken away from him, he realised that he wanted to turn his life around.  He tried to distance 
himself from his friends who were involved in gang activity, but soon found himself pulled back in.   
“Streets of Growth worked with this individual to help him resist, and eventually he learned to turn his phone off 
when they called so they would be unable to contact him.  However, this caused problems in his friendships and 
social standing.  We then worked with him and his friends towards an understanding.   
“The young man now has an internship as a plumber.  It was a difficult journey, and he had to give up friends 
along the way, but he managed to get to a point where he got out of the situation while still retaining a sense of 
belonging in a community. 

Page 109



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 24 

 24 

“We do a lot of street dance, this helps to create a positive gang phenomenon to cancel out the negative 
associations.  We are specifically working with Bangladeshi boys around hesitancy in taking part in dance. 
“You can never disband gangs – it’s in human nature to gather in groups.  Group and gang culture is often seen 
as negative, but gangs aren’t innately negative – it’s all about your codes and ethics within the gang. There are 
so many definitions of gangs – there are groups, gangs, and affiliates of gangs.   
“Gangs often revolve around territorial issues and a sense of belonging – this is why young people form postcode 
gangs.  In actuality, wannabe gangs are more dangerous than established gangsters in that they are striving for 
something that isn’t in their current experience.  
“We wouldn’t want to take away gangs, but we want to help young people to examine what they gain from a 
gang, and what they lose.  It’s about exploring value systems.” 
It should be recognised that the police are playing a major part in early intervention. They are involved in 
restorative justice; provide “intelligence-led” information which is linked into YIP and YISP; run the Police Cadets 
programme; and both Operation Curb and Operation Blunt aim to work with young people before they get in 
trouble. The police also liaise tactically with the YOT. 
Tower Hamlets LAPs are currently engaged with over 12,000 young people. According to its area director, 
findings indicate that young people still associate themselves very strongly with territorial boundaries, and 
“negative perspectives” are held by the young people: 
“There are questions of how parents and families can protect young people from crime, and where parents 
should go if their child is victimized. The key to involving youth is to engage with them in a way that they feel has 
positive ramifications for them. A flexibility of approach is vital.  
“We need to be more creative about how we engage young people. We’ve tried to accomplish this by meeting 
with young people on their own turf and in their own timeframes. We’ve considered using video conferencing as a 
means of getting young people in different boroughs to communicate with one another. 
“We need to build up support networks within our communities. Rather than having troubled individuals 
completely dependent on services, we need to get neighbours to support one another.” 
So how do we get neighbours to support one another? In the next chapter this report will look at groups trying to 
build bridges – and break cycles. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Building bridges, breaking cycles 

Page 110



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 25 

 25 

 
The fifth commission session took place on 25th November 2008 and was headed: ‘The community’s relationship 
with our young people – building bridges.’ Issues addressed included strengthening the links between the 
generations, the treatment of offenders in custody, licensing issues and problems on public transport. 
One recurring theme during the course of this commission has been that the perception of lawless streets, 
rampaging youths and violent gangs is one held by many older people. Although the media must shoulder some 
of the blame, part of this fear is based on ignorance. 
Older people tend to be intimidated by groups of young people, and there is often an assumption to believe they 
are “up to no good”, even when they are just socialising. Partly young people congregate because they feel safe, 
and partly because it’s fun; they often congregate on the street either because there’s nowhere else to go or it’s 
simply where they want to be. 
A key factor in breaking down the fear of crime is to find ways for people from different generations to understand 
each other. Many older people are frightened of young people, often without reason; likewise, many young 
people believe older people are to be feared or unworthy of respect. 
Box quote 
“Young people need to be aware that it is the number one priority of the police to ensure their safety. If they come 
to us for help, we will help. Knife crime is something we can beat best by working together. Crime is already 
falling and that’s a result of better and more responsive policing and the recognition that young people who carry 
knives are at greater risk of being imprisoned, permanently disfigured, or killed.” 
Chief Sup Paul Rickett, Metropolitan Police 
 
The Commission heard from “Magic Me”, a voluntary organisation that has operated in Tower Hamlets for over 
25 years, with a mandate to bring together the generations. This group works with schools and youth groups and 
brings them together with social groups and day centres for older people. 
Both young and older people who have participated in schemes organised by “Magic Me” have found it beneficial 
in many ways. Older people have found younger people jobs; younger people said it showed them that older 
people shared many of their concerns and wanted many of the same things. 
According to one young participant, “the scheme enabled me to see my own teachers in a new way, and my 
education has consequently improved.” Another said that “my relationship with my own parents has improved.” 
One older person said she felt much more confident going out in her community while another said that projects 
that bring together different sets of people can make an enormous difference in their community and the wider 
world. 
Situated at the heart of the borough, and serving students from across the borough and beyond its boundaries, 
Tower Hamlets College has a unique perspective on real and perceived problems with gangs and crime. The 

Page 111



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 26 

 26 

college’s ethnic profile broadly matches that of Tower Hamlets as a whole, and with most students arriving on 
public transport violence in the surrounding streets used to be a serious problem. 
A combination of strategies has vastly improved things both for the staff and students at the college and the wider 
community in the area surrounding the campus. A senior college representative explained: 
“The college has a strong discipline procedure which has a profound effect outside campus. Exclusions are 
preceded by Final Warnings. Tower Hamlets College offers counselling for troubled students. The police Safer 
Schools Officers also offer reassurance to young people and parents. 
“In addition, the Safer Schools Procedure installs metal detectors at intervals to root out weapons and uses knife 
arches without prior notice. When the knife arch was used no students were found to be carrying anything 
warranting arrest. Our schools and colleges are very safe environments, and knife arches are just one of several 
overlapping strategies aimed at keeping them safe for learning. 
“A lot of time goes into working with the police and there are many leisure and extra-curricular activities on offer. 
The school has well-established guidance counsellors who are supported by student peer mentors; there is 
academic and vocational mentoring; and the college works actively with the parents or extended families of 
young people who get themselves in trouble, in order to resolve their behaviour.” 
Many young people who commit serious crime and anti-social behaviour are under the influence of alcohol. What 
can be done to tighten up the sale of alcohol to minors? The Commission heard from a council officer who works 
in licensing: 
“In England and Wales there are 19800 licensed premises.  When boroughs took over licensing the number of 
licenses granted across London decreased. In Tower Hamlets however, there has been a significant growth of 
licensed premises since 2005. This runs counter to the national trend.  
“In addition, the sales in off-premise alcohol (purchased in off-licenses or supermarkets) have grown. It is thought 
that the recession will further aggravate this. The Government has new initiatives around responsible drinking, 
particularly with reference to cutting back on Happy Hours at pubs; however it’s my opinion that until stricter laws 
are passed down governing the sale of alcohol in off-licenses and supermarkets, the Governments’ new 
initiatives will only accelerate off-premise drinking. 
“We have young police cadets that are used as mystery shoppers to root out establishments that will sell to those 
who are underage. Unfortunately it’s very difficult to monitor underage drinking as most of the alcohol consumed 
by youth is obtained at home from parents or older siblings, not from illegal sales.   
“It should be noted that young people drinking at home isn’t illegal – it’s only illegal to sell alcohol to them outside 
the home. The decision to prosecute has always been down to the discretion of the service. This raises the issue 
of responsible parenting. 

Page 112



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 27 

 27 

“The Government’s view is that it’s not the responsibility of the Government to prevent underage drinking, but 
rather of the parents and families. The issues surrounding under-age drinking aren’t just to do with whether youth 
can purchase it, it’s about the degree of access they have to it from a variety of sources.  
“The assertion that youth are getting alcohol from home might not be a relevant one for this particular borough 
due to the demographics.  Many families in the borough have religious reasons for not purchasing or consuming 
alcohol. However, often older gang members or siblings are purchasing alcohol for younger gang members or 
siblings.” 
Part of the reason young people drink and take drugs is because of boredom. A frequent complaint (and excuse) 
for teenage misbehaviour is that there is “nothing to do”. Yet Tower Hamlets is very well served by projects 
catering for young people. A representative of Brady Art Centre explained how art can divert young peoples’ 
energies into positive activities: 
“Our centre hosts arts courses and workshops including dance, drama, music technology, fashion, film and 
singing. We have theatre space and gallery space for small exhibitions.  Art can help channel young people’s 
energy in positive ways. 
“We host regular sessions on Thursday evenings, and the rest of our outreach work happens through youth 
clubs.  We have a small team – two full time equivalent workers.  We ran 59 art projects with 13-18 year olds in 
2007-2008.   
“We run our projects through co-operation with the Rapid Response Team and the Children Looked after Service 
(CLAS). We also work in museums and galleries around the capital. We’re currently looking at running a program 
that will result in accrediting for youth who don’t have traditional GCSEs. We also work with awards from the Arts 
Council and the AQA Awards. 
“Our focus is on projects that attract hard-to-reach young men. The projects encompass art forms such as film 
(we allow the youth to pick there own stories to tell), graffiti and street art, rap, and music technology. 
“Transport issues are one of the things that limit the amount of young people that can access our services. There 
is a mobile bus service run by the Rapid Response Team – we could do with more services like this. 
“A key way we’ve found to engage with youth is to hold competitions where the prizes are sought after by young 
people, such as Play Stations, but the concern with this method is that it may not lead to repeat engagement by 
youth. 
“Community cohesion in a concern, but we don’t work as much with young children or parents.  We do, however 
find that processions and shows are a good way to involve the wider community.  A lot of people think youth are 
a threat or a nuisance, but our work helps their voices to be heard. 
“We often come across young people who feel they’ve got nowhere to go, but in fact this isn’t accurate, as they 
have places to go, but simply do not want to go there. Transport is definitely an issue – we could get more youth 

Page 113



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 28 

 28 

to the centre if we had transport. I feel that youth provision has been rather poor up until now, but this is now 
being addressed.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lessons learned, further actions 
 
Box quote 
“Restorative justice is proving an incredibly effective way to help young people confront their own actions. It’s not 
just about improving poor behaviour; the emotional literacy of young people is developed, both bullies and the 
bullied express their feelings, and responsibility for finding a way forward is down to those involved rather than a 
third party.” 
Sally Bentley, Head of Thames Youth Magistrates Bench  
 
The sixth session of the Commission took place on 11th December 2008 and was headed: “Resources and the 3 
year strategy for the Council for safeguarding our young people”. Subjects up for discussion included restorative 
justice within schools and the work of organisations like the New Destiny Trust.  
The Commission heard evidence from the authors of a report into gang related crime in Islington. LBI’s 
Commission on Young People’s Services and Safety was set up to determine the extent of knife crime in the 

Page 114



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 29 

 29 

borough and also looked at gun crime. The commission came about as a result of the death of a 14 year old boy 
which attracted national publicity. 
Islington Council’s Integrated Strategy was to focus on youth violence and gang prevention, youth disorder, 
integrated services for young people such as positive activities for young people, information and guidance. The 
strategy also looked at parenting and family support and other strategies such as Mental Health Strategy. 
The resources used to achieve these recommendations included the Youth Engagement Team, which focused 
on police officers and youth workers with an ability to engage young people; the Gang Exit and Disruption Team, 
made up of outgoing members of gangs; and the Parenting Supporting Service. 
A major problem when it comes to dissuading young people from joining gangs is that the lifestyle of a “gangster” 
is seen as glamorous to some young people. One way to dispel this notion is to invite former criminals who have 
been to prison to talk to young people in a school or youth project setting to speak about their experiences and 
warn of the dangers involved in such a lifestyle. 
During an earlier session of the commission, the work of Southwark-based New Destiny Trust was presented. 
The project is focused on ex-criminals and gang members telling their stories to young people, usually within 
secondary schools, who are opinion-formers or have been identified as being on the borderline of crime. 
Two members of the commission were selected to go and witness the New Destiny Trust “in action” as an 
example of best practice. Here are their findings: 
“The New Destiny Trust uses carefully vetted and selected long-term ex-prisoners, whose aim is to deter young 
people from joining or condoning all forms of gang culture, knife and gun crime, and antisocial behaviour 
(including bullying, drugs and alcohol).  
“They do this by identifying with the sharp edge of crime through personal testimonials (building credibility with 
their audience), explaining to the young people present the brutally unpleasant realities of prison life, and how 
they should avoid becoming involved with criminal or borderline criminal activity. 
“Suitable staff are carefully selected for this type of work, which is as much about passion and conviction as it is 
about paid employment.  All staff are CRB checked at the highest level, they undergo ‘be safe’ training, and then 
more detailed training in role play, tackling sensitive issues, dealing with pupils’ questions (however frank and 
personal), and their own personal presentation skills. 
“The work takes a number of forms – addressing school assemblies, PHSE lessons, small group work, and 
where appropriate, mentoring.  A favoured method is small group work. The project currently works within one 
school in Tower Hamlets, and they are keen to expand. Funding comes from a variety of sources including the 
Police, Councils and individual schools, but remains a key area of anxiety. 
“We observed a 1.5 hour session with a group of Year 9 pupils (13-14 years old) at a school in South London. 
The session we witnessed was in a low level disruption class. The men gave a very effective presentation – the 

Page 115



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 30 

 30 

students were spellbound. The students could relate to their language and behaviour - the men used street 
language, without swearing.  
“The session handled why people form gangs and people gave reasons such as friends and protection. We were 
impressed by their credibility, their positive impact on the students, and by their ambition for these young people 
to change. The session was very effective and the students asked when the men would be coming back.” 
The commission is keen to promote organizations such as the New Destiny Trust and expand their role within the 
borough. Illustrating the horrors of life inside is one effective way of enabling young people to think hard about 
their actions and the possible consequences. 
Young people are only ever locked up as a last resort. Those young people who become wrapped up within the 
justice system need more help when in custody and more support when they are released so that they don’t re-
offend.  
The Youth Justice Board (YJB) has three main objectives: to reduce offending, to ensure public protection and to 
ensure better outcomes for young people in custody. YJB also works with The London Crime Prevention Board, 
formed by the Home Secretary and the Prime Minister. YJB was developed to focus on Restorative Justice for 
Young Offenders, prevent anti-crime extremities and organize programs. 
Currently the YJB is looking into the establishment of a brand new secure accommodation centre in East London. 
The “East Potential” Academy would provide complete support for young offenders, all within a single setting, 
close to the communities in which the young people grew up, as a witness explained: 
“The YJB is looking at overcoming the legal and financial issues of East Potential’s bid, and there are a number 
of other issues that we must address. For example, it’s not always the best option to bring first time offenders into 
custody together with those with multiple convictions, as they have different needs.  
“In order to support the YJB in tackling crime & safeguarding young people, local authorities can play an 
important role. First, we would like them to address the way in which they respond to crime in schools and 
colleges. Secondly, youngsters in custody could get better resettlement procedures through better electronic 
information as it can be hard to engage with offenders.  
“Finally we would prefer that the Courts don’t send young people to custody on short prison sentences (117 days 
and under) because what can be achieved in that period to attain nominalization is limited.” 
 
 
 
 
Summary 
Box quote 
“A great deal of crime is taking place which we as adults never notice. Young people are often living in fear and it 

Page 116



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 31 

 31 

is our responsibility to them to both ensure they can go about their lives in safety and also that they realise adults 
and the community are on their side.” 
Toks Adesuyan, Borough Crown Prosecutor, Tower Hamlets 
 
In order to combat anti-social behaviour and violent crime, the Commission has compiled a list of 
recommendations that will have a real impact both on levels of crime, and the perception of crime, within Tower 
Hamlets.  
There are no short-term or easy solutions, but what is certain is that these problems can only be tackled using a 
multi-agency approach: education, employment, schools, community support, parents, health, housing, 
safeguarding, police, youth service, licensing, all must play a part and all must be pulling in the same direction, 
ensuring resources, information and experiences are shared. 
There is some confusion nationally about whether knife crime in particular is getting better or worse. Statistics 
can be used in many ways and the commission has relied on them only where they are both unambiguous and 
illuminating. Otherwise we have focussed on what has been learnt and what can be done. 
Young people need to be educated as to both their rights and their responsibilities. They need to be informed 
what’s acceptable, what’s unacceptable, where they can and can’t go.  
Having listened to submissions from the YISP parents and from the social inclusion teams about bullying, it 
became clear that, for young people, safety begins at home, and then extends into schools and the streets. The 
commission commended a dual approach  

• “Think Family” – encouraging the approach of strengthening families, and keeping the family at the 
heart of service delivery (the YISP and FIP were both good examples, so was a lot of the work in 
schools)  

• Restorative Justice, which over time brought together victims and perpetrators to break down barriers 
and combat received impressions. 

A key theme that came up time and again during this Commission was the complaint that there simply aren’t 
enough places for young people to go, particularly during the evenings, weekends and holidays. Many youth 
centres close down around 9pm, and often young people don’t want to go home because of overcrowding. 
However, some within the commission believe that youth clubs can often exacerbate tensions and certainly don’t 
provide a complete solution. 
We believe that the infrastructure is well embedded to deliver positive change for our local communities: but the 
challenge is to develop the vision of “One Tower Hamlets” where young people value their community, and the 
community supports young people to fulfil their optimum potential.  
Rates of exclusion from school are lower in Tower Hamlets than in most boroughs. The link between exclusion 
from school and gang membership is well documented, as was noted in “Groups, Gangs & Weapons”: 

Page 117



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 32 

 32 

“The majority of young people excluded from mainstream said they had carried a knife within the last 
year.” (7) 
Education needs to be more relevant to the young people it serves. Young people need to be educated better as 
to their rights and their responsibilities. More resources need investing in young people with learning or 
behavioural problems. Young people need to be shown other routes to a successful and happy adulthood. 
New technology can have a detrimental impact on how young people behave. Where once fights took a lot of 
organising, giving those involved time to cool down, now mobile phones mean back-up can be summoned almost 
instantly. 
Similarly, the emergence of social networking sites (YouTube, Bebo, Myspace, Facebook etc) makes it much 
easier for gangs to boast about their own notoriety; this has a self-sustaining impact. At the same time, more 
young people (even those from relatively modest backgrounds) are now carrying mobiles, iPods etc, and are 
easy prey for muggings.  
One driving force of much of the crime both in Tower Hamlets and elsewhere is drugs. By taking illicit drugs 
young people immediately become part of a sub-culture, isolate themselves from mainstream society. Even “soft” 
drugs like cannabis lead young people into difficult situations, forcing them to mingle with dangerous criminals. 
The reasons why young people take drugs are complex: boredom; peer pressure; because drug provides 
temporary relief from their lives; and (in the beginning, at any rate) drugs can feel good. We need to demonstrate 
that there are other ways to alleviate boredom; that saying “no” to your friends is a sign of strength; that the world 
is full of possibilities; that drugs often lead to alienation, poverty, ill-health, criminalisation and death. 
One of this Commission’s findings has been that some young people have actual or perceived problems 
travelling to other areas. The “postcode problem” seems over-stated, and even within the Commission some 
believe that the only young people who have real problems moving freely around the borough are those who are 
up to no good. On this, as with many subjects (the usefulness of knife arches, for instance), there is a healthily 
divergent range of opinion. 
What most of the Commission did agree on was that the problems around gang culture and violent crime are 
mainly to do with young men. According to the UCL report, “guns, gangs & weapons”: 
“Gangs are mostly male. Although school surveys suggest that just as many girls as boys claimed to be 
part of a gang, such gangs were not ones with a territory or name. This suggests that girls may be more 
involved with peer group collectives than street gang-level collectives. The literature supports this with 
little evidence to support the speculation that female involvement is increasing. Where females are 
involved in gang activities, it is thought their role might be one of support, such as carrying or storing 
weapons.” (4) 
Though some other boroughs have female gangs, this is not a real problem in Tower Hamlets. However, young 
women are often the victims of gang-related violence. 

Page 118



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 33 

 33 

Another recurring theme has been the dearth of suitable adult role models, particularly male role models for 
teenage boys. Parents need more support if they feel their child is out of control. More case workers need to be 
recruited for groups like the YISP. Restorative justice should be promoted so long as there is evidence it works. 
And more resources need to be invested to support 18-25 year olds moving out of youth services. These are just 
a few of the many recommendations that make up this report. 
Although Tower Hamlets is safer than other parts of London, just as there is a danger in overstating the problem, 
there is an equal danger in understating the case. 
As adults we sometimes forget there are two worlds. Crime in the younger world could involve two youths and an 
adult onlooker would not know a crime was taking place: a mugging could be occurring but to the untrained eye 
the young people are just “messing around”. 
This low-level crime, unseen or unnoticed by most of us, is affecting young people all around us every day. We 
should all do our utmost to ensure that young people grow up free from fear, free to travel and enjoy childhood. If 
this Commission helps bring that about, then all the sterling efforts put in by all the witnesses, young people and 
Commission members themselves will have been worthwhile. 
 
 

Recommendations 
 
Having received and heard evidence from various sources, the commission is confident that Tower Hamlets 
offers a very good environment in which most of the residents, most of the time, can live and learn safely and 
happily. The recommendations from the commissioners address the exceptional circumstances when young 
people are at risk, and the environment is less secure. 
 
 
The recommendations below represent the broad thinking of the commissioners, in response to the evidence 
presented. Against each recommendation we have referenced the sessions from which these were 
principally drawn, but we should emphasise that conclusions are not mutually exclusive, and 
recommendations emerge from evidence received throughout the process. The next tier of 
recommendations will be expressed in the action plan drafted by officers, and contained in the borough’s 
youth justice and community safety plans. Commissioners ask that the relevant sections within these plans 
should be highlighted so that progress can be easily monitored. 
 

1. One Tower Hamlets 
 
Commissioners noted that there was a disparity between the image and the reality of safety in the borough. 
In particular, the reputation of young people and the quality of community relations suffered from 
sensationalist reporting in some newspapers and television programmes. As a result there was a danger of a 
culture of fear developing, between cultures and generations. Commissioners were convinced that we 
should counter this with positive reporting and celebrating the successes in the borough. We must value 

Page 119



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 34 

 34 

distinct cultures in the borough, drawing together young people and adults, and helping young people from 
different ethnic backgrounds to mix easily.  We should: 
 

• Ensure young people’s representation to feed into local structures charged with preventing and 
reducing crime and anti-social behaviour, in particular the crime and drugs reduction partnership. 
(Sessions 3, 4) 

• Promote and fund inter-generational working in the borough (Session 4) 
• Promote and fund work across ethnic boundaries 
• Develop and encourage volunteering schemes for the Olympics, where young people and adults 

work closely together (Sessions 3, 4) 
• Endorse positive action schemes for young people  (Session 2, 3, 5) 

        
2. A Great Place to Live 

 
Commissioners want to promote a sense of belonging, and confidence in the out-door environment. A further 
example of the disparity between popular belief and evidence is the relatively high fear of crime when actual 
crime has fallen over the last 7 years. This anxiety, however, can lead to heightened tension. Significant 
anecdotal evidence was presented by young people about post-code tensions, and there was some evidence 
of street fighting across boundaries. 

 
We should: 
 

• Narrow the gap between perceptions and the evidence and avoid the vilification of young people 
(Session 1, 3, 6)  

• Encourage the Police Authority to identify ways of strengthening the relationship between the police 
and young people (Sessions 1, 3, 6) 

• Ensure resources are directed towards early intervention/family projects (e.g. YIP, YISP & FIP). 
(Session 2,4, 6) 

• Promote the value of Play within the borough, and improve playgrounds and parks to encourage, 
safe, imaginative and inclusive play. (Session 4) 

• Focus support for young people on the transition period between the end of primary, and the start of 
secondary school (Session 4) 

• Encourage young people’s mobility across the borough, continuing to develop safe routes to school 
and to play, particularly when moving between areas and postcodes (Sessions 1, 3, 5,) 

 
3. A Prosperous Community 

 
Much evidence was presented to demonstrate that full engagement with educational and leisure activities, and 
familiarity local democratic processes, militated against individual anti-social behaviour, encouraged reporting, 
and increased public confidence. Young people and their families prospered when they were actively engaged in 
their community and confident in dealing with public affairs. 
Engagement with the rich learning experience provided inside and outside schools and colleges was seen as 
central to full social engagement. Commissioners were clear that promoting educational, artistic, sporting and 

Page 120



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 35 

 35 

cultural opportunities within the borough would divert many young people from poor behaviour and under-
achievement. We should: 
 

• Ensure a broad range of high quality activities within youth centres, and secure specialist 
programmes, as necessary, to re-engage young people who are in difficulty. (Sessions 2, 5) 

• Include a strong  focus upon the arts and creative projects for ‘hard to reach’ groups  (Session 5) 
• Through the 14 – 19 strategy, ensure young people have every opportunity to improve their skills 

levels (in particular social & communication skills) to prepare them adequately for training and work 
(Sessions 2, 5) 

• Provide good accommodation, support, and training or employment for all young people leaving 
custody, in line with the local re-settlement pledge (Sessions 5, 6) 

 
4. A Safe and Supportive Community 
 
Commissioners found that for some young people the borough did not always offer a positive environment. 
Evidence of girls and young women becoming victims of prostitution was presented clearly, and special 
services were indicated in this area. Commissioners were particularly impressed with evidence (from the 
police, schools, and a number of third sector organisations) on the use of Restorative Justice across agencies 
as a key model of working with young people.  
Commissioners want to ensure that every effort is made to sustain a safe environment in which young people 
can live and thrive. 
 
 
 
We should: 
 
• Draft a protocol on the use of restorative justice across the borough and identify resources for central 

training at initial, intermediate and advanced levels. (Sessions 3, 4, 5 & 6) 
• Try new approaches to diversion whereby ex-offenders work with young gang members to de-glamorize 

crime and divert these youngsters (Session 2) 
• Support young people to resist bullying in and out of school, linking with anti-bullying policies and 

restorative justice, as above. Raise awareness of the policies and encourage their effective 
implementation. (Sessions 3 & 4) 

• Prioritise early intervention strategies and positive engagement of families, in particular working with 
families of young offenders, and with children in families with adult offenders  (Sessions 2, 4 &6) 

• Ensure an accurate information exchange between agencies and up-to-date protocols (Sessions1, 2, 6) 
 

 
 

5. A Healthy Community 
 
The Commission heard compelling medical evidence on serious injury, and the lifelong effects, both physical 
and psychological.  The Consultant Trauma Surgeon at the Royal London Hospital presented his perspective 
of a ‘parental postcode’: those children raised in poverty may be less likely to adequately safeguard their 

Page 121



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 36 

 36 

own children, and this cycle perpetuates. The commission warmly welcomed the offer from the trauma unit to 
develop close liaison with the authority.  
Evidence from licensing and the drugs specialists influenced thinking in particular on the availability of 
alcohol in relation to public order and petty crime. The supply of illegal drugs was a concern both in relation 
to health and as an introduction to criminal networks. We should: 
 
• Implement the borough’s strategy for the Reduction of Child Poverty (Session 1) 
• Establish the link with the trauma unit. ( Session 1) 
• Provide more information to young people about knife crime and its consequences   (Session 1) 
• Improve the disclosure between the police and NHS around knife crime injuries (Session 1) 
• Increase intelligence sharing and positive partnership working in order that the evidence that the supply 

of drugs to young people is significantly reduced (Session 4) 
• Target the known criminal gangs in the borough, and focus on the families of those young people known 

to associate with the gangs. (Session 2, 4, 6) 
• Look at ways of ensuring licensees, parents and older siblings are held to account for an unchecked 

pattern of underage drinking (Session 5) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Acknowledgments 
 

• ‘Aasha’ Blyda Project and Muhammed Rabbani 
• Andy Newsam, Youth Justice Board 
• Ann Roach and Monawara Bakht, Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
• Belinda Hopkins, Restorative Justice and Schools 
• Blossom Young and Liam Riley, Tower Hamlets Youth Service 
• Chief Inspector Rob Revill 
• Chloe Newman, Southwark Council (Community Safety) 
• Cyril Jackson school parents 
• Daniel Taegtmeyer, Lifeline 
• Diane Peters, Streets of Growth 
• Dinar Hossein, Tower Hamlets Youth Service 
• Dr. Rob Ralphs, Researcher at Manchester University on Youth Gangs 
• Gilly Cottew, Drug & Alcohol Action Team (DAAT) 
• Gordon Sturrock and Eleanor Image, Play Tower Hamlets 
• Graham Robb, Jo Brennan (YJB) 
• Heather Mallinder, Tower Hamlets Anti-Social Behaviour Unit 
• Hub Travel Report  

Page 122



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 37 

 37 

• Jackie Barnes, ‘Globe Town Action Zone’ 
• Liz Vickery and Liam McQuade, CAF and Behavioural Support  
• Luke Roberts, Lambeth RJ co-ordinator and colleagues from PRU 
• Mohammed Shahazan and parents from Youth Inclusion Support Panel 
• Nick Yard, London Ambulance Service  
• Nikki Bradley, Family Intervention Panel 
• Officers from Operation Ashford  
• Peer Mentoring Project ‘Tolerance and Diversity’ 
• Peta Boucher, Leap Confronting Conflict 
• Phil Leyland, Head Teacher at Bishop Challoner School 
• Professor Karim Brohi, trauma surgeon and lecturer 
• Resolve Project and Saifur Rahman 
• Ronke Martins-Taylor, Camden Youth Offending Team and Youth Service 
• Saifur Rahman Khalid, Rapid Response Team (Tower Hamlets) 
• Senior Crime Analyst, Community Safety, Sam Redfern 
• Stuart Johnson, Tower Hamlets Youth Offending Service 
• Superintendent Ellie Bird and Inspector Amanda Withers (BTP) 
• Susan Langford and Katherine Gilfroy, ‘Magic Me’ 
• Sylvia Merton and Nick Steward, Tower Hamlets College 
• Thanos Morphitis, Peter Murphy, Peter Moore, LB Islington 
• The Commission would particularly like to thank all the young people who attended and gave such 

impressive evidence at Sessions 3, 4 & 5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
References 
 

1. Tower Hamlets Residents Panel Consultation report (March 2008) 
 
2. “Equality Impact Assessment of the Home Office Youth Crime Action Plan” (DCSF, July 2008) 

 
3. LB of Islington’s Commission on Young People’s Services and Safety (March 2008) 

 
4. “Rationalisation of current research on guns, gangs and other weapons” (UCL, November 2005) 

 
5. “Five Borough Alliance: Guidance for the Communications Strategy” (UCL, August 2007) 

 
6. “Building Bridges Project: Executive Summary” (ROTA, July 2008) 

 
7. “Groups, gangs & weapons” (Youth Justice Board, 2007) 

 
 
Further reading 
 
“2020 Vision” Tower Hamlets Community Plan 
 
Summary of Youth Crime Action Plan (July 2008) 
 
The Hub Report: Learner Travel: to facilitate 14-19 pathways & Borough wide Campus April 2008 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



Tower Hamlets Commission Interim Report February 2009 page 38 

 38 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Translations 
 

 

Page 124



Committee: 
 
Cabinet 

Date: 
 
8th April 2009 

Classification: 
 
 
Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: 
 
 
CAB 142/089 
 

Agenda 
Item: 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director – Kevan Collins 
 
Originating officer(s) Kamini Rambellas 
Service Head – Children’s Social Care 
 

Title:  
Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children’s Board Annual 
Report 2008/9, Business Plan 2007/10. Summary of Lord 
Laming’s report and outcome of Serious Case Review 
evaluations 
 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
 
1.1 The report will firstly set out the work that the Tower Hamlets Local 

Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) has undertaken since it 
reported to Cabinet in late 2007, presenting the Board’s Annual report 
to Cabinet. 

 
1.2 The report also includes information concerning the Board’s response 

to the Joint Area Review which has included a recent independently 
facilitated review and stock take of the LSCB arrangements together 
with recommendations for the future. This review had been planned in 
advance of events in Haringey in late 2008, but as it took place early 
in this year, was able to take account of some emerging themes. 

 
1.3 In response to the events in Haringey, The Secretary of State 

requested that Lord Laming undertake a further review of 
safeguarding arrangements. Lord Laming’s report was published on 
March 12th 2009. This report will advise Cabinet of the implications 
arising from Lord Laming’s report and the LSCB’s immediate 
response to it. 

 
1.4 The report will also report on the evaluations of the Serious Case 

Reviews undertaken by LSCB since April 2007. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 
2.1 Note the contents of the LSCB annual report and business plan and 

outcomes arising from LSCB ‘stocktake’. 
 
2.2 Note the summary of Lord Laming’s report. 

Agenda Item 8.2

Page 125



 
2.3 Agree to appointment of an independent chair of the LSCB. 
 
2.4 Note that the appointment will be made by the Director of Children’s 

Services in consultation with the Council’s Board partners. 
 
2.5 Agree that the Council should support appointment of an independent 

chair by the LSCB for any future serious case reviews. 
 
2.6 Note that a further report will be provided in relation to the full 

implementation of any changes arising from Government’s response 
to Lord Laming’s report. This will include proposals to support elected 
members in developing a greater understanding of the issues relating 
to safeguarding and their role and responsibilities in this area.  

 
2.7 Note the outcome of the Ofsted evaluations of Serious Case Reviews 

undertaken in 2007-8. 
 
 
     

Page 126



3.        BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In February 2006 a paper entitled, ‘Establishing a Local Safeguarding 

Children Board in Tower Hamlets’, was presented to Cabinet 
recommending that a Local Safeguarding Children Board be 
established in Tower Hamlets with effect from April 2006. 

  
3.2 The report outlined the proposed structure, governance, and chairing 

arrangements, and the proposed scrutiny arrangement of the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board.   

 
3.3       In March 2007 the Director of Research in Practice facilitated the first 

meeting of the Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board.  
3.4      In December 2007 Cabinet agreed and approved the proposed 

changes to the structure and Governance arrangements for the 
Safeguarding Children’s Board. 

 
3.5       In July 2008 the Department for Children, Schools and Families 

published its ‘LSCB Challenge and Improvement Tool’. This was 
followed in October 2008 by the ministerial announcement of the terms 
of reference for a planned stock take of LSCB’s.  

 
3.6      Tower Hamlets LSCB subsequently commissioned a further 

independently facilitated review of Current LSCB arrangements. 
 
3.7       In November 2008 the events concerning the death of child ‘P’ in 

Haringey became public and the Secretary of State ordered an 
immediate inspection of safeguarding arrangements in Haringey. He 
also requested that Lord Laming undertake a review of current 
arrangements for the safeguarding of children. 

 
3.8       The Secretary of State wrote to all Directors of Children’s Services in 

December 2008 advising them of the outcome of the inspection of 
Haringey and that he had taken steps to put in place a new Director of 
Children’s Services and an independent chair of Haringey LSCB. He 
also requested that all Lead Members, DCS and LSCB satisfy 
themselves concerning the effectiveness of local safeguarding 
arrangements. 

 
3.9       The Tower Hamlets LSCB review took place in January 2009. 
 
3.10 Lord Laming’s report was published on March 12th 2009. 
 

 
4.  LSCB ANNUAL REPORT 2008/9 
 
4.1 The LSCB Annual Report (Appendix1) summarises the work and 

achievements of the board in 2008/9.These have included: 
  

Page 127



• Creation of the Tower Hamlets Child Death Overview Panel 
 
• Implementation of All London Child Protection Procedures  

 
• Safer Recruitment Training rolled out to partner agency and voluntary 

sector 
 
• Positive evaluations of Serious Case Review evaluations 

 
• Dissemination of learning from Serious Case Reviews through multi-

agency workshops 
 
• Commissioning  independent research of safeguarding Issues for BME 

Communities  
 
• Successful LSCB Annual Conference on Domestic Violence 

 
• Working with our Communities: 
 
• Working with Muslim Families  

 
• Increased safeguarding knowledge of faith & community groups 

through training, events and identifying emerging issues 
 

• Empowering religious leaders to take forward safeguarding activities 
 

• Held 4 Continuing the Dialogue seminars which inform future priority 
areas but also create a platform for hearing community views on 
safeguarding issues 

 
• Successful conference on safeguarding issues for African children 

 
• Delivered programme of seminars to enhance practice and knowledge 

in relation to safeguarding issues 
 

4.2  Responding to the Joint Area Review  
 
4.2.1  In April 2008, Tower Hamlets was subject to a Joint Area Review, 
 which sought to understand through inspection the quality of services 
 for children and young people in the Borough.  Children Services were 
 scrutinised as part of this process. Included within this was 
 consideration of safeguarding arrangements and governance.  
 
4.2.2  The work of the LSCB was considered as part of this review and 
 inspectors judged that Tower Hamlets safeguarding arrangements 
 were considered to be ‘good’. It highlighted a number of strengths but 
 noted that links with the Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 
 [MAPPA], the body that monitors and manages sexual offenders, 
 needed improving. It also stated that the LSCB needed to strengthen 

Page 128



 its monitoring role of partner agency wider actions and its 
 accountabilities. It has been agreed that MAPPA will convene a 
 specific event to explore the safeguarding implications and how they 
 may be held to account for this. 
 
4.3  LSCB Members Pack  
 

A Members Pack has also been produced which fully explains the role 
and function of the Board but also includes a ‘job description’ which 
explicitly states what is required from each member representative to 
ensure their effective contribution to the work of the Board.   

 
 
5.      THE PROTECTION OF CHILDREN: A PROGRESS REPORT 
 
5.1 The report was commissioned by The Secretary of State in his letter to 

Lord Laming of 17th November. Lord Laming was tasked with 
addressing three key questions which were, in summary: 

 
5.1.1 What good practice has been successfully achieved in safeguarding 

children since the publication of the Victoria Climbie Inquiry report? 
 
5.1.2 What are the key barriers, including in the legal process, that may 

impede efficient and effective work with children and families and that 
may be preventing good safeguarding practice from becoming 
standard practice? 

 
5.1.3 What specific actions should be taken by Government and national and 

local agencies to overcome these barriers and accelerate systematic 
improvements? 

 
5.2 The report was published on the 12th March 2009 and made 58 

recommendations covering the areas of Leadership and Accountability; 
Support for Children; Interagency Working; Children’s workforce; 
Improvements and Challenge; Organisation and Finance and Legal 
issues. 
 

5.3 Lord Laming confirmed his view that integrated services and a focus on 
the Every Child Matters outcomes for children is the right context in 
which to deliver child protection services. Lord Laming has underlined 
his message that safeguarding is everybody’s business and that the 
Leader, or Elected Mayor and Chief Executive should provide an 
additional layer of scrutiny and support for the Director of Children’s 
Services.   The recommendations include the following; 

 
• Chief Executives and Leaders need to satisfy themselves that DCSs 

and their teams are adhering to processes. 
 

• The role of the Director of Children’s Services  
Recommendations: NCSL programme key to development at the top.  

Page 129



DCS must have somebody with a social care background as a senior in 
their team to run the work and ensure safeguarding 

 
• LSCB chairing will "move towards independence over time". The chair 

of the Children’s Trust should not chair the LSCB. 
 
• LSCBs to  account to Children’s Trusts  
 
• Serious Case Review Panel Chairs and Overview authors must be 

independent of the LSCB 
 

• Serious Case Reviews and their inspection will concentrate better on 
practice and lessons learned not process. 

 
• The report endorses the Social Work Taskforce. Social work training 

and ICS, are to be focus for real serious and prompt work for the SW 
taskforce   (See appendix 2) 
 

• Children’s Trusts will be required to report annually on state of the 
nation and there will be targets in LAAs on safeguarding 

   
• There will be a national safeguarding advisor and unit, within DCSF 

 
• DCSF to revise Working Together to Safeguard Children 

 
• Ofsted to improve its expertise in Safeguarding 

 
• The Ministry of Justice to commission an independent review of the 

impact of court fees. 
 

• DoH to prioritise its commitment to recruitment of Health Visitors; 
promote the statutory duty of GP’s to comply with child protection 
legislation and develop national training programme for the children’s 
health work force 

 
5.4    In response to Lord Laming’s Report, the LSCB now seek to recruit 
 and Independent Chair of the Board. The Board will require that the 
 appointed chair has significant and substantial senior experience in  the 
 area of children’s safeguarding. All future Serious Case Reviews  will 
 also be chaired by an independent person (not the chair of the 
 Board).   
6.      EVALUATION OF SERIOUS CASE REVIEWS 
 
 6.1 Ofsted assumed responsibility for the evaluation of Serious Case      

Reviews (SCR’s) on the 1st April 2007.The framework for how these 
evaluations would be undertaken was not made available until several 
months later. Since that date Tower Hamlets has submitted 4 SCR’s 
for evaluation. Two of these (relating to the children MR and EWF) 

Page 130



were reported to General Purposes in late 2007.The remaining two 
have yet to be published or reported to members at the specific request 
of the Metropolitan Police due to ongoing criminal investigations ,they 
have however been submitted for evaluation. 

 
6.2 MR concerned an incident in 2006.The young person, placed in 

residential school by LBTH, sexually assaulted 7year old child while 
staying at family friends while on w/e contact. Ofsted judged the SCR 
to be Adequate.  

 
6.3 The case of EWF concerned a child who died in February 2007.The 

father of E killed mother, then died also (probable drugs overdose) E 
died as a consequence (dehydration) at 5 months. Ofsted judged the 
SCR to be Good. 

 
6.4 The case of M who died in August 2007, concerned a young man in 

care, who was stabbed in a drug related street fight by an unknown 
perpetrator .Ofsted judged the SCR to be Good. 

 
6.5 The final case concerned the child S, a 7 year old on CPR for neglect 

found in highly neglected state by MPS, multiple bruising to head and 
body .The child did not sustain life threatening injuries but the LSCB 
decided to undertake a Serious Case Review nonetheless as S had 
been subject to a Child Protection Plan when he sustained the injuries. 
The evaluation of this case is anticipated imminently and will be 
reported verbally to Cabinet. 

 
6.6 Ofsted now publishes quarterly reports on the evaluations of Serious 

Case Reviews .To date, 208 have been evaluated and the majority of 
Serious Case have been judged either Adequate or Inadequate with on 
average, less 25% receiving a good judgement, none have been 
judged to be Outstanding. The evaluations of the Tower Hamlets 
submissions are, within this context, positive. 

 
6.7    A number of changes have been implemented as a consequence of   

learning from Serious Case Reviews. These have included; the 
creation of Independent Reviewing Officers for Children in Need, rolling 
programmes of multi agency training to disseminate key practice 
learning and awareness of issues such as the impact of Domestic 
Violence on children and more recently,  the development of a rolling 
programme of training for staff on working with perpetrators . 

 
6.8     The Joint Area Review commented very positively on how well learning 

from Serious Case Reviews was embedded.  
 
 
7. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
7.1 This report advises Cabinet of the work that the Tower Hamlets’ LSCB 

has undertaken since 2008, including the actions following the Joint 

Page 131



Area Review and there are no financial implications for the current and 
future financial years. 

 
7.2 Further, it advises Cabinet of the immediate action that Children’s 

Services intends to take as a consequence of the Laming Report on 
the protection of children, namely the appointment of an independent 
chair of the local LSCB and ensuring all future Serious Case Reviews 
are chaired by an independent person.  It is anticipated that the cost for 
these roles will be approximately £50,000 per annum, which will be 
contained within the current Children’s Services Budget. 

 
7.3 A further report will be presented to Cabinet in relation to the full 

implementation of any changes arising from the Government’s 
response to the Laming Report, which will also contain the full financial 
implications of the actions the Local Authority is required to take.   

. 
 
 
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 (LEGAL) 
 
8.1 Cabinet is asked to authorise appointment of an independent Chair to 

the Tower Hamlets Local Safeguarding Children Board (“LSCB”). 
 
8.2 The LSCB is established under section 13 of the Children Act 2004 and 

carries out its functions in accordance with the Local Safeguarding 
Children Boards Regulations 2006. 

 
8.3 Pursuant to regulation 4, the Authority which establishes an LSCB 

shall, after consulting their Board Partners appoint a person to chair the 
LSCB.  The proposal to appoint an independent Chair is one which is 
open to the Cabinet. 

 
8.4 The functions of the LSCB are set out at regulation 5 and these are 

reported on in the attached annual report.  It is appropriate for the 
Council to receive a report on these functions. 

 
 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
            The report supports One Tower Hamlets by developing our approach 

to ensuring all children are appropriately safeguarded at all times 
 
 
10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
              
             None 
 
 
 

Page 132



11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
             These are contained within the body of the report 
 
 
12.        EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
12.1 This is contained within the comments of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
13. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 LSCB Annual Report and Business Plan 
 
Appendix 2 Secretaries of State letter to Chair of S/W taskforce 

 
 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

  
Brief description of “background 
papers” 
 
The Protection of Children in England: A 
Progress Report 
 
 

Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection. 
http://publications.everychildmatters.gov.uk/defau
lt.aspx?PageFunction=productdetails&PageMode
=publications&ProductId=HC+330 
 
Kamini Rambellas – Service Head Children’s Social 
Care – Tel: 020 7364 2213 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 133



Page 134

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

Tower Hamlets  
Local Safeguarding Children Board 

 

Annual Report 2008-09 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
� EDUCATION � SCHOOLS � CHILDREN SOCIAL CARE � HEALTH � POLICE � 
COMMUNITY SAFETY � PROBATION � YOUTH JUSTICE � DRUG & ALCOHOL 
SERVICES �  NSPCC � ADULT SERVICES � DISABILITY SERVICES � HOUSING � 
VOLUNTARY SECTOR � YOUTH & COMMUNITY � 

Page 135



Introduction  
  
The information contained in this report has been written for both professionals and 
members of the public, including parents, carers and the children & young people of 
Tower Hamlets.  Care has been taken to ensure the information is presented clearly 
and comprehensively, with professional ‘language’ avoided wherever possible. 
  
The report sets out the work Tower Hamlets Local Safeguarding Children Board 
[LSCB] has undertaken in the previous year (2008-09). It also highlights key 
developments in Safeguarding that will inform the additional areas of work the Board 
will need to address. 
   
The LSCB devised a 3 year Business Plan which has been developed to fit alongside 
the Local Authority’s Children and Young Persons Plan. The Annual Report acts as a 
review of the overarching plans and gives an update of the priorities for the coming 
year. 
 
 
 
Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board  
 
The Safeguarding Children Board in Tower Hamlets has been in place for almost 3 
years (April 2006) and has been strengthening what it aspires to achieve by working 
together with key agencies that have a legal responsibility for keeping children safe 
from harm and help them and their families to stay safe whether at home or in the 
community they live in. 
 
The LSCB consists of representatives from a range of agencies, both voluntary and 
statutory, who are working with children and young people or their families in the 
borough of Tower Hamlets.  A list of the agencies can be found on the title page. 
 
The main duty of the LSCB is to ensure that there are adequate or proper 
arrangements across all agencies to protect children from harm but the LSCB is also 
tasked with making sure the welfare of the child is promoted. 
 
 
 
Key Developments  & Achievements in 2008-09 
 
This section lists some of the main achievements but information detailing a review 
of progress can be found in the 3 year Business Plan at the end of this document.  

 
Child Death Overview Panel 
All LSCB’s were required to have systems in place to review child deaths in their area 
of responsibility by April 2008. The purpose of this was mainly to learn lessons from 
these deaths especially when a child dies unexpectedly. The knowledge gained could 
then inform the response needed from public service or in policy development. 
Tower Hamlets formed a Child Death Overview Panel [CDOP] which meets every 3 
months to review the reasons why children have died.  Guidance on how panels 
need to gather and report their findings has been issued by the London Safeguarding 
Children Board.  A 6-month update report has been presented to the main Board, 
with early indications that a smaller number of children have died in Tower Hamlets 

Page 136



in comparison to other areas, majority have been related to natural causes or 
accidental death.  Those that did not meet either of the two reasons are fully 
investigated. The CDOP is still developing and the LSCB has identified an 
Administrator to support the work. It will remain a priority of the LSCB to ensure that 
findings are responded to in an effective manner. 
 
 
Child Protection Register / Children Subject to Child Protection Plans 
The Child Protection Register was phased out in April 2008 as it was considered 
unnecessary by the Government as individual electronic case files were available on 
each child.  Children are now referred to as being ‘subject to a child protection plan’. 
The thinking behind this was that it would help agencies and professionals working 
together to focus on the plan to protect the child and whether it meets their specific 
needs. No other changes were made to the child protection process. A leaflet was 
produced for professionals to communicate the impending change and placed on the 
LSCB website. Tower Hamlets also wrote to all children and their parents who were 
affected by this to explain the changes.  The LSCB has undertaken an audit of all 
children who have remained subject to a plan for more than 15 months and also 
reason for some children being ‘re-registered’ under the categories of abuse.   
 
 
Safer Workforce 
New Government Guidance was introduced regarding safer recruitment practices and 
dealing with allegations against professionals working with children. Tower Hamlets 
has for sometime now had in place a Local Authority Designated Officer who 
specifically deals with such allegations and collates data to monitor patterns 
developing in the Borough.  An audit of safe workforce practices was carried out by 
each LSCB member, this highlighted a need to standardise practice across the 
agencies so Tower Hamlets children can expect and benefit from the same high 
safeguarding standard from whichever agency they come in to contact with. Training 
on safer recruitment practice has been delivered on a rolling basis. Immediate 
priority was to ensure all relevant school staff were trained by September 2008. 
Since then, the training has been opened up to other Local Authority staff and LSCB 
agencies, including the voluntary sector. Further Guidance has been recently issued 
on Vetting and Barring staff (Jan 09) and this will be incorporated in to the ongoing 
developments of a safe children’s workforce in Tower Hamlets and will remain a 
priority in the coming months. The LSCB has funded CRB checks for 100 Imams and 
religious educators as part of its campaign to improve safeguarding standards within 
faith and supplementary education settings. 
 
 
London Child Protection Procedures 
The 3rd Edition of the London Child Protection Procedures was launched in 2007 
following an extensive consultation period, which Tower Hamlets contributed to. The 
LSCB ensured hard copies of the guidance was purchased and made available to all 
agencies, including the voluntary sector.  A number of additional procedures have 
been developed since then, following another period of consultation. Tower Hamlets 
LSCB has taken part in reviewing the Domestic Violence, Young People affected 
through Gang Activity and Child Death Review Panel Procedures. The Safeguarding 
Children abused through Domestic Violence Procedure was officially launched in June 
2008. Plans are in place to ensure the LSCB offer training support as and when 
further guidance are published. 

Page 137



Evaluation of Serious Case Reviews 
The Working Together to Safeguard Children Guidance issued in 2006 clearly defined 
when and who should conduct a serious case review [SCR], in summary this is 
usually when a child dies as a result of abuse or sustains serious injury and where 
lessons for inter-agency working can be made.  The decision is made by the LSCB 
area the child lives in. In the past year Tower Hamlets LSCB has concluded one 
serious case review and contributed to another lead by a different LSCB. A further 5 
other cases were considered but did not meet the threshold for a full review.  The 
inspecting body, OfSTED announced they would evaluate all serious case review for 
process and quality of reports; unfortunately they were unable to issue guidance 
prior to many LSCB’s commencing their SCR’s, including Tower Hamlets.  Despite 
this, the judgement OfSTED reached on the 3 SCR’s from the previous year 
concluded we had attained ‘good’ ratings for 2 SCR’s and ‘adequate’ for another. In 
context of national trends, this is above average especially as fewer ‘good’ 
judgements are being reached and none have been judged to be ‘outstanding’. 
 
 
Improving Referrals to Children’s Social Care 
The LSCB identified the need to clearly communicate to all how, when and what 
levels of concerns regarding children and young people should be referred to 
Children’s Social Care. The LSCB commissioned the ‘Guidance on Threshold for 
Referrals to CSC’ and this was disseminated to all agencies and placed on the LSCB 
website.  The impact of this is monitored by CSC and reported to the main Board 
 
 
Inspection & Scrutiny of Safeguarding Work 
In April 2008, Tower Hamlets Local Authority was subject to a Joint Area Review, 
which sought to understand through inspection the quality of services for children 
and young people in the Borough.  Children Services were scrutinised as part of this 
process, in particular its safeguarding arrangements.  The work of the LSCB was 
considered as part of this review and inspectors judged that Tower Hamlets 
safeguarding arrangements were considered to be ‘good’. It highlighted a number of 
strengths but noted that links with the Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 
[MAPPA], the body that monitors and manages sexual offenders, needed improving. 
It also stated that the LSCB needed to strengthen its monitoring role of partner 
agency wider actions and its accountabilities.  
 
LSCB has since invited MAPPA to discuss the recommendation and agreed MAPPA 
would convene a designated event to explore the safeguarding implications and how 
they may be held to account for this. In relation to the need to strengthen partner 
agency responsibilities, the LSCB held a development day to explore this further and 
come up with some solutions. 
 
A Member’s Pack has also been produced which explains the role and function of the 
Board but a ‘job description’ explicitly states what is expected from each member 
representative and this has now been signed up to.  The LSCB Forward Plan has 
been created to assist in the monitoring of agreed actions and subsequent reporting 
by all agencies. The LSCB has further increased its scope for scrutiny. The Board 
continues to receive Children’s Social Care Management Information Data which it 
rigorously interrogates resulting in the instigation of a number audits which have 
include one to ensure that child protection plans are robust and appropriate.  

Page 138



In the  past year, the LSCB has been involved in the London Dataset Pilot (phase 1 & 
2) which will mean it can compare itself against other London Boroughs. The 
management information report will be revised to include the ability to incorporate 
data from external partner agencies, a suggestion which emerged from the LSCB 
development day. 
 
 
Improving knowledge, standards and working together 
The LSCB has responsibility for ensuring their representative agencies workforces are 
equipped in safeguarding knowledge, specifically child protection; that its standards 
of working together measures up to a quality group of child protective service. Over 
the past year, the LSCB has conducted its first annual safeguarding conference on 
Safeguarding Children abused through Domestic Violence. The result has lead to the 
agreement to train a number of key staff members across each agency in the use of 
the Domestic Violence Risk Matrix to be used as a tool to evidence concerns.  These 
champions will be required to cascade the training within their own agency to ensure 
we attain a collective practice standard for assessing levels and identifying escalation 
of risk when working with families living with domestic violence.  The LSCB has also 
continued to roll out its annual inter-agency training programme and will continue to 
build on this in the coming year to include newly identified safeguarding issues e.g. 
safeguarding children online and in the digital world. A new model to training 
delivery was adopted and will be implemented next year utilising a pool of 
experienced practitioners and managers from across the LSCB to deliver the training 
programme. 
 
 
Working with faith and community groups 
This area of work has been particularly successful in increasing the safeguarding 
knowledge of faith and community groups through a structure engagement process.  
There has been a real shift in the partnership moving away from awareness raising 
towards empowering religious leaders to take on board responsibility as primary 
influencers. Engaging the community has been achieved through a number of 
methods. For example, the LSCB has held 4 seminars with the Muslim community 
entitled ‘Continuing the Dialogue’ this is a progression from the ‘Beginning the 
Dialogue’ programme of events held in the preceding years.  Such topics as parental 
mental ill health, domestic violence and young women at risk of sexual exploitation 
were covered this year. An interesting development has been the first women’s only 
seminar targeting Muslim women parenting 2nd/ 3rd generation children. Each 
seminar elicits the opinions and priorities from the community’s viewpoint and 
informs future work area and direction.  Listening and following through with 
tangible actions and results has ensured the LSCB has an effective relationship with 
our minority communities who significantly feature in our Child Protection, Children 
Looked After and Children in Need Statistics. Consequently, the LSCB has 
commissioned Coram Families to undertake a research of safeguarding issues for 
Black, Minority, Ethnic Communities in response to emerging  patterns suggesting 
‘under’ and ‘over’ representation within CSC data. It hopes to learn why this might be 
the case and so take remedial action to balance any practice, referral or service 
response implications. Other achievements have been the publication of the Mosque 
and Madrassah Safeguarding Handbook in Bengali and Somali, followed by a similar 
bespoke document for the African Churches. 
 

 

Page 139



Priorities for Next Year: 2009-10 
 
 
Strengthen LSCB monitoring and accountability arrangements: 
The LSCB will need to continue to implement the suggestions from the Development 
Day to improve the accountability of partner agencies, including links with MAPPA 
and monitor its effectiveness. 
 
Review of LSCB work streams: 
The work remit of the LSCB has grown considerably due to national developments 
but also as a result of its own local successes. It will be necessary to review the way 
in which it can perform at its optimum to deliver a comprehensive and achievable 
safeguarding agenda. 
 
Child Death Reviewing Processes: 
The Child Death Overview Panel will need to continue to embed itself in practice 
through guidance and learning.  A review and analysis of the first 18 months data 
will need to take place. The related Serious Case Review Process will be reviewed to 
incorporate learning from previous experience to enhance the current system and 
develop a local inter-agency protocol. 
 
Multi- Agency Training Coordination: 
The multi-agency model for training delivery will require dedicated coordination to 
ensure it is successful in its primary objective to have a well informed workforce in 
place.  A training coordinator post will be recruited to join the LSCB team. 
 
E-Safety: 
An LSCB E-Safety Strategy is to be mandated by the Board in order to implement 
wide-ranging activities including awareness raising and training amongst children & 
young people, parents, carers and professionals to ensure children remain safe from 
the dangers posed by the virtual world. 
 
Enhance Safeguarding arrangement with the Voluntary Sector 
LSCB relationship with Voluntary Sector suffered as a result of the Community 
Organisation Forum ceasing to exist. This body acted as the access point to reach 
the many voluntary organisations working with children & young people.  
Collaborating with the new DCSF commissioned Safeguarding Unit for the Voluntary 
Sector will assist the LSCB to re-establish its relationship and devise a programme of 
activities, including safer recruitment practice/training.  
 
Safer Workforce: 
There is a need to continue the Safer Workforce agenda in light of the recent Vetting 
& Barring guidance. 
 
 
Services to faith & community groups: 
Findings from the BME research will need to be analysed and considered, especially 
where safeguarding can be extended to include children from the newer or ‘hidden’ 
communities. 
 
 
 

Page 140



Implications from Laming Report: 
Finally, the recent publication of Lord Lamings 2nd Report titled: Protection of 
Children in England: A Progress Report will need to be carefully considered and 
recommendations factored in to the 2009-10 priorities, this will include the need for 
independent oversight and chairing of Serious Case Reviews and possibly of the main 
Board as well. 
 
 
 
How is the work of the LSCB Achieved?  
 
To ensure that the LSCB is able to meet the legal duties placed on them; it decided it 
would have 3 layers within its structure to undertake the work it needs to do. Firstly, 
there are 8 sub groups which do the detailed work and leads on specific areas.  
 
These are: 
 
o Children & Domestic Violence Subgroup 
o Child Death Overview Panel 
o Case Review Subgroup 
o Training Subgroup 
o Prevention, Protection & Practice Subgroup 
o Performance & Quality Subgroup 
o Policy & Practice Subgroup 
o Engaging with our Communities Subgroup  
 
Secondly, the Executive Board manages the day to day responsibilities to ensure a 
well facilitated forum is maintained. Finally, there is the main Board which is made 
up of senior managers who can make decisions on behalf of the agencies they 
represent and able to influence and contribute to the safeguarding agenda.  
 
The LSCB is currently supported by a Coordinator who manages the work plan, 
priorities and facilitates a smooth running Board, supported by dedicated 
administrator.  A second administrator supports the work of the Child Death 
Overview Panel and Serious Case Reviews. 
 
 
Funding of the LSCB 
 
 
The LSCB is jointly funded from financial contributions made by a number of 
agencies namely Health, Police and Children’s Services.  The budget covers the cost 
of the LSCB staff team, funds independent authors of serious case reviews, research, 
audit, the training programme and specific activities from each of the subgroups e.g. 
publication of information material, upkeep of website, seminars etc. 
 
Financial Reports are provided quarterly to the Executive Board for monitoring and 
twice a year to the main Board in tandem with budget planning cycles. Financial 
contributions are agreed by November of each year in order to make arrangements 
to meet LSCB targets. 

Page 141



LS
CB
 3 
Ye
ar
 O
ve
ra
rch
ing
 Bu
sin
es
s P
lan
 20
07
-2
01
0 

 
Ob
jec
tiv
e: 

Ou
tco
me
s: 

Tim
es
ca
le:
 
Pr
og
re
ss
 U
pd
at
e: 

 1. 
 To

we
r H

am
let

s L
SC

B w
ill 

co
nt
inu

e t
o c

on
so
lid
at
e i
ts 
co
re
 

fu
nc
tio

n t
hr
ou

gh
 ef

fec
tiv

e 
bu

sin
es
s m

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 
su
pp

or
t. 

  

 1.1
 

A 
3-y

ea
r s

tra
teg

ic 
for

wa
rd 

pla
n (

20
08
-11

) w
ill 
be
 

de
ve
lop

ed
. 

 1.2
 

An
nu
al 

LS
CB

 su
b-g

rou
p 
wo

rk 
pla

ns
 d
eta

ilin
g 
ke
y 

ac
tiv
itie

s a
nd
 ou

tpu
ts 

wil
l b

e r
ev
iew

ed
 an

d p
ut 

in 
pla

ce
 to

 im
ple

me
nt 

the
 st
rat

eg
ic 
bu
sin

ess
 pl
an
. 

 1.3
 

An
 L

SC
B 

An
nu

al 
Re

po
rt 

wil
l b

e 
pro

du
ce
d 

an
d 

dis
sem

ina
ted

 
to 

rea
ch
 

ma
in 

sta
ke
ho
lde

rs 
inc

lud
ing

 c
om

mu
nic

ati
ng
 l
oc
al 

ne
ed
, 
res

po
ns
e 

an
d p

rog
res

s t
o t

he
 pu

bli
c d

om
ain

. 
 1.4

 
Th

e L
SC

B B
ud
ge
t w

ill 
be
 re

gu
lar

ly 
mo

nit
ore

d a
nd

 
rev

iew
ed
, 

inc
lud

ing
 

ag
en
cy 

co
ntr

ibu
tio

ns
. 

Fin
an
cia

l 
rep

ort
s 

wil
l 

be
 
pre

sen
ted

 
to 

the
 

Ex
ec
uti

ve
 Bo

ard
. 

 1.5
 

Th
e 
Ma

in 
Bo

ard
 w

ill 
me

et 
at 

lea
st 

6 
tim

es 
pe
r 

ye
ar.

 
 1.6

 
Th

e 
Ex
ec
uti

ve
 B

oa
rd 

wil
l m

ee
t a

t l
ea
st 

6 
tim

es 
pe
r y

ea
r. 
It 

wil
l o

ve
rse

e t
he
 da

y t
o d

ay
 bu

sin
ess

 
of 

the
 B

oa
rd,

 i
nc
lud

ing
 a

 d
ec
isio

n 
ma

kin
g 

sch
ed
ule

. 
 1.7

 
An

 
ind

ep
en
de
nt 

org
an
isa

tio
n 

wil
l 

be
 

co
mm

iss
ion

ed
 to

 ev
alu

ate
 th

e L
SC

B. 
 1.8

 
Me

mb
ers

hip
 an

d a
tte

nd
an
ce
 ac

ros
s t

he
 3-

tie
rs 

of 
the

 LS
CB

 or
ga
nis

ati
on
al 
str

uc
tur

e w
ill 
be
 re

gu
lar

ly 

 Ap
ril 

20
08
 

  An
nu
al 
(A
pri

l) 
 

  An
nu
al 
(Ju

ne
) 

    6 m
on
thl

y 
    Bi-

mo
nth

ly 
  Bi-

mo
nth

ly 
    Jun

e 2
00
9 

  On
-go

ing
 

 

 Ac
hie

ve
d 

  Re
vie

w 
un

de
rta

ke
n t

o i
nc

orp
ora

te 
ov

era
rch

ing
 ob

jec
tiv

es 
in 

to 
su

bg
rou

p 
wo

rk 
pla

ns
 

  2nd
 LS

CB
 An

nu
al 

pro
du

ce
d 

    Qu
art

erl
y b

ud
ge

t r
ep

ort
ed

 to
 

Ex
ec

uti
ve

 Bo
ard

 an
d t

wic
e a

 ye
ar 

to 
ma

in 
Bo

ard
 

   Ac
hie

ve
d 

  Ac
hie

ve
d 

     Co
mp

let
ed

 Ac
tio

n. 
Tim

esc
ale

 br
ou

gh
t 

for
wa

rd.
 

 Me
mb

ers
hip

 at
ten

da
nc

e r
ec

ord
ed

 an
d 

mo
nit

ore
d a

t E
xe

cu
tiv

e B
oa

rd.
 

Page 142



LS
CB
 3 
Ye
ar
 O
ve
ra
rch
ing
 Bu
sin
es
s P
lan
 20
07
-2
01
0 

 
Ob
jec
tiv
e: 

Ou
tco
me
s: 

Tim
es
ca
le:
 
Pr
og
re
ss
 U
pd
at
e: 

rev
iew

ed
 

to 
str

en
gth

en
 

an
d 

ex
ten

d 
rep

res
en
tat

ion
 o

f t
he
 p

rof
ess

ion
al 

saf
eg
ua
rdi

ng
 

co
mm

un
ity
. 

 1.9
 

An
 L

SC
B 

Ind
uc
tio

n 
Pa
ck 

wil
l b

e 
de
ve
lop

ed
 t
o 

su
pp
ort

 ne
w 
me

mb
ers

 in
 un

de
rst

an
din

g t
he
ir r

ole
 

an
d r

esp
on
sib

ilit
y. 
 

 1.1
0  

LS
CB

 w
ill 
be
 fu

lly 
pre

pa
red

 fo
r J

oin
t A

rea
 R
ev
iew

 
an
d i
mp

lem
en
t s
ub

seq
ue
nt 

rec
om

me
nd
ati
on

s. 

    Ma
y 2

00
8 

   20
08
 &
 20

11
 

Inf
orm

ati
on

 pr
ov

ide
d t

o a
ge

nc
ies

 
un

de
rta

kin
g o

wn
 cr

os
s-m

on
ito

rin
g 

ex
erc

ise
. 

 Ac
hie

ve
d b

ut 
fur

the
r d

ev
elo

pe
d i

n t
o 

Me
mb

ers
 Pa

ck 
co

nta
ini

ng
 si

gn
ed

 
ag

ree
me

nt 
& 

job
 de

scr
ipt

ion
. 

  LS
CB

 su
bje

ct 
to 

20
08

 Jo
int

 Ar
ea

 
Re

vie
w 

an
d r

ec
om

me
nd

ati
on

s 
im

ple
me

nte
d w

ith
 6 

mo
nth

 tim
esc

ale
 

 
 2. 

 To
we

r H
am

let
s L

SC
B w

ill 
co
mm

un
ica

te
 ef

fec
tiv

ely
 w
ith

 it
s 

ke
y s

ta
ke
ho

lde
rs 

th
ou

gh
 a 
ra
ng

e 
of
 m

ed
ium

s a
nd

 co
ns
ide

re
d 

fo
rm

at
s. 

  

 2.1
  

A 
3-p

ron
ge
d 

Co
mm

un
ica

tio
n 

an
d 

Inf
orm

ati
on

 
Str

ate
gy
 w

ill 
be
 d
ev
elo

pe
d 
to 

pro
mo

te 
the

 w
ork

 
an
d 
ke
y m

ess
ag
es 

of 
the

 LS
CB

 ac
ros

s s
tat

uto
ry,

 
3rd

 Se
cto

r a
nd
 th

e p
ub
lic.

 
 2.2

  
Th

e 
LS
CB

 W
eb
sit
e 

wil
l 

be
 r

e-d
ev
elo

pe
d 

to 
be
co
me

 a
 m

ea
nin

gfu
l i

nfo
rm

ati
on
 p

lat
for

m 
to 

rea
ch
 bo

th 
pro

fes
sio

na
ls 
an
d p

ub
lic.

 
 2.3

  
A 
de
cis

ion
 w

ill 
be
 m

ad
e e

ach
 ye

ar 
as 

to 
wh

eth
er 

pu
bli
cit
y a

nd
 ev

en
ts 

wil
l b

e h
eld

 d
uri

ng
 N

ati
on
al 

Ch
ild
 Sa

fet
y W

ee
k (

he
ld 
in 
Jun

e).
 

 2.4
 

An
 L

SC
B 

Ne
ws

let
ter

 a
bo
ut 

the
 L

SC
B 

wil
l b

e  
    

    
  

pro
du
ce
d f

or 
sta

ff a
cro

ss 
pa
rtn

er 
ag
en
cie

s. 
   

 Ma
y 2

00
8 

    Jul
y 2

00
8 

   An
nu
al 

(Ja
nu
ary

) 
  6 m

on
thl

y 
 

 Ou
tst

an
din

g T
ask

 
     LS

CB
 W

eb
sit

e i
nfo

rm
ati

on
 up

da
ted

 
reg

ula
rly

. W
eb

sit
e r

ed
esi

gn
 de

lay
ed

 
bu

t u
nd

erw
ay

. 
 Ex

plo
rat

ion
 of

 pr
op

os
al 

for
 E-

Sa
fet

y t
o 

fea
tur

e d
uri

ng
 Ch

ild
 Sa

fet
y W

ee
k 

un
de

rw
ay

. 
  Ou

tst
an

din
g. 

Ac
tiv

ity
 lin

ke
d t

o 
co

mm
un

ica
tio

n s
tra

teg
y 

  

Page 143



LS
CB
 3 
Ye
ar
 O
ve
ra
rch
ing
 Bu
sin
es
s P
lan
 20
07
-2
01
0 

 
Ob
jec
tiv
e: 

Ou
tco
me
s: 

Tim
es
ca
le:
 
Pr
og
re
ss
 U
pd
at
e: 

 3. 
 To

we
r H

am
let

s L
SC

B w
ill 
up

ho
ld 

its
 ac

co
un

ta
bil

ity
 th

ro
ug

h 
tra

ns
pa

re
nt
 sy

ste
ms

 an
d 

int
eg
ra
tio

n t
hr
ou

gh
 lo
ca
l; 

re
gio

na
l a
nd

 na
tio

na
l b

od
ies

. 
  

 3.1
  

All
 s
ub
-gr

ou
ps
 w

ill 
rep

ort
 a

nd
 r
ais

e 
iss

ue
s 
for

 
co
ns
ide

rat
ion

 w
ith

 th
e E

xe
cu
tiv
e B

oa
rd.

 
 3.2

  
All
 Su

b-g
rou

ps
 w
ill 
reg

ula
rly
 su

bm
it r

ep
ort

s t
o t

he
 

Bo
ard

 to
 up

da
te 

on
 its

 pr
og

res
s a

nd
 id

en
tify

 ke
y 

iss
ue
s a

s a
gre

ed
 w
ith

 th
e E

xe
cu
tiv
e B

oa
rd.

 
 3.3

  
Re

po
rtin

g s
yst

em
s w

ill 
be
 in

 pl
ac
e t

o e
ns
ure

 th
e 

LS
CB

 is
 r
eg
ula

rly
 u

pd
ate

d 
on
 M

an
ag
em

en
t 
& 

Pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
 In

for
ma

tio
n 
to 

ass
ist
 p
lan

nin
g 
an
d 

to 
pri

ori
tis
e s

tra
teg

ic 
res

po
ns
es.

 
 3.2

  
To

we
r 

Ha
ml
ets

 L
SC

B 
wi
ll 

co
ntr

ibu
te 

to 
the

 
de
ve
lop

me
nt 

of 
a 

Pa
n-L

on
do
n 

Da
tas

et.
 

Co
mp

ara
tiv
e 

pe
rfo

rm
an
ce
 i
nfo

rm
ati
on
 w

ill 
be
 

pre
sen

ted
 to

 th
e B

oa
rd.

 
 3.3

  
Th

e 
LS
CB

 w
ill 

est
ab
lish

 f
orm

al 
lin
ks 

wit
h 

the
 

Do
me

sti
c V

iol
en
ce
 Fo

rum
 &

 V
iol
en
t C

rim
e A

cti
on

 
Gr
ou
p (

VC
AG

) S
tra

teg
ic 
Bo

dy
. 

  3.4
 

Wr
itte

n s
ub
mi
ssi

on
s w

ill 
be
 m

ad
e b

y t
he
 LS

CB
 to

 
res

po
nd
 

to 
Go

ve
rnm

en
t 

Co
ns
ult

ati
on
 

an
d 

Gu
ida

nc
e 

Do
cu
me

nts
 a

nd
 w

ill 
co
ns
ide

r 
loc

al 
im
ple

me
nta

tio
n. 

    

 As
 id
en
tifi
ed
 

  As
 Id

en
tifi
ed
 

   On
-go

ing
 

    20
08
 

    De
c 0

7 
    On

-go
ing

 
       

 Ac
hie

ve
d. 

Sta
nd

ing
 Ag

en
da

 ite
m 

at 
ev

ery
 Ex

ec
uti

ve
 Bo

ard
 

 Co
mb

ina
tio

n o
f v

erb
al 

an
d w

ritt
en

 
rep

ort
s p

rov
ide

d t
o m

ain
 Bo

ard
 

   Ch
ild

ren
 So

cia
l C

are
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
Inf

orm
ati

on
 Re

po
rt 

tab
led

 fo
r 

dis
cu

ssi
on

 at
 ev

ery
 m

ain
 Bo

ard
 

  Co
ntr

ibu
tio

n t
o P

ha
se 

1 o
f p

ilo
t 

Ac
hie

ve
d. 

De
cis

ion
 to

 co
nti

nu
e 

inv
olv

em
en

t t
o P

ha
se 

2 a
nd

 fin
din

gs
 

to 
be

 sh
are

d w
ith

 Bo
ard

 
  Ac

hie
ve

d. 
Ch

ild
ren

 &
 D

om
est

ic 
Vio

len
ce

 su
bg

rou
p c

rea
ted

 re
po

rtin
g 

to 
bo

th 
LS

CB
, D

V F
oru

m 
an

d V
CA

G 
   Co

ntr
ibu

tio
n t

o C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

un
de

rta
ke

n v
ia 

rel
ev

an
t s

ub
gro

up
 e.

g. 
Ad

dit
ion

al 
Sa

feg
ua

rdi
ng

 Pr
oc

ed
ure

s 
on

 D
om

est
ic 

Vio
len

ce
, Y

ou
ng

 Pe
op

le 
aff

ec
ted

 by
 Ga

ng
 Vi

ole
nc

e i
nc

lud
ing

 
Go

vt 
Fo

rce
d M

arr
iag

e/3
rd
 Pa

rty
 

Re
po

rtin
g c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
 

Page 144



LS
CB
 3 
Ye
ar
 O
ve
ra
rch
ing
 Bu
sin
es
s P
lan
 20
07
-2
01
0 

 
Ob
jec
tiv
e: 

Ou
tco
me
s: 

Tim
es
ca
le:
 
Pr
og
re
ss
 U
pd
at
e: 

3.5
  

Th
e 

LS
CB

 w
ill 

wo
rk 

clo
sel

y 
wit

h 
‘St
ay
 S

afe
’ 

(C
YP

SP
G)
 to

 id
en
tify

, m
on

ito
r a

nd
 e
va
lua

te 
ke
y 

loc
al 
saf

eg
ua
rdi

ng
 pr

ior
itie

s. 
  3.6

  
Th

e L
SC

B B
us
ine

ss 
Pla

nn
ing

 Pr
oc
ess

 w
ill 
est

ab
lish

 
lin
ks 

wit
h o

the
r k

ey
 pl

an
nin

g p
roc

ess
es
 to

 en
su
re 

Sa
feg

ua
rdi

ng
 an

d 
Pro

mo
tin

g 
We

lfa
re 

of 
Ch

ild
ren

 
rem

ain
s a

 ce
ntr

all
y i
nte

gra
ted

 co
mp

on
en
t. 

 3.7
  

Re
pre

sen
tat

ion
 w

ill 
be
 m

ain
tai
ne
d a

t t
he
 Lo

nd
on

 
Sa
feg

ua
rdi

ng
 Ch

ild
ren

 Bo
ard

 Fo
rum

s. 
     3.8

 
Co

ns
ide

rat
ion

 w
ill 

be
 g

ive
n 

to 
ho
w 

be
st 

to 
pro

ce
ed
 w

ith
 th

e L
SC

B 
be
ing

 su
bje

ct 
to 

a f
orm

al 
scr

uti
ny
 pr

oc
ess

. 
 

On
-go

ing
 

    As
 id
en
tifi
ed
 

    On
-go

ing
 

      Ap
ril 

20
09
 

Pri
ori

tie
s t

o s
afe

gu
ard

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 

at 
ris

k o
f s

ex
ua

l e
xp

loi
tat

ion
 an

d f
rom

 
da

ng
ers

 in
 th

e d
igi

tal
 w

orl
d a

do
pte

d 
in 

Sta
y S

afe
 pr

ior
itie

s f
or 

20
09

-10
. 

  On
go

ing
 pr

oc
ess

 of
 in

vo
lve

me
nt 

& 
inc

lus
ion

. 
   Re

pre
sen

tat
ion

 fr
om

 To
we

r H
am

let
s 

at 
LS

CB
 Ch

air
s, 

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
Of

fic
ers

, 
Ch

ild
 Pr

ote
cti

on
 an

d C
hil

d D
ea

th 
Ov

erv
iew

 Pa
ne

l C
ha

irs
 m

ee
tin

gs
 

wh
ere

 op
po

rtu
nit

y t
o i

nfl
ue

nc
e 

Lo
nd

on
 ag

en
da

 an
d s

ha
re/

pro
mo

te 
loc

al 
pra

cti
ce

 ac
hie

ve
d. 

 LS
CB

 Re
po

rt 
tab

led
 fo

r A
pri

l 0
9 

Co
un

cil 
Ca

bin
et 

me
eti

ng
. I

ns
pe

cti
on

 
by

 Jo
int

 Ar
ea

 Re
vie

w 
in 

Ap
ril 

08
 an

d 
qu

alit
y o

f S
eri

ou
s C

ase
 Re

vie
w 

Pro
ce

ss 
ev

alu
ate

d b
y O

fST
ED

 (4
 

co
mp

let
ed

 an
d 2

 ex
pe

cte
d i

n 2
00

9-
10

) 
 4. 

 To
we

r H
am

let
s L

SC
B w

ill 
bu

ild
 

an
d s

up
po

rt 
eff

ec
tiv

e 
pa

rtn
er
sh
ips

 to
 ra

ise
 aw

ar
en

es
s 

th
ro
ug

h r
es
ea
rch

 an
d p

re
ve
nt
ion

 
ini

tia
tiv

es
. 

 

 4.1
  

Lo
ca
l C

om
mu

nit
ies

 an
d 
the

 V
olu

nta
ry 

Se
cto

r w
ill 

be
 m

ad
e 

aw
are

 o
f t

he
 n

ee
d 

for
 s
afe

gu
ard

ing
 

ch
ild
ren

 to
ge
the

r. 
   

 On
-go

ing
 

     

 Su
bs
tan

tia
l p
art

ne
rsh

ip 
an
d 

su
pp
ort

 of
fer

ed
 to

 fa
ith

 le
ad
ers

 
(M

us
lim

 / 
Afr

ica
n C

hu
rch

es)
 to

 
bri

dg
e s

afe
gu
ard

ing
 co

lla
bo

rat
ion

 
wit

h t
he
se 

co
mm

un
itie

s. 
 

Page 145



LS
CB
 3 
Ye
ar
 O
ve
ra
rch
ing
 Bu
sin
es
s P
lan
 20
07
-2
01
0 

 
Ob
jec
tiv
e: 

Ou
tco
me
s: 

Tim
es
ca
le:
 
Pr
og
re
ss
 U
pd
at
e: 

 
 4.2

  
A 
Ge

ne
ric
 lo

ca
l p

ub
lici

ty 
str

ate
gy
 w

ill 
be
 in

 pl
ac
e 

to 
en
su
re 

saf
eg
ua
rdi

ng
 s
erv

ice
s 
an
d 

res
ou
rce

s 
are

 
sig

np
os
ted

 
thr

ou
gh

 
ran

ge
 
of 

eff
ec
tiv
e 

me
diu

ms
. 

   4.3
  

Sa
fe 

rec
rui

tm
en
t p

rac
tic
e, 

pro
ce
ss 

an
d 
pu
bli
cit
y 

wil
l 
be
 i
n 

pla
ce
 t

o 
ass

ist
 p

are
nts

 t
o 

sel
ec
t 

co
mm

un
ity
 ed

uc
ato

rs 
wit

hin
 th

e h
om

e. 
    4.4

  
Ba

ng
lad

esh
i 

Ch
ild
 
Pro

tec
tio

n 
Vid

eo
 
wil

l 
be
 

up
da
ted

 an
d r

ep
rod

uc
ed
 to

 su
pp
ort

 sa
feg

ua
rdi

ng
 

ac
tiv
itie

s. 
   4.5

  
Pe
rtin

en
t 

loc
al 

iss
ue
s 

an
d 

pre
va
len

ce
 

of 
saf

eg
ua
rdi

ng
 c
hil
dre

n 
an
d 
yo
un

g 
pe
op
le 

wil
l b

e 
ide

nti
fie
d a

nd
 gi
ve
n s

tra
teg

ic 
res

po
ns
e/r

eso
urc

es.
 

       

 Se
pte

mb
er 

20
08
 

     Ma
rch

 20
08
 

      Jun
e 2

00
8 

     On
-go

ing
 

         

 Ou
tst

an
din

g a
s l
ink

ed
 to

 
Co

mm
un
ica

tio
n S

tra
teg

y. 
Ho

we
ve
r, k

ey
 in
for

ma
tio

n 
ac
ce
ssi

ble
 on

 LS
CB

 w
eb
sit
e a

nd
 

dis
trib

ute
d v

ia 
int

erm
itte

nt 
ele

ctr
on
ic 
ma

il s
ho
ts 

 De
cis

ion
 m

ad
e t

o n
ot 

tak
e a

cti
vit
y 

for
wa

rd.
 H
ow

ev
er,

 in
for

ma
tio

n 
im
pa
rte

d t
hro

ug
h S

afe
gu

ard
ing

 
Tra

ini
ng

 w
ith

 M
os
qu
es 

an
d 

Mu
slim

 Pa
ren

ts 
Gr
ou

ps
 

  Or
igi
na
l C

P v
ide

o t
ran

sfe
rre

d t
o 

DV
D 
for

ma
t a

nd
 us

ed
 at

 
Sa
feg

ua
rdi

ng
 Tr

ain
ing

 w
ith

 
Mo

sq
ue
s a

nd
 M
us
lim

 Pa
ren

ts 
Gr
ou
ps
 

 Pre
ve
nti

on
 su

bg
rou

p i
de
nti

fie
s 

iss
ue
s a

nd
 si
gn
po

sts
 to

 re
lev

an
t 

su
bg
rou

p t
o t

ak
e f

orw
ard

 e.
g. 

yo
un

g g
irls

 at
 ris

k o
f s
ex
ua
l 

ex
plo

ita
tio

n l
ea
d t

o a
 se

mi
na
r o

n 
the

 su
bje

ct 
wh

ich
 id
en
tifi

ed
 a 

nu
mb

er 
of 

tas
ks 

inc
lud

ing
 ne

ed
 to

 
rai

se 
aw

are
ne
ss 

am
on
gs
t 

Ba
ng
lad

esh
i p
are

nts
. A

 Ch
ild
ren

 
So
cia

l C
are

 (C
SC

) le
ad
 w
ork

ing
 

Page 146



LS
CB
 3 
Ye
ar
 O
ve
ra
rch
ing
 Bu
sin
es
s P
lan
 20
07
-2
01
0 

 
Ob
jec
tiv
e: 

Ou
tco
me
s: 

Tim
es
ca
le:
 
Pr
og
re
ss
 U
pd
at
e: 

     4.6
 

Str
ate

gie
s a

nd
 in

itia
tiv
es 

aim
ed
 at

 m
ini
mi
sin

g r
isk

 
or 

pre
ve
nti

ng
 a

bu
se 

wil
l 

be
 i

de
nti

fie
d 

an
d 

su
pp
ort

ed
. 

 

     On
-go

ing
 

gro
up
 ex

plo
res

 th
e i
ssu

es 
fur

the
r 

an
d a

cts
 as

 an
 in
tel
lig
en
ce
 sh

ari
ng
 

for
um

 to
 in
sti
ga
te 

pla
nn

ed
 

res
po
ns
e 

 Pre
ve
nti

on
 su

bg
rou

p i
de
nti

fie
d 

co
nc
ern

 in
 th

e p
rac

tic
e o

f m
ale

 
cir
cu
mc

isio
n b

y n
on

-m
ed
ica

lly 
tra

ine
d p

rac
titi

on
ers

 an
d 

an
ec
do
tal
 lin

k w
ith

 im
pa
ct 

on
 

he
alt
h s

erv
ice

s w
he
n p

roc
ed
ure

s 
go
 w
ron

g. 
A s

tud
y o

f th
is 
is 

cu
rre

ntl
y b

ein
g u

nd
ert

ak
en
 by

 
CS

C a
nd
 th

e P
rim

ary
 H
ea
lth

 Tr
us
t. 

Fin
din

gs
 an

d r
ec
om

me
nd
ati
on
s 

wil
l b
e p

res
en
ted

 to
 m

ain
 Bo

ard
 

 
 5. 

 To
we

r H
am

let
s L

SC
B w

ill 
pr
om

ot
e E

ar
ly 
In
te
rv
en

tio
n a

nd
 

Ef
fec

tiv
e c

ro
ss
-a
ge

nc
y P

ro
te
cti

on
 

St
ra
te
gie

s. 
 

 5.1
  

Th
e 
LS
CB

 w
ill 

res
po
nd

 to
 th

e 
Dr
aft

 A
ll 
Lo
nd
on

 
Do

me
sti
c P

roc
ed
ure

s a
nd
 im

ple
me

nt 
pla

ns
 w

he
n 

fin
al 
ve
rsi
on
 av

ail
ab
le.
 

   5.2
  

Do
me

sti
c V

iol
en
ce
 a
nd
 S
afe

gu
ard

ing
 o
f C

hil
dre

n 
wil

l b
e 
rob

us
tly
 in

teg
rat

ed
 in

 to
 th

e 
LS
CB

 w
ork

 
pla

ns
 to

 ra
ise

 kn
ow

led
ge
 an

d s
tan

da
rds

. 
    

 De
ce
mb

er 
20
07
 

     As
 id
en
tifi
ed
. 

      

 Ac
hie

ve
d. 

LS
C c

on
trib

ute
d t

o 
co

ns
ult

ati
on

 of
 th

e p
roc

ed
ure

s a
nd

 
ad

op
ted

 th
em

 lo
ca

lly.
  H

ard
 co

pie
s o

f 
the

 3r
d  E

dit
ion

 m
ad

e a
va

ila
ble

 to
 LS

CB
 

pa
rtn

er 
ag

en
cie

s, 
inc

lud
ing

 Vo
lun

tar
y 

Se
cto

r o
rga

nis
ati

on
s 

 Ac
hie

ve
d. 

Ch
ild

ren
 an

d D
om

est
ic 

Vio
len

ce
 su

bg
rou

p e
sta

bli
sh

ed
 an

d 
ha

s d
ev

elo
pe

d a
 co

mp
reh

en
siv

e w
ork

 
pla

n t
o r

ais
ed

 kn
ow

led
ge

 an
d p

rac
tic

e 
sta

nd
ard

s t
hro

ug
h t

rai
nin

g, 
po

licy
 an

d 
pro

ce
du

re 
 

Page 147



LS
CB
 3 
Ye
ar
 O
ve
ra
rch
ing
 Bu
sin
es
s P
lan
 20
07
-2
01
0 

 
Ob
jec
tiv
e: 

Ou
tco
me
s: 

Tim
es
ca
le:
 
Pr
og
re
ss
 U
pd
at
e: 

 5.3
  

Pra
cti
ce
 a

nd
 P

oli
cy 

im
pli
ca
tio

ns
 re

lat
ing

 to
 th

e 
Ca

re 
Ma

tte
rs 

Wh
ite
 P

ap
er 

wil
l 
be
 i
de
nti

fie
d, 

inc
lud

ing
 co

ntr
ibu

tio
ns
 fr

om
 p
art

ne
r a

ge
nc
ies

 to
 

fac
ilit
ate

 im
ple

me
nta

tio
n p

lan
s. 

 5.4
  

Th
e 

LS
CB

 
wil

l 
ide

nti
fy 

ke
y 

saf
eg
ua
rdi

ng
 

im
pli
ca
tio

ns
 fo

r T
ow

er 
Ha

ml
ets

 Ch
ild
ren

 &
 Yo

un
g 

Pe
op
le 

in 
the

 le
ad
 u

p 
to 

the
 2

01
2 

Oly
mp

ics
 

thr
ou
gh

 re
sea

rch
 an

d a
na
lys

is. 
 5.5

  
Th

e 
LS
CB

 w
ill 

wo
rk 

wit
h 
ne
igh

bo
uri

ng
 B
oro

ug
hs
 

to 
en
su
re 

a s
afe

gu
ard

ing
 ag

en
da
 is
 in

co
rpo

rat
ed
 

in 
to 

the
 O
lym

pic
s S

tra
teg

y. 
 5.6

 
Th

e 
LS
CB

 w
ill 

wo
rk 

wit
h 

Pa
rtn

er 
Ag

en
cie

s 
to 

de
ve
lop

 a
 l
oc
al 

E-S
afe

ty 
Str

ate
gy
 t

ha
t 

set
s 

saf
eg
ua
rdi

ng
 s

tan
da
rds

 
an
d 

inc
orp

ora
tes

 a
n 

aw
are

ne
ss 

rai
sin

g 
ca
mp

aig
n 
to 

ed
uc
ate

 ch
ild
ren

 
an
d t

he
ir p

are
nts

.  
 

 Se
pte

mb
er 

 
20
08
 

   Se
pte

mb
er 

 
20
08
 

   Ma
rch

 20
09
 

   De
ce
mb

er 
20
08
 

    

 Ac
hie

ve
d. 

    Ra
ng

e o
f s

afe
gu

ard
ing

 is
su

es 
an

d 
im

pli
ca

tio
ns

 fo
r s

erv
ice

s i
de

nti
fie

d a
t 

co
ns

ult
ati

on
 da

y h
os

ted
 by

 Lo
nd

on
 

Sa
feg

ua
rdi

ng
 Ch

ild
ren

 Bo
ard

 
  Lo

nd
on

 Sa
feg

ua
rdi

ng
 Ch

ild
ren

 Bo
ard

 
lea

din
g o

n t
his

 w
ork

 an
d T

ow
er 

Ha
ml

ets
 LS

CB
 co

ntr
ibu

tin
g t

o 
inf

lue
nc

ing
 ag

en
da

 
 Ou

tst
an

din
g T

ask
. S

tra
teg

y n
ow

 
de

ve
lop

ed
 an

d t
ab

led
 fo

r L
SC

B m
ain

 
Bo

ard
 si

gn
 of

f in
 M

ay
 09

 

 6. 
 
 To

we
r H

am
let

s L
SC

B w
ill 
en

su
re
 

all
 ch

ild
re
n &

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 in

 th
e 

loc
ali
ty
 ar

e S
af
eg
ua

rd
ed

 th
ro
ug

h 
sc
ru
tin

y o
f i
ts 

Eq
ua

lit
y a

nd
  

Di
ve
rsi

ty
 Pr

ac
tic

es
. 

  

 6.1
  

An
 A

nn
ua
l E

qu
ali
ty 

Im
pa
ct 

As
ses

sm
en
t w

ill 
be
 

un
de
rta

ke
n 
an
d 
sh
ort

fal
ls 

wil
l b

e 
ad
dre

sse
d 
an
d 

me
t th

rou
gh
 re

vie
we

d s
ub

-gr
ou
p w

ork
 pl
an
s. 

 6.2
 

Th
e L

SC
B w

ill 
ide

nti
fy 

‘hi
dd

en
’ o
r e

me
rgi

ng
   

div
ers

e m
ino

rity
 gr

ou
ps
 in
 To

we
r H

am
let
s a

nd
 

wil
l p
rov

ide
 ev

ide
nc
e o

f in
clu

sio
n i
n i
ts 
str

ate
gic

 
Sa
feg

ua
rdi

ng
 pl
an
s. 

 

 An
nu
al 
(M

arc
h) 

   Jan
ua
ry 

20
09
 

 20
07

-08
 Eq

ua
lity

 Im
pa

ct 
As

ses
sm

en
t 

co
mp

let
ed

 
  Re

sea
rch

 of
 sa

feg
ua

rdi
ng

 ne
ed

s o
f 

BM
E c

om
mu

nit
ies

 co
mm

iss
ion

ed
. 

Sc
op

e i
nc

lud
es 

ide
nti

fyi
ng

 em
erg

ing
 

or 
ne

w 
co

mm
un

itie
s. 

Re
po

rt 
on

 
fin

din
gs

 &
 re

co
mm

en
da

tio
n t

ab
led

 fo
r 

Ma
y 0

9 B
oa

rd 
me

eti
ng

. 

Page 148



LS
CB
 3 
Ye
ar
 O
ve
ra
rch
ing
 Bu
sin
es
s P
lan
 20
07
-2
01
0 

 
Ob
jec
tiv
e: 

Ou
tco
me
s: 

Tim
es
ca
le:
 
Pr
og
re
ss
 U
pd
at
e: 

 7. 
 To

we
r H

am
let

s L
SC

B w
ill 
ra
ise

 
th
e S

ta
nd

ar
d a

nd
 ef

fe
cti

ve
ne

ss
 of

 
it 
W
or
kf
or
ce
. 

  

 7.1
  

LS
CB

 w
ill 
en
su
re 

it h
as 

ap
pro

pri
ate

ly 
tra

ine
d s

taf
f 

ac
ros

s a
 m

ult
i-d

isc
ipl
ina

ry 
wo

rkf
orc

e. 
 7.2

  
An

 in
ter

-ag
en
cy 

sa
feg

ua
rdi

ng
 co

nfe
ren

ce
 w

ill 
be
 

he
ld 

ea
ch
 ye

ar;
 th

em
es
 w

ill 
be
 lin

ke
d 
to 

cu
rre

nt 
de
ve
lop

me
nts

. 
   7.3

  
All
 L

on
do

n 
Ch

ild
 P

rot
ec
tio

n 
Pro

ce
du

res
 w

ill 
be
 

im
ple

me
nte

d. 
 

  7.4
  

Sta
ff 
wil

l b
e m

ad
e a

wa
re 

of 
the

 P
roc

ed
ure

s a
nd

 
Pro

toc
ols

 t
hro

ug
h 

a 
co
mm

un
ica

tio
n 

& 
tra

ini
ng

 
str

ate
gy
. 

  7.5
  

All
 lo

ca
l P

rot
oc
ols

 w
ill 

be
 r
ev
iew

ed
 t
o 

en
su
re 

co
ng
rue

nc
e 

wit
h 

the
 L

on
do
n 

Ch
ild
 P

rot
ec
tio

n 
Pro

ce
du
res

 
e.g

. 
Fo
rce

d 
Ma

rria
ge
, 

Se
xu
al 

Ex
plo

ita
tio

n a
nd
 In

for
ma

tio
n S

ha
rin

g P
rot

oc
ols

. 
 7.6

  
Or
ga
nis

ati
on
s, 

inc
lud

ing
 v
olu

nta
ry 

Se
cto

r w
ill 

be
 

ma
de
 a

wa
re 

of 
the

 c
on
ce
pt 

of 
Co

mm
on
 C

ore
 

As
ses

sm
en
t. 

 7.7
  

Th
e l

oc
al 

‘Pr
ofe

ssi
on

al 
Dif

fer
en
ce
s’ 
arr

an
ge
me

nts
 

wil
l b

e 
rev

iew
ed
 to

 ta
ke
 in

 to
 a

cco
un
t o

f t
he
 

Lo
nd

on
 CP

 Pr
oc
ed
ure

s &
 W

ork
ing

 To
ge
the

r 2
00
6. 

 On
-go

ing
 

  An
nu
al 

     De
ce
mb

er 
20
07
 

   Ma
rch

 20
08
 

     Se
pte

mb
er 

20
08
 

   Ma
rch

 20
09
 

   Jun
e 2

00
8 

  

 LS
CB

 in
ter

-ag
en

cy 
tra

ini
ng

 
pro

gra
mm

e o
ffe

red
 an

nu
ally

 
 Ac

hie
ve

d. 
Fir

st 
An

nu
al 

Co
nfe

ren
ce

 
too

k p
lac

e i
n J

un
e 2

00
8 o

n D
om

est
ic 

Vio
len

ce
 &

 Sa
feg

ua
rdi

ng
 Ch

ild
ren

, 
tim

ed
 to

 la
un

ch
 an

d a
do

pt 
the

 Lo
nd

on
 

Ch
ild

 Pr
ote

cti
on

 Pr
oc

ed
ure

s’ n
ew

 
Do

me
sti

c V
iol

en
ce

 Gu
ida

nc
e 

 Ac
hie

ve
d. 

Se
rie

s o
f W

ork
sh

op
s 

arr
an

ge
d w

ith
in 

ind
ivid

ua
l a

ge
nc

ies
 &

 
inc

orp
ora

ted
 in

 LS
CB

 Sa
feg

ua
rdi

ng
 

Tra
ini

ng
 

 On
 go

ing
 ta

sk.
 Aw

are
ne

ss 
rai

sin
g 

arr
an

ge
d b

y t
rai

nin
g s

ub
gro

up
 to

 
en

su
re 

mu
lti 

ag
en

cy 
lea

rni
ng

 an
d 

dia
log

ue
 ta

ke
s p

lac
e 

 On
 go

ing
 re

vie
w.

 
    On

 go
ing

 st
rat

eg
ic 

ap
pro

ac
h 

em
plo

ye
d t

o a
ch

iev
e t

his
 ob

jec
tiv

e 
   Pre

sen
ted

 to
 Bo

ard
. F

urt
he

r r
ev

iew
 of

 
arr

an
ge

me
nts

 to
 be

 un
de

rta
ke

n i
n 

lig
ht 

of 
ne

w 
de

ve
lop

me
nts

. 

Page 149



LS
CB
 3 
Ye
ar
 O
ve
ra
rch
ing
 Bu
sin
es
s P
lan
 20
07
-2
01
0 

 
Ob
jec
tiv
e: 

Ou
tco
me
s: 

Tim
es
ca
le:
 
Pr
og
re
ss
 U
pd
at
e: 

7.8
 

All
 c
ros

s-a
ge
nc
y 

Pro
toc

ols
 w

ill 
be
 r
ev
iew

ed
 to

 
en
su
re 

ch
ild
ren

’s 
ne
ed
s 

are
 

ap
pro

pri
ate

ly 
hig

hli
gh

ted
 an

d m
et.

 
Jun

e 2
00
8 

On
 go

ing
 ta

sk 
un

de
rta

ke
n b

y p
oli

cy 
& 

pro
ce

du
re 

su
bg

rou
p 

 8. 
 LS
CB

 w
ill 
un

de
rta

ke
 Se

rio
us
 Ca

se
 

Re
vie

ws
 in

 a 
co
ns
ide

re
d a

nd
 

tim
ely

 m
an

ne
r a

nd
 en

su
re
 

lea
rn
ing

 is
 sh

ar
ed
 w
ith

 re
lev

an
t 

pa
rtn

er
 ag

en
cie

s. 

 8.1
  

Se
rio

us
 C

ase
 R

ev
iew

s 
wil

l 
be
 u

nd
ert

ak
en
 i
n 

ac
co
rda

nc
e 

to 
Go

ve
rnm

en
t 
Gu

ida
nc
e 

(W
ork

ing
 

To
ge
the

r ’0
6) 

 8.2
  

Re
co
mm

en
da
tio

ns
 fr

om
 si

ng
le 

ag
en
cy 

an
d 
LS
CB

 
rep

ort
s 

wil
l 

be
 i

mp
lem

en
ted

 a
nd
 m

on
ito

red
 

thr
ou
gh

 th
e c

ase
 re

vie
w 
su
b-g

rou
p. 

  8.3
  

Le
sso

ns
 f

rom
 s

eri
ou

s 
ca
se 

rev
iew

s 
wil

l 
be
 

dis
sem

ina
ted

 to
 im

pro
ve
 pr

ac
tic
e. 

    8.4
 

Ca
ses

 w
he
re 

the
re 

ha
ve
 b

ee
n 

int
er-

ag
en
cy 

dif
fic
ult

ies
 w
ill 
be
 id
en
tifi
ed
 fo

r r
ev
iew

.  
 8.5

 
Ch

ild
 D

ea
th 

Ov
erv

iew
 P
an
el 

wil
l b

e 
set

 u
p 
an
d 

sys
tem

s 
an
d 

res
ou

rce
s 

wil
l 
be
 i
de
nti

fie
d 

to 
su
pp
ort

 its
 w
ork

 re
mi
t. 

 On
-go

ing
 

   On
-go

ing
 

    On
-go

ing
 

     On
-go

ing
 

  Ap
ril 

20
09
 

 Ac
hie

ve
d b

ut 
on

go
ing

 ta
sk.

 O
ne

 
ser

iou
s c

ase
 re

vie
w 

co
mp

let
ed

 th
is 

ye
ar 

an
d s

ign
ific

an
tly

 co
ntr

ibu
ted

 to
 

SC
R l

ea
d b

y a
no

the
r L

SC
B. 

 On
 go

ing
 ta

sk.
 Ac

tio
n P

lan
s f

rom
 

pre
vio

us
 ye

ars
 SC

Rs
 m

on
ito

red
 un

til 
co

mp
let

ion
. N

ew
 Ac

tio
n P

lan
s 

inc
orp

ora
ted

 in
 to

 m
on

ito
rin

g p
roc

ess
 

 ‘Le
sso

ns
 Le

arn
t’ W

ork
sh

op
s f

or 
2 

sep
ara

te 
SC

Rs
 de

live
red

 to
 m

ult
i 

ag
en

cy 
au

die
nc

e o
f p

rac
titi

on
ers

 an
d 

ma
na

ge
rs.

 W
ell

 re
ce

ive
d a

nd
 

ev
alu

ati
on

 in
dic

ate
d t

his
 m

od
el 

is 
us

efu
l a

nd
 sh

ou
ld 

co
nti

nu
e 

 On
go

ing
 Ta

sk 
an

d r
esp

on
sib

ilit
y o

f 
Ca

se 
Re

vie
w 

Gr
ou

p. 
 CD

OP
 es

tab
lish

ed
 of

fic
iall

y i
n A

pri
l 0

8 
an

d i
mp

lem
en

ted
. G

uid
an

ce
 on

 ho
w 

CD
OP

 ga
the

r a
nd

 re
po

rt 
da

ta 
im

ple
me

nte
d l

oc
ally

. J
oin

tly
 fu

nd
ed

 
CD

OP
 Ad

mi
nis

tra
tor

 po
st 

rec
rui

ted
 to

 
in 

Ma
rch

 09
 an

d m
id-

po
int

 re
po

rt 
on

 
CD

OP
 in

itia
l fi

nd
ing

s p
res

en
ted

 to
 

ma
in 

Bo
ard

 in
 No

v 0
8 

 

Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154

This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

  
Committee 
 
Cabinet  

Date 
 
8 April 2009 

Classification 
 
Unrestricted 
 

Report No 
 

CAB 143/089 
Agenda 
Item No 

Report of: 
 
Assistant Chief Executive 
 
Originating Officer(s) 
 
Michael Keating, Service Head, 
Scrutiny and Equalities 
 
Frances Jones  
Diversity and Equality Coordinator, 
Scrutiny and Equalities  
 

Title:  
 
Age, Race, Religion/Belief and Sexual 
Orientation Equality Schemes, 2009-12 
 
Wards Affected  
 
All 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report informs Cabinet of the new draft Equality Schemes in relation to Age, Race, 
Religion/Belief and Sexual Orientation for 2009-12. The Schemes in full are attached at 
Appendix 1. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

Cabinet is recommended to:  
 
2.1 Agree the Age, Race, Religion/Belief and Sexual Orientation Equality Schemes 2009-12, 

as set out in Appendix 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10.1

Page 155



 

2 
 

3. BACKGROUND 
  
3.1 Tower Hamlets Council has placed diversity and equality at the core of its functions and 

is committed to maintaining the very highest level of equalities practice in relation to both 
employment and service provision. In 2006 the Council was externally validated as being 
at the highest level of the Equality Standard for Local Government (Level 5). The 
production of Equality Schemes in relation to Race, Disability and Gender has been an 
essential vehicle for maintaining this performance. Actions from these Schemes have fed 
into the annual Diversity and Equality Action Plan, along with activities relating to 
religion/belief, age and sexual orientation equality.  

 
3.2 Our commitment to promoting equality and eliminating discrimination is supported by a 

number of legal duties. However under current legislation, the requirements to address 
inequality and discrimination and promote equality vary between equality ‘strand’. Since 
2001 we have had a legal duty to publish an Equality Scheme for race and in 2006 and 
2007 further duties were introduced to require us to produce Equality Schemes in 
relation to disability and gender respectively. We are also required to address 
discrimination against employees on the basis of all six equality strands, age, gender, 
ethnicity, sexual orientation, disability and religion / belief. The Council’s Valuing 
Diversity Statement however makes it clear that we have a strong moral and social duty 
to recognise that discrimination takes place and inequality exists for individuals and 
groups belonging to all of the six equality strands. The production of three new Equality 
Schemes in relation to Age, Religion/Belief and Sexual Orientation, along with the 
refreshing of the Race Equality Scheme, is intended to assist us to go beyond the 
requirements laid down in law to address all six equality strands and to do everything 
that we can to challenge prejudice and discrimination and promote better understanding 
and respect between all people.  

 
3.3 The forthcoming Single Equality Bill will replace the separate equality duties on public 

authorities covering race, disability and gender with a single equality duty, which will also 
extend to gender reassignment, age, sexual orientation and religion/belief.  These new 
Schemes prepare the Council for the new legal obligations on local authorities arising 
from the duty to promote equality in these three areas. 

 
4 DEVELOPMENT OF THE NEW EQUALITY SCHEMES 
 
4.1  In producing the Equality Schemes we have drawn on the ‘Equality Measurement 

Framework’ developed by the Equality and Human Rights Commission. The Framework 
is intended to assist public authorities in identifying inequality between individuals and 
groups of employees and service users. It is based on the idea of equality in the “central 
and valuable things that people can do or be”. These are grouped into ten domains of 
equality: 

 

- Life 
- Physical security 
- Health 
- Education 
- Standard of living 
- Productive and valued activities 
- Individual, family and social life 
- Participation and voice 
- Identify, expression and self-respect 
- Legal security 

Page 156



 

3 
 

 
4.2 Within these domains, the Framework identifies three aspects of inequality: 
 

- Inequality of outcome – that is inequality in the central and valuable things in life 
that individuals and groups actually achieve 

- Inequality of autonomy – that is, inequality in the degree of independence people 
have to make decisions affecting their lives 

- Inequality of process – reflecting inequalities in treatment through discrimination or 
disadvantage by other individuals and groups or by institutions and systems 

 
4.3 In developing the Equality Schemes we analysed evidence of inequality between 

individuals and groups in the borough. Drawing on the Equality Measurement Framework 
categories the Equality Schemes offer a description of inequality which distinguishes 
between the inequality of access and outcome. For example we know that many new 
communities are less able to access public services as they are may not be aware of the 
services that exist, may experience language barriers and may not be eligible for some 
services. To ensure that we respond to this inequality of access we have a duty to engage 
with these communities to identify and minimise barriers and improve access. However we 
also know that for some groups and individuals tackling inequality of outcome is not a 
case simply of improving access to services but requires a more holistic response to a 
variety of factors. The Schemes therefore distinguish between the experiences of sections 
of our community in accessing and benefiting from our services and issues of ‘persistent 
and systemic’ inequality which result in significant differences in outcomes for sections of 
our community. 

 

4.4 The Equality Schemes also highlight the need to understand that some groups and 
individuals are less able to exercise choice and control over their lives. A number of 
Council services seek to address this ‘inequality of autonomy’ by empowering local people 
to access services and support to enable them to make positive decisions about their own 
lives and those of their families and wider community. However the Equality Schemes also 
identity areas in which choice and control are limited by the way services are delivered 
and contain actions to address this. Looking across the Equality Schemes it is clear that a 
tension exists between an understanding of the constraints on choice and autonomy 
experienced by some groups and individuals and a commitment to common standards of 
‘personal responsibility‘. Addressing this tension requires that we work towards supporting 
individuals and groups to make active choices about their lives rather than focusing solely 
on inequality of outcomes for communities.  

 

4.5 We know that the experience of groups and individuals is not determined by any one 
equality strand but by the interplay of various aspects of social identity within social and 
economic circumstances. Using the Equality Measurement Framework has enabled us to 
develop the Schemes in a consistent way, assessing qualitative and quantitative evidence 
of inequality against common criteria. It has also enabled us to make linkages between the 
equality strands. Mapping inequality across the strands in this way has helped us identify 
areas of persistent and systemic inequality which arise from a complex interplay of factors 
and require a holistic and long term response. These areas are set out in Table 1 below: 

Page 157



 

4  

 

Pr
ior

ity
 

are
a 

Ag
e 

Di
sa

bil
ity

 
Ge

nd
er 

Ra
ce

 
Re

lig
ion

/B
eli

ef 
Se

xu
al 

Or
ien

tat
ion

 
A Prosperous 
Community: 
Worklessness 

 Inc
rea

se
 nu

mb
er 

of 
dis

ab
led

 pe
op

le 
in 

em
plo

ym
en

t 
  

 Re
du

ce
 ra

te 
of 

ec
on

om
ic 

ina
cti

vit
y 

am
on

g w
ork

ing
 

ag
e w

om
en

 
 

Re
du

ce
 le

ve
ls 

of 
un

em
plo

ym
en

t a
nd

 
wo

rkl
es

sn
es

s 
am

on
gs

t 
Ba

ng
lad

es
hi 

an
d 

So
ma

li r
es

ide
nts

 

Re
du

ce
 ra

te 
of 

 
ec

on
om

ic 
ina

cti
vit

y 
am

on
g M

us
lim

 
wo

me
n 

       

A Prosperous 
Community: 
Educational 
achievement 

 Re
du

ce
 nu

mb
er 

of 
16

-18
 ye

ar 
old

s  
no

t in
 ed

uc
ati

on
, 

em
plo

ym
en

t o
r 

tra
ini

ng
 

 
 

 Im
pro

ve
 un

de
r 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 of

 
bo

ys
 re

lat
ive

 to
 

gir
ls 

at 
GC

SE
 

 

Na
rro

w 
the

 
ac

hie
ve

me
nt 

ga
ps

 
be

tw
ee

n d
iffe

ren
t 

eth
nic

 gr
ou

ps
 an

d 
be

tw
ee

n t
he

 
na

tio
na

l a
ve

rag
e  

 

Im
pro

ve
 th

e 
lea

rni
ng

 
ex

pe
rie

nc
es

 of
 

LG
B y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
by

 ta
ck

lin
g 

ho
mo

ph
ob

ia 
in 

sc
ho

ols
 

A Great Place 
to Live: 
Housing 

 
Inc

rea
se

 ac
ce

ss
 to

 
ind

ep
en

de
nt 

livi
ng

 
op

po
rtu

nit
ies

 fo
r 

dis
ab

led
 pe

op
le 

 

Ad
dre

ss
 sh

ort
ag

e 
of 

su
ita

ble
 so

cia
l 

ho
us

ing
 w

hic
h h

as
 

a d
isp

rop
ort

ion
ate

 
im

pa
ct 

on
 BM

E 
fam

ilie
s 

Ad
dre

ss
 sh

ort
ag

e 
of 

su
ita

ble
 so

cia
l 

ho
us

ing
 w

hic
h h

as
 

a d
isp

rop
ort

ion
ate

 
eff

ec
t o

n M
us

lim
 

fam
ilie

s 

 

One Tower 
Hamlets: 
Community 
cohesion 

Str
en

gth
en

 in
ter

-
ge

ne
rat

ion
al 

co
he

sio
n 

Gi
ve

 di
sa

ble
d 

pe
op

le 
a v

oic
e i

n 
de

cis
ion

 m
ak

ing
 

 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e e
xte

nt 
to 

wh
ich

 pe
op

le 
of 

dif
fer

en
t 

ba
ck

gro
un

ds
 fe

el 
tha

t e
thn

ic 
dif

fer
en

ce
s a

re 
res

pe
cte

d i
n t

he
 

bo
rou

gh
 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e e
xte

nt 
to 

wh
ich

 pe
op

le 
of 

dif
fer

en
t fa

ith
s s

ay
 

the
y g

et 
on

 w
ell

 
tog

eth
er 

Re
du

ce
 

ho
mo

ph
ob

ia 
an

d 
pro

mo
te 

un
de

rst
an

din
g a

nd
 

res
pe

ct 
for

 LG
B 

pe
op

le 

Ta
bl

e 
1:

 Pr
ior

ity
 ar

ea
s o

f in
eq

ua
lity

 to
 be

 ad
dre

ss
ed

 th
rou

gh
 Eq

ua
lity

 Sc
he

me
s, 

20
09

-12
 

Page 158



 

5  

A Healthy 
Community:  
Health 

Re
du

ce
 ch

ild
ho

od
 

ob
es

ity
 

 

Im
pro

ve
 lif

e 
ex

pe
cta

nc
y f

or 
me

n t
hro

ug
h 

eff
ec

tiv
e h

ea
lth

 
pro

mo
tio

n s
erv

ice
s 

 

Pr
om

ote
 he

alt
hy

 
life

sty
les

 in
 an

 
eff

ec
tiv

e w
ay

 to
 

BM
E c

om
mu

nit
ies

 
 

Im
pro

ve
 ac

ce
ss

 to
 

pri
ma

ry 
ca

re 
he

alt
h 

se
rvi

ce
s f

or 
LG

B 
pe

op
le 

Page 159



 
6 
 

 

 
4.6 Addressing these persistent and systemic areas of inequality will require coordinated and 

sustained action by a range of partners including statutory sector organisations, the third 
sector and community leaders and groups. Each of the Equality Schemes identifies areas 
in which work with partners will be crucial to successfully reducing inequality. Thus work 
will build on strong existing partnership arrangements in a number of areas. These include 
the merging of the Human Resources functions of the Council and the Primary Care Trust 
and the joint ‘Workforce to Reflect the Community’ strategy, close operational links 
between the Council and Police in tackling hate crime and promoting community cohesion 
and the establishment in January 2008 of the Tower Hamlets Partnership Diversity and 
Equality Network (THDEN). The THDEN coordinates work on equalities across the Tower 
Hamlets Partnership and is responsible for delivering the Community Plan commitment to 
deliver the highest standard of equalities practice across the borough. This group will 
crucial to delivering strategies to tackle the areas of persistent and systemic inequality 
outlined above.  

  
4.7 The production of the Schemes and the use of the Equality Measurement Framework is 

intended to strengthen our understanding of inequality in the borough. The information and 
learning generated in the development of the Schemes will inform the production of a 
Single Equality Scheme for the Council in 2010. The production of such a Scheme will be 
a requirement of the Single Equality Bill announced in the Queen’s Speech in December 
2008.  

 

4.8 Evidence gathering: Consultation and research 
 
4.8.1 Evidence gathering for the four Schemes followed a common framework. In relation to 

Religion / Belief a programme of consultation was undertaken involving both community 
consultation to gain the views of service users and residents (in identifying and 
understanding the characteristics of faith communities in the borough and how this 
affects their use of services, their experiences and opportunities and the way they are 
supported to participate in the life of the borough) and internally within the Council to 
ensure that the needs of employees are taken into consideration. The process was 
overseen by a Programme Board which included representatives from key Council and 
partner services, the Interfaith Forum and the Council’s self-organised Christian Prayer 
Groups and Muslim Staff Forum. 

 
4.8.2 Evidence to inform the Race Equality Scheme was drawn together from a wide range of 

local and national data sources and service monitoring information. This was supported 
by specific consultation with different community organisations and internal consultation 
with services and staff.   

 
4.8.3 A comprehensive baseline exercise was undertaken to inform the Age Equality Scheme 

using a combination of research and input from staff across the Council including 
analysis of demographic and statistical information, analysis of existing consultation and 
a review of relevant Equality Impact Assessments (EqIAs).  From the baseline 
information we were able to identify a number of areas for further examination and 
discussion. To test our findings and to gain further input as to which areas should be our 
priorities we undertook a number of consultation activities with residents, voluntary and 
statutory agencies and members of staff.  The Scheme draws upon information from the 
Council’s Children and Young People’s Plan and Best Value Review of Older People’s 
Services amongst other key existing strategies and policies.  

 

Page 160



 
7 
 

4.8.4 Due to significant gaps in local information about Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and 
Transgender (LGBT) people two specific pieces of research were commissioned into the 
needs and the specific needs of older LGBT people to inform the Sexual Orientation 
Equality Scheme.  These pieces of research were overseen by a subgroup of the Tower 
Hamlets LGBT Community Forum.  Internal consultation with staff about their views and 
experiences of the Council as an LGB employer alongside an anonymous Stonewall 
questionnaire to all staff was also used to inform the scheme.   

 
 
5. CONTENT OF THE EQUALITY SCHEMES 
 
5.1  Each Scheme sets out what we know about the profile of our community in relation to the 

relevant strand and the nature of inequality experienced by people as a result of this 
element of their identity. The Schemes also contain a summary of the action which the 
Council and partners will undertake to address inequality and discrimination in relation to 
this equality strand.  

 
5.2 These priorities, which cut across the six equality strands, are worklessness, educational 

achievement, housing, community cohesion and health.  Linked to poverty all four sit at 
heart of inequality in Tower Hamlets.  To make a dramatic shift against the inequality of 
Tower Hamlets and make progress on the wide range of issues identified in each of the 
schemes it is recommended that investment to address these five core inter-connected 
areas will lead that change.    

 
 
6. CONCLUSION 

 
6.1 Our Equality Schemes articulate what the Council and partners need to deliver to 

achieve our aspiration of ‘One Tower Hamlets’ which is about reducing the inequalities 
and poverty that we see around us, strengthening cohesion and making sure our 
communities continue to live well together.  
 

6.2 Tower Hamlets continues to face big challenges in terms of inequality and these Shemes 
further enhance the Council’s capacity to respond by sharpening our understanding of 
what inequality looks like and by responding to its multidimensional aspects across the 
six strands.   
 
 

10. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL) 
  
10.1 The European Union Race Directive 2000/43 (published in June 2000) prohibits 

discrimination on the grounds of race and ethnic origin by laying down "the principle of 
equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin".  

 
10.2 In November 2000, the European Union published the Equal Treatment Framework 

Directive.  This Directive sets out the anti-discrimination "principle of equal treatment" in 
the context of sexual orientation, religion or belief, disability and age. These Schemes 
strengthen our implementation of this Directive. 

 

Page 161



 
8 
 

10.3 The Government consultation paper "Towards Equality and Diversity-Implementing the 
Employment Race Directive" (2001) indicated its intention to implement the Directives by 
amendment to the Race Relations Act 1976 and the Disability Discrimination Act 1995. 
The consultation paper also referred to the Government's intention to introduce 
legislation to prohibit discrimination in work and training on the grounds of sexual 
orientation, religion / belief and age.  The Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) 
Regulations 2003 and the Employment Equality (Religion and Belief) Regulations 2003 
were enacted with effect from 1 and 2 December 2003 and transposed the phase 1 
provisions of the Directive into UK law.  The Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 
2006 gave effect to the provisions on age discrimination with effect from 1 October 2006. 

 
10.4 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 strengthens the Race Relations Act 1976 by 

extending protection against racial discrimination by public authorities and by placing a 
duty on public authorities to have regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination 
and to promote racial equality and good race relations. 

 
10.5 The Equality Schemes 2009-12 set out the Council's intentions with regard to equality 

and have been formulated having regard to and in compliance with legislation.  Regular 
monitoring and review of the Scheme will enable the Council to maintain compliance with 
statutory requirements as well as measuring progress in relation to non-statutory aspects 
and work towards developing a Single Equality by April 2010. 

 
 
11. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
11.1  Equalities issues should be embedded into service delivery, and they are taken into 

account when budgets are set.  As such, there are no additional budget implications 
arising from adopting the Equality Schemes 2009-12.  However, if additional costs arise 
from implementing the action plans, they must be contained within current revenue 
budget provisions in directorates. 

 
12. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
12.1 The new Equality Schemes represents an important step in progressing the Council’s 

commitment to building One Tower Hamlets as a place in which people live together and 
where they are treated with respect and fairness regardless of their differences.  The 
attached Schemes clearly show how equalities are at the heart of the Council agenda 
and the progress towards integrating diversity and equality fully into all aspects of service 
delivery and employment practice.  The 2009-12 Schemes also specifically explore the 
inter relationship between work on equalities and community cohesion. The aim of the 
Schemes is to create an environment in which everyone who lives and works in our 
borough is treated with dignity and respect and where everyone can improve their life 
chances and access the increasing opportunities on offer. 

 
12.2 The Equality Schemes aim to tackle the barriers currently preventing some of the most 

disadvantaged people in our community from accessing the life opportunities on offer 
and aims to enable them to actively participate in creating and sharing prosperity in the 
borough. 

 
13. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
13.1 Efforts will be made to ensure that in delivering the commitments of the Equality 

Schemes the impact on the environment is kept to an absolute minimum.  This includes 

Page 162



 
9 
 

the use of recycled paper in any documentation, and careful consideration of the 
methods used to engage with local communities, partners and staff. 

  
14. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1 The Council is seeking to implement an ambitious diversity and equality agenda in the 

context of changes in national legislation and standards.  Progress to date has been very 
positive, but there is still much to be done if all the Council’s targets are to be achieved 
and all the new legislative requirements are fully complied with.  Any slippage could 
potentially undermine this. 

 
14.2 The new Equality Schemes provides a focus for all the Council’s equalities work, and a 

means by which Members can ensure that each of the progress milestones are 
achieved.  The arrangements in place to review progress during the year through the 
Corporate Equalities Steering Group, Corporate Management Team and finally by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee are considered to be effective ways of keeping this 
work on track. 

 
14.3 Diversity and equality performance indicators will help keep the focus firmly on delivery 

and outcomes.  The emphasis on consultation will mean that the Council’s performance 
in this area will be judged by the experiences of service users on the ground. 

 
14.4 A greater emphasis will be given this year to communicating the progress that is being 

made to the wider community and to staff, including greater use of existing 
communications media such as East End Life and Pulling Together. 

 
14.5 The Council will continue to work closely with the Improvement and Development Agency 

to ensure that local practice in implementing the new Equality Framework and all 
equalities issues is informed by best practice taking place in other parts of the country. 

 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: Draft Age, Race, Religion and Belief and Sexual Orientation Equality Schemes 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 1972 SECTION 100D (AS AMENDED) 
LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of background papers: 
 
Diversity and Equality Action Plan 2008/09 
agreed by Cabinet on 30th July 2008. 
 
Diversity and Equality Action Plan Six Month 
Monitoring Report noted by Cabinet on 14th 
January 2009 
 
Disability Equality Scheme, 2006-2009 
 
Gender Equality Scheme,  2007 - 2010 
 
Race Equality Scheme 2005-2008 

 
Name and telephone number of holder 
and address where open to inspection 
 
Frances Jones, Diversity & Equality 
Coordinator, Scrutiny and Equalities 
020 7364 4521 

 

Page 163



Page 164

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
 

 
Tower Hamlets  

Race Equality Scheme  
2009-2012 

APPENDIX 1 

Page 165



 2 

Contents 
 
Introduction           3 
Race Equality Legislation         5 
How we developed our Race Equality Scheme      6 
Corporate Framework for Diversity and Equality      7 
The profile of Ethnicity in Tower Hamlets       9 
The Story so Far          14 
Race Equality Priorities 2009-12        16 

ONE TOWER HAMLETS        17 
A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY       21 
A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE        25 
A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY      28 
A HEALTHY COMMUNITY        30 

Promoting Race Equality as an Employer       34 
Delivering the Race Equality Scheme Objectives 2009-12     38 
 
 

Page 166



 3 

Introduction  
 
This is London Borough of Tower Hamlets’ third Race Equality Scheme. It is timely that 
this scheme is launched in 2009, which marks ten years since the publication of the 
Stephen Lawrence report - a significant landmark in the history of race in Britain, and 
how the public sector deals with issues of equality. We have come a long way since our 
first Race Equality Scheme was produced in 2002 both in terms of our outcomes and 
our confidence and capacity to tackle race inequality.  A decade later we are about to 
see an overhaul of equality legislation with the imminent Single Equality Bill which will 
replace current equality legislation.   
 
This Scheme builds on the work of the last two Race Equality Schemes and outlines the 
Council’s continued commitment to make sure that race equality is at the centre of its 
work when developing a policy or strategy, providing a service, or employing people.   
 
The borough continues to face big challenges.  We are the second most deprived 
borough in London, the third most deprived borough in the country and have the highest 
rates of child poverty in London. Poverty sits at the heart of inequality and is intrinsically 
linked to race inequality in Tower Hamlets.  It disproportionately affects the lives and life 
opportunities of Black and other Minority Ethnic (BME) communities who are for the 
most part the poorest in the borough, earning lower incomes, working in lower skilled 
jobs, and experiencing some of the highest levels of economic inactivity and 
unemployment in London.  
 
For this reason the overarching objectives of this Scheme remain unchanged from the 
first two Race Equality Schemes.  What has changed is the profile of our communities 
and some of the ways and areas in which inequality manifests itself. Taking into account 
these changes, this Scheme offers a more sophisticated approach to understanding the 
diverse needs of communities in Tower Hamlets and delivering race equality priorities.  
With such a unique and diverse population it has never been appropriate to understand 
and respond to the needs of our BME communities as one group.  We know that over 
the next twenty years the demographic profile of our community will significantly change 
and we will see significant growth in the number and relative size of smaller ethnic 
groups in the borough. Over the last ten years our understanding of the needs of some 
of our larger BME communities has improved and services have been tailored to 
respond effectively to their specific needs. This has been particularly true of the 
provision of services to the Bangladeshi community who make up a third of our 
population, making them the largest minority group in the borough.  
 
This Scheme aims to sharpen our understanding of the diversity of and among 
communities in the borough and enable us to better meet the needs of residents and 
address inequality and discrimination.  Just as it is inappropriate to think about ethnic 
minority communities as a single group, it is also inappropriate to think about any one 
single community in this way.  For example the barriers to employment for a 
Bangladeshi woman may be different from the barriers faced by Bangladeshi men, 
younger Bangladeshis or those that have newly arrived in the borough.   

Page 167



 4 

 
Two principles have emerged in the research and development of this Scheme which 
will guide the Council's work on race equality over the next three years: 
 
• We know that BME communities are more likely to experience inequality and 

discrimination than other groups, but that the experiences of different 
communities are not identical. We need to be more sophisticated in our use of 
the term 'BME' in describing communities, designing services to respond to their 
needs and our tracking progress against race equality objectives. BME can imply 
an undifferentiated group and using it in this way means that smaller 
communities are 'lost' and their needs not met effectively. Recognising the needs 
of newer white minority communities the Council adopts a broader definition of 
BME as ‘Black and other minority ethnic’.   

• We need to develop our understanding of diversity within ethnic groups. This 
Scheme sits alongside Equality Schemes in relation to age, disability, gender, 
religion/belief and sexual orientation and highlights areas in which inequality is 
related to an interplay of a number of these factors.   

 
Within each of the Council’s Equality Schemes we have identified three priority areas of 
inequality which require significant and sustained action across a number of Council 
services. These priority areas provide the Council with some high level direction about 
where attention and resources need to be targeted to make real progress.   Without 
addressing these core inter-connected issues it will be difficult to shift inequality 
radically and make progress on the wide range of issues identified in each of Equality 
Schemes.   In relation to race inequality, these priorities are set out below and are 
explored further in this Equality Scheme.  
 
1 Tackle high levels of unemployment and worklessness amongst Bangladeshi 

and Somali residents. 
2 Tackle the disproportionate impact on Black and other Minority Ethnic 

communities of overcrowding and shortage of social housing. 
3 Increase the extent to which people from different ethnic groups get on well 

together. 

Page 168



 5 

 Race Equality Legislation  
 
It was in response to the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry report that in 2001 the government 
toughened race relations legislation by giving public authorities a legal duty to promote 
race equality. The aim of the duty is to make race equality a central part of the way 
public authorities work, by putting it at the centre of policy-making, service delivery, 
regulation and enforcement, and employment practice. 
 
The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 (RR(A)A) places a legal General Duty on 
the Council, in everything we do, to have due regard to the need to:  
� Eliminate unlawful racial discrimination;  
� Promote equality of opportunity; and  
� Promote good race relations between people of different racial groups. 
 
Under the legislation, the general duty is supported by a number of ‘specific’ duties one 
of which is to publish a Race Equality Scheme that sets out how we intend to fulfil the 
general and specific duties. Local authorities must also list the functions and policies 
(including proposed policies) that have been assessed as being relevant to the general 
duty to promote race equality. Other specific duties require local authorities to set out 
their arrangements for:  
 
� assessing and consulting on the likely impact of policies/proposed policies on 

promoting race equality 
� monitoring policies for adverse impact on the promotion of race equality  
� publicising the results of assessments, consultation and monitoring 
� training staff in connection with the requirements of the general and specific duties.  
 
Finally, the Act places an employment duty on local authorities to monitor, review and 
publish details of the number of staff from different racial groups:  
• who are in post and apply for jobs; 
• receive promotion and training;  
• benefit or suffer from performance appraisals; 
• are involved in grievances;  
• are subject to disciplinary action and;  
• who leave the authority.  
 
This Scheme articulates how we intend to meet our general duties.  In the next section 
the Council’s corporate framework for Diversity and Equality sets out how the we will 
meet our specific duties.  

Page 169



 6 

How we developed our Race Equality Scheme  
 
The development of our Scheme has been led by the Diversity and Equalities Team and 
supported by officers from the Corporate Equalities Steering Group (CESG) and 
Directorate Equality Focus Groups.   
 
To develop the Schemes a comprehensive baseline exercise was undertaken using a 
combination of research and input from staff across the Council. Key activities 
undertaken included: analysis of demographic and statistical information, analysis of 
local and national research; consultation with services and teams, analysis of existing 
consultation and a review of existing Equality Impact Assessments (EqIAs). 
 
From the baseline information we were able to identify a number of areas for further 
examination and discussion. Wider consultation was undertaken with residents through 
street surveys, an Internet survey and consultation with community groups. 
 
Using feedback from our consultation and baseline exercises, a number of key themes 
for priority and overarching activity have been set. 

Page 170



 7 

The Corporate Framework for Diversity and Equality  
 
Delivery framework 
Valuing diversity is one of four core values of Tower Hamlets Council. We promote 
diversity and equality in everything we do to improve life for everyone living, working 
and visiting Tower Hamlets. We build upon this by working with the Tower Hamlets 
Partnership to provide accessible and responsive services that enable everyone to take 
part in the social, cultural and economic wealth of the borough. Achieving this is central 
to delivering the Council’s vision, is linked to the Strategic Plan priorities and objectives 
and forms a driving force within the Community Plan and key to creating a cohesive 
community.  
 
Our aims and values 
As a service provider we will:  

• Promote equality of opportunity and eliminate discrimination in the planning and 
delivery of our services in terms of age, disability, ethnicity, gender, sexual 
orientation, religion or belief, health and income status. 

• Promote good relations between communities and address negative stereotyping 
of any groups  

• Ensure that all residents have equal opportunity to participate in the democratic 
process  

• Tackle harassment relating to a person’s age, disability, ethnicity, gender, sexual 
orientation, religion or belief, health and income status 

 
As an employer we will:  

• Develop, review and promote policies and practices that ensure equality of 
opportunity and eliminate discrimination for our workforce in all areas of 
employment (including recruitment, retention, learning and development, 
promotion, grievance, disciplinary and retirement)  

• Ensure that our workforce reflects the diverse nature of the borough 
 

We will recognise our community leadership role and use this to work towards a 
cohesive community in which inequality is tackled and equality promoted.  
 
Our commitment is supported by a number of legal duties that require us to promote 
equality and eliminate discrimination, including: 

• the Equal Pay Act 1970 
• the Sex Discrimination Act 1975 
• the Race Relations Act 1976 
• the Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 
• the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 
• the Disability Discrimination Act 2005 
• the Human Rights Act 1998 
• the 2004 Employment Regulations on Religion and Faith 
 

Page 171



 8 

However under current legislation, the requirements to address inequality and 
discrimination and promote equality vary between equality ‘strand’.  For example, while 
under current legislation we are required to address discrimination against employees 
on the basis of all six equality strands, age, gender, ethnicity, sexual orientation, 
disability and religion / belief, it is only in relation to race, gender and disability that this 
duty extends to the provision of services and the active promotion of equality. We 
believe however that we have a strong moral and social duty to recognise that 
discrimination takes place and inequality exists for individuals and groups belonging to 
all of the six equality strands. We are therefore committed to going beyond the 
requirements laid down in law to address all six equality strands and to do everything 
that we can to challenge prejudice and discrimination and promote better understanding 
and respect between all people.  
 
To demonstrate our commitment to all six equality strands, the Council has gone 
beyond the legal requirement to produce Equality Schemes in relation to race, gender 
and disability and has published Schemes covering Religion/Belief, Age and Sexual 
Orientation equality. Each Scheme sets out what we know about the profile of our 
community in relation to the relevant strand and the nature of inequality experienced by 
people as a result of this element of their identity. The Schemes also contain a 
summary of the action which the Council and partners will undertake to address 
inequality and discrimination in relation to this equality strand.  
 
How we will deliver our commitment 
Tackling discrimination and promoting equality requires action at corporate, directorate, 
service, team and individual levels.  At a corporate level the six Equality Schemes and 
the overall Diversity and Equality Action Plan identifies priority areas for work on 
equalities across the organisation. The Diversity and Equality Action Plan is agreed by 
Cabinet annually and monitored by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee six-monthly 
along with a summary of progress on each of the Schemes. 
 
Below we describe the processes and procedures we have put in place to embed the 
delivery of our commitment to promote equality in relation to all six strands within 
everything that we do as a Council: 

• Undertake equality impact assessments of both new and existing policies and 
services 

• Ensure that all our team plans incorporate relevant diversity and equality 
objectives and targets 

• Ensure all new staff participate in Council equality induction training processes 
• Ensure that our policies are compliant with equality legislation 
• Involve communities, staff and stakeholders in the design, review and 

scrutiny of our services and employment practices 
• Increase the extent to which our workforce reflects the local community 
• Using our procurement powers to makes sure that organisations providing 

services on our behalf work in line with this policy 
• Monitor the equality profile of people using and benefiting from our services to 

enable us to identify groups which are not accessing services 

Page 172



 9 

• Provide information and access to our services in accessible ways 

Page 173



 10 

The Profile of Ethnicity in Tower Hamlets  
 
Tower Hamlets has a unique demographic profile even in comparison to other diverse 
boroughs across Britain. In 2001 just over half the population was white British, a third 
was Bangladeshi and the rest of the population was made up of a large number of much 
smaller but significant ethnic minority communities including African, Caribbean, Somali, 
Indian and Chinese communities.  New migrants continue to move into the borough with 
some of the highest numbers coming from Bangladesh, Poland, Australia, Lithuania, 
India, France and Italy1. 
 
Since 2001 the population of Tower Hamlets has grown significantly from 202,000 to 
around 239,000, four times higher than the rate of increase across London as a whole. 
Over the next 10 to 15 years the borough is expected to see the largest and fastest 
growth in population in London; by 2012 the population is expected to rise by a 9% and 
by 2026 by a further 27%.  This huge growth in population is not however expected to 
change dramatically the relative proportions of the white British and Bangladeshi 
communities living in Tower Hamlets which will continue to account for approximately a 
half and a third of the population respectively.  However, the demographic profile of 
these two groups is likely to change significantly. More detailed information about each 
of the communities is set out below. 
 
Although smaller minority communities will continue to account for a much smaller 
proportion of the population than white British and Bangladeshi groups, in absolute 
terms the increase in the numbers of people from smaller BME groups living in the 
borough will be significant.  Over the next three years we expect to see a 9% rise in the 
white British population, a 6% rise in the Bangladeshi population and an 11% percent 
rise in all other smaller minority groups.  Of the smaller communities we expect to see 
the biggest change in the Chinese population (18%) and the smallest change amongst 
the Black Caribbean population (0%).   
 
Communities in Tower Hamlets  
 
White British 
The single largest ethnic group in the borough are white British who make up just 
over half the borough’s population (51%) and this is likely to remain the case over the 
next 15 years as the population grows by an anticipated 24%.  The age profile of the 
white British community is very different from the Bangladeshi and other BME 
communities.  White British residents comprise nearly 50% of the 16 plus population 
compared to 25% who are Bangladeshi. However, white British children and young 
people only account for 20% of the school age population in the borough and this is 
likely to remain the case over the next 20 years. White British residents also make up 
69% of the people over the age of sixty in the borough. This proportion is expected to 
drop to 54% over the next twenty years as the Bangladeshi population ages.   
                                                 
1 New Communities in Tower Hamlets: characteristics, trends and challenges, Praxis, 2007 

Page 174



 11 

 
The proportion of white British residents is greater in more affluent parts of the borough 
including Bow, the Isle of Dogs, St Katherine's and Wapping.  Generally white British 
residents are more likely to own their own homes, experience higher levels of 
employment and better health outcomes than other ethnic groups. However, as with all 
our communities the white British community is not a homogenous group and is diverse 
particularly in terms of socio economic status. For example on the Isle of Dogs, there is 
a contrast between longstanding working class white British families and more affluent 
newer white British residents who have been moved to the borough for work, and many 
of whom are single.  A particular issue for families is that the educational achievement 
of white British children is amongst the lowest in the borough.  
 
Bangladeshi  
The size of the Bangladeshi community makes Tower Hamlets' population unique.  The 
borough has the largest Bangladeshi community in the country. It makes up a third of 
the local population and is expected to maintain this relative size over the next 15 years. 
It is a very young population with half under the age of 20, which means the majority of 
young people in the borough are of Bangladeshi origin. Population projections indicate 
that, over the next twenty years, the proportion of people under twenty in the borough 
that are Bangladeshi will remain at around 60%.  However, the proportion of over-60s 
who are Bangladeshi is projected to increase from 19% to 28% over the next twenty 
years.  
 
Most Bangladeshi children in London were born in the UK, and in Tower Hamlets there 
are now three generations of Bangladeshis. The vast majority of Bangladeshis are 
Muslim.  The proportion of Bangladeshi residents is highest in Spitalfields & Banglatown 
(58%); Whitechapel (52%); Shadwell (49%) and; Bethnal Green South (48%) wards.   
Deprivation indicators show that Bangladeshis are considerably more likely to live in 
social housing and suffer from poor employment, housing and health outcomes. There 
is also a higher rate of disability among Bangladeshi residents. Almost half of all 
Bangladeshis have no qualifications and experience high levels of unemployment and 
worklessness.  The majority of Bangladeshis in employment work in the industrial 
sector, particularly in the restaurant trade where they are six times the average 
proportion of the workforce.  
 
Chinese 
In 2009 it is estimated that there are around 7,000 Chinese people living in the borough, 
making it one of the highest concentrations of Chinese people living in London.  It 
comprises 3% of the population and is estimated to be the joint second (Somali is also 
3%) largest minority community after Bangladeshis. The borough’s Chinese population 
is concentrated in Millwall, Blackwall, Cubitt Town, and Limehouse wards. This 
community will see the largest percentage increase of any section of the population. 
There is also a large temporary Chinese population visiting or studying in London in 
higher or further education or English language schools.  
2002). 
 

Page 175



 12 

Since the largest wave of immigration in the 1950s and 1960s the Chinese community 
has made rapid socio-economic advancement in Britain compared to other minority 
ethnic communities. Chinese people in London are more likely to be owner occupiers, 
have good health, experience higher levels of education and economic activity and 
more likely to be concentrated in professional and senior jobs than other minority 
communities. However whilst 20% of London’s Chinese population are amongst the 
highest 20% of all London earners, 27% of London Chinese are in the lowest 20% of 
London earners.  A large proportion of London’s Chinese population is employed in the 
restaurant sector, where wage levels are generally low2.  Language barriers are a key 
issue for the Chinese community in accessing public services.  The most commonly 
spoken languages are Mandarin and Cantonese.  
 
Somali and Black African   
 
Most Black African people living in London were born outside the UK. From the 1960s 
onwards, political instability in various African nations including Kenya, Uganda and 
Malawi has contributed to increased migration to Britain. More recent conflicts such as 
those in Rwanda, Sudan and the Democratic Republic of Congo have also led to 
migration from Africa. The more commonly spoken African languages include Swahili, 
Somali, Yoruba, and Twi.  
 
78% of the Black African population is concentrated in London. The population in 
London has a very young profile with 30% under the age of 15 and a small population 
over the age of 50. 70% of Black Africans in London are Christian and 19% Muslim. 
Black Africans are quite highly qualified compared to other minority groups but 
experience high levels of unemployment.  Black Africans in employment are better 
represented in (38%) in professional jobs however the majority work in lower paid 
elementary positions.  
 
In Tower Hamlets a sizeable proportion of the Black African community are from 
Somalia.  Accurately estimating the total number of Somalis is difficult because the 
2001 Census did not have a specific category for 'Somali'. However we know from 
health and other public records that the Somali community in Tower Hamlets is 
significant and is estimated to be the joint second (with the Chinese community) largest 
minority community in the Borough. Data collected from a range of sources estimate 
that Somalis living in Tower Hamlets represent is anything between 0.7% - 5% of the 
population. It is expected that the actual figure is most likely to be around 2-3%. The 
Somali population has a very young age profile with a larger proportion of 0-15 year 
olds and a smaller proportion of 20-39 year olds compared to the population as a whole. 
 
Somali residents experience high levels of deprivation in terms of health, 
unemployment, education and housing.  Somali residents are highly concentrated in 
poorer areas such as East India and Lansbury and Bethnal Green North. Most Somalis 
are Muslim, whereas other Black Africans are most likely to be Christian.  
                                                 
2 Chinese People in the UK: Meeting Community Needs, 2005 

Page 176



 13 

 
African Caribbean 
 
African Caribbean people make up approximately 2% of the borough's population which 
is smaller than the average proportion for London. This is the only group of residents 
that is expected to fall in numbers in Tower Hamlets over the next 20 years.   
 
The African Caribbean population profile is young. Most African Caribbean people are 
born in the UK and as one of the longest settled minority ethnic communities they have 
a much larger proportion of people in the 50-64 age group than other black 
communities. In Tower Hamlets African Caribbean residents are largely concentrated in 
the north of the borough in Bow East and Bow West and are most likely to live in social 
rented housing. African Caribbean people are the most likely of all BME groups to be 
economically active, however Black men in particular experience high levels of 
unemployment. A quarter of African Caribbean people are likely to have no 
qualifications, which although high, is much lower than some other BME groups. 75% of 
African Caribbean people identify themselves as Christian.  
 
New migrants  
The term 'new migrant' refers to people who migrated to the Britain within the last five 
years. Research on new migrants in Tower Hamlets3 shows that there is a growing 
trend of people immigrating to the borough from Bangladesh and Somalia. However the 
rate of people arriving from Eastern Europe is higher and increasing, particularly for 
people from Lithuania and Poland. A less steep evident in people from Latin America 
particularly Columbia and Brazil.  In addition there are other new communities from a 
wide range of different countries, but frequently in small numbers, which suggests a 
tendency towards hyperdiversity in the population. The trend of newcomers from 
refugee and asylum seeking communities continues, but it is not as steep as that of 
those entering from the "Accession 8" countries which joined the European Union in 
2008.  Findings also confirm that new communities tend to be young (under 40) and that 
there are more women than men. 
 
There are three main reasons why people come to live in Tower Hamlets: social 
networks including friends or family already living in the area; employment opportunities; 
and availability of comparatively affordable accommodation. Contrary to assumptions 
many new communities, including those from Eastern Europe, intend to stay in the 
borough for a long time. This development suggests that people from these 
communities will be increasingly represented in take up of services including housing, 
healthcare and schools. 
 
With the exception of those from Latin America, new communities tend to be relatively 
less well qualified than other groups living in Tower Hamlets, 15% have no qualifications 
and 55% have only graduated from secondary school. There are some differences 
between people of different regional origin. For example, 22% of Eastern Europeans 
                                                 
3 New Communities in Tower Hamlets: Characteristics, Trends and Challenges, 2007 

Page 177



 14 

have some sort of diploma and 20% of Latin Americans have a first degree. Many newly 
arrived communities experience extremely high levels of unemployment.  Local 
research confirms that levels of unemployment among new communities varies 
significantly, with rates varying from 79% of people from Africa, 58% from Asia and 36% 
from EU Accession states. 
 
People from new communities who are in work tend to be employed in low waged, low 
skilled and insecure jobs. Many participants who took part in our local study4 were 
employed as cleaners, care assistants, and in retail. A large proportion of Eastern 
Europeans work in construction, but this is not the case for other nationalities. The 
majority of new communities live in privately rented accommodation. 
 

                                                 
4 New Communities in Tower Hamlets: Characteristics, Trends and Challenges, 2007 

Page 178



 15 

The Story So Far  
The Council has come a very long way since the first Race Equality Scheme was 
produced in 2002 in terms of outcomes and our confidence and capacity to tackle race 
inequality.  Over the last ten years our understanding of the needs of our BME 
communities has improved significantly and this has been central to the design and 
delivery of our services.  The Council is nationally recognised for its work in relation 
race equality and has been awarded Beacon Status for Community Cohesion, Getting 
Closer to Communities and Promoting Racial Equalities.  A flavour of the Council’s 
record on race equality is illustrated in the examples below.  
Improved outcomes for young people: Tower Hamlets is one of the most improved 
education authorities in the country and in particular the attainment of Bangladeshi 
pupils has risen significantly. In 2008 43% of Bangladeshi pupils achieved 5 or more A*- 
C grades at GCSE up from 38% in 2006.  Across Key Stages 1-4 Bangladeshi pupils, 
and in particular Bangladeshi girls, are the highest performers in Tower Hamlets.  
Children’s centres have been opened in the borough, helping under-fives and their 
families learn and develop together, whilst also advising parents on how to access 
affordable childcare and employment and training opportunities. The Council has halved 
the number of local young people who are not in education, employment or training 
(NEET).  
Improved outcomes for older people: In response to an under-representation of 
Bangladeshi older people in the take-up of extra care schemes and residential and 
nursing home care our award winning Sonali Gardens scheme was established targeted 
at meeting the needs of this community. It not only provides day care facilities for 
around 40 people a day, but also offers 40 flats for especially vulnerable older people 
who need intensive around-the-clock care. A Bangladeshi care team provides a 
culturally sensitive environment designed to reflect the particular religious and cultural 
needs of this community. Care is provided around the clock by dedicated staff, most of 
whom speak at least one of three languages – Urdu, Sylheti or Bengali.  Mayfield House 
Day Centre also provides 30 places daily to service users from the Somali community. 
Service users not only receive social, cultural and community support but they also 
receive practical assistance with translation and with legal, housing and benefits advice. 
Improved communication: East End Life was launched by Tower Hamlets Council in 
1993 in response to the Council’s increasing frustration at being unable to get across 
positive messages in the press about its work and the contribution made by different 
communities to the growing success of the borough. As well as highlighting and 
promoting Council services and activities, it portrays a positive image of the community 
and encourages engagement with residents. East End Life has grown from a 12- page 
fortnightly newspaper to a 40-page weekly and is delivered free to around 75,500 local 
households, businesses, community groups and partner organisations. It carries a two-
page Harmony section every week with news written in Bengali and Somali, the two 
main ethnic languages in the borough. The ICM Readership Survey also showed that 
among Bangladeshi respondents, 88% regularly read the paper, much more than any 
other local publication in English or Bengali.  

Page 179



 16 

A safer community: The Race and Hate Inter-Agency (RHIAF) have been instrumental 
in improving hate crime reporting in the borough. Increased numbers of third party 
reporting sites, such as the one at the East London Mosque, provide trained staff that 
are able to report crimes on behalf victims, without them having to meet directly with the 
police. This has meant that people who have been a victim of hate crime such as racial 
abuse or harassment, can report the incident in a more familiar environment than a 
police station, to staff with whom people can identify with more readily. In 2007/8 
training on hate crime was delivered to over 500 people in the borough. Targetted work 
has taken place with hard to reach sections of BME communities such as the Somali 
Women, Bangladeshi disabled residents, Asian deaf Women, refugee and new migrants 
and BME gay men.  Also in 2008 to raise awareness, RHIAF launched a high profile No 
Place for Hate Campaign which aims to prevent hate through promoting awareness, 
encouraging reporting and fostering community cohesion across all communities.   
Workforce to Reflect the Community: Since 1998 the Council has had in place a 
‘workforce to reflect the community strategy’, which was introduced on a firm 
understanding that quality services based on the needs of a diverse community are best 
served by a diverse workforce, drawn from the local area – staff with a real insight into 
the needs of local people. The outcomes of the Council’s Workforce to Reflect the 
Community strategy have been positive. The percentage of BME staff has increased 
from 39% in 2002/3 to 48.4% in 2008/9 of which 19% are Bangladeshi. 
This has been achieved through a wide range of successful recruitment, training and 
employment schemes for local people. The Council's Youth Training scheme provides 
local 16 to 18 year olds with work experience, up-to date vocational skills training, the 
chance to obtain appropriate qualifications and support to find a full time job within the 
Council or with another employer. The Tower Hamlets Graduate Development 
Programme has been running since 2000, with the aim of providing employment 
opportunities within the Council for local graduates from BME communities. Graduates 
learn specific skills on a dedicated work placement and, where possible, work towards a 
relevant professional qualification. Equalities education initiatives to develop a more 
representative teaching workforce have increased the proportion of BME teachers in 
Tower Hamlets schools was 14.3% in 2000 to 25% in 2007, the third highest in London. 
Our highly regarded Social Work Positive Action Scheme which offers a range of 
different entry routes and has increased the number of qualified social workers and 
occupational therapists from local Bangladeshi and Somali population.  
 
 

Page 180



 17 

Race Equality Priorities 2009-2012 
 
The Tower Hamlets 2020 Community Plan vision is to ‘improve the quality of life for 
everyone who lives and works in the borough’.  The priorities of this Scheme have been 
aligned to the five Community Plan themes to ensure that race equality is at the centre 
our work to achieve this vision.  Set out in this section are the key priority themes and 
objectives that emerged from our consultation and baseline exercises.  
 
 

Page 181



 18 

ONE TOWER HAMLETS   
 
One Tower Hamlets reflects the borough’s ambition to reduce poverty and inequality, 
bring local communities closer together, and provide strong local leadership by involving 
people and giving them the tools and support to improve their lives.  Set out below are 
our key race equality priorities that relate to this vision.   
 
Community Cohesion  
 
We want people to feel proud to live and work in Tower Hamlets and to have a bond 
with others who live here.  For many people it is the cultural diversity of the borough that 
makes it a great place to live and work.  The 2007/08 Annual Residents Survey found 
that most people (71%) say that Tower Hamlets is a place where people get on well 
together, that ethnic differences are respected (75%), and feel a sense of belonging 
(78%) to the borough.  However we know that, these sentiments can be fragile if a 
deeper and more meaningful understanding and communication does not reinforce 
them. 
 
There are three key inter-related aspects to strengthening community cohesion:  
 
• We need to create the space and opportunity for residents from different 

backgrounds to come together;  
• We need to promote an inclusive sense of belonging that all residents feel valued 

and a part of the community and;  
• We need to promote understanding and awareness of different ways of life in the 

borough and continue to challenge prejudice and discrimination.  
 
We know that experiences and feelings about cohesion vary in the borough and that 
some of these differences are linked to race. A recent government study into the 
sources of resentment and perceptions of ethnic minorities among poor white people in 
England also recommends improving communication and transparency of process to 
address perceptions of unfairness and competition for resources amongst white 
communities.  
 
 
Consultation and Involvement 
 
Effectively communicating with, listening to, consulting, and involving all sections of our 
diverse community is key to understanding and responding to race inequality. We need 
to ensure information, consultation and involvement opportunities are accessible and 
meaningful. 
 
Our consultation shows that BME communities are keen to have a say about the issues 
that affect their lives. There are a plethora of mechanisms to facilitate engagement and 
community voice in the borough organised by third sector organisations and public 
bodies. Last year the Tower Hamlets Partnership exceeded targets to engage 

Page 182



 19 

Bangladeshi residents at Local Area Partnership events.  However we recognise that 
that not all sections of larger minority communities such as older Bangladeshi people or 
Bangladeshi women and smaller minority communities are able to engage through 
these mainstream mechanisms. This means we need to continue to develop a more 
sophisticated approach to meaningfully engage these residents.  Where engagement 
and voice is successfully working in the borough we need to better coordinate and 
connect these voices at the grassroots to decision making structures.   
 
Community Development  
 
Tower Hamlets has a strong, thriving and diverse community and voluntary sector with 
local communities actively engaged at a grassroots level. Communities moving into the 
borough have strengthened and evolved the sector over the years by establishing and 
integrating their own community infrastructures. The Bangladeshi community has 
contributed significantly to the community and voluntary sector in Tower Hamlets and 
has been successful in creating a community infrastructure that supports the local 
community. Organisations and groups provide a range of services from youth groups 
and leisure activities to information and advice and arts projects. However not all 
communities in the borough have the same capacity to organise in this way. Somali 
residents in particular aspire to strengthen and empower the community in a similar way 
to address issues of isolation amongst what they suggest is a more fragmented 
community.   
 
 
Democratic participation  
 
Local councillors play an important role in leading communities and supporting them to 
get involved in their neighbourhoods and local decision making. Democratic 
engagement in the borough is vibrant; voting in elections is higher than national 
averages, which is positively reflected in the ethnic makeup our councillors, two thirds of 
whom are from BME backgrounds.  To maximise this strength we need to improve the 
percentage of people in the borough who feel they can influence decisions in Tower 
Hamlets, which varies between communities.  Asian residents (49%) are more likely to 
feel that they can influence decisions in the local area than black (39%) or white 
residents (36%).  Smaller BME communities and BME women are less likely to be 
represented in democratic processes or local decision making and consultation 
suggests that they are also less likely to approach their local councillor for support. 
 
Access to Services 
 
Language barriers were identified as the single largest obstacle to accessing many 
public services particularly for smaller minority communities such as Somali and 
Vietnamese residents and new arrivals.  The language needs of our communities have 
changed over the past 10 years. After Bengali, the second largest number of requests 
for interpreters in 2008 was made by Polish speakers. We need to understand and tailor 
the way in which we communicate with people who cannot speak English.  Consultation 

Page 183



 20 

feedback tells us that interpreting and translation services and better staff 
representation within public services are both essential to ensuring that all communities 
are able to access the services they require.  Consultation with smaller minority 
communities suggests that many perceive there to be a lack of interpreters speaking 
their language. Whilst interpreting and translation services are critical smaller minority 
communities also stressed the importance of  better representation of staff from their 
communities in front line services which they feel is needed to help people understand 
as well as access services.   
 
In Tower Hamlets the demand for English as a Second Language (ESOL) provision far 
exceeds supply, particularly at entry level. ESOL provision is of critical importance to 
improve access to services and employment but also to help reduce the vulnerability 
and isolation that some minority groups face and promote cohesion.  It is important that 
provision is tailored to local needs. The ESOL needs of older residents in enabling them 
to access particularly health and care services, while not an employment or skills need, 
are nevertheless key in relation to meeting the needs of individuals from a social 
cohesion perspective.  Both young Bengali and Somali women talked about the 
importance of culturally inclusive and accessible ESOL provision. Entry and 
employment level ESOL provision are of equal and connected importance and demand 
for both, and progression routes between them, need to be reflected in our approach to 
local provision.  

 
 
Objectives 
 
Community Cohesion  
 
• Create the space and opportunity for residents from different backgrounds to come 

together 
• Promote an inclusive sense of belonging particularly for smaller minority groups so 

that all residents feel valued and a part of the community. 
• Promote understanding and awareness of different ways of life in the borough and 

continue to challenge prejudice and discrimination.  
• Improve communication and transparency of process to address perceptions of 

unfairness and competition for resources between communities.  
 
Consultation and Participation 
• Improve the effectiveness of consultation and participation mechanisms to engage 

BME communities, paying particular attention to smaller minority communities and 
the diversity within larger BME communities.   

 
Community development 
• Further support and strengthen the capacity of BME third sector in Tower Hamlets 

paying particular attention to smaller and more isolated sections of the BME 
community. 

 

Page 184



 21 

Democratic participation 
• Strengthen the capacity of local councillors to lead all sections of the local 

community and get them actively involved in their neighbourhoods and local decision 
making.  

• Improve the representation of smaller BME communities and BME women in the 
democratic process and other local decision making structures. 

 
 
Customer Access 
• Improve understanding of current language needs and tailor the way in which we 

communicate with people who cannot speak English to ensure that interpreting and 
translation is able to improve access to services.   

• Ensure the workforce to reflect the community strategy includes initiatives to engage 
smaller BME communities, particularly in frontline services.  

• Improve access to culturally inclusive and accessible ESOL provision 
 

Page 185



 22 

A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 
Poverty sits at the heart of inequality and is intrinsically linked to race inequality in 
Tower Hamlets. We are the second most deprived borough in London, the third most 
deprived borough in the country and have the highest rates of child poverty in London. 
Poverty disproportionately affects the lives and life opportunities of BME communities 
who are the poorest in the borough, earning lower incomes, working in lower skilled 
jobs, and experiencing some of the highest levels of economic inactivity and 
unemployment in London.  The Tower Hamlets Employment Strategy sets out a 
framework to tackle some of these complex issues of worklessness and child poverty 
within the borough. 
  
Employment: Set out below are our key race equality priorities that relate employment.  
 
Unemployment and worklessness: BME communities are much more likely to be 
economically inactive and unemployed: Nearly a third of the working age population in 
Tower Hamlets was economically inactive in 2008, much higher than in London (25%) 
or the UK (21%). Bangladeshi residents face the highest levels (56%) followed by Black 
African (35%) and Indian and Caribbean residents at 33%. Unemployment rates also 
vary considerably across different ethnic groups. According to the 2001 Census 
Bangladeshis experience the highest unemployment rates, exceeding 40% for those 
under the age of 25. In terms of gender, economic inactivity amongst working age 
Bangladeshi women is the highest in the country at around 75%.  
 
There are high levels of unemployment amongst the Somali community but this often 
goes undetected as 'Somali' is not included as a specific ethnic category in the majority 
of data sets on employment. We do know however that Somali people experience the 
highest of unemployment (55%) in London and 72% are concentrated in lower paid 
jobs.  
 
Analysis of employment by country of birth shows that migrants from developing 
countries face particular difficulties in accessing the labour market and once in work, 
tend to be concentrated in lower paid occupations. The unemployment rates for BME 
women born outside the UK is 51%, compared to 33% for white women born outside 
the UK. The unemployment rate for migrant women with children is 76%.  
 
The borough has achieved rapidly improving school results, but this has not lead to a 
commensurate reduction in youth unemployment which is higher than the London 
average (17.7% compared to 11.8%). The proportion of 16-18 year old who are not in 
employment, education or training (NEET) is falling but remains high at 8.2% (January 
2008). Children in the borough are twice as likely as the England average, and one and 
a half as likely as the London average, to be growing up in a workless household. With 
the majority of young people of BME backgrounds and with high levels of 
unemployment and worklessness amongst the BME community it is important to 
understand the barriers faced by young people brought up in workless families. This 
suggests the need to focus support to make successful transitions from education to 

Page 186



 23 

work. 
 
Access to employment: We have seen an unprecedented growth in jobs of 56% over 
the last 10 years compared to 7.7% in London, yet we experience some of the highest 
unemployment rates in the country.  
 
Many of these jobs are concentrated in areas that BME groups are under represented 
and are less able to access such as finance, IT or other business activities (54%) or 
public administration, education and health (17%)5.  BME communities are more likely 
to work in manual jobs and much less likely to be working in professional or managerial 
jobs where as the opposite is the case for white British residents. Bangladeshi residents 
(40%) and African residents (30%) are most likely to be working in elementary, factory 
or retail jobs.  
 
Qualifications: Qualifications and skills have a big part to play in improving access to 
better employment opportunities and are strongly associated with employment rates.  
Bangladeshi residents are most likely (45%) to have no qualifications in Tower Hamlets 
as are some of our smaller minority communities and new communities. London wide 
data shows that migrants with qualifications are twice as likely to be in employment (72 
per cent) as migrants with no qualifications (35 percent).  We also experience some of 
the highest levels of graduate unemployment in the country.  Consultation feedback 
revealed frustration amongst Bangladeshi and Somali graduates who are working in low 
skilled jobs and have found it difficult to access professional jobs despite their skills and 
qualifications 
 
Objectives 
  
• Improve economic activity rates amongst the Bangladeshi and Somali community 

paying attention to the particular barriers that women from these communities face.  
• Make employment services available in community settings, targeting workless 

families. 
• Develop an up-to-date and detailed understanding of the profile and causation of 

worklessness among BME communities in the borough. 
• Improve the under-representation of BME communities in key employment sectors 

by promoting the best practice in relation workforce to reflect the community and 
encouraging and working with major organisations in the borough to adopt similar 
initiatives.  

• Maximise employment, placement, apprenticeship and training opportunities 
amongst workless people in the public sector, building on existing good practice 
within the Council and NHS services 

• Support qualified BME residents to access professional jobs 
• Improve the qualification and skills levels of Bangladeshi and Somali adults in Tower 

Hamlets.  
                                                 
5 Census 2001 

Page 187



 24 

• Raise both aspirations and skills of BME children and young people make 
successful transitions from education to work through more effective advice, 
guidance and support.   

 
 
Education: In Tower Hamlets we want to use education to break the cycle of poverty 
and give people a step into employment. Set out below are our key race equality 
priorities that relate education.  
 
Educational Attainment 
 
In comparison to the rest of London, Tower Hamlets has a unique younger school age 
profile. 70% of the under 19 population is from a BME background of which the large 
majority are Bangladeshi.  In 2008 the majority of pupils in primary school were 
Bangladeshi (64%), with a minority of white (12%), Somali (3%), Black African (2.5%), 
white other (2.5%) and Black Caribbean (2%) pupils. In secondary schools over half 
(56%) were Bangladeshi, 15% white, 5% black African, 3.5% Black Caribbean and 
2.6% Somali. Bangladeshi and Somali were the top two of community languages 
spoken at home by pupils.  
 
Overall educational achievement between the ages of 5 and 19 has risen substantially 
in the borough in the last ten years.  However to continue to deliver ambitious 
educational achievement outcomes we need to bridge the achievement gaps between 
different ethnic groups and between boys and girls, particularly at GCSE and in key 
curriculum areas.  
 
The attainment of Bangladeshi pupils has risen significantly over the last ten years. 
2008 educational attainment figures show that between Key Stages 1-4 Bangladeshi 
pupils, and in particular Bangladeshi girls, are the highest performers in Tower Hamlets. 
On the whole Bangladeshi girls perform better than, or in line with the national average. 
Bangladeshi boys overall perform better than the national average for Bangladeshi 
pupils but below overall national average up until Key Stage 4. The gaps between 
national and local performance is greatest for Bangladeshi boys at Key Stage 4 whose 
performance (55%) is below the Bangladeshi national average (56%) and overall 
national average for all pupils (64%). 
 
Black Caribbean pupils are the second highest achievers in Tower Hamlets and perform 
in general above the national Black Caribbean average up until Key Stage 2. However 
at Key Stage 3 the performance of Caribbean pupils starts to fall below the national 
Caribbean average and considerably below the national average. On the whole Black 
Caribbean girls perform much better than boys and at Key Stage 4. Only 42 % of Black 
Caribbean boys achieved 5 A*-C GCSE’s below the national Caribbean average (47%) 
whilst Black Caribbean girls (72%) achieved significantly above the national Caribbean 
and overall national average.  
 
White pupils are amongst lowest achieving pupils and generally performing lower than 

Page 188



 25 

Bangladeshi and Caribbean pupils across Key Stages 1-4. The performance of white 
pupils falls below the national white average and the gap is most significant at Key 
Stages 3 and 4 and in particular for white boys. At GCSE 46% of white boys achieved 5 
grades A*-C, considerably below the national average for white boys (60%). The 
performance of white girls (51%) also falls considerably below the national average for 
white girls (68%).  
 
Of the four largest ethnic groups in Tower Hamlets schools, the Somali community are 
the lowest performers and for the most part achieve significantly lower grades than 
Bangladeshi and African Caribbean pupils and slightly lower grades than white pupils. 
Somali girls do significantly less well than boys at GCSE with 40.7% achieving 5 grades 
A*-C compared to 52.9% of boys.  
 
Schools Workforce to Reflect the Community 
 
To help deliver the best educational outcomes it is important that staff in schools reflect 
the diversity of the local pupil population. Improving the representation of BME teachers 
has been a key part of our approach to improving educational attainment in the 
borough. Local initiatives aimed at training and recruiting BME teachers has seen the 
percentage of BME teachers rise from 21% in 2002 to 29% in 2008.   
 
We need to continue to improve the representation of BME teachers locally, particularly 
for some smaller minority groups such as the Somali community who are under-
represented and where take up of the training and recruitment initiatives is low.  We 
need to also understand the barriers that BME teachers face to progression and 
improve their representation in senior positions and headships.  
 
Objectives:  
• Address the specific under-achievement of white and Somali communities across all 

Key Stages.  
• Address the under-achievement of white, Caribbean and Bangladeshi boys 

particularly at Key Stage 4.   
• Continue to improve the representation of BME teachers in local schools paying 

particular attention to promote teaching as a career to smaller minority communities. 
• Increase the percentage of BME teachers moving into leadership positions 
 
 

Page 189



 26 

A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE   
 
By 2020 our vision is that Tower Hamlets will continue to be a place that attracts people 
to settle and raise families, to study, to work in a thriving local economy and enjoy the 
rich cultural life. The ambition is for everyone to have the opportunity to live in a decent 
home, which they can afford, and for all children to have a bedroom of their own.  
 
Housing has an important impact on reducing inequality given its relationship to many 
other outcomes such as health, safety, employment and education. Many residents 
recognise that housing has improved in the Tower Hamlets, however access to a 
decent, safe and secure home remains a critical issue. The borough is an area with a 
very large demand for social and affordable housing, acute housing need and limited 
affordable options.  The following key race equality issues emerged from research and 
consultation in relation housing: 
 
Overcrowding: The rate of overcrowding (14%) in Tower Hamlets is much higher than 
the average rate in London (5%).  Overcrowding disproportionately affects BME 
communities in the borough with 72% of Bangladeshi households short of one or more 
rooms, compared to 48% of black and 23% of white residents. It has a wide range of 
disproportionate knock-on affects: children and young people living in over-crowded 
homes have little or no place to study; it can affect safety and lead to an increase in 
anti-social behaviour as young people may spend less time in their homes and more on 
the streets; and it is associated with increased transmission of infectious diseases and 
mental health problems.  
 
Demand and affordability: The demand for social housing far outstrips supply. The 
number of households on the Common Housing Register is over 20,000, but every year 
only about 2000 social housing lets become available, only 13% of which are family size 
homes. BME residents, in particular Bangladeshi and African residents are much less 
likely to own a home and much more likely to be living in Council or social rented 
accommodation.  With the largest forecast population increases in London, continuing 
migration, high levels of deprivation and unaffordable house prices and rent the levels of 
demand across all communities, but particularly within the BME community, for social 
housing is set to increase. Eastern European migrants who have lived in the borough 
for more than 12 month are also starting to have the same rights as any other EU 
citizen which will start to add to the pressure for social housing. 
 
Access:  A Choice Based Lettings System (CBL) for social housing was introduced in 
2002 which means available homes are advertised and applicants on the housing list 
can choose the homes they want to be considered for by ‘bidding’ for any homes they 
feel are suitable. National research suggests that the system has been successful in 
providing people with more choice and control over access to social housing.  The 
research found that the system can however disadvantage BME applicants with little or 
no English who find it difficult to use the system without assistance from family and 
friends or community or voluntary groups. This was echoed in local consultation with 
Somali residents. They felt that language barriers and a lack of Somali speaking staff 

Page 190



 27 

therefore meant that Somali residents may not understand the system and have 
difficulty accessing it.  
 
Quality of Housing:  In 2006 62% of social housing in the borough fell below decent 
homes standard.  There is significant variation by ward in non-decent housing. East 
India and Lansbury both have over 25% higher levels of non-decent stock than Bow 
East. BME residents are much more likely than other groups to live in social housing 
which means they are likely to be disproportionally affected by non-decent housing.  
 
Homelessness: Demand on homeless services is extremely high and 
disproportionately affects BME communities. At the Homeless Service alone, over 4000 
households per year present some form of housing need. Overcrowding, is the main 
cause of homelessness, which alongside population growth, unaffordable housing and 
high rents suggests homelessness, particularly for BME communities is set to increase. 
The way in which homelessness is likely to affect most of the borough’s poorest BME 
communities will differ and therefore it is important to understand the different profiles, 
needs and impacts on different BME groups. For example Somali residents talked about 
the affects of a high incidence of family break-up leading to an increase of 
homelessness for single men, whilst amongst the Bangladeshi community there is likely 
to be high levels hidden homelessness particularly amongst young people who cannot 
afford to move out of family homes.  
 
The arrival of newer communities is also affecting levels of homelessness in the 
borough. 26% of participants who took part in a local study into the needs of new 
communities in Tower Hamlets reported they were homeless or living in insecure 
housing. The study identified that people of African origin and Eastern European origin 
were disproportionately affected 
  
Objectives 
 
• Overcrowding: Reduce levels of overcrowding and work in partnership to minimise  

the wider impacts of over-crowding such as a lack space at home for young people 
to study. 

• Demand and Affordability: Improve understanding of the future housing needs and 
demand of BME communities in the borough and ensure that they effectively inform 
the planning of future housing provision.  

• Access: Ensure there is equal access to social housing for BME communities facing 
language barriers or may find it more difficult to understand the system.  

• Homelessness: Improve understanding of the extent and impact of homelessness 
on different BME communities and ensure that they inform strategies to address 
homelessness in the borough.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 191



 28 

Leisure  
 
A mixture of views about leisure facilities emerged from consultation. There have been 
improvements in usage of leisure facilities by Bangladeshi residents, particularly 
amongst women. However other smaller minority groups such as Vietnamese and 
Somali residents felt that these that language barriers meant that many people from 
those communities did not know about or felt uncomfortable accessing leisure services.  
 
Women-only services have improved usage of leisure services by BME women and the 
take-up of services is good with the demand far exceeding supply. However a difficulty 
in recruiting female sports supervisors and instructors is limiting the services that can be 
provided. Timing of activities for BME women is very important as some are less likely 
to go out after dark or the evenings.  
 
Improving physical activity is critical to addressing some of the serious health problems 
that BME communities face. Younger BME men and women are more likely to 
participate in physical activity than older people. For example in the 35-54 age band 
98% of Asian residents in the borough reported that they did not exercise for at least 
half an hour three times a week.  It is particularly important to improve the rate of 
physical activity in this group as they suffer disproportionately from serious health 
conditions which can be improved or prevented by adopting healthier lifestyles.  
 
Objectives: 
 
• Continue to promote access to leisure facilities for BME groups paying particular 

attention to different sections of larger BME communities and smaller BME 
communities Continue to provide culturally appropriate leisure facilities for BME 
women  

• Work with local communities to improve the representation of smaller BME 
communities working in leisure services and address difficulties in recruiting BME 
female leisure staff. 

• The PCT and Leisure services to work in partnership to promote health lifestyles and 
encourage physical activity amongst BME groups who suffer the highest preventable 
health risks.  

Page 192



 29 

A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY 
 
Our vision is that crime and anti social behaviour will be greatly reduced in our 
neighbourhoods so that all residents and visitors feel safe and confident in their homes 
and on the streets. Services will ensure that everyone, particularly the vulnerable, is 
protected from risk of harm and is enabled to live a full and independent life. Parents 
and families will get the support they need to give children the best possible start in life. 
 
Crime in Tower Hamlets has fallen by nearly a quarter over the past four years but 
continues to be the largest concern for local residents. We know that the experience of 
crime and community safety is not the same for all our communities and recognise that 
inequality and crime is strongly linked. Set out below are our key race equality priorities 
that relate to promoting a safe and supportive community. 
 
Reduce the overrepresentation of some BME communities as perpetrators and 
victims of crime.  
We know that some ethnic groups are disproportionately represented as victims and/or 
perpetrators of crime. In the case of violent crime for example, African Caribbean 
people are significantly over-represented as both victims and perpetrators. We know 
from anecdotal information that young black and Asian boys are more at risk of 
becoming victims of and bring convicted as perpetrators of anti-social behaviour. 
Probation and prison data from 2007 indicates that Bangladeshi, Caribbean and African 
residents are also over-represented in groups serving community and prison sentences.  
We also recognise that young people are overrepresented as victims and perpetrators 
of crime. With over 70% of under 19 year olds in the borough of BME background it is 
important to understand the experiences of crime in terms of age and ethnicity.  We 
need to develop our understanding of the underlying causes of this over-representation 
and use our strategies to support and work with victims and perpetrators of crime to 
address these inequalities.  
 
Demonstrate fairness and transparency of Stop and Search procedures 
In recent years there has been a sharp increase in the use of stop and search powers in 
the borough as a result of an increased focus by the Police on issues such as terrorism 
and knife crime.  BME people are more likely to be subject to Stop and Search than 
white groups.  Of the 2064 people stopped and searched in October 2008, 27% were of 
white, 15% were black and 55% were Bangladeshi. This is a controversial issue that 
particularly affects the confidence and trust of BME communities in the Police and 
criminal justice service. Therefore we need to demonstrate the fairness, transparency 
and purpose of the process.  
Continue to tackle race hate crime  
Tower Hamlets has one of the highest levels of reported hate crime in London, the 
majority of which is race hate crime.  However the number of reported race hate crimes 
is falling and feedback from consultation has been positive. BME residents say that in 
some respects they feel safer in Tower Hamlets than elsewhere and feel that physical 
safety has improved over the past five to ten years. Somali and Bangladeshi residents 

Page 193



 30 

talked positively about how ‘no-go areas’ that used to exist for them were now a thing of 
the past. Young BME women told us how living within a diverse community made them 
feel more comfortable, safe and secure.  
 
Improve local ethnicity monitoring and analysis of crime  
Poor and inconsistent recording of crime by ethnicity makes it difficult to establish an 
accurate understanding of crime and community safety experiences of different 
communities. In many cases ethnicity is recorded by the Police on the basis of ethnic 
appearance which does not correspond with other local ethnic monitoring categories. 
The use of the category 'Black African' in particular means that it is difficult to 
understand the experience of Somali communities. 
 
Further develop culturally appropriate responses to domestic violence 
The Police deal with 4,000 incidents a year of domestic violence and these account for 
over 30% of reported violent crime. Both adults and children are affected, and domestic 
violence is a major cause of homelessness, as well as a factor in a high proportion of 
child protection cases.  We know that domestic violence services have achieved 
significant increases in use of services by Bangladeshi women. However the issue 
continues to be an important priority and during consultation with Bengali and Somali 
women undertaken to develop this Scheme they highlighted a need to further develop 
services to reach isolated women and those in smaller BME communities.   
 
Support vulnerable families and individuals  
Some sections of our BME communities can be particularly vulnerable and isolated. A 
quite specific issue that emerged from the consultation with Somali residents is that 
there is a high incidence of divorce within their community.  Consultees talked about the 
considerable affect this has on families, including leaving women isolated and struggling 
to bring up children alone as single mothers, high levels of depression and negative 
affects on young people who lack father figures, particularly boys.  
 
New migrants who come to Tower Hamlets to join their partners from abroad may be 
particularly isolated and/or vulnerable as they tend to lack wider family or social support 
structures. This can have a detrimental effect on mental health and wellbeing. 
 
Objectives 
• Work with strategies to support victims and perpetrators of crime to respond to the 

over-representation of Black and Asian men as perpetrators and victims of some 
crimes.  

• Demonstrate fairness and transparency of process in the application of stop and 
search in Tower Hamlets.  

• Ensure that victims of race hate crime have access to appropriate protection and 
support and prevent race hate through promoting awareness, encouraging reporting 
and building community cohesion across all communities. 

• Continue to deliver and further develop culturally appropriate responses to domestic 
violence. 

• Improve local ethnicity monitoring and analysis of crime and community safety  

Page 194



 31 

A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 
By 2020 our vision is that local people will live longer and healthier lives. The wider 
influences on health such as poverty, housing and employment will have improved 
making it easier for people to lead healthy lives. Everyone will have access to high-
quality, local health and social care services, from primary care at GP surgeries to 
maternity care and mental health services. 
 
Health inequalities are created by differences in health status driven by inequalities in 
society. We know that BME groups generally have much worse health than the overall 
population caused by poor social and economic circumstances such as housing and 
unemployment. As the third most deprived borough in the country residents in Tower 
Hamlets experience substantially poorer health than London and England.  For 
example, residents from some of the most deprived parts of the borough with the 
highest concentrations of BME residents such as St Dunstan's and Stepney Green are 
likely to live up to 8 years less than residents living more affluent areas such as Millwall. 
Within the borough some communities fare much worse than others and patterns vary 
from one health condition to the next.   Local health data and consultation feedback 
indicates that some of the key race equality issues relating to health in Tower Hamlets 
are:  
 
Life expectancy: Coronary heart disease (CHD) and stroke are the leading causes of 
death and residents are 63% more likely to die prematurely from CHD compared to 
England as a whole. For Bangladeshi and South Asian men CHD is of epidemic 
proportions and rates are higher than anywhere else in Western Europe.  Risk factors 
for this disease include smoking, high blood cholesterol, physical inactivity, being 
overweight or obese, diabetes and having family heart disease. Strategies to improve 
awareness of health risks and promote healthy lifestyles need to be further developed to 
respond to the scale of the task and more directly engage with specific BME 
communities, or sections within these communities who are particularly hard to reach 
and most at risk.  
 
Smoking:  Smoking is the biggest preventable cause of death in Tower Hamlets. Rates 
at 37% are much higher than the national average (27%) and Bangladeshi men (40%) 
are reported to have the highest smoking rates of all ethnic groups.  It is also reported 
that 19% of Bangladeshi men and 26% of Bangladeshi women have used some form of 
oral tobacco, which leads to increased risk of mouth cancer. Stopping smoking or the 
use of oral tabacco is a key lifestyle factor in reducing BME mortality, morbidity, and 
improving health. The risk of a heart attack is halved within a year and that of lung 
cancer is halved within ten years. 
 
Substance misuse: One of the most significant concerns raised in consultation is the 
misuse of drugs and the profound negative affect this has on lives.  Tower Hamlets has 
a higher than both London and national average of opiate use and higher than national 
use of crack cocaine. Male Bangladeshis using heroin account for at least 50% of the 
treatment population.  Bangladeshi (94%) treatment users are more likely to be engaged 

Page 195



 32 

in opiate use than White British (77%) or Black (67%) users.   
 
The Drug and Alcohol Action Team estimate that about 63% of problematic drug users 
in the borough are currently not accessing treatment services.  The number of BME drug 
users and specifically Bangladeshi women who access drug services is 
disproportionately low and those that do engage usually do so as part of a wider Social 
Care intervention.  
 
In consultation young Bangladeshi boys talked about the high prevalence of drugs on 
streets and neighbourhoods making young people vulnerable to drug misuse. Shame 
and stigma attached to drug use means that most people find it difficult to turn to families 
for support, but consultees suggest that for many BME drug users this is even more 
difficult.  
 
Amongst the Somali population the use of the legal substance Khat, a leaf that contains 
an amphetamine-like stimulant, causes significant community concern. Local research 
estimates that 59% of Somali men and 15% of Somali women chew Khat and suggests 
that it can lead to schizophrenic behaviour and depression and problem drinking. It can 
also be the cause of violent behaviour, financial and family problems.  This was echoed 
by local Somali women who felt that Khat has been responsible for high levels of 
depression and divorce amongst their community.  
 

 
Mental health: In the UK one in five mental health in-patients are from a BME 
background, compared to about one in ten of the population as a whole. In Tower 
Hamlets there is evidence of a high proportion of undiagnosed depression and the 
prevalence of schizophrenia is four times the national average. In 2008 of 128 patients 
at the Tower Hamlets Early Intervention Service (THEIS), a service for all those with a 
first presentation of a psychotic disorder, 82% were BME, 71% male and in their early 
20s, 74% has a history of violence and high levels of unemployment and cannabis use.  
People of African Caribbean origin are over-represented on mental health wards by 
400% and also over-represented in detention under the Mental Health Act. There is 
limited mental health data available, but it is thought that there are high levels of 
admission to inpatient wards for Somali people. 
 
The issue of mental health and depression stood out quite starkly in consultation 
results. Somali residents talked about low incomes, unemployment, Khat usage, family 
breakdown, isolation, and for women in particular being a lone parent as causes of 
depression. Bangladeshi residents echoed some of these issues and highlighted that in 
many cases depression is not understood and both men and women struggle with it 
unrecognised. Stigma around mental health and a reluctance to talk about the issues 
serve as barriers to accessing support.  
 
Learning disabilities: National and local evidence shows an high incidence of learning 
disabilities within South Asian populations. Therefore it is important to have a fuller 
understanding at a local level within the Bangladeshi and other smaller BME 

Page 196



 33 

communities to inform future commissioning plans. In particular, given the age profile of 
these populations locally, the prevalence rates amongst children and young people 
need to be understood to inform longer term commissioning strategies for adult 
services. 
 
Older People: One of the most significant population changes in terms of ethnicity is 
amongst the Bangladeshi over-60s which is due to increase from 19% to 28% over the 
next twenty years. This has important implications for the kind of support we provide to 
older people and the demands of culturally appropriate services.  
 
Carers: Tower Hamlets has one of the highest proportions of BME carers in London. 
Bangladeshi people, particularly women, are three times more likely to provide care to 
family members than people from white British groups. BME carers are multiply 
disadvantaged in terms of their own health, the health of those they care for and in 
terms of problems accessing health and social care services.  There is a range of 
barriers that prevent BME carers from accessing support including not knowing about 
the support available to them, to language and cultural barriers. With a growing older 
BME population the number of BME carers is set increase in the next 10-20 years. It is 
therefore  important that we understand the barriers that BME communities face and 
continue to improve their access to support.  
 
Knowledge gaps in health needs: Although we hold good robust information about 
the health needs of the Bangladeshi and white communities there are some significant 
gaps in the needs of other smaller minority communities. For example, due to the way 
ethnicity is coded some services have a category for Somalis while for others it is 
incorporated into 'Black other' or 'Black African' which means that accurate assessment 
of a community known to suffer from poor health is not available.  
 
Objectives:  
• Healthy lifestyles and smoking cessation:  Further tailor specifically targeted 

culturally appropriate health campaigns to improve awareness of specific health 
risks and promote healthy lifestyles among specific BME groups experiencing poor 
health 

• Drugs misuse: Continue to improve access to treatment services amongst different 
BME communities and develop initiatives to reach out to under-represented groups 
and BME women.  

• Develop culturally appropriate strategies to work with BME families in the 
safeguarding young people from getting involved in drug misuse and support 
families experiencing drug addiction. 

• Improve understanding of the impact of all current drug use (not just problem drug 
use), including the use of Khat amongst the Somali community, and associated 
harm on different BME communities locally.  

• Develop education and support initiatives to inform Somali people about the effects 
of Khat and reduce its usage.   

• Mental health: Improve the understanding of mental health needs of BME 
communities and strengthen the accessibility and delivery of mental health services 

Page 197



 34 

to the BME community.  
• Learning disabilities: Continue to develop a fuller understanding of the picture of 

learning disabilities at a local level within the Bangladeshi and smaller BME 
communities to better inform future commissioning plans. 

• Older people: Develop a fuller understanding of the implications of a growing older 
Bangladeshi population on health and adult social care services. 

• Carers: Improve understanding of the barriers that BME carers face and increase 
their access to support.  

Page 198



 35 

 Promoting Race Equality an Employer  
 
The Council is committed to promoting equality as an employer and is proud of its long-
standing commitment to the achievement of a workforce that reflects the local 
community. We have strengthened our capacity to deliver on this commitment by 
bringing together the PCT and Council Human Resources functions to produce a joint 
'Workforce to Reflect the Community' Strategy. 
 
In order to meet our employment duties under the RR(A)A and ensure that no group is 
disadvantaged in applying for and undertaking employment in the Council we monitor 
by ethnicity: 
� Recruitment and selection 
� Numbers of staff in post 
� Training 
� Promotions 
� Harassment and discrimination complaints and other grievances 
� Disciplinary proceedings 
� Starters and leavers 
� Performance management 
 
This information is analysed and published each year in the Race Equality Scheme 
Employment Monitoring Report and reported to the Corporate Equalities Steering Group 
Based on this information as well as staff consultation our race equality employment 
priorities are set out below.  
 
Recruitment and Selection  
The outcomes of the Council’s Workforce to Reflect the Community strategy have been 
positive. The percentage of BME staff has increased from 39% in 2002/3 to 48.4% in 
2008/9 and 19% are Bangladeshi.  
However we recognise that there is still a lot more progress to be made in tackling the 
under-representation of BME staff. In 2007/8, Bangladeshi residents made up 27% of 
the working age population but only 21% of successful job applicants in the Council and 
19% of the workforce.  Although there is an over-representation of African Caribbean 
staff this masks and significant under-representation of Somali staff who make up a very 
small fraction of black staff working in the Council and only 1% of all staff.  
We have identified that there are also differences in representation across the 
directorates that need to be addressed, this is particularly important to note in terms of 
frontline services and customer access.  Our consultation revealed that access to 
services is still one of the biggest issues particularly for smaller minority communities 
such as the Somali community. Monitoring in 2009 shows that for Communities 
Localities and Culture and Adults Health and Wellbeing which include of many important 
frontline services only 17% of staff are Bangladeshi and only 1.7% are Somali.  
 

Page 199



 36 

Progression and Career Development  
The Council is committed to investing in and developing all employees and for some 
years now has recognised and sought to address the under-representation of BME staff 
in middle and senior management. Analysis of 2008/9 records show the majority of 
Bangladeshi and Black employees are predominantly located in the up to £20k salary 
bracket and under-represented in middle management and senior positions. In the £40k 
and above salary ranges 4.8% are Asian, 7% are Bangladeshi and 9.9% are Black.  In 
Children’s Services (where there is the highest proportion) only 6 (or 5.7%) of the senior 
managers (top 5%) are from a Bangladeshi background; in the Adults Health and 
Wellbeing and Resources Directorates there none.  Council wide at senior manager 
level, there are only 9 Bangladeshi staff.  The profile appears more favourable for Black 
African/ Caribbean staff with it being possible to conclude that overall, there is a 
representative proportion of African/African Caribbean staff at management level (those 
earning above £40K) in the organisation.  However, amongst senior managers there is 
only 6 African/African Caribbean staff in the organisation. 
The Council has put in place a number of initiatives targeted at developing and 
progressing BME staff.  This includes Aspiring Leaders and Step Up Now Programmes 
which are positive action initiatives for BME staff that provide study support for a post 
graduate Diploma in Management Studies or Certificate in Team Leadership or First 
Line Management aimed at supporting career development. Other initiatives include 
positive action schemes on social work and other services, and local graduate and 
youth trainee schemes.  
In 2008 a strategic level equality impact assessment (EQIA) of staff progression was 
undertaken.  This EQIA sought to undertake an evidence based analysis of staff 
progression looking in detail at the different opportunities and factors that affect 
progression within the organisation. This found there was no significant overall variance 
in progression between different groups of staff. However, the greatest challenge for the 
Council is the need to increase the diversity of its senior managers. The EQIA identified 
that under-representation of BME staff in management posts is an issue of recruitment 
rather than progression.  Improvements in recruitment of BME staff have been 
concentrated at entry level or lower grade position, further work to improve recruitment 
of BME staff at management grade now needs to take place. 
The Council and PCT Workforce to Reflect the Community Strategy recognises that it is 
important to ensure that career development / advancement pathways from junior and 
middle management positions exist to facilitate the preparation of BME staff in the 
longer-term to move into most senior (top 5%) of positions.  
 
Training and Development  
The ability to build on or acquire new skills within an employee’s job is a key feature of 
the Council’s learning and development programme.  A wide range of learning 
opportunities are provided and employees are supported in learning through their work 

Page 200



 37 

as the Council believes that investment in employees shows through in the quality of 
work and  a high level of staff engagement. Consequently, the uptake of learning and 
development events is recorded by ethnicity to ensure that every employee has access 
to continuous professional development.   
The number of BME participants at corporate learning and development events is 
representative of the workforce and has significantly increased since 2002/03, however 
further promotion of learning and development opportunities is required to develop staff 
and increase the percentage of BME staff progressing into senior positions in the 
Council.  
Working conditions and Working Environment  
In order to ensure that managers and employees are aware of their responsibilities in 
working with diversity and progressing equalities in the workplace incorporating 
regulations relating to race equality, regular learning opportunities are offered to 
employees.   
The Council has policies and procedures in place to promote equality of opportunity and 
to address circumstances where an employee believes that they have been 
disadvantaged. The Council has a Combating Harassment and Discrimination 
Procedure and monitors the complaints received.  The number of grievances submitted 
by employees is also monitored.  2007/08 figures show that the Council needs to 
investigate why 57% (8 out of 14) employees dismissed under the Disciplinary 
Procedure were Black.  
Additionally, there is a BME Staff Forum which meets on a quarterly basis and is 
supported by Corporate Human Resources and the Diversity and Equalities Team.  The 
purpose of the Forum is to give BME employees a means of raising collective issues in 
relation to their employment. It also provides a means for the Council to consult on 
employment policies and practices to help ensure that the Council has the mechanisms 
in place to recruit and retain BME staff.  The main issues that the Forum raised in the 
last year relate to progression of BME staff and the impact of re-structures on BME 
staff.  
Objectives  
� Improve the representation of Bangladeshi and Somali staff in the organisation 

across the directorates 
� Examine and address the under-representation of BME staff at management level 

within the organisation.  
� Act on the findings of the Equality Impact Assessment of career progression for 

Council staff.  
� Continue to provide targeted learning and development opportunities for BME staff 

and review the impact of existing BME targeted initiatives to ensure that they are 
successfully developing and progressing staff. 

� Investigate the over-representation of black staff facing dismissal under the 
Disciplinary Procedure.  

Page 201



 38 

� Review the Organisational Change Procedure in respect of how the impact of re-
structures on different staff groups is given appropriate consideration. 

� Continue to support and develop the Council’s BME Staff Forum.  

Page 202



 39 

Delivering the Race Equality Scheme objectives, 2009-12 
 
Drawing on the findings outlined above, we have identified a number of key areas in 
which the Council along with its partners needs to take action to ensure that we promote 
equality for everyone living, working or visiting Tower Hamlets. The action plan outlines 
a programme of actions to address issues where there is evidence of inequality based 
on race.  
 
 

 

Page 203



 
40

 

Ra
ce

 Eq
ua

lity
 Sc

he
me

 A
cti

on
 Pl

an
 

 Pr
ior
ity
 

Ob
jec

tiv
e  

Ac
tio
n 

By
 w
ho
m 

By
 w
he
n  
    
    
 

 ON
E 

TO
W

ER
 H

AM
LE

TS
  

Cr
ea
te 
the

 sp
ac
e a

nd
 

op
po
rtu
nit
y f
or 
res

ide
nts

 fro
m 

dif
fer
en
t b
ac
kg
rou

nd
s t
o 

co
me

 to
ge
the

r 
Pr
om

ote
 an

 in
clu

siv
e s

en
se
 

of 
be
lon

gin
g p

art
icu

lar
ly 
for
 

sm
all
er 
mi
no
rity

 gr
ou
ps
 so

 
tha

t a
ll r
es
ide

nts
 fe
el 
va
lue

d 
an
d a

 pa
rt o

f th
e c

om
mu

nit
y. 

Re
vie

w 
co
mm

un
ity
 co

he
sio

n p
rin
cip

les
 to
 

em
be
d O

ne
 To

we
r H

am
let
s i
n s

erv
ice

 
de
live

ry 
an
d d

ev
elo

pm
en
t: L

ea
rni
ng
 fro

m 
ex
ist
ing

 co
mm

un
ity
 co

he
sio

n i
nit
iat
ive

s 
as
se
ss
ed
 to
 de

ve
lop

 pr
op
os
als

 fo
r e
ns
uri
ng
 

tha
t c
oh
es
ion

 is
 ev

ide
nc
ed
 an

d e
mb

ed
de
d 

int
o s

erv
ice

 pl
an
nin

g a
nd
 de

live
ry 
 

Us
e t
he
 O
lym

pic
 an

d P
ara

lym
pic

 G
am

es
 to
 

en
ga
ge
 co

mm
un
itie

s i
n c

ult
ura

l, s
po
rtin

g a
nd
 

ce
leb

rat
ory

 ev
en
ts:
  

Pa
rad

ise
 G
ard

en
s M

ajo
r C

om
mu

nit
y E

ve
nt 

Ju
ne
 20

09
 (C

LC
)  

Fie
ld 
Da

y /
 U
nd
era

ge
 Ev

en
t A
ug
us
t 2
00
9 

(C
LC

) 
Pe
rso

na
l B
es
t P
rog

ram
me

 an
d r
ec
rui
tin
g -
 

Ap
r 0
9 

Nic
k S

ma
les

 (D
&R

) 
De

live
ry 
Ar
ran

ge
me

nts
 an

d S
LA
s a

gre
ed
 w
ith
 

pa
rtn
er 
de
live

ry 
ag
en
cie

s- 
Ap
r 0
9 

Nic
k S

ma
les

 (D
&R

) 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny

 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
     Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d  

Cu
ltu
ral
 Se

rvi
ce
s 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
09
 

      De
c 2

00
9 

 

Pr
om

ote
 un

de
rst
an
din

g a
nd
 

aw
are

ne
ss
 of
 di
ffe
ren

t w
ay
s 

of 
life

 in
 th
e b

oro
ug
h a

nd
 

co
nti
nu
e t
o c

ha
lle
ng
e 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o p

rom
ote

 un
de
rst
an
din

g a
nd
 

aw
are

ne
ss
 of
 di
ffe
ren

t w
ay
s o

f li
fe 
in 
the

 
bo
rou

gh
 an

d c
on
tin
ue
 to
 ch

all
en
ge
 pr
eju

dic
e 

an
d d

isc
rim

ina
tio
n t
hro

ug
h E

as
t E
nd
 Li
fe.
 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny

 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
 

On
go
ing

  
   

Page 204



 
41

 

pre
jud

ice
 an

d d
isc
rim

ina
tio
n. 
 
Co

nti
nu
e t
o d

eli
ve
r a
 pr
og
ram

me
 of
 ar
ts 
an
d 

ev
en
ts 
tha

t c
ele

bra
tes

 th
e d

ive
rsi
ty 
of 
To
we

r 
Ha

ml
ets

  
He

ad
 of
 

Co
mm

un
ica

tio
ns
 

 He
ad
 of
 Ar

ts 
 

 
 

Im
pro

ve
 co

mm
un
ica

tio
n a

nd
 

tra
ns
pa
ren

cy
 of
 pr
oc
es
s t
o 

ad
dre

ss
 pe

rce
pti
on
s o

f 
un
fai
rne

ss
 an

d c
om

pe
titi
on
 

for
 re
so
urc

es
 be

tw
ee
n 

co
mm

un
itie

s. 
 

 

Us
e c

orp
ora

te 
an
d s

erv
ice

 le
ve
l 

co
mm

un
ica

tio
n m

ec
ha
nis

ms
 to
 fu
rth
er 

en
ha
nc
e t
he
 w
ay
 in
 w
hic

h d
ec
isio

ns
 ab

ou
t 

fun
din

g a
nd
 re
so
urc

e a
llo
ca
tio
n i
s 

co
mm

un
ica

ted
 to
 re
sid

en
ts.
  

He
ad
 of
 

Co
mm

un
ica

tio
ns
  

On
go
ing

 

Co
ns

ult
ati

on
 

an
d 

Pa
rti

cip
ati

on
 

 

Fu
rth
er 
en
ha
nc
e c

on
su
lta
tio
n 

an
d i
nv
olv

em
en
t 

me
ch
an
ism

s t
o e

ng
ag
e B

ME
 

co
mm

un
itie

s, 
pa
yin

g 
pa
rtic

ula
r a
tte
nti
on
 to
 sm

all
er 

mi
no
rity

 co
mm

un
itie

s a
nd
 th
e 

div
ers

ity
 w
ith
in 
lar
ge
r B

ME
 

co
mm

un
itie

s. 
  

Ad
ap
t p
art
icip

ati
on
 pe

rfo
rm
an
ce
 ta
rge

ts 
to 

en
su
re 
tha

t th
ey
 id
en
tify

 sp
ec
ific
 

un
de
rre
pre

se
nte

d e
thn

ic 
gro

up
s r
ath

er 
tha

n 
'BM

E' 
ca
teg

ori
es
 by

 M
arc

h 2
01
0 

Un
de
rta
ke
 m
ap
pin

g o
f e
ng
ag
em

en
t a
nd
 

co
ns
ult
ati
on
 w
ith
 th
e S

om
ali
 co

mm
un
ity
 

ac
ros

s T
HP

 by
 Ju

ly 
09
; a
nd
 im

ple
me

nt 
rec

om
me

nd
ati
on
s b

y M
arc

h 2
01
0 

Es
tab

lish
 up

-to
-da

te 
inf
orm

ati
on
 ab

ou
t th

ird
 

se
cto

r B
ME

 or
ga
nis

ati
on
s o

pe
rat
ing

 in
 th
e 

bo
rou

gh
 fo
r c
on
su
lta
tio
n a

nd
 in
vo
lve

me
nt 

ac
tiv
itie

s. 
W
ork

 w
ith
 Pr

ax
is 
to 
es
tab

lish
 m
od
els

 of
 

en
ga
ge
me

nt 
wit
h s

ma
lle
r m

ino
rity

 
co
mm

un
itie

s  

He
ad
 Pa

rtic
ipa

tio
n 

& E
ng
ag
em

en
t 

Te
am

 
      Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny

 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
 

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

       Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

  Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

Co
mm

un
ity

 
de

ve
lop

me
nt 

 
Fu
rth
er 
su
pp
ort
 an

d 
str
en
gth

en
 th
e c

ap
ac
ity
 of
 

BM
E t
hir
d s

ec
tor
 in
 To

we
r 

Ha
ml
ets

 pa
yin

g p
art
icu

lar
 

att
en
tio
n t
o s

ma
lle
r a
nd
 m
ore

 

Co
mp

let
e m

ap
pin

g e
xe
rci
se
 of
 th
ird
 se

cto
r 

pro
vis
ion

 
 De

live
r c
ap
ac
ity
 bu

ild
ing

 pr
og
ram

me
 fo
r th

ird
 

se
cto

r o
rga

nis
ati
on
s 

D&
R 
Ex
ter
na
l 

Fu
nd
ing

 
Ma

rch
 

20
10
 

Page 205



 
42

 

iso
lat
ed
 se

cti
on
s o

f th
e B

ME
 

co
mm

un
ity
. 

 
Str

en
gth

en
 th
e c

ap
ac
ity
 of
 

loc
al 
co
un
cill
ors

 to
 le
ad
 al
l 

se
cti
on
s o

f th
e l
oc
al 

co
mm

un
ity
 an

d g
et 
the

m 
ac
tiv
ely

 in
vo
lve

d i
n t
he
ir 

ne
igh

bo
urh

oo
ds
 an

d l
oc
al 

de
cis
ion

 m
ak
ing

.  
 

Im
ple

me
nt 
Co

un
cill
or 
Ca

ll f
or 
Ac
tio
n  

Im
ple

me
nt 
pro

gra
mm

e o
f 

Co
un
cil/
Ca

bin
et/
Co

mm
itte

e m
ee
tin
gs
 in
 

Co
mm

un
ity
 Ve

nu
es
 an

d p
ilo
t w

eb
ca
sti
ng
 

pro
jec

t  
De

ve
lop

 lo
ca
l re

sp
on
se
 to
 th
e ‘
Co

mm
un
itie

s 
in 
Co

ntr
ol’
 W
hit
e P

ap
er 
– p

rop
os
als

 dr
aft
ed
 

for
 Ap

ril 
20
09
 an

d a
cti
on
 pl
an
 de

live
red

 
thr
ou
gh
ou
t 0
9/1

0 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d- 

De
mo

cra
tic
 

Se
rvi
ce
s  

 Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny

 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s  
  

Ap
ril 
20
09
 

 fro
m 
Ma

y 
20
09
  

  Ap
ril 
20
10
 

De
mo

cra
tic

 
pa

rti
cip

ati
on

 

Im
pro

ve
 th
e r
ep
res

en
tat
ion

 
of 
sm

all
er 
BM

E c
om

mu
nit
ies

 
an
d B

ME
 w
om

en
 in
 th
e 

de
mo

cra
tic
 pr
oc
es
s a

nd
 

oth
er 
loc

al 
de
cis
ion

 m
ak
ing

 
str
uc
tur
es
. 

De
live

r F
utu

re 
W
om

en
 C
ou
nc
illo
rs 
tra
ini
ng
 

pro
gra

mm
e 

Ex
plo

re 
po
ten

tia
l to

 ap
ply

 th
e l
es
so
ns
 le
arn

t 
fro
m 
thi
s p

rog
ram

me
 to
 sm

all
er 
mi
no
rity

 
gro

up
s w

ho
 ar
e u

nd
er-
rep

res
en
ted

 in
 th
e 

de
mo

cra
tic
 pr
oc
es
s. 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d- 

De
mo

cra
tic
 

Se
rvi
ce
s 

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

Im
pro

ve
 un

de
rst
an
din

g o
f 

cu
rre
nt 
lan

gu
ag
e n

ee
ds
 an

d 
tai
lor
 th
e w

ay
 in
 w
hic

h w
e 

co
mm

un
ica

te 
wit
h p

eo
ple

 
wh

o c
an
no
t s
pe
ak
 En

gli
sh
 to
 

en
su
re 
tha

t in
ter
pre

tin
g a

nd
 

tra
ns
lat
ion

 is
 ab

le 
to 
im
pro

ve
 

ac
ce
ss
 to
 se

rvi
ce
s. 
  

Re
vie

w 
the

 ef
fec

tiv
en
es
s o

f th
e C

ou
nc
il’s
 

int
erp

ret
ing

 an
d t
ran

sla
tio
n p

rov
isio

n t
o 

im
pro

ve
 ac

ce
ss
 to
 se

rvi
ce
s a

nd
 

co
mm

un
ica

tio
n w

ith
 re
sid

en
ts 
wh

o f
ac
e 

lan
gu
ag
e b

arr
ier
s. 
  

 Ex
plo

re 
the

 po
ten

tia
l fo

r jo
int
 in
ter
pre

tin
g a

nd
 

tra
ns
lat
ion

 ar
ran

ge
me

nts
 w
ith
 pa

rtn
ers

.   

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny

 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s  
   

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

Cu
sto

me
r 

Ac
ce
ss
 

Im
pro

ve
 cu

sto
me

r a
cc
es
s f
or 

sm
all
er 
mi
no
rity

 co
mm

un
itie

s 
W
ork

 w
ith
 Pr

ax
is 
to 
be
tte
r u
nd
ers

tan
d t
he
 

ba
rrie

rs 
to 
ac
ce
ss
 fo
r s
ma

lle
r m

ino
rity

 
co
mm

un
itie

s a
nd
 de

ve
lop

 a 
mo

de
l fo

r 
im
pro

vin
g a

cc
es
s t
o s

erv
ice

s. 
   

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny

 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s/ 
Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 
 

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

Page 206



 
43

 

Cu
sto

me
r A

cc
es
s 

En
su
re 
the

 w
ork

for
ce
 to
 

ref
lec

t th
e c

om
mu

nit
y 

str
ate

gy
 in
clu

de
s i
nit
iat
ive

s t
o 

en
ga
ge
 sm

all
er 
BM

E 
co
mm

un
itie

s, 
pa
rtic

ula
rly
 in
 

fro
ntl
ine

 se
rvi
ce
s. 
 

Se
e s

ec
tio
n o

n ‘
pro

mo
tin
g e

qu
ali
ty 
as
 an

 
em

plo
ye
r’ 

 
 

 

Im
pro

ve
 ac

ce
ss
 to
 cu

ltu
ral
ly 

inc
lus

ive
 an

d a
cc
es
sib

le 
ES

OL
 pr
ov
isio

n 
De

live
r th

e E
SO

L f
or 
To
we

r H
am

let
s 

Re
sid

en
ts 
W
NF

 Fu
nd
ed
 pr
og
ram

me
 w
hic

h i
s 

pa
rt o

f a
 nu

mb
er 
of 
pa
rtn
ers

hip
 pr
oje

cts
 

su
pp
ort
ing

 em
plo

ya
bil
ity
 an

d s
kill
s a

nd
 

tac
klin

g w
ork

les
sn
es
s. 
Th
e p

rog
ram

me
 

be
gin

s i
n A

pri
l 2
00
9  

Re
vie

w 
the

 Ad
ult
 Le

arn
ing

 St
rat
eg
y a

nd
 w
ork

 
wit
h o

the
r p
art
ne
rs 
to 
rev

ise
 an

d p
ub
lish

 a 
un
ifie

d A
du
lt L

ea
rni
ng
 an

d S
kill
s S

tra
teg

y  

Ide
a S

tor
e L

ea
rni
ng
 

De
ve
lop

me
nt 

Ma
na
ge
r  

  

Ap
ril 
20
09
 

sta
rt 

  By
 Ju

ly 
20
09
 

 A 
PR

OS
PE

RO
US

 C
OM

MU
NI

TY
  

Im
pro

ve
 th
e e

co
no
mi
c 

ina
cti
vit
y r
ate

s a
mo

ng
st 
the

 
Ba
ng
lad

es
hi 
an
d S

om
ali
 

co
mm

un
ity
 pa

yin
g a

tte
nti
on
 

to 
the

 pa
rtic

ula
r b
arr
ier
s t
ha
t 

wo
me

n f
rom

 th
es
e 

co
mm

un
itie

s f
ac
e. 
 

Me
as
ure

 an
d m

on
ito
r th

e i
mp

ac
t o
f th

e 
W
ork

ing
 N
eig

hb
ou
rho

od
 Fu

nd
 by

 di
ve
rsi
ty 

gro
up
s a

t b
oth

 re
gis

tra
tio
n a

nd
 ou

tco
me

 
sta

ge
s o

n a
 qu

art
erl
y b

as
is.
 

  

Ac
ce
ss
 to
 

Em
plo

ym
en
t 

Ma
na
ge
r  

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

 
 

Ma
ke
 em

plo
ym

en
t s
erv

ice
s 

av
ail
ab
le 
in 
co
mm

un
ity
 

se
ttin

gs
, ta

rge
tin
g w

ork
les

s 
fam

ilie
s, 
en
su
rin
g t
ha
t 

sp
ec
ific
 co

mm
un
itie

s 
cu
rre
ntl
y f
ac
ing

 ex
clu

sio
n a

re 
tar
ge
ted

. 

Co
nti
nu
e t
he
 C
ity
 St
rat
eg
y i
nit
iat
ive

 to
 

de
ve
lop

 a 
fam

ily 
foc

us
se
d a

pp
roa

ch
 to
 

tac
klin

g w
ork

les
sn
es
s b

y i
nte

gra
tin
g 

em
plo

ym
en
t re

lat
ed
 ac

tiv
ity
 in
to 
 fa
mi
ly 
an
d 

pa
ren

tal
 en

ga
ge
me

nt 
(60

0 r
es
ide

nts
 in
to 

em
plo

ym
en
t - 
 M
arc

h 2
01
0) 

Ac
ce
ss
 to
 

Em
plo

ym
en
t 

Ma
na
ge
r 

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

Page 207



 
44

 

De
ve
lop

 an
 up

-to
-da

te 
an
d 

de
tai
led

 un
de
rst
an
din

g o
f th

e 
pro

file
 an

d c
au
sa
tio
n o

f 
wo

rkl
es
sn
es
s a

mo
ng
 BM

E 
co
mm

un
itie

s i
n t
he
 bo

rou
gh
. 

Pu
bli
sh
 “w

ork
les

sn
es
s a

ss
es
sm

en
t” a

s p
art
 of
 

the
 pr
ep
ara

tio
n o

f th
e E

co
no
mi
c A

ss
es
sm

en
t 

ev
ide

nc
e b

as
e. 

   

Ac
ce
ss
 to
 

Em
plo

ym
en
t 

Ma
na
ge
r 

 

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

Im
pro

ve
 th
e u

nd
er-

rep
res

en
tat
ion

 of
 BM

E 
co
mm

un
itie

s i
n k

ey
 

em
plo

ym
en
t s
ec
tor
s b

y 
pro

mo
tin
g t
he
 be

st 
pra

cti
ce
 

in 
rel
ati
on
 w
ork

for
ce
 to
 

ref
lec

t th
e c

om
mu

nit
y a

nd
 

en
co
ura

gin
g a

nd
 w
ork

ing
 

wit
h m

ajo
r o
rga

nis
ati
on
s i
n 

the
 bo

rou
gh
 to
 ad

op
t s
im
ila
r 

ini
tia
tiv
es
.  

Pr
om

ote
 ac

tiv
itie

s a
nd
 de

ve
lop

 pr
og
ram

me
s 

thr
ou
gh
 th
e D

oc
kla

nd
s H

R 
Ini
tia
tiv
e a

nd
 th
e 

Do
ck
lan

d B
us
ine

ss
 Fo

rum
  

 Pu
bli
sh
 m
ore

 w
ide

ly 
the

 ou
tco

me
s o

f 
Sk
ills
ma

tch
/JC

P a
nd
 3r

d  s
ec
tor
 em

plo
ym

en
t 

sc
he
me

s  
 

Ac
ce
ss
 to
 

Em
plo

ym
en
t 

Ma
na
ge
r 

 

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

Ma
xim

ise
 em

plo
ym

en
t, 

pla
ce
me

nt,
 ap

pre
nti
ce
sh
ip 

an
d t
rai
nin

g o
pp
ort
un
itie

s 
am

on
gs
t w

ork
les

s p
eo
ple

 in
 

the
 pu

bli
c s

ec
tor
, b
uil
din

g o
n 

ex
ist
ing

 go
od
 pr
ac
tic
e w

ith
in 

the
 C
ou
nc
il a

nd
 H
ea
lth
 

se
rvi
ce
s. 

Ex
pa
nd
ing

 ap
pre

nti
ce
 sc

he
me

 to
 20

0 l
oc
al 

yo
un
g p

eo
ple

 by
 20

11
 (H

R)
 

Inc
rea

se
 th
e n

um
be
r o
f p
ub
lic 
se
cto

r 
ap
pre

nti
ce
sh
ips

 by
 50

 
Ho

ld 
joi
nt 
ev
en
t w

ith
 JC

P t
o i
nc
rea

se
 

em
plo

ym
en
t in

 th
e P

ub
lic 
Se
cto

r.  
 

Jo
int
 As

sis
tan

t 
Dir

ec
tor
 

Or
ga
nis

ati
on
al 

De
ve
lop

me
nt,
 

W
ork

for
ce
 St
rat
eg
y 

& E
qu
ali
tie
s 

 Ac
ce
ss
 to
 

Em
plo

ym
en
t 

Ma
na
ge
r 

Ma
rch

 
20
11
 

 Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

 Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

 

Su
pp
ort
 qu

ali
fie
d B

ME
 

res
ide

nts
 to
 be

tte
r a
cc
es
s 

pro
fes

sio
na
l jo

bs
 

Im
ple

me
nt 
the

 ac
tio
n p

lan
 w
ith
in 
the

 
Em

plo
ym

en
t S
tra
teg

y 
De

live
r th

e E
mp

loy
me

nt 
Str

ate
gy
 to
 en

su
re 

tha
t T
ow

er 
Ha

ml
ets

 re
sid

en
ts 
ac
ce
ss
 ne

w 
an
d e

xis
tin
g j
ob
s a

nd
 th
ere

by
 re
du
ce
 th
e 

Ac
ce
ss
 to
 

Em
plo

ym
en
t 

Ma
na
ge
r 

Ma
rch

 
20
11
 

Page 208



 
45

 

nu
mb

ers
 of
 pe

op
le 
on
 ou

t o
f w

ork
 be

ne
fits

 
 

Im
pro

ve
 th
e q

ua
lific

ati
on
 an

d 
sk
ills
 le
ve
ls 
of 
Ba
ng
lad

es
hi 

an
d S

om
ali
 ad

ult
s i
n T

ow
er 

Ha
ml
ets

.  

Re
vie

w 
the

 Ad
ult
 Le

arn
ing

 St
rat
eg
y a

nd
 w
ork

 
wit
h o

the
r p
art
ne
rs 
to 
rev

ise
 an

d p
ub
lish

 a 
un
ifie

d A
du
lt L

ea
rni
ng
 an

d S
kill
s S

tra
teg

y 
 

Ide
a S

tor
e L

ea
rni
ng
 

De
ve
lop

me
nt 

Ma
na
ge
r  

 

Ju
ly 
20
09
 

 

Ra
ise

 bo
th 
as
pir
ati
on
s a

nd
 

sk
ills
 of
 BM

E c
hil
dre

n a
nd
 

yo
un
g p

eo
ple

 m
ak
e 

su
cc
es
sfu

l tr
an
sit
ion

s f
rom

 
ed
uc
ati
on
 to
 w
ork

 th
rou

gh
 

mo
re 
eff
ec
tiv
e l
ea
rni
ng
, 

ad
vic
e a

nd
 gu

ida
nc
e a

nd
 

su
pp
ort
.   

Re
du
ce
 le
ve
ls 
of 
yo
uth

 un
em

plo
ym

en
t b
y 

ag
ree

ing
 a 
14
-19

 se
cto

r p
ath

wa
y t
o 

em
plo

ym
en
t w

ith
 lo
ca
l e
mp

loy
ers

, li
nk
ed
 to
 al
l 

14
 D
ipl
om

a l
ine

s o
f le

arn
ing

, a
nd
 pr
ov
ide

 
tar
ge
ted

 le
arn

ing
 pr
og
ram

me
s f
or 
ea
ch
 

sig
nif
ica

nt 
gro

up
 of
 14

-18
 le
arn

ers
 at
 ris

k o
f 

be
co
mi
ng
 N
EE

T 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d-

Yo
un
g P

eo
ple

 an
d 

Le
arn

ing
 

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

Ad
dre

ss
 th
e s

pe
cif
ic 
un
de
r-

ac
hie

ve
me

nt 
of 
wh

ite
 an

d 
So
ma

li c
om

mu
nit
ies

 ac
ros

s 
all
 Ke

y S
tag

es
.  

Ad
dre

ss
 th
e u

nd
er-

ac
hie

ve
me

nt 
of 
wh

ite
, 

Ca
rib
be
an
 an

d B
an
gla

de
sh
i 

bo
ys
 pa

rtic
ula

rly
 at
 Ke

y 
Sta

ge
 4.
   

Ide
nti
fy 
the

 lo
we

st 
ac
hie

vin
g 2

0%
 of
 pu

pil
s, 

tar
ge
t e
vid

en
ce
 ba

se
d i
nte

rve
nti
on
 an

d 
ex
ten

de
d s

ch
oo
l s
up
po
rt a

pp
rop

ria
tel
y, 
an
d 

rig
oro

us
ly 
tra
ck
 th
em

. 

Na
tio
na
l S
ec
on
da
ry 

Str
ate

gy
 M
an
ag
er 

He
ad
 of
 Et
hn
ic 

Mi
no
rity

 
Ac
hie

ve
me

nt 
Sc
ho
ol 

De
ve
lop

me
nt 

Ad
vis
er-
Pr
im
ary

 
He

ad
 of
 

Co
mm

un
ity
 

La
ng
ua
ge
 Se

rvi
ce
 

Ma
rch

 
20
11
 

 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o i
mp

rov
e t
he
 

rep
res

en
tat
ion

 of
 BM

E 
tea

ch
ers

 in
 lo
ca
l s
ch
oo
ls 

pa
yin

g p
art
icu

lar
 at
ten

tio
n t
o 

To
 in
cre

as
e t
he
 pe

rce
nta

ge
 of
 BM

E t
ea
ch
ers

 
to 
30
% 
(cu

rre
ntl
y 2

9.2
%)
. 

  En
co
ura

ge
 m
ore

 m
em

be
rs 
of 
the

 So
ma

li 

De
ve
lop

me
nt 
Mg

r 
for
 Sc

ho
ols

 
Eq
ua
litie

s I
nit
iat
ive

 
Fe
b 2

01
0 

Page 209



 
46

 

pro
mo

te 
tea

ch
ing

 as
 a 
ca
ree

r 
to 
sm

all
er 
mi
no
rity

 
co
mm

un
itie

s. 
co
mm

un
ity
 to
 co

ns
ide

r te
ac
hin

g a
s a

 ca
ree

r 
by
 ta
rge

ted
 ca

mp
aig

nin
g. 

  
 

Inc
rea

se
 th
e p

erc
en
tag

e o
f 

BM
E t
ea
ch
ers

 m
ov
ing

 in
to 

lea
de
rsh

ip 
po
sit
ion

s 
De

live
r a
 pi
lot
 m
an
ag
em

en
t d
ev
elo

pm
en
t 

pro
gra

mm
e f
or 
24
 BM

E t
ea
ch
ers

. T
he
 fir
st 

co
ho
rt t
o c

on
sis
t o
f tw

elv
e t
ea
ch
ers

 as
pir
ing

 
to 
be
co
me

 m
an
ag
ers

 an
d a

 se
co
nd
 co

ho
rt o

f 
tw
elv

e e
xis
tin
g m

idd
le 
ma

na
ge
rs 
wa

nti
ng
 to
 

mo
ve
 in
to 
se
nio

r le
ad
ers

hip
. 

De
ve
lop

me
nt 
Mg

r 
for
 Sc

ho
ols

 
Eq
ua
litie

s I
nit
iat
ive

 
Fe
b 2

01
0 

  A 
GR

EA
T 

PL
AC

E 
TO

 L
IV

E 
 

Ov
erc

ro
wd

ing
: R

ed
uc
e 

lev
els

 of
 ov

erc
row

din
g a

nd
 

wo
rk 
in 
pa
rtn
ers

hip
 to
 

mi
nim

ise
 th
e w

ide
r im

pa
cts

 
of 
ov
er-
cro

wd
ing

. 
 

D&
R:
 H
ou
sin

g S
tra
teg

y  
Im
ple

me
nt 
the

 re
co
mm

en
da
tio
ns
 of
 th
e 

Ov
erc

row
din

g P
ath

fin
de
r U

pd
ate

 R
ep
ort
. 

 Pr
od
uc
e a

n O
ve
rcr
ow

din
g S

tra
teg

y a
nd
 

un
de
rta
ke
 an

 ac
co
mp

an
yin

g E
qIA

  

Str
ate

gic
 H
ou
sin

g 
Ma

na
ge
r 

Se
pt 
20
09
 

   Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

De
ma

nd
 an

d A
ffo

rd
ab

ilit
y: 

Im
pro

ve
 un

de
rst
an
din

g o
f th

e 
fut
ure

 ho
us
ing

 de
ma

nd
 an

d 
ne
ed
s o

f B
ME

 co
mm

un
itie

s 
in 
the

 bo
rou

gh
 an

d e
ns
ure

 
tha

t th
ey
 ef
fec

tiv
ely

 in
for
m 

the
 pl
an
nin

g o
f fu

tur
e 

ho
us
ing

 pr
ov
isio

n. 
 

Re
vie

w 
the

 Le
ttin

gs
 Po

licy
 w
ith
 pa

rtic
ula

r 
ref
ere

nc
e t
o t
he
 cu

rre
nt/
 fu
tur
e n

ee
ds
 of
 th
e 

BM
E c

om
mu

nit
ies

 
 

Str
ate

gic
 H
ou
sin

g 
Ma

na
ge
r 

De
c 2

00
9 

 

Ac
ce

ss
: E

ns
ure

 th
ere

 is
 

eq
ua
l a
cc
es
s t
o s

oc
ial
 

ho
us
ing

 fo
r B

ME
 

co
mm

un
itie

s f
ac
ing

 la
ng
ua
ge

 
ba
rrie

rs 
or 
ma

y f
ind

 it 
mo

re 
dif
fic
ult
 to
 un

de
rst
an
d t
he
 

sy
ste

m.
  

Un
de
rta
ke
 Eq

ua
lity
 Im

pa
ct 
As
se
ss
me

nt 
of 

Ch
oic

e B
as
ed
 Le

ttin
gs
  

 

Str
ate

gic
 H
ou
sin

g 
Ma

na
ge
r 

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

Page 210



 
47

 

 
Ho

me
les

sn
es

s: 
Im
pro

ve
 

ou
tco

me
s f
or 
dis

ad
va
nta

ge
d 

an
d v

uln
era

ble
 gr
ou
ps
 in
 

ho
us
ing

 ne
ed
, a
nd
 en

su
re 

loc
al 
se
rvi
ce
s (
e.g

. h
os
tel
) 

are
 fo
cu
se
d o

n l
oc
al 
ne
ed
s. 

De
live

r y
ea
r 1
-3 
of 
the

 H
om

ele
ss
ne
ss
 

Str
ate

gy
 

    

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d O

lde
r 

Pe
op
le 
& 

Ho
me

les
sn
es
s 

On
go
ing

 

Le
isu

re:
 C
on
tin
ue
 to

 
pro

mo
te 
ac
ce
ss
 to
 le
isu

re 
fac

iliti
es
 fo
r B

ME
 gr
ou
ps
 

pa
yin

g p
art
icu

lar
 at
ten

tio
n t
o 

dif
fer
en
t s
ec
tio
ns
 of
 la
rge

r 
BM

E c
om

mu
nit
ies

 an
d 

sm
all
er 
BM

E c
om

mu
nit
ies

 
 

W
ork

 w
ith
 co

mm
un
ity
 gr
ou
ps
, s
uc
h a

s P
rax

is,
 

to 
en
ha
nc
e c

om
mu

nic
ati
on
 of
 av

ail
ab
le 

op
po
rtu
nit
ies

 to
 le
isu

re 
fac

iliti
es
 

   Be
tte
r c
om

mu
nic

ate
 an

d p
rom

ote
 w
ha
t’s
 on

 
off
er 
for
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 

Le
isu

re 
Co

ntr
ac
ts 
& 

Pa
rtn
ers

hip
 

Ma
na
ge
r/ J

oin
t 

He
ad
 of
 Sp

ort
s &

 
Ph
ys
ica

l A
cti
vit
ies

 
 Le
isu

re 
Co

ntr
ac
ts 
& 

Pa
rtn
ers

hip
 

Ma
na
ge
r/ J

oin
t 

He
ad
 of
 Sp

ort
s &

 
Ph
ys
ica

l A
cti
vit
ies

 

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o p

rov
ide

 cu
ltu
ral
ly 

ap
pro

pri
ate

 le
isu

re 
fac

iliti
es
 

for
 BM

E w
om

en
  

De
live

r p
rog

ram
me

 as
 pa

rt o
f H

ea
lth
y T

ow
ns
 

to 
pro

vid
e w

om
en
 & 
gir
ls 
sw
im
mi
ng
 

pro
gra

mm
e c

om
me

nc
ing

 Ap
ril 
20
09
 -2
01
1  

Le
isu

re 
Co

ntr
ac
ts 
& 

Pa
rtn
ers

hip
 

Ma
na
ge
r/ J

oin
t 

He
ad
 of
 Sp

ort
s &

 
Ph
ys
ica

l A
cti
vit
ies

 

Co
mm

en
ce
 

Ap
ril 
20
09
 

 

W
ork

 w
ith
 lo
ca
l c
om

mu
nit
ies

 
to 
im
pro

ve
 th
e r
ep
res

en
tat
ion

 
of 
sm

all
er 
BM

E c
om

mu
nit
ies

 
wo

rki
ng
 in
 le
isu

re 
se
rvi
ce
s 

an
d a

dd
res

s d
iffi
cu
ltie

s i
n 

rec
rui
tin
g B

ME
 fe
ma

le 
lei
su
re 
sta

ff. 

De
live

r p
rog

ram
me

 as
 pa

rt o
f H

ea
lth
y T

ow
ns
 

to 
pro

vid
e w

om
en
 & 
gir
ls 
sw
im
mi
ng
 

pro
gra

mm
e c

om
me

nc
ing

 Ap
ril 
20
09
 -2
01
1, 

aim
ed
 at
 th
os
e i
nd
ivid

ua
ls 
wh

o a
re 
int
ere

ste
d 

in 
fur
the

r d
ev
elo

pm
en
t. 

 Ap
pro

ac
h t
o b

e r
ev
iew

ed
 ba

se
d o

n f
ee
db
ac
k 

fro
m 
foc

us
/lo
ca
l g
rou

ps
 

 W
ork

ing
 w
ith
 M
us
lim

 W
om

en
’s 
Co

lle
cti
ve
 to
 

en
co
ura

ge
 em

plo
ym

en
t o
f M

us
lim

 w
om

en
 in
 

Le
isu

re 
Co

ntr
ac
ts 
& 

Pa
rtn
ers

hip
 

Ma
na
ge
r/ J

oin
t 

He
ad
 of
 Sp

ort
s &

 
Ph
ys
ica

l A
cti
vit
ies

  
    He

ad
 St
rat
eg
y a

nd
 

Re
so
urc

es
, C

LC
 

Co
mm

en
ce
 

Ap
ril 
20
09
 

    Ma
r 2
01
0 

  Ma
r 2
01
0 

Page 211



 
48

 

fro
ntl
ine

 le
isu

re 
se
rvi
ce
s. 

 
Th
e P

CT
 an

d L
eis

ure
 

se
rvi
ce
s t
o w

ork
 in
 

pa
rtn
ers

hip
 to
 pr
om

ote
 

he
alt
h l
ife
sty

les
 an

d 
en
co
ura

ge
 ph

ys
ica

l a
cti
vit
y 

am
on
gs
t B
ME

 gr
ou
ps
 w
ho
 

su
ffe
r th

e h
igh

es
t 

pre
ve
nta

ble
 he

alt
h r
isk
s. 
 

W
ork

ing
 in
 pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w
ith
 PC

T, 
ref
res

h J
oin

t 
Str

ate
gic

 N
ee
ds
 An

aly
sis
, in

clu
din

g s
pe
cif
ic 

foc
us
 on

 un
de
r-r
ep
res

en
ted

 gr
ou
ps
. 

 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 & 

Str
ate

gy
 

Ju
ly 
20
10
 

 A 
SA

FE
 &

 S
UP

PO
RT

IV
E 

CO
MM

UN
IT

Y 
 

Vic
tim

s a
nd
 

pe
rpe

tra
tor
s o

f 
cri
me

 
W
ork

 w
ith
 st
rat
eg
ies

 to
 

su
pp
ort
 vi
cti
ms

 an
d 

pe
rpe

tra
tor
s o

f c
rim

e t
o 

res
po
nd
 to
 th
e o

ve
r-

rep
res

en
tat
ion

 of
 Bl
ac
k a

nd
 

As
ian

 m
en
 as

 pe
rpe

tra
tor
s 

an
d v

ict
im
s o

f s
om

e c
rim

es
.  

 

Im
ple

me
nt 
the

 Yo
uth

 C
rim

e A
cti
on
 Pl
an
, 

ide
nti
fyi
ng
 di
sa
ffe
cte

d y
ou
ng
 pe

op
le 
on
 th
e 

ed
ge
s o

f c
rim

e, 
an
d w

ork
ing

 w
ith
 th
em

 th
eir
 

fam
ilie
s, 
an
d s

ch
oo
ls 
to 
re-
en
ga
ge
 th
em

 w
ith
 

the
 co

mm
un
ity
 

 Pr
op
os
e p

oli
cy
 is
su
e t
o C

DR
P f
or 

co
ns
ide

rat
ion

 at
 th
e a

utu
mn

 re
vie

w 
pro

ce
ss
 

(as
 it 
is 
cu
rre
ntl
y t
oo
 la
te 
to 
for
 th
is 
up
co
mi
ng
 

ye
ar’
s C

DR
P)
.  D

ev
elo

p a
nd
 im

ple
me

nt 
ac
tio
ns
 th
at 
em

erg
e f
rom

 th
e r
ev
iew

 pr
oc
es
s 

in 
the

 C
DR

P A
cti
on
 Pl
an
 fo
r 2
01
0/1

1 

Yo
uth

 O
ffe
nd
ing

 
Te
am

 
 Po
lice

/Vi
cti
m 

Su
pp
ort
. 

 Ph
ilip
pa
 C
hip

pin
g, 

Po
licy

 & 
Vic

tim
s, 

Co
mm

un
ity
 Sa

fet
y 

Se
rvi
ce
, C

LC
 

      Au
tum

n 
20
09
 

Sto
p a

nd
 

se
arc

h 
De

mo
ns
tra
te 
fai
rne

ss
 an

d 
tra
ns
pa
ren

cy
 of
 pr
oc
es
s i
n 

the
 ap

pli
ca
tio
n o

f s
top

 an
d 

se
arc

h i
n T

ow
er 
Ha

ml
ets

. 

W
ork

 w
ith
 th
e D

ive
rsi
ty 
an
d E

qu
ali
ty 
Ne

tw
ork

 
to 
eq
ua
lity
 im

pa
ct 
as
se
ss
 th
e a

pp
lica

tio
n o

f 
sto

p a
nd
 se

arc
h i
n T

ow
er 
Ha

ml
ets

 to
 

de
mo

ns
tra
te 
fai
rne

ss
 an

d t
ran

sp
are

nc
y a

nd
 

im
pro

ve
 pu

bli
c c

on
fid
en
ce
. 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny

 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s  
Ma

rch
 

20
10
 

Ha
te 
Cr
im
e  

En
su
re 
tha

t v
ict
im
s o

f ra
ce
 

ha
te 
cri
me

 ha
ve
 ac

ce
ss
 to
 

ap
pro

pri
ate

 pr
ote

cti
on
 an

d 
su
pp
ort
 an

d p
rev

en
t ra

ce
 

ha
te 
thr
ou
gh
 pr
om

oti
ng
 

Ra
ce
 an

d H
ate

 In
ter
ag
en
cy
 Fo

rum
 (R

HI
AF

) 
Ac
tio
n P

lan
 se

ts 
ou
t h
ow

 th
e p

art
ne
rsh

ip 
wil
l 

tac
kle

 R
ac
e H

ate
 In
cid

en
ts.
 Ke

y a
cti
on
s f
or 

the
 H
CP

PT
 ar
e a

s f
oll
ow

s: 
 

 

LB
TH

 C
SS

 H
ate

 
Cr
im
e P

oli
cy
 & 

Pa
rtn
ers

hip
 Te

am
 

 

Ma
rch

 
20
10
 

Page 212



 
49

 

aw
are

ne
ss
, e
nc
ou
rag

ing
 

rep
ort
ing

 an
d b

uil
din

g 
co
mm

un
ity
 co

he
sio

n a
cro

ss
 

all
 co

mm
un
itie

s. 
 

Ma
int
ain

 an
d d

ev
elo

p t
he
 Th

ird
 Pa

rty
 

Re
po
rtin

g P
roj
ec
t to

 in
cre

as
e r
ep
ort
ing

 of
 

ha
te 
inc

ide
nts

 an
d f
os
ter
 ef
fec

tiv
e j
oin

t 
wo

rki
ng
 am

on
gs
t p
art
ne
r a
ge
nc
ies

 in
vo
lve

d 
wh

ere
 10

0%
 of
 Th

ird
 Pa

rty
 R
ep
ort
s m

on
ito
red

 
an
d a

cti
on
ed
 (b
as
eli
ne
 of
 18

). 
 If f
un
din

g c
on
firm

ed
 co

mm
iss
ion

 sp
ec
ial
ist
 

ha
te 
cri
me

 vi
cti
m 
su
pp
ort
 se

rvi
ce
s w

he
re 

10
0%

 of
 ha

te 
inc

ide
nts

 re
po
rte
d t
o P

oli
ce
 ar
e 

co
nta

cte
d a

nd
 50

% 
en
ga
ge
d w

ith
 se

rvi
ce
. 

 Im
ple

me
nt 
rec

om
me

nd
ati
on
s f
rom

 H
ate

 
Cr
im
e V

ict
im
’s 
Ne

ed
s R

es
ea
rch

 R
ep
ort

 fo
r 

inc
rea

se
d s

ati
sfa

cti
on
 w
ith
 se

rvi
ce
s b

y v
ict
im
s 

of 
ha
te 
cri
me

 m
ea
su
red

 th
rou

gh
 sa

tis
fac

tio
n 

qu
es
tio
nn
air
es
. 

 wo
rk 
wit
h p

art
ne
rs 
in 
en
su
rin
g r
ac
e h

ate
 

inc
ide

nts
 ar
e r
ec
ord

ed
 ef
fec

tiv
ely

. 
 wo

rk 
wit
h p

art
ne
rs 
to 
en
su
re 
10
0%

 of
 

ide
nti
fie
d p

erp
etr
ato

rs 
of 
rac

e h
ate

 in
cid

en
ts 

rep
ort
ed
 to
 th
e C

ou
nc
il a

re 
ac
tio
ne
d. 
 

 wo
rk 
wit
h p

art
ne
rs 
to 
en
su
re 
38
% 
sa
nc
tio
n 

de
tec

tio
n r
ate

 fo
r p
erp

etr
ato

rs 
of 
rac

e h
ate

 
(Th

is 
tar
ge
t is

 to
 be

 ac
hie

ve
d b

y t
he
 Po

lice
). 

 Co
ord

ina
te 
Ha

te 
Inc

ide
nts

 Pa
ne
l - 
mu

lti-
ag
en
cy
 pa

ne
l w
hic

h e
ns
ure

s a
 co

ord
ina

ted
 

res
po
ns
e t
o a

ll r
ac
e h

ate
 in
cid

en
ts 
rep

ort
ed
 to
 

Co
un
cil.
 

Page 213



 
50

 

 If f
un
din

g c
on
firm

ed
 m
ain

tai
n a

nd
 de

ve
lop

 th
e 

No
 Pl
ac
e f
or 
Ha

te 
Ch

am
pio

ns
 Pr

oje
ct 
wh

ere
 

3 t
arg

ete
d h

ate
 cr
im
e t
rai
nin

g, 
wo

rks
ho
ps
 an

d 
ou
tre
ac
h a

cti
vit
ies

 de
live

red
 pe

r C
ha
mp

ion
. 

 De
live

r a
wa

ren
es
s c

am
pa
ign

 pr
om

oti
ng
 cl
ea
r 

me
ss
ag
es
 th
at 
To
we

r H
am

let
s i
s N

o P
lac

e f
or 

Ha
te 
inc

lud
ing

 R
ac
e H

ate
 – 
10
0%

 in
cre

as
e i
n 

sig
n u

p t
o N

PF
H 
Ple

dg
e (
ba
se
lin
e o

f 5
0),
 24

 
ou
tre
ac
h a

cti
vit
ies

 (in
clu

din
g B

ME
, re

fug
ee
, 

ne
wc
om

er 
co
mm

un
itie

s a
nd
 ev

en
ts)
 an

d 
Ev
alu

ati
on
 R
ep
ort
. 

Do
me

sti
c 

vio
len

ce
 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o d

eli
ve
r a
nd
 

fur
the

r d
ev
elo

p c
ult
ura

lly 
ap
pro

pri
ate

 re
sp
on
se
s t
o 

do
me

sti
c v

iol
en
ce
. 

Up
da
te 
pu
bli
c i
nfo

rm
ati
on
 le
afl
et 
on
 Fo

rce
d 

Ma
rria

ge
 to
 re
fle
ct 
ne
w 
leg

isla
tio
n. 

En
su
re 
tha

t W
arr
ior
 W
om

en
 pr
og
ram

me
s 

co
nti
nu
e t
o r
ea
ch
 ta
rge

t c
om

mu
nit
ies

 
inc

lud
ing

 ne
w 
mi
gra

nt 
co
mm

un
itie

s a
nd
 

So
ma

li w
om

en
 

Ma
rya

m 
Ro

uf,
 

Do
me

sti
c V

iol
en
ce
 

Te
am

, C
om

mu
nit
y 

Sa
fet
y S

erv
ice

, 
CL

C 

Se
pt 
20
10
 

 A 
HE

AL
TH

Y 
CO

MM
UN

IT
Y 

 
He

alt
hy
 

life
sty

les
:   

He
alt
hy
 lif
es
tyl
es
 an

d 
sm

ok
ing

 ce
ss
ati
on
:  F

urt
he
r 

tai
lor
 sp

ec
ific
all
y t
arg

ete
d 

cu
ltu
ral
ly 
ap
pro

pri
ate

 he
alt
h 

ca
mp

aig
ns
 to
 im

pro
ve
 

aw
are

ne
ss
 of
 sp

ec
ific
 he

alt
h 

ris
ks
 an

d p
rom

ote
 he

alt
hy
 

life
sty

les
 am

on
g s

pe
cif
ic 

BM
E g

rou
ps
 w
ho
 ex

pe
rie
nc
e 

se
rio
us
 he

alt
h r
isk
s 

  

Em
plo

y a
 Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

’s 
Alc

oh
ol 
He

alt
h 

Im
pro

ve
me

nt 
Of
fic
er 
to 
pro

vid
e t
rai
nin

g f
or 

tea
ch
ers

 an
d y

ou
th 
wo

rke
rs 
to 
be
 ab

le 
to 

de
live

r a
lco

ho
l a
wa

ren
es
s m

es
sa
ge
s t
o 

yo
un
g p

eo
ple

 
Pr
ev
en
t y
ou
ng
 pe

op
le 
fro
m 
tak

ing
 up

 sm
ok
ing

 
by
 en

for
cin

g t
he
 la
w 
on
 un

de
rag

e s
ale

s o
f 

cig
are

tte
s a

nd
 ex

ten
din

g p
ee
r le

d a
pp
roa

ch
es
 

to 
sm

ok
ing

 pr
ev
en
tio
n. 

 Iss
ue
s t
o b

e p
ick
ed
 w
ork

ing
 in
 pa

rtn
ers

hip
 

wit
h P

CT
 an

d r
efr
es
h o

f J
oin

t S
tra
teg

ic 
Ne

ed
s 

Pe
er 
W
ork

 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

W
ork

er,
 C
S 

       Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 & 

Ju
ly 
20
10
 

Page 214



 
51

 

 
An
aly

sis
, in

clu
din

g s
pe
cif
ic 
foc

us
 on

 un
de
r-

rep
res

en
ted

 gr
ou
ps
. 

Str
ate

gy
 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o i
mp

rov
e a

cc
es
s 

to 
tre
atm

en
t s
erv

ice
s 

am
on
gs
t d
iffe

ren
t B
ME

 
co
mm

un
itie

s a
nd
 de

ve
lop

 
ini
tia
tiv
es
 to
 re
ac
h o

ut 
to 

un
de
r-r
ep
res

en
ted

 gr
ou
ps
 

an
d B

ME
 w
om

en
 

Ev
alu

ate
 tre

atm
en
t s
ys
tem

 to
 en

su
re 
it m

ee
ts 

the
 ne

ed
s o

f a
ll s
ec
tio
ns
 of
 To

we
r H

am
let
s 

div
ers

e c
om

mu
nit
y (
DA

AT
 TP

) 
Dr
ug
 & 
Alc

oh
ol 

Ac
tio
n T

ea
m,
 

Co
mm

un
ity
 Sa

fet
y 

Se
rvi
ce
, C

LC
 

Ma
r 2
01
0 

De
ve
lop

 cu
ltu
ral
ly 

ap
pro

pri
ate

 st
rat
eg
ies

 to
 

wo
rk 
wit
h B

ME
 fa
mi
lie
s i
n t
he
 

sa
feg

ua
rdi
ng
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 
fro
m 
ge
ttin

g i
nv
olv

ed
 in
 dr
ug
 

mi
su
se
 an

d s
up
po
rt f
am

ilie
s 

ex
pe
rie
nc
ing

 dr
ug
 ad

dic
tio
n. 
 

  

Re
-st
ruc

tur
e o

f D
IP 
Se
rvi
ce
 to
 im

pro
ve
 

ac
ce
ss
 an

d e
ng
ag
em

en
t in

 tre
atm

en
t fo

r a
ll 

DI
P c

lie
nts

 (D
AA

T T
P)
 

 Im
pro

ve
d d

ata
 re
co
rdi
ng
 an

d a
na
lys
is 
of 

eff
ec
tiv
en
es
s o

f D
rug

 In
ter
ve
nti
on
s 

Pr
og
ram

me
 (D

AA
T T

P)
 

 Ide
nti
fy 
ea
rly
 hi
dd
en
 po

ck
ets

 of
 dr
ug
 an

d 
alc

oh
ol 
mi
su
se
 in
 di
ffe
ren

t c
om

mu
nit
ies

 
ed
uc
ati
ng
 ta
rge

t g
rou

ps
 of
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 in
 

sc
ho
ol 
an
d t
he
ir p

are
nts

 
 Im
ple

me
nt 
the

 Yo
uth

 C
rim

e A
cti
on
 Pl
an
, 

ide
nti
fyi
ng
 di
sa
ffe
cte

d y
ou
ng
 pe

op
le 
on
 th
e 

ed
ge
s o

f c
rim

e, 
an
d w

ork
ing

 w
ith
 th
em

 th
eir
 

fam
ilie
s, 
an
d s

ch
oo
ls 
to 
re-
en
ga
ge
 th
em

 w
ith
 

the
 co

mm
un
ity
 

 

Dr
ug
 & 
Alc

oh
ol 

Ac
tio
n T

ea
m,
 

Co
mm

un
ity
 Sa

fet
y 

Se
rvi
ce
, C

LC
 

    Dr
ug
 Ac

tio
n T

ea
m 

Yo
uth

 In
clu

sio
n 

Pr
og
ram

me
 

 Yo
uth

 O
ffe
nd
ing

 
Te
am

 
 Po
lice

/Vi
cti
m 

Su
pp
ort
. 

 

Ju
n 2

00
9 

  Ma
r 2
01
0 

Dr
ug
s 

Im
pro

ve
 un

de
rst
an
din

g o
f th

e 
im
pa
ct 
of 
all
 cu

rre
nt 
dru

g u
se
 

(no
t ju

st 
pro

ble
m 
dru

g u
se
), 

inc
lud

ing
 th
e u

se
 of
 Kh

at 
am

on
gs
t th

e S
om

ali
 

Im
pro

ve
 co

-or
din

ati
on
 an

d d
eli
ve
ry 
of 

ed
uc
ati
on
 an

d a
wa

ren
es
s i
n t
he
 co

mm
un
ity
, 

sc
ho
ols

 an
d i
n L

AP
s (
DA

AT
 TP

) 
 Im
pro

ve
 co

mm
un
ica

tio
n a

nd
 pu

bli
cit
y o

f 

Dr
ug
 & 
Alc

oh
ol 

Ac
tio
n T

ea
m,
 

Co
mm

un
ity
 Sa

fet
y 

Se
rvi
ce
, C

LC
 

Ma
r 2
01
0 

Page 215



 
52

 

 
co
mm

un
ity
, a
nd
 as

so
cia

ted
 

ha
rm
 on

 di
ffe
ren

t B
ME

 
co
mm

un
itie

s l
oc
all
y. 
 

DA
AT

 se
rvi
ce
s a

nd
 in
itia

tiv
es
 to
 bo

th 
int
ern

al 
an
d e

xte
rna

l p
art
ne
rs 
(D
AA

T T
P)
 

Me
nta

l h
ea
lth
: 

Me
nta

l h
ea
lth
: Im

pro
ve
 th
e 

un
de
rst
an
din

g o
f m

en
tal
 

he
alt
h n

ee
ds
 of
 BM

E 
co
mm

un
itie

s a
nd
 st
ren

gth
en
 

the
 ac

ce
ss
ibi
lity
 an

d d
eli
ve
ry 

of 
me

nta
l h
ea
lth
 se

rvi
ce
s t
o 

the
 BM

E c
om

mu
nit
y. 
 

 

De
live

r s
erv

ice
s i
n m

ore
 ac

ce
ss
ibl
e s

ett
ing

s i
n 

the
 co

mm
un
ity
 su

ch
 as

 C
hil
dre

n’s
 ce

ntr
es
, 

sc
ho
ols

 an
d G

P s
urg

eri
es
 

 W
ork

ing
 in
 pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w
ith
 PC

T, 
ref
res

h J
oin

t 
Str

ate
gic

 N
ee
ds
 An

aly
sis
, in

clu
din

g s
pe
cif
ic 

foc
us
 on

 un
de
r-r
ep
res

en
ted

 gr
ou
ps
. 

 Im
ple

me
nt 
So
ma

li N
ee
ds
 As

se
ss
me

nt 
Ac
tio
n 

Pla
n c

om
ple

ted
 in
 M
arc

h 2
00
9  

Ch
ild
ren

's 
Ce

ntr
es
 

Str
ate

gic
 M
an
ag
er 

  Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 & 

Str
ate

gy
 (A

HW
B)
 

On
go
ing

  
   Ju
ly 
20
10
 

   On
go
ing

 
Le
arn

ing
 

dis
ab
iliti
es
: 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o d

ev
elo

p a
 fu
lle
r 

un
de
rst
an
din

g o
f th

e p
ict
ure

 
of 
lea

rni
ng
 di
sa
bil
itie

s a
t a
 

loc
al 
lev

el 
wit
hin

 th
e 

Ba
ng
lad

es
hi 
an
d s

ma
lle
r 

BM
E c

om
mu

nit
ies

 to
 be

tte
r 

inf
orm

 fu
tur
e c

om
mi
ss
ion

ing
 

pla
ns
. 

Th
rou

gh
 JS

NA
 es

tab
lish

 sy
ste

ma
tic
 ap

pro
ac
h 

to 
ne
ed
s a

ss
es
sm

en
t fo

r le
arn

ing
 di
sa
bil
itie

s 
inc

lud
ing

 bo
th:
 

� 
Bo
rou

gh
 / c

om
mu

nit
y l
ev
el,
 pu

bli
c h

ea
lth
 

inf
orm

ati
on
 

� 
Ag
gre

ga
tio
n o

f in
for
ma

tio
n f
rom

 in
div

idu
al 

pe
rso

n-c
en
tre
d p

lan
s. 

 

Ka
tha

rin
e M

ark
s, 

Ch
ery

l S
pe
nc
er 

AH
W
B 

Ma
rch

 
20
11
 

Ol
de
r p
eo
ple

 
De

ve
lop

 a 
ful
ler
 

un
de
rst
an
din

g o
f th

e 
im
pli
ca
tio
ns
 of
 a 
gro

win
g 

old
er 
Ba
ng
lad

es
hi 
po
pu
lat
ion

 
on
 he

alt
h a

nd
 ad

ult
 so

cia
l 

ca
re 

W
ork

ing
 in
 pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w
ith
 PC

T, 
ref
res

h J
oin

t 
Str

ate
gic

 N
ee
ds
 An

aly
sis
, in

clu
din

g s
pe
cif
ic 

foc
us
 on

 un
de
r-r
ep
res

en
ted

 gr
ou
ps
. 

 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d O

lde
r 

Pe
op
le 
& 

Ho
me

les
sn
es
s 

Ju
ly 
20
10
 

Ca
rer
s 

Im
pro

ve
 un

de
rst
an
din

g o
f th

e 
ba
rrie

rs 
tha

t B
ME

 ca
rer
s f
ac
e 

an
d i
nc
rea

se
 th
eir
 ac

ce
ss
 to
 

su
pp
ort
. 

En
su
re 
tha

t th
e u

nd
ers

tan
din

g o
f c
are

rs 
ne
ed
s w

ith
in 
BM

E c
om

mu
nit
ies

 in
for
ms

 th
e 

Ca
rer
s S

tra
teg

y 2
00
8-1

1 A
cti
on
 Pl
an
. 

 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d O

lde
r 

Pe
op
le 
& 

Ho
me

les
sn
es
s 

Ma
rch

 
20
11
 

Page 216



 
53

 

 PR
OM

OT
IN

G 
EQ

UA
LI

TY
 A

S 
AN

 E
MP

LO
YE

R 
 

Im
pro

ve
 th
e r
ep
res

en
tat
ion

 
of 
Ba
ng
lad

es
hi 
an
d S

om
ali
 

sta
ff i
n t
he
 or
ga
nis

ati
on
 

ac
ros

s t
he
 di
rec

tor
ate

s 

Im
ple

me
nt 
fin
din

gs
 fro

m 
Eq
ua
lity
 Im

pa
ct 

As
se
ss
me

nt 
of 
ca
ree

r p
rog

res
sio

n a
nd
 

ev
alu

ati
on
 of
 po

sit
ive

 ac
tio
n i
nit
iat
ive

s t
ha
t 

ap
ply

 to
 Ba

ng
lad

es
hi 
an
d S

om
ali
 st
aff

 

Du
rin
g 

20
09
/10

 

Ex
am

ine
 an

d a
dd
res

s t
he
 

un
de
r-r
ep
res

en
tat
ion

 of
 BM

E 
sta

ff a
t m

an
ag
em

en
t le

ve
l 

wit
hin

 th
e o

rga
nis

ati
on
.  

Ou
tlin

e p
rop

os
als

 in
 W
ork

for
ce
 to
 R
efl
ec
t th

e 
Co

mm
un
ity
 re
po
rt t
o C

ab
ine

t 
Ap
ril 
20
09
 

Ac
t o
n t
he
 fin

din
gs
 of
 th
e 

Eq
ua
lity
 Im

pa
ct 
As
se
ss
me

nt 
of 
ca
ree

r p
rog

res
sio

n f
or 

Co
un
cil 
sta

ff. 
 

Ag
ree

 ac
tio
ns
 w
ith
 C
orp

ora
te 
Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ste

eri
ng
 G
rou

p, 
tra
de
 un

ion
s a

nd
 ot
he
r 

ap
pro

pri
ate

 gr
ou
ps
. 

Ju
ly 
20
09
 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o p

rov
ide

 ta
rge

tte
d 

lea
rni
ng
 an

d d
ev
elo

pm
en
t 

op
po
rtu
nit
ies

 fo
r B

ME
 st
aff
 

an
d r
ev
iew

 th
e i
mp

ac
t o
f 

ex
ist
ing

 BM
E t
arg

ett
ed
 

ini
tia
tiv
es
 to
 en

su
re 
tha

t th
ey
 

are
 su

cc
es
sfu

lly 
de
ve
lop

ing
 

an
d p

rog
res

sin
g s

taf
f. 

Bu
ild
 on

 es
tab

lish
ed
 so

cia
l w
ork

 pr
og
res

sio
n 

mo
de
ls 
for
 ot
he
r h
ard

 to
 re
cru

it p
rof
es
sio

ns
 

Ex
pa
nd
 ap

pre
nti
ce
sh
ip 
sc
he
me

s a
nd
 ad

op
t 

an
 ‘e
mp

loy
er-
led

 ap
pro

ac
h’ 
to 

ap
pre

nti
ce
sh
ips

. 
Im
pro

ve
 op

po
rtu
nit
ies

 fo
r s
taf
f to

 un
de
rta
ke
 

se
co
nd
me

nts
 an

d a
cti
ng
 up

 op
po
rtu
nit
ies

 
Ev
alu

ate
 ex

ist
ing

 po
sit
ive

 ac
tio
n i
nit
iat
ive

s 
an
d r
ec
om

me
nd
 im

pro
ve
me

nts
 re
qu
ire
d 

Jo
int
 As

sis
tan

t 
Dir

ec
tor
 

Or
ga
nis

ati
on
al 

De
ve
lop

me
nt,
 

W
ork

for
ce
 St
rat
eg
y 

& E
qu
ali
tie
s 

 

Du
rin
g 

20
09
/10

 

 

Inv
es
tig
ate

 th
e o

ve
r-

rep
res

en
tat
ion

 of
 bl
ac
k s

taf
f 

fac
ing

 di
sm

iss
al 
un
de
r th

e 
Dis

cip
lin
ary

 Pr
oc
ed
ure

.  

Re
vie

w 
mo

st 
rec

en
t R

ac
e E

qu
ali
ty 
Sc
he
me

 
Em

plo
ym

en
t M

on
ito
rin
g R

ep
ort
 

 Pr
es
en
t a
na
lys
is 
an
d r
ec
om

me
nd
ati
on
s t
o 

He
ad
 of
 C
orp

ora
te 

Hu
ma

n R
es
ou
rce

s 
Ju
ne
 20

09
 

  Ju
ly 
20
09
 

Page 217



 
54

 

Co
rpo

rat
e E

qu
ali
tie
s S

tee
rin
g G

rou
p 

 
Re

vie
w 
the

 O
rga

nis
ati
on
al 

Ch
an
ge
 Pr

oc
ed
ure

 in
 re
sp
ec
t 

of 
ho
w 
the

 im
pa
ct 
of 
re-

str
uc
tur
es
 on

 di
ffe
ren

t s
taf
f 

gro
up
s i
s g

ive
n a

pp
rop

ria
te 

co
ns
ide

rat
ion

. 

Re
vie

w 
the

 O
rga

nis
ati
on
al 
Pr
oc
ed
ure

 an
d 

co
ns
ult
 w
ith
 Tr
ad
e U

nio
n r
ep
res

en
tat
ive

s a
nd
 

oth
er 
ap
pro

pri
ate

 gr
ou
ps
. 

Im
ple

me
nt 
rev

ise
d p

roc
ed
ure

 (in
 lin

e w
ith
 H
R 

Im
pro

ve
me

nt 
Pr
oje

ct 
tim

es
ca
les

 th
at 
are

 
de
ve
lop

ed
) 

He
ad
 of
 C
orp

ora
te 

Hu
ma

n R
es
ou
rce

s 
Ma

y 2
00
9 

 Du
rin
g 

20
09
/10

  

 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o s

up
po
rt a

nd
 

de
ve
lop

 th
e C

ou
nc
il’s
 BM

E 
Sta

ff F
oru

m.
  

Co
ord

ina
te 
an
d s

up
po
rt q

ua
rte
rly
 BM

E S
taf
f 

Fo
rum

 m
ee
tin
gs
  

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny

 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
He

ad
 of
 C
orp

ora
te 

Hu
ma

n R
es
ou
rce

s 

On
-go

ing
 

 

Page 218



 

 1 

 
 
 

Tower Hamlets 
Age Equality Scheme 

2009 - 2012 

Appendix One 

Page 219



 

 2 

Contents 
 
Executive Summary .........................................................................................3 
 
Introduction ......................................................................................................4 
 
Age Equality Legislation...................................................................................5 
 
Definitions of Age.............................................................................................6 
 
How we developed our Age Equality Scheme .................................................7 
 
Corporate Framework for Diversity and Equality..............................................8 
 
The Profile of Age in Tower Hamlets .............................................................11 
 
Reasonable Adjustments ...............................................................................16 
 
The Story so Far ............................................................................................17 
 
Age Equalities Priorities 2009- 2012............................................................188 
 
ONE TOWER HAMLETS ...........................................................................18 
Building Cohesive Communities ...........................................................188 
A Voice for Young and Older People ....................................................188 

 
A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY..............................................................200 
Ending Child and Pensioner Poverty ....................................................200 
Improve Educational Outcomes............................................................211 
Supporting Young People in the Economic Downturn ..........................211 
Provision of cultural and leisure activities .............................................222 

 
A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE ......................................................................233 
Reduce Overcrowding ..........................................................................233 
Supporting Independent Living .............................................................233 
Out and About.......................................................................................244 

 
A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY .............................................255 
Reducing fear of crime..........................................................................255 
Tackling anti-social behaviour...............................................................255 

 
A HEALTHY COMMUNITY ......................................................................266 
Mental and Emotional Health................................................................266 
Dementia ..............................................................................................266 
Active Opportunities for Older People...................................................277 
Tackling Childhood Obesity ..................................................................288 

 
Promoting Age Equality as an Employer........................................................29 
 
Delivering the Age Equality Scheme Objectives 2009 -2012 .......................322 

Page 220



 

 3 

Executive Summary 
 
This is the Council’s first Age Equality Scheme and it aims to ensure that all 
Tower Hamlets residents, regardless of their age receive a fair access to 
services appropriate to their needs. We are a unique borough in terms of our 
age profile, with 30% of our population aged less than 19 years and only 8% 
aged over 65 years. A large majority of our young people come from BME 
(Black Asian Minority Ethnic) backgrounds, the reverse of which is true for our 
older population. 
 
There are a number of pieces of legislation regarding young and older people 
including the Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 Act and the 
Children’s Act (2004). Statutory guidance includes the National Service 
Framework for Older People (2001) and Fair Access to Care Services (2002).  
Young and older people are also included in other legislation such as the 
Human Rights Act (1998). The forthcoming Single Equalities Bill will place 
similar duties on local authorities to promote age equality as already exist for 
race, disability and gender. 
 
Although this is our first Age Equality Scheme the Council has already 
achieved a number of successes in its work to support young and older 
people. This is facilitated by our excellent Children’s and Adults Services 
which have both been rated as outstanding over the past two years. Key 
achievements include being the most improved Borough for educational 
outcomes, the innovative Link Age Plus centres for our residents aged 50+ 
and recent Beacon Awards for our work to tackle child poverty and promote 
positive engagement with older people. 
 
This equality scheme identifies the Council’s priorities for our young and older 
residents in relation to the five community plan themes of One Tower 
Hamlets, A Prosperous Community, A Safe & Supportive Community, A 
Healthy Community and A Great Place to Live. By working with our partners, 
we can deliver better services for our young and older residents. It also 
identifies our priorities as an employer. 
 
The four key cross-cutting priorities are: 
 

• Tackling economic deprivation for both young and older people 
• Building cohesive communities, including enhancing inter-generational 

understanding 
• Reducing the number of NEET (not in education, employment or 

training) young people 
• Reducing fear of crime 

Page 221



 

 4 

Introduction  
 
The Council’s vision and that of the Tower Hamlets Partnership is to improve 
the quality of life for everyone living and working in Tower Hamlets. 
 
Everyone should realise their full potential in Tower Hamlets.  The 2020 
Community Plan outlines our aspiration of ‘One Tower Hamlets’.  One Tower 
Hamlets is about reducing the inequalities and poverty that we see around us, 
strengthening cohesion and making sure our communities continue to live well 
together.  Most of all, One Tower Hamlets is about recognising that we all 
have a part to play in making this a reality. 
 
One way of ensuring this vision is to focus our attention on inequalities 
experienced by our residents.  The Council has been awarded Level 5 of the 
Equality Standard for Local Government and is one of the best Councils in the 
country for its equalities work.  This Age Equality Scheme, along with others 
for gender, disability, race, sexual orientation and religion/belief will enable us 
to provide services and develop policies and strategies which ensure that we 
provide for equality for all.  We plan to combine these schemes into a single 
Equality Scheme in 2010 to best serve the individual needs of each of our 
residents.  This reflects the move nationally towards a single Equalities Bill.  
 
We recognise that the working age population may experience specific 
disadvantages due to their age, such as problems in accessing services which 
may be only available during working hours.  However, it is young and older 
people who are more likely to experience significant discrimination due to their 
age.  Attitudes and beliefs about young and older people can lead to them to 
be socially and economically disadvantaged, excluded and marginalised.  We 
believe that young and older people have the right to equality and opportunity 
and make a significant and valuable contribution to the community at large.  
As such, this first Age Equality Scheme will primarily focus on their needs and 
priority issues.  
 
We are already doing significant work to tackle the particular inequalities 
faced by young and older people. The Children and Young People’s Plan and 
the Best Value Review on Older People as Citizens set out key priorities to 
tackle the specific needs of young and older people.  
 
This Scheme will ensure that age equality is delivered by multiple services 
across the Council, not just those which work specifically with and for young 
and older people.  We aim to put in place policies and services which will 
enable everyone to access our services, regardless of their age, and to 
improve outcomes for all.  We also want to ensure that young and older 
people have choice and control in decisions affecting their lives. 
 
Key priorities 
 
Within each of the Council’s Equality Schemes we have identified three 
priority areas of inequality which require significant and sustained action 

Page 222



 

 5 

across a number of Council services.  These priority areas provide the Council 
with a focus about where attention and resources need to be targeted to make 
real progress.  Our cross-cutting priorities table can be found in the Appendix 
to this Scheme.  
 
In relation to age inequality, these priorities are set out below and are 
explored further in this Equality Scheme. Linked to poverty, all three sit at 
heart of inequality in Tower Hamlets.  To make a dramatic shift against the 
inequality in our borough and make progress on the wide range of issues 
identified in each of the Equality Schemes, it is recommended that investment 
to address these four core inter-connected areas will lead that change.    
 

• Tackling economic deprivation for both young and older people 
• Building cohesive communities, including enhancing inter-

generational understanding 
• Reducing the number of NEETs 
• Reducing fear of crime 

Page 223



 

 6 

Age Equality Legislation 
 
The Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 Act outlawed discrimination 
on the grounds of age in the areas of employment and vocational training.  
This Act does not cover discrimination in the provision of goods, facilities and 
services.  
 
It is expected that the forthcoming Equality Bill will pave the way to extend this 
protection beyond the workplace, covering public and private sector services, 
and will outlaw age discrimination in the provision of goods and services.   
 
The Children’s Act (2004) sets out the legislative duties outlined in the Every 
Child Matters framework which sets guidance on ensuring equality of 
opportunity for all children and young people.  
 
There is also statutory guidance prohibiting discrimination against older 
people in health and social care; namely the National Service Framework for 
Older People (2001) and Fair Access to Care Services (2002). 
 
The Human Rights Act (1998) sets out the right of everybody to have access 
to public services and the right to be treated fairly and with dignity.  It includes 
the right to being safe and protected from harm and the right to take an active 
part in your community and society which have particular implications for our 
work with young and older people.  It prohibits discrimination on a wide range 
of grounds and case law has extended this to include age.  
 
Definitions of Age 
 
We recognise that understanding who ‘young people’ and ‘older people’ are 
can be confusing for services as different public and voluntary sector bodies 
categorise age in a variety of ways.  
 
The Council defines young people as those who are under the age of 18. 
However, we recognise that the youth service extends its provision to those 
aged up to 19 and will work with young adults up to the age of 25 who have 
additional needs such as disabilities. 
 
The Council understands older people as those who are aged 65 years and 
older, or as soon as their needs are age – related. This recognises that some 
residents may experience the detrimental effects of ageing at a younger age 
than others, such as those with learning disabilities.  
 
 
 

Page 224



 

 7 

How we developed our Age Equality Scheme 
 
The development of our Scheme has been led by the Corporate Scrutiny and 
Equalities Team.  This has been supported by officers from the Corporate 
Equalities Steering Group (CESG) who are the key equalities representatives 
from each Directorate.  The development of the scheme has followed a clear 
project plan, the steps of which are outlined below: 
 
Gathering Baseline Information 
A comprehensive baseline exercise was undertaken using a combination of 
research and input from staff across the Council including analysis of 
demographic and statistical information, analysis of existing consultation and 
a review of relevant Equality Impact Assessments (EqIAs). 
 
Consultation Exercises 
From the baseline information we were able to identify a number of areas for 
further examination and discussion.  To test our findings and to gain further 
input as to which areas should be our priorities, we undertook a number of 
consultation activities with residents, voluntary and statutory agencies and 
members of staff. 
 
Setting Priorities and Objectives 
Using feedback from our consultation and baseline exercises, a number of 
key themes for priority and overarching activity have emerged. 

Page 225



 

 8 

Corporate Framework for Diversity and Equality 
 
Delivery framework 
Valuing diversity is one of the four core values of Tower Hamlets Council. We 
promote diversity and equality in everything we do to improve the life for 
everybody living, working and visiting Tower Hamlets.  We will build upon this 
by working with the Tower Hamlets Partnership to provide accessible and 
responsive services that enable everyone to take part in the social, cultural 
and economic wealth of the borough.  Achieving this is central to delivering 
the Council’s vision, is linked to the Strategic Plan priorities and objectives 
and the Community Plan’s vision of a cohesive community.  
 
Our aims and values 
As a service provider we will:  

• Promote equality of opportunity and eliminate discrimination in the 
planning and delivery of our services in terms of age, disability, 
ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, religion or belief, health and 
income status  

• Promote good relations between communities and address negative 
stereotyping of any groups  

• Ensure that all residents have equal opportunity to participate in the 
democratic process  

• Tackle harassment relating to a person’s age, disability, ethnicity, 
gender, sexual orientation, religion or belief, health and income status 

 
As an employer we will:  

• Develop, review and promote policies and practices that ensure 
equality of opportunity and eliminate discrimination for our workforce in 
all areas of employment (including recruitment, retention, learning and 
development, promotion, grievance, disciplinary and retirement)  

• Ensure that our workforce reflects the diverse nature of the borough 
 

We will recognise our community leadership role and use this to work towards 
a cohesive community in which inequality is tackled and equality promoted.  
 
Our commitment is supported by a number of legal duties that require us to 
promote equality and eliminate discrimination, including: 
 

•      Equal Pay Act 1970 
•      Sex Discrimination Act 1975 
•      Race Relations Act 1976 
•      Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 
•      Disability Discrimination Act 1995 
•      Disability Discrimination Act 2005 
•      Human Rights Act 1998 
•      Employment Regulations on Religion and Faith 2004 
• Employment Regulations on Sexual Orientation 2003 
• Civil Partnership Act 2004 
• Equality Act (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2007 

Page 226



 

 9 

• Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006  
• Children’s Act (2004) 

 
Under current legislation, the requirements to address inequality and 
discrimination and promote equality vary between equality ‘strand’.  For 
example, whilst under current legislation we are required to address 
discrimination against employees on the basis of all six equality strands, it is 
only in relation to race, gender and disability that this duty extends to the 
provision of services and the active promotion of equality. However we believe 
that we have a strong moral and social duty to recognise that discrimination 
takes place and inequality exists for individuals and groups belonging to all of 
the six equality strands. We are therefore committed to going beyond the 
requirements laid down in law to address all six equality strands and to 
challenge prejudice and discrimination to promote better understanding and 
respect between all people.  
 
To demonstrate our commitment to all six equality strands, the Council has 
gone beyond the legal requirement to produce Equality Schemes in relation to 
gender, race and disability and has published Schemes covering 
Religion/Belief, Age and Sexual Orientation equality. Each Scheme sets out 
what we know about the profile of our community in relation to the relevant 
strand and the nature of inequality experienced by people as a result of this 
element of their identity.  The Schemes also contain a summary of actions the 
Council and partners will undertake to address inequality and discrimination in 
relation to age equality.  
 
How we will deliver our commitment 
Tackling discrimination and promoting equality requires action at corporate, 
directorate, service, team and individual levels.  At a corporate level the six 
Equality Schemes and the overall Diversity and Equality Action Plan identifies 
priority areas for work on equalities across the organisation. The Diversity and 
Equality Action Plan is agreed by Cabinet annually and monitored by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at six-monthly intervals, along with a 
summary of progress on each of the Schemes. 
 
Below we describe the processes and procedures we have put in place to 
embed the delivery of our commitment to promote equality in relation to all six 
strands within everything that we do as a Council: 
 

• Undertake equality impact assessments of both new and existing 
policies and services 

• Ensure that all our team plans incorporate relevant diversity and 
equality objectives and targets 

• Ensure all new staff participate in Council equality induction 
training processes 

• Ensure that our policies are compliant with equality legislation 
• Involve communities, staff and stakeholders in the design, 

review and scrutiny of our services and employment practices 
• Increase the extent to which our workforce reflects the local 

community 

Page 227



 

 10

• Use our procurement powers to ensure that organisations 
providing services on our behalf work in line with this policy 

• Monitor the equality profile of people using and benefiting from 
our services to enable us to identify groups which are not accessing 
services 

• Provide information and access to our services in accessible 
ways 

Page 228



 

 11

 The Profile of Age in Tower Hamlets 

 
 
The age profile of Tower Hamlets is unusual.  Tower Hamlets is a ‘young’ 
borough with one of the highest percentages of young people in the country 
and a much smaller number of older people than national averages and 
London as a whole. 1 
  
The section below describes what we know about the demographic profile of 
individuals and groups of people of different ages in the borough, particularly 
young and older people.  
 
This section is based on information gathered for the 2001 Census and the  
2007 ONS update. 
 
Age range 
Tower Hamlets has a large percentage of young people in its population.  
Almost 30% of the population is under the age of 19 whilst the average for 
London is 18%.  
 
Our working age population reflects the relative youthfulness of the borough. 

                                            
1 In 2004 there were 11.6 million people aged under 16 in the UK, a decline of 2.6 million since 1971.  
Social Trends 2006. By 2011, the mean age of the UK population will exceed 40 for the first time; by 
about 2017/18, there will be more people over 40 than below 40. ONS 2005/2006 
 

Key Facts 
• We have one of the youngest populations in the country 
• New build initiatives are anticipated to lead to significant increases in 

the school age population in Tower Hamlets  
• We have the third largest percentage of 20 to 34 year olds of all 

Local Authorities in the country  
• Life expectancy in the borough is lower than then national average.  
• The majority of our young people are from BME backgrounds, and 

particularly the Bangladeshi community 
• The majority of our older people are from white backgrounds 
• The ethnicity of older people is predicted to shift significantly towards 

BME in future years 
• Our young and older people experience high levels of economic 

deprivation which particularly affects our BME young people, older 
women and disabled people 

• We have limited information on the sexual orientation of young and 
older people, however, we know that the LGBT community is at 
particular risk of isolation 

• Religion/belief plays an important part in the lives of both young and 
older people in the borough 

Page 229



 

 12

Tower Hamlets has the third largest percentage (37%) of 20 to 34 year olds of 
any Local Authority in the country.  59% of the population are 15-44 year olds 
compared with 42% for this age group in the country as a whole.  
 
In contrast, the borough has a much smaller number of older people than the 
average.  Just 8% of the population are over 65 compared to 16% in the rest 
of the country.2   
 
Furthermore, life expectancy in the borough is significantly lower than national 
and London averages.  The life expectancy of a man living in Tower Hamlets 
is 73 years, 9 years less than a man living in Kensington and Chelsea.  Within 
the borough, the life expectancy of a boy born in St Dunstan’s and Stepney 
Green ward is 71.9 years which is 8.4 years less than a boy born in Millwall 
ward.  The poor health of the borough (for example, residents in Tower 
Hamlets are 63% more likely to die of coronary heart disease than the rest of 
England) means that it is more likely that our residents experience the 
detrimental health effects of ageing at a younger age than the rest of the 
national population. 
 

 Figure 1. Population Pyramid (2001 Census) showing age spread by gender 
 
Age and Ethnicity 
Over 70% of Tower Hamlets residents aged 19 and under are from ethnic 
minority communities.  In contrast, 60% of the White British population are 
over 30. Of these residents, less than 14% fall in the 0-15 age group.3  The 
number of Bangladeshi people aged 19 and under is almost double the 
proportion for all Londoners. However there are a variety of different ethnic 
groups in the borough including Chinese, Vietnamese and Somali people and 
over 90 different languages are spoken.  Most Bangladeshi children in London 
were born in the UK, while most adults were born in Bangladesh. 
 
The consultation for preparing this Scheme highlighted the changing 
demographics of our older population, with an increasing number of 
                                            
2 All figures based on ONS mid-2007 population estimates. 
3 ONS Experimental Population Estimates by Ethnic Group for local authority districts and 
higher administrative areas in England for 2006. (2008) 

Page 230



 

 13

Bangladeshi and Afro-Caribbean older people engaging with statutory and 
voluntary organisations.  Over the next five years, the proportion of older 
people who are Bangladeshi will steadily increase. 
 

Children make up a large proportion of the Bangladeshi population.
Percentage of ethnic group falling into given age group

White British Bangladeshi

16 and older
0-15 years old

14%

86%

35%

65%

 Figure 2. Percentage of the Bangladeshi and White British population falling into given 
age groups. (Based on ONS mid year revised estimates since 2001 Census) 
 
Age and Disability 
The prevalence of disability increases with age.  Eight per cent of young 
Londoners (aged 16-24) are disabled, relative to one third (33 per cent) of 
those aged 55 to retirement age.  The strong association between disability 
and age is evident for both men and women, though women have slightly 
higher rates of disability than men across most age groups.  Overall, sixteen 
per cent of women aged 16-59 are disabled, compared to 14 per cent of men 
aged 16-59.4  The data around age and disability for Tower Hamlets is limited; 
however, we know that the borough has more disabled people than the 
London average.  
 
Age and Gender 
Tower Hamlets has a population where there are 104 males to every 100 
females.  In the country as a whole there are 97 males to every 100 females.5 
When looked at by age group the borough’s sex ratio shows much greater 
variation compared to Inner London and London, rising to a high of 138 males 
to every 100 females for 40-44 year olds.6   

                                            
4 GLA Disabled People and the labour market in London: Key facts (2007) 
5 ONS mid-2007 population estimates. 
6 ONS mid-2007 population estimates. 

Page 231



 

 14

In Tower Hamlets the Sex Ratio favours males.
Sex Ratio by age group for Tower Hamlets, Inner London and London

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160

0 1-4 5-9
10

-14
15

-19
20

-24
25

-29
30

-34
35

-39
40

-44
45

-49
50

-54
55

-59
60

-64
65

-69
70

-74
75

-79
80

-84
85

-89
 

90
+

All
 ag

es

Age group

Number of males to 
every 100 females

LBTH
Inner London
London

 Figure 3. Gender ratio by age group for Tower Hamlets, Inner London and London. 
(Based on ONS mid year revised estimates since 2001 Census) 
 
Age and Religion/Belief 
Across London as a whole, the Muslim population has a much younger age 
structure than other groups.7  This is mirrored in Tower Hamlets where 
statistics indicate that 61% of the under 15 population are Muslim whereas 
21% are Christian.  In contrast, amongst the 50+ population, 61% identify as 
Christian and 19% as Muslim. 
 
Age and Sexual Orientation 
It is estimated that 1 in 10 Londoners are lesbian, gay or bisexual.  It is likely 
that this is mirrored across the population of Tower Hamlets and that 
significant numbers of both older and young people will identify as lesbian, 
gay or bisexual. We currently have very limited data regarding age and sexual 
orientation but improvements in monitoring are beginning to reveal more data. 
 
Future Projections 
There has been significant growth in the local population in the last 10 -15 
years and projections suggest this is set to continue. Tower Hamlets is also 
predicted to have the fastest growing population in London between now and 
2026. 
 
The young population profile is set to continue into the future with more 
children and young people between 5 – 19 years. According to GLA 
population predictions, increases of over 5,000 in the age five and under 
category and over 14,000 5-18 year olds are predicted by 2021 across the 
borough.  Children and young people will make up only a slightly increased 
proportion of the population in the future.  New build initiatives are anticipated, 
leading to a growth in the school age population of the borough. 
 
The biggest increase over the next 5 years will be in the working age 
population (19 – 65 years old). There will be a growth in the number of older 
                                            
7 GLA Briefing Key facts for diverse communities: Ethnicity and faith (2007) 

Page 232



 

 15

people in the borough, however the number of over 50s will still remain well 
below the London average and its proportion of the Tower Hamlets population 
is expected to remain stable up to 2026. 

Tower Hamlets' projected population by age group

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

 0-4  5-9  10-14  15-19  20-24  25-29  30-34  35-39  40-44  45-49  50-54  55-59  60-64  65-69  70-74  75-79  80-84  85+
Age group

Count
(in 000s)

2006
2011
2016
2021

 

Figure 4. Projected population by age group up to 2021 for Tower Hamlets. (Based on 
ONS mid year revised estimates since 2001 Census) 
 
 

 

Page 233



 

 16

Reasonable Adjustments 
 
This section provides guidance about factors to take into account when 
delivering a service, running an activity or event, providing funding or 
scheduling meetings to ensure that you promote age equality. It is important 
to note that these are intended to highlight some of the most common barriers 
to promotion of age equality. It is not a comprehensive guide to providing an 
equitable service and it is important that we take a proactive approach to 
identifying individual needs rather than presuming what we know the best 
solution. The key principle here is to ensure that it is clear that efforts will be 
made to accommodate needs and preferences based on age and encourage 
staff, service users or residents to discuss their needs where they feel there 
may be a barrier to their access or involvement in an activity. 
 
Have you asked young and/older people what they want? 
Young and older people sometimes feel marginalised from the decision 
making process. As residents who may need a relatively high level of care 
(from statutory/voluntary services or their family) they want to feel like they 
have the ability where possible to make decisions about their services and not 
simply be the recipients of services.  
 
Do your services reflect the individual age-related needs of our 
residents? 
Age-related needs may not be tied to a person’s chronological age. Just 
because someone is a certain age does not mean they will/will not need 
specific support as we all develop and age differently.  Young people develop 
at different speeds and older people may have need for services at different 
ages depending on their health-related age needs. For example, a person 
may need to access dementia care at age 50 or age 70. Young and older 
residents are as diverse as the rest of our community. As such a one size fits 
all approach will not always be appropriate.  
 
Is your service accessible not just the building it is in? 
Although a service may be provided in an accessible building it does not 
mean that it is accessible to young and older people who sometimes have 
particular transportation needs. For both young and older people who may not 
have access to a car, it is important that venues are close to public transport. 
For older people in particular, being able to access transport can be a 
particular issue if they have mobility issues. If an event/activity is intended for 
older people it is important that due consideration is given to provision of 
transportation. Older less-mobile people may need door-to-door transport 
provided in order to enable them to participate. 
 
In our consultation work, both young and older people highlighted their 
concerns about their personal safety after dark. The research also 
emphasised that older people sometimes ‘timetable’ their day to avoid the 
beginning and end of the school day. Although it is important for the Council to 
tackle the underlying causes of these fears, it is crucial that services think 
about appropriate timings of activities and events. 
 

Page 234



 

 17

The Story so Far 
 
The Council’s targeted work for both young and older people has consistently 
been top-rated and we are the only Council to have both Adults and Children’s 
Services top-rated for the last two years by the Audit Commission.   
 
Our Children’s and Young People’s Plan is currently being refreshed and will 
further develop the work of Children’s Services which was recently rated as 
outstanding by the Joint Area Review (JAR) led by Ofsted. 
 
The Council selected the topic of older people as its cross-cutting Best 
Value Review for 2005/06 which has instigated improvements in the health 
and social care of older people and has given older people a voice.  
 
Some of key achievements for young and older people include: 
 
Young People 

• 46% of young people voted for their Young Mayor in this year’s 
elections, a record turnout which exceeds the last Council election 
turnout 

• We are the most improved borough for educational outcomes in the 
country. Our 11 year olds are consistently achieving higher than the 
national average in English and maths, and GCSE results continue to 
close the gap with national averages 

• Around a third of all young people are in contact with our youth 
services. 

• We have significantly reduced the number of young people not in 
education, employment or training (NEET) 

• The Family-Nurse partnership pilot intervention project offers tailored 
support for young parents under 21 years, from pregnancy up until 
children are three years old 

• The Council has received Beacon Awards for school improvement and  
reducing re-offending (2008) as well as more recent recognition of our 
work to tackle child poverty (2009) 

 
Older People 

• Tower Hamlets Telecare provides a free preventative service to help 
provide safety, security and wellbeing by enabling people to live 
independently in their own homes 

• The innovative LinkAge Plus offers residents over the age of 50 a 
range of social and health related activities to maximise their wellbeing 
and make the most of life through joined up centres which work with 
the voluntary sector and our public sector partners 

• Sonali Gardens residential care home provides 40 places for service 
users from the Bangladeshi community with culturally sensitive care 
and  recreational social activities 

• The Council has recently received a Beacon Award for 'Positive 
engagement with older people' (2009) 

 

Page 235



 

 18

Age Equalities Priorities 2009- 2012 
 
The section below describes what we know about how young and older 
people experience inequality, discrimination and harassment in Tower 
Hamlets. This section is organised according to the themes of the Tower 
Hamlets 2008-20 Community Plan and draws on the ten domains of inequality 
set out in the Equality Mapping Framework. 
 
ONE TOWER HAMLETS 
 
Building cohesive communities 
One of the key findings was the need for improved integration between 
different ethnicity groups at both day centres and youth centres which can 
lack cultural diversity.  
 
Consultation findings highlighted the need to promote inter-generational 
understanding.  Some older people expressed fears about young people and 
some young people felt that they were negatively stereotyped or viewed with 
unnecessary suspicion.  The long-term impact of the economic downturn is 
unknown but there may be effects if young people are increasingly unable to 
access employment opportunities. 

 
Objectives 

• Explore barriers preventing diverse communities mixing in youth clubs 
and day centres 

• Enhance activities that bring people of different backgrounds together 
• Promote inter-generational work to tackle older people’s fear of groups 

of young people 
 
A voice for young and older people 
Many young and older people expressed the desire to have a great say over 
decisions made affecting their lives. 
 
Feedback from consultation suggested that young people felt that they were 
able to engage in democracy through initiatives such as the Young Mayor but 
expressed a need to have more of a say on issues affecting young people.  

CASE STUDY: MAGIC ME 
The Magic Me programme annually serves around 450 local people from 
diverse generations, cultures and ethnicities. They run creative projects 
which bring together young people (aged 9+) and older people (55+) for 
mutual benefit, learning and enjoyment. The projects address prejudices 
about ageing, young people and cultural differences. Magic Me challenges 
negative stereotypes of young people and elders. It particularly seeks to 
break down the invisible barriers around residential and nursing homes for 
elders. Through its three year Our Generations project individuals and 
groups across Tower Hamlets are working together to build positive 
relationships and alliances, challenging misconceptions and prejudices 
about their generations. 

Page 236



 

 19

Young people felt representation was important as a means of challenging 
some of the negative stereotypes around young people. 
 
National research has shown that one-third of older people have difficulties 
participating in public consultations.8  This can be particularly the case for 
those who are housebound.  The internet offers enormous potential in 
engaging older people, especially for those who are housebound or 
geographically isolated. 

 
Objectives 

• Develop strategies for consulting with housebound older people 
• Investigate ways to increase older people’s participation in democracy 
• Further enhance the engagement of young people in local democracy 
• Improve consultation with young people 
• Improve inclusion of the voices of disabled children and young people 

                                            
8 Help the Aged RoAD Report (2007) 
 

CASE STUDY: TOWER HAMLETS’ YOUNG MAYOR 
The Young Mayor has been elected annually by young people aged 11-18 
living, working or studying in Tower Hamlets since 2007. This year’s 
election saw the first ever female young mayor Uma Akhter elected in a  
turnout of 46%, higher than the council election where turnout was 40%. 
The Young Mayor’s role is to represent young people in Tower Hamlets 
and sits on a number of committees including the Partnership Board and 
UK Youth Parliament. 

Page 237



 

 20

A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY 
 
“By 2020 the huge economic growth in Canary Wharf and elsewhere in the borough 
will be a vital factor in securing improvements for local people. Support for local 
enterprise and partnership working with both large and small businesses will help 
ensure that employment opportunities are available and that local people have the 
skills and training they need to get them. Tackling the problem of worklessness, 
which is widespread in many of our communities, is a key priority for Tower Hamlets. 
Our young people will learn from the best teachers and successfully gain 
qualifications that allow them to pursue their career goals. Taking advantage of the 
2012 Olympic Games and its legacy, by 2020, Tower Hamlets will be recognised as 
a place with highly skilled ambitious communities and where entrepreneurship and 
local enterprise is successful.” 
- Tower Hamlets Community Plan 
 
Ending child and pensioner poverty 
Tower Hamlets is the 3rd poorest borough in the country and has the highest 
levels of child poverty in England.  In 2004, 47% of children were living in a 
household in receipt of benefits (though this proportion has actually been 
decreasing since 2002). The proportion of children and young people 
receiving free school meals is nearly four times the national average.  Levels 
of low income among lone parents are significantly higher in Tower Hamlets 
than elsewhere in Inner London.  Bangladeshi households are far more likely 
than other groups to be living in poverty. The Tower Hamlets Employment 
Strategy sets out a framework to tackle some of these complex issues of 
worklessness and child poverty within the borough. 
 
It is estimated that 1 in 5 pensioners in Britain live below the poverty line.9 
Tower Hamlets is ranked 7th highest in the country for pensioner poverty and 
over 50% of those over 65 rely on state benefits to secure a minimum income.  
Older women and disabled older people are at particular risk of experiencing 
poverty in retirement due to barriers to employment and low pay during their 
working lives.10  Evidence suggests that not all older people are claiming all 
the benefits to which they are entitled, with only 24 per cent of people over 60 
in London as a whole taking up Pension Credit.11 
 

                                            
9 Department for Work and Pension,Households Below Average Income 2006/7 (2008) 
10 London Equality Commission State of Equality in London (2007) 
11 Ibid. 
 

Page 238



 

 21

 
Objectives 

• Improve the economic well being of older people and families 
• Enable parents and carers to improve their employability 
• Support young people from workless families to improve employability 
• Extend advocacy support for older people 

 
Improve educational outcomes 
Education is essential if children are to develop the practical and social skills to 
secure employment and the benefits of economic wellbeing. Although children in 
Tower Hamlets achieve results in line with national figures at Key Stage 2, by Key 
Stage 3 they are performing less well (although we are the fastest improving local 
authority in the country for GCSE results). 
 
Objectives 

• Improve the educational outcomes of young people 
• Enhance support for young people in their transition from compulsory 

education into adulthood 
• Enhance support for young disabled people in their transition from support 

by Children’s Services to Adult Services 
  

Supporting young people in the economic downturn 
The current economic downturn is likely to impact upon the employment 
opportunities available to our residents.  National research has highlighted the 
likelihood that the reduction of employment opportunities will particularly impact 
upon young adults entering the workplace for the first time.  

 
The borough already experiences higher than average numbers of young people 
not in employment, education or training with 8.2% of 16-18 year olds classified 
as NEET in the period between November 2007 and January 2008.  Nationally, 
the Department for Children, Schools and Families estimates that disabled 16-
year olds are twice as likely to be NEET as their non-disabled peers.  Evidence 
also shows that young people who are NEET at 16 are likely to remain 
disadvantaged and experience the effects of inequality throughout the rest of 
their lives. 

 

CASE STUDY: BEACON AWARD FOR WORK TO TACKLE CHILD 
POVERTY 
Lincoln and Burdett Children's Centre, which is run by Poplar Harca and 
based in Mile End East and Bromley by Bow wards, has been delivering a 
training employment service to parents since 2006. The service is sensitive 
to locally specific demographic, social and cultural needs and has worked 
closely with a range of community base partners which have been a key 
factor in its success. In 2008, 228 eligible job seekers were registered, 29 
parents secured work for 6 months or longer, 116 parents were referred to 
vocational training, 63 referred to academic courses and 8 to Job Centre 
Plus. Following the success of the Lincoln and Burdett employment and 
training service we are developing similar support for parents across all 21 
Children's Centres in the borough 

Page 239



 

 22

Objectives 
• Gather data on impact of economic downturn on young people in 

Borough 
• Enhance the opportunities for young people to get quality work 

experience in the borough 
• Extend advice and support in career development 

 
Provision of cultural and leisure activities  
Consultation highlighted a need for youth activities to be sited in areas that are 
easily accessible to young people.  Feedback from consultation with girls and 
young women highlighted a need for the provision of a more diverse range of 
activities for young women to participate in at youth clubs.  Staff highlighted a 
lack of female youth workers which may contribute to the feeling amongst young 
women that they are not well catered for.  
 
Findings reveal that there is a need for more cultural and leisure activities for 
older men. 

 
Objectives 

• Enhance the accessibility of youth centres 
• Increase range of activities available to young women 
• Enhance support for vulnerable young people to participate in leisure 

and cultural activities 
• Enable young people to access cultural activities 
• Improve open space play opportunities  
• Enhance range of activities available to older men 

Page 240



 

 23

A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE 
 
“By 2020 Tower Hamlets will continue to be a place that attracts people – to 
settle and raise families, to study, to work in a thriving local economy and 
enjoy the rich cultural life.” 
- Tower Hamlets Community Plan 
 
Reduce overcrowding 
For young people and their families over-crowding is a major issue.  Tower 
Hamlets has the highest rate of overcrowding in London. According to the 
Department of Communities and Local Government, overcrowding in Council-
owned housing is the highest in London (24%).  Lack of amenities and 
overcrowding are associated with poor health – both physical and mental –  
and with impact on young people’s educational achievement.  Tower Hamlets 
already delivers a comparatively large amount of affordable housing (over 
1,000 affordable homes in 2007/08 – more than any other Council) but even 
more progress is needed. 
 
Objectives 

• Increase the supply of affordable family housing 
 
Supporting independent living 
Over 70% of pensioner households live in social housing in Tower Hamlets. 
Some older tenants have real concerns about the condition of their homes 
and difficulties in accessing basic adaptations to enable them to continue 
living independently. 
 
Consultation with staff and third sector providers indicated that there is a need 
for clear, accurate and well-publicised information regarding what services are 
available for older people in the borough to enable older people to live as 
independently as possible. There will be an increasing need for independent 
advocacy for vulnerable older people who will be allocated personal budgets 
in order to guard against elder abuse.  Older residents who do not speak 
English or who suffer from dementia will need specific support and increased 
advocacy. 
 
Residents highlighted the importance high quality and appropriate care can 
play in enabling older people to stay in their own home and maintain levels of 
independence.  Our findings suggested that older people wanted a more 
flexible approach in understanding their needs, taking into account an 
individual’s preferences.  The personalisation of older people’s care is set to 
impact radically on the way in which we provide services and will enable older 
people to live independently in accordance with their individual preferences. 
 
Access to appropriate and accessible transportation was highlighted in 
several consultation activities as an enabling factor in supporting older 
people’s independent living.  The Best Value Review revealed that the take up 
of Freedom Passes amongst pensioners in Tower Hamlets is lower than in 
other comparable local authorities.   

Page 241



 

 24

 
Objectives 

• Improve the extent to which older people can remain in their own 
homes throughout their lifetime 

• Implement transformation of social care through personalisation 
• Ensure that older people are supported in the transition to personalised 

budgets 
• Enhance provision of advocacy and advice to older people, particularly 

those who may be vulnerable or ‘hard to reach’ 
• Improve the accessibility of public transportation, particularly in the run 

up to the 2012 Olympic Games 
 
Out and about 
Our consultation has highlighted the need for more free accessible public 
toilets in the borough.  According to a recent nationwide survey by Help the 
Aged, 52% of respondents agreed that the lack of public toilets in their local 
area prevented them from going out as often as they would like.  By providing 
greater access to toilets across the borough, older people, parents and people 
with health problems or disabilities are able to maintain a more active lifestyle 
and confidently enjoy the local environment.  
 
The perceived lack of effective lighting and worries about uneven pavements 
have a limiting affect on older people’s activities outside the home after dark 
due to fears around personal safety and vulnerability to falls.  
 
Objectives 

• Enhance the provision of free accessible public toilets in the Borough 
• Ensure redevelopment creates ‘safe’ environments particularly at night 

CASE STUDY: TOWER HAMLETS TELECARE SERVICE 
The telecare service helps provide safety, security and wellbeing by enabling 
people to live independently in their own homes. The service is available 24 
hours a day, every day of the year and uses simple technology linked to our 
response centre. Sensors include flood, smoke, gas, fall and carbon monoxide 
detectors. The Council provides this service free of charge to vulnerable 
adults and older people.  

Page 242



 

 25

 
A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY 
 
“By 2020 we want Tower Hamlets to be a place where all residents and 
visitors feel safe and confident in their homes and on the streets. Services will 
ensure that everyone, particularly the vulnerable, is protected from risk of 
harm and is enabled to live a full and independent life. Parents and families 
will get the support they need to give children the best possible start in life.” 
- Tower Hamlets Community Plan  
 
Reducing fear of crime  
Overall crime in Tower Hamlets has dropped over 24% between 2003/04 and 
2007/08.  Yet concern about crime, as measured by our Annual Residents’ 
Survey, has increased over the past 2 years. 
    
In our consultation activities, many young people expressed fear of crime and 
were particularly worried about knife crime and were most likely to feel that 
anti-social behaviour has got worse over the last three years.  
 
Objectives 

• Increase older and young people’s confidence to go out after dark 
• Reduce older and young people’s fear of crime 

 
Tackling anti-social behaviour 
Tower Hamlets is fortunate: levels of violence here are significantly lower than 
in many boroughs, and in particular we have low levels of gun and knife crime. 
 
Consultation activities have highlighted the need to reassure older and young 
people about anti-social behaviour in their area.  Our findings highlighted the 
need to address older people’s perceptions around young people and anti-
social behaviour. 
 
Young people are more likely to be victims and perpetrators of anti-social 
behaviour.  We know that young men, particularly those from Asian or Black 
backgrounds, are overrepresented as recipients of enforcement action. 
 
Objectives 

• Tackle negative perceptions of young people, particularly their 
association with anti-social behaviour 

• Monitor impact of anti-social behaviour measures on young men, 
particularly those from minority ethnic backgrounds 

Page 243



 

 26

A HEALTHY COMMUNITY 
 
“By 2020, local residents will live long and fulfilled lives, aware of how their lifestyle 
choices affect their own and their family’s health and wellbeing. All will be able to 
access high quality health and social care in their communities. Health care will focus 
on health promotion and prevention as fewer residents will need acute 
long-time care for avoidable health concerns. We will use the power of the 2012 
Games to promote more active lifestyles.” 
- Tower Hamlets Community Plan 
 
Mental and emotional health 
The Government’s Mental Health Needs Index shows that Tower Hamlets has 
a 40% greater demand for mental health services compared to the national 
average.  Consultation activities have highlighted the need for improved 
provision of mental and emotional services for older and young people. 
 
Isolation of Older People 
43% of older people in Tower Hamlets live alone.12  Their isolation 
exacerbates any threats posed to their well-being by poverty and their housing 
condition, and increases the risk of poor mental and emotional health, 
particularly for those who are housebound.  
 
Loneliness and isolation is a particular risk for older men, especially from 
white, black and mixed race ethnic groups.  Older lesbians, gay men and 
bisexuals are 2.5 times as likely to live alone and 4.5 times as likely to have 
no children to call upon in times of need. 
 
Young people’s mental health 
Young people in the borough have highlighted mental health as their top 
health priority.  In 2004, one in ten children and young people nationally aged 
5–16 had a clinically diagnosed mental disorder.13  Young people from ethnic 
minority backgrounds are at increased risk of experiencing poor mental 
health.  Gay and lesbian young people are over-represented in statistics on 
self-harm, depression and suicide. 14 
 
Objectives 

• Improve mental health services available to older people 
• Increase awareness of mental health issues for older and young people 
• Enhance measures to tackle the social isolation of older people with 

particular focus on older men and LGBT older people 
• Improve the accessibility of mental health services for young people 
• Target provision at specific groups not accessing mental health 

services 
Dementia 

                                            
12

 ONS, Census (2001).  
13 ONS, Mental health of children and young people in Great Britain (2004) 
14 Mind Children, young people and mental health factsheet 

Page 244



 

 27

Dementia is not a natural consequence of ageing.  A great deal can be done 
to help people overcome the problems of dementia, to prevent crises and to 
improve the quality of life of all involved. 
 
According to the Alzheimer Society, approximately 1,500 people in Tower 
Hamlets have dementia.15  Many more are affected by its impact on their 
elderly relatives of whom 40% will have continuous support needs.  Nationally, 
the number of people with dementia is predicted to rise by 150% over the next 
50 years. People with learning disabilities who develop dementia generally will 
be of a younger age group and may have needs which services designed for 
people 30 or 40 years older find hard to meet.  
 
Objectives 

• In partnership with the PCT and East London NHS Foundation Trust 
develop a strategy to meet the needs of people with dementia and their 
carers including better assessments, early diagnosis and long-term 
support and care 

 
Active opportunities for older people 
Many of the frailties associated with old age are not inevitable and a more 
enabling environment could sustain health and mobility well into the 80s.16  
 
Feedback from residents indicated that there is a need to ensure that sports 
and leisure facilities are welcoming and accessible to older people.  Older 
people who are housebound are particularly limited in their opportunities to 
engage in physical activity.  The availability of appropriate transportation and 
timings sensitive to older people’s needs impact upon whether an older 
person will engage in physical activities.   
 
Ensuring that open spaces feel safe and accessible for older people is 
important for their health and wellbeing as they provide a free space for 
exercise and relaxation.  

 
 
Objectives 

• Improve access to leisure facilities 
• Develop exercise opportunities for housebound older people 

                                            
15 Alzheimer's Research Trust (2003), “A Biological and Socio-Economic Assessment of the 

Consequences, Alzheimer's Research Trust 
16 Forster,  AgeShift: The New Marketing Mindset (Autumn 2006), p5 

CASE STUDY: LINK AGE PLUS 
The Link Age Plus centres across the borough provide an integrated 
network of services that are easily accessible and provide a holistic 
response to the needs of older adults. Link Age Plus centres provide 
activities, such as exercise, dance, health promotion, IT classes and 
welfare advice sessions, as well as social events such as coffee mornings 
and knitting groups. The focus is on improving the quality of life of older 
residents and empowering individuals to take more control of their lives. 

Page 245



 

 28

• Enhance older people’s feelings of safety in open spaces 
 
Tackling childhood obesity 
Childhood obesity levels in Tower Hamlets are above average both for 
London and nationally. In 2006/7 obesity rates in Reception Year were the 
third highest in the country.  20% of children are obese and one third 
overweight.17 Feedback from consultation highlighted a concern to improve 
the number of healthy eating options in the borough, particularly healthier fast 
food.   
 
Young people highlighted the need for enhanced opportunities to engage in 
exercise and sporting activities.  Parks and open spaces must be developed 
and improved to provide for social, educational and recreational needs of 
young people.  
 
Objectives 

• Provide increased support for walking and cycling  
• Improve the choices of healthy food available  
• Enhance the skills, knowledge and confidence of families to live 

healthily 
• Expand targeted and specialist provision to support children and 

families with identified weight management needs 
 
 
 

                                            
17 LB Tower Hamlets, Improving Health and Well-being Strategy 2006-11 

Page 246



 

 29

Promoting Age Equality as an Employer 
Recruitment and selection  
The Council is committed to promoting equality as an employer. In order to 
ensure that all forms of discrimination are eradicated, regular analysis is 
undertaken in respect of recruitment activity as well as levels of retention 
across age ranges. Furthermore, reviews of employee progression by age are 
another method by which the Council is able to monitor equality of 
opportunity.  Youth training schemes are run for local residents aged between 
16 and 24 years of age and, at the other end of the spectrum, some 
employees over 65 years continue to work for the Council. 
Many staff members emphasised the importance of having a workforce that 
reflected the age of the community it served. Currently, 7% of the workforce is 
under 25 years and 14% is over 55 years. Our Workforce to Reflect the 
Community Strategy puts in place measures to improve the age balance of 
our workforce with targeted activities such as ‘Young Women at Work’ day 
and the Hamlets Youth apprenticeship scheme. 
 
Staff at all levels have access to a full range of training and development 
opportunities to support them in embedding equalities in their recruitment and 
selection, e.g. recruitment and selection training for managers, induction 
training for staff and one-to-one support from HR.   
  
Working time arrangements  
Flexible working practices were introduced as part the Government’s Flexible 
Working Directive in 1999. The Council has developed working procedures 
including hot-desking, home working, staggered hours, term time and part 
time and job share working. The Council has developed a flexible working 
policy which was formally adopted and implemented in May 2007. 
 
Pay, structures and equal pay  
In determining pay and conditions, the Council ensures all posts are evaluated 
using an equality proofed job evaluation scheme which has been agreed with 
trade unions and the regional employers’ organisation, London Councils.  All 
staff are able to access information on pay structures and grading through the 
intranet and associated HR policies and procedures.   
The Council also undertakes job evaluations in partnership with the Trade 
Unions.  This means each job is evaluated by both Human Resources and a 
Trade Union Representative to help ensure greater consistency. 
 
 
Training and development  
The opportunity for staff to build on or acquire new skills is a key feature of the 
Council’s learning and development programme.  A wide range of learning 
opportunities are provided and employees are supported in learning through 

Page 247



 

 30

their work.  The uptake of learning and development is recorded across age 
range to ensure that every employee has access to continuous professional 
development.  There is no evidence to suggest that younger or older officers 
are facing particular difficulties in accessing these opportunities. 
 
Promotion and career development  
Findings suggested that older staff members felt that it was difficult to find the 
appropriate support to help them change careers if they wanted to.  The 
consultation also revealed that older members of staff felt it was harder for 
them to progress in the organisation.  Findings suggested that there are some 
negative perceptions around the rapid progression of some younger members 
of staff by older staff members. However, analysis of the age range of senior 
managers does not indicate any disproportionate age weighting. 
 
The consultation revealed that more promotion or retention of staff beyond the 
age of 65 is needed.  National research indicates that a large number of 
people aged 50-70 who are working or looking for work say they plan to 
continue to work in some capacity in retirement or never to retire.18  1% of the 
Council’s workforce is currently over the age of 65 years.19 
 
Working conditions and working environment  
The Council has policies and procedures in place to promote equality of 
opportunity and to address circumstances where an employee believes that 
they have been disadvantaged.  The Council has a Combating Harassment 
and Discrimination Procedure that applies to all staff.  This policy and 
procedure is used by staff where they feel it necessary (there is no evidence 
that a disproportionate number of young and older staff have raised issues of 
discrimination). 
 
Actions taken under the Council’s Disciplinary Procedure and the Council’s 
Sickness Management procedure are also noted.  There is no evidence to 
suggest that young and older officers have been involved in a 
disproportionate number of cases. 
 
Information is also collated on redundancy and retirement across the Council. 
The Council provides pre-retirement courses to employees that are nearing 
retirement.  In recognition that financial matters are not just a priority for older 
workers, a Financial Services Authority course was also piloted recently to 
help educate all staff on personal finance issues.  The Council has a 
procedure in place for employees to request to work beyond the age of 65.  
Employees that are faced with redundancy are offered support and, where 
possible, the option of redeployment to alternative jobs within the Council. 
 
                                            
18  Institute of Employment Studies  
19 HR Performance Information (January 2009) 

Page 248



 

 31

Objectives 
• Ensure employees and managers are aware of the Council’s policy on 

retention of staff beyond the age of 65 
• Further develop the representation of diverse ages in the Council 
• Promote availability of training and promotion to all members of staff 
• Explore the reasons why applicants aged 21 – 24 years are not getting 

shortlisted for roles. 

Page 249



  
32

 

De
live

rin
g t

he
 Ag

e E
qu

ali
ty 

Sc
he

me
 O

bje
cti

ve
s 2

00
9 -

20
12

 
 Dr

aw
ing

 on
 th

e f
ind

ing
s o

utl
ine

d a
bo

ve
, w

e h
av

e i
de

nti
fie

d a
 nu

mb
er 

of 
ke

y a
rea

s i
n w

hic
h t

he
 C

ou
nc

il a
lon

g w
ith

 its
 pa

rtn
ers

 
ne

ed
s t

o t
ak

e a
cti

on
 to

 en
su

re 
tha

t w
e p

rom
ote

 eq
ua

lity
 fo

r e
ve

ryo
ne

 liv
ing

, w
ork

ing
 or

 vi
sit

ing
 To

we
r H

am
let

s r
eg

ard
les

s o
f th

eir
 

ag
e. 

Th
is 

ac
tio

n p
lan

 ou
tlin

es
 w

ha
t w

e w
ill u

nd
ert

ak
e o

ve
r th

e n
ex

t th
ree

 ye
ars

. 
 ON

E 
TO

W
ER

 H
AM

LE
TS

 
 Pr

ior
ity

 
Ob

jec
tiv

e 
Ac

tio
n 

By
 w

ho
m 

By
 w

he
n  

    
    

 
Ex

plo
re 

ba
rrie

rs 
pre

ve
nti

ng
 

div
ers

e c
om

mu
nit

ies
 m

ixin
g 

in 
yo

uth
 cl

ub
s a

nd
 da

y 
ce

ntr
es

 

Im
ple

me
nt 

the
 Yo

uth
 C

rim
e A

cti
on

 Pl
an

, 
ide

nti
fyi

ng
 di

sa
ffe

cte
d y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
on

 th
e 

ed
ge

s o
f c

rim
e, 

an
d w

ork
ing

 w
ith

 th
em

 th
eir

 
fam

ilie
s, 

an
d s

ch
oo

ls 
to 

re-
en

ga
ge

 th
em

 w
ith

 
the

 co
mm

un
ity

 
 Ex

ten
d y

ou
th 

se
rvi

ce
 pr

ov
isio

n a
cro

ss
 th

e 
bo

rou
gh

, w
ith

 cl
ea

r ta
rge

ts 
for

 pr
ov

ide
rs 

on
 

en
ga

gin
g y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
fro

m 
all

 of
 ou

r 
co

mm
un

itie
s 

  Ch
ild

ren
 an

d 
Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

’s 
Inv

olv
em

en
t 

Ma
na

ge
r, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

   

Ma
rch

 
20

12
 

Bu
ild
ing
 

Co
he
siv
e 

co
mm

un
itie
s 

En
ha

nc
e a

cti
vit

ies
 th

at 
bri

ng
 

pe
op

le 
of 

dif
fer

en
t 

ba
ck

gro
un

ds
 to

ge
the

r 
Inv

es
t in

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 w

ho
 ar

e g
ifte

d a
nd

 
tal

en
ted

 in
 sp

ort
 as

 pa
rt o

f O
lym

pic
s a

nd
 

Pa
ral

ym
pic

s, 
so

 th
at 

lac
k o

f fu
nd

ing
 sh

ou
ld 

no
t d

ete
r y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
fro

m 
co

mp
eti

ng
 at

 
clu

b, 
na

tio
na

l o
r in

ter
na

tio
na

l le
ve

l 
 Of

fer
 fiv

e h
ou

rs 
of 

cu
ltu

ral
 ac

tiv
ity

 ev
ery

 w
ee

k 
to 

all
 of

 ou
r c

hil
dre

n a
nd

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 

thr
ou

gh
 th

e F
ind

 Yo
ur 

Ta
len

t p
ath

fin
de

r 

  He
ad

 of
 To

we
r 

Ha
ml

ets
 Ar

ts 
an

d 
Mu

sic
 Ed

uc
ati

on
 

Se
rvi

ce
, C

hil
dre

n’s
 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

  

By
 Ju

ly 
20

11
 

Page 250



  
33

 

De
ve

lop
 st

rat
eg

ies
 fo

r 
co

ns
ult

ing
 w

ith
 ho

us
eb

ou
nd

 
old

er 
pe

op
le 

W
ork

 w
ith

 Li
nk

 Ag
e P

lus
 to

 id
en

tify
 

co
ns

ult
ati

on
s r

ele
va

nt 
to 

old
er 

pe
op

le 
an

d p
ut 

in 
pla

ce
 pr

ov
isio

n t
o e

ng
ag

e h
ou

se
bo

un
d 

old
er 

pe
op

le 
in 

the
se

 co
ns

ult
ati

on
s, 

co
ns

ult
ati

on
 fo

rw
ard

 pl
an

 to
 be

 re
vie

we
d 

ev
ery

 si
x m

on
ths

 

Dir
ec

tor
 of

 th
e 

To
we

r H
am

let
s 

Pa
rtn

ers
hip

, 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 an

d 
an

nu
all

y 

En
su

re 
all

 co
rre

sp
on

de
nc

e 
ma

ter
ial

s r
ela

tin
g t

o L
ink

ag
e 

Plu
s a

re 
in 

ap
pro

pri
ate

 
sta

nd
ard

 to
 m

ee
t th

e 
req

uir
em

en
ts 

of 
old

er 
pe

op
le.

 En
su

re 
all

 co
rre

sp
on

de
nc

e a
nd

 pu
bli

cit
y 

inf
orm

ati
on

 ar
e i

n a
cc

es
sib

le 
lan

gu
ag

es
 an

d 
for

ma
t. 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 

Ma
na

ge
r –

 O
lde

r 
Pe

op
le,

 Ad
ult

s 
He

alt
h a

nd
 

W
ell

be
ing

 

Ma
rch

 
20

12
 

Fu
rth

er 
en

ha
nc

e t
he

 
en

ga
ge

me
nt 

of 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 
in 

loc
al 

de
mo

cra
cy

 
Re

fre
sh

 To
we

r H
am

let
s Y

ou
th 

Pa
rtn

ers
hip

 
wit

h y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

dir
ec

tly
 el

ec
ted

 to
 Lo

ca
l 

Ar
ea

 Pa
rtn

ers
hip

 (L
AP

) s
tee

rin
g c

om
mi

tte
es

 
an

d f
orm

al 
rep

res
en

tat
ion

 fro
m 

Sc
ho

ol 
Co

un
cils

 on
 o 

pa
rtn

ers
hip

 fo
rum

s 
 En

ha
nc

e t
he

 in
vo

lve
me

nt 
of 

yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 in

 
TH

P d
ec

isio
n m

ak
ing

 st
ruc

tur
es

: 
• 

Su
pp

ort
 yo

un
g m

ay
ors

 an
d m

ay
ora

l 
ca

nd
ida

tes
 to

 ta
ke

 up
 po

sit
ion

s o
n 

TH
P g

rou
ps

 by
 Ap

ril 
09

;  
• 

Es
tab

lish
 lin

ka
ge

s b
etw

ee
n L

AP
 yo

uth
 

for
um

s a
nd

 LA
Ps

  

   Dir
ec

tor
 of

 th
e 

To
we

r H
am

let
s 

Pa
rtn

ers
hip

, 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

    Se
pte

mb
er 

20
09

 
    

A 
vo
ice
 fo
r 

yo
un
g a
nd
 ol
de
r 

pe
op
le.
 

Im
pro

ve
 co

ns
ult

ati
on

 w
ith

 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 
Ho

st 
a Y

ou
ng

 Ad
vo

ca
te 

in 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
for

 si
x m

on
ths

, to
 w

ork
 w

ith
 us

 on
 im

pro
vin

g 
the

 w
ay

s i
n w

hic
h w

e i
nv

olv
e c

hil
dre

n a
nd

 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 in
 de

cis
ion

 m
ak

ing
 

 

Sta
ke

ho
lde

rs 
En

ga
ge

me
nt 

an
d 

Pa
rtic

ipa
tio

n 
Ma

na
ge

r, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s  

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

   

Page 251



  
34

 

 Us
e t

he
 sk

ills
 of

 pa
ren

ts 
an

d c
are

rs 
to 

de
ve

lop
 se

rvi
ce

s, 
an

d b
uil

d u
po

n t
he

 la
un

ch
 

of 
the

 "F
am

ily 
Vo

ice
" in

itia
tiv

e, 
an

d t
he

 us
e o

f 
pa

ren
ts 

an
d y

ou
ng

 pe
op

le 
as

 pe
er 

me
nto

rs 
 

 He
ad

 of
 Eq

ua
litie

s 
an

d P
are

nta
l 

En
ga

ge
me

nt,
 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

 Ma
rch

 
20

11
 

 

Im
pro

ve
 in

clu
sio

n o
f th

e 
vo

ice
s o

f d
isa

ble
d c

hil
dre

n 
an

d y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

Em
be

d t
he

 Ev
ery

 D
isa

ble
d C

hil
d M

att
ers

 
ch

art
er 

to 
fac

ilita
te 

be
tte

r in
clu

sio
n o

f d
isa

ble
d 

ch
ild

ren
 an

d y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

in 
se

rvi
ce

 de
sig

n 
 

Dis
ab

led
 C

hil
dre

n’s
 

Int
eg

rat
ed

 Se
rvi

ce
 

Ma
na

ge
r, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

Ma
rch

 
20

12
 

 

Page 252



  
35

 

A 
PR

OS
PE

RO
US

 C
OM

MU
NI

TY
 

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Ob
jec

tiv
e 

Ac
tio

n 
By

 w
ho

m 
By

 w
he

n  
    

    
 

Im
pro

ve
 th

e e
co

no
mi

c w
ell

 
be

ing
 of

 ol
de

r p
eo

ple
 an

d 
fam

ilie
s 

De
ve

lop
 st

rat
eg

ies
 an

d m
on

ito
r th

rou
gh

 th
e 

pla
nn

ed
 C

ity
 St

rat
eg

y p
ilo

t 
 

Ac
ce

ss
 to

 
Em

plo
ym

en
t 

Ma
na

ge
r, D

&R
 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

En
ab

le 
pa

ren
ts 

an
d c

are
rs 

to 
im

pro
ve

 th
eir

 em
plo

ya
bil

ity
 

Of
fer

 st
ruc

tur
ed

 op
po

rtu
nit

ies
 fo

r p
are

nts
 an

d 
ca

rer
s t

o b
uil

d t
he

ir c
on

fid
en

ce
 th

rou
gh

 
vo

lun
tee

r p
rog

ram
me

s l
ea

din
g t

o e
mp

loy
me

nt 
  De

ve
lop

 st
rat

eg
ies

 an
d m

on
ito

r th
rou

gh
 th

e 
pla

nn
ed

 C
ity

 St
rat

eg
y p

ilo
t 

He
ad

 of
 Eq

ua
litie

s 
an

d P
are

nta
l 

En
ga

ge
me

nt,
 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
 

 Ac
ce

ss
 to

 
Em

plo
ym

en
t 

Ma
na

ge
r, D

&R
 

Ma
rch

 
20

11
 

   Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

En
din
g C

hil
d 

an
d P
en
sio
ne
r 

Po
ve
rty
 

Su
pp

ort
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 fro
m 

wo
rkl

es
s f

am
ilie

s t
o i

mp
rov

e 
em

plo
ya

bil
ity

 
De

live
r p

rog
ram

me
s t

ha
t e

ns
ure

 yo
un

g 
pe

op
le 

fro
m 

wo
rkl

es
s f

am
ilie

s u
nd

ers
tan

d a
nd

 
ca

n m
ee

t th
e d

em
an

ds
 of

 th
e w

ork
pla

ce
 

   As
 pa

rt o
f th

e E
co

no
mi

c A
ss

es
sm

en
t s

et 
tar

ge
ts 

for
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 

Dir
ec

tor
 of

 
Ed

uc
ati

on
 

Im
pro

ve
me

nt 
Pa

rtn
ers

hip
, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s  

 Ac
ce

ss
 to

 
Em

plo
ym

en
t 

Ma
na

ge
r, D

&R
 

Ma
rch

 
20

11
 

    Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

Im
pr
ov
e 

Ed
uc
ati
on
al 

Ou
tco
me
s 

Im
pro

ve
 th

e e
du

ca
tio

na
l 

ou
tco

me
s o

f y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

Sh
are

 w
ha

t w
ork

s t
o r

ais
e q

ua
lific

ati
on

 le
ve

ls 
by

 19
 w

hil
e n

arr
ow

ing
 th

e a
tta

inm
en

t g
ap

 fo
r 

tho
se

 fro
m 

po
ore

r h
om

es
.  

 En
su

re 
tha

t a
ll p

os
t-1

6 p
rov

ide
rs 

ca
n 

de
mo

ns
tra

te 
the

y a
re 

rea
lly 

he
lpi

ng
 al

l 

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d 

Yo
un

g P
eo

ple
 an

d 
Le

arn
ing

, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 

Ma
rch

 
20

12
 

Page 253



  
36

 

lea
rne

rs 
to 

im
pro

ve
 an

d a
re 

ad
din

g a
t le

as
t 

the
 ex

pe
cte

d v
alu

e t
o l

ea
rne

r o
utc

om
es

.  
 Fu

rth
er 

inv
olv

e o
ur 

un
ive

rsi
ty 

pa
rtn

ers
 in

 
pre

pa
rin

g m
ore

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 fo

r h
igh

er 
ed

uc
ati

on
 an

d s
up

po
rt a

 th
ird

 of
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 
int

o u
niv

ers
ity

 at
 18

.  
 

En
ha

nc
e s

up
po

rt o
f y

ou
ng

 
pe

op
le 

in 
the

ir t
ran

sit
ion

 fro
m 

co
mp

uls
ory

 ed
uc

ati
on

 in
to 

ad
ult

ho
od

 

Pr
ior

itis
e t

he
 ne

ed
s o

f o
ur 

loo
ke

d a
fte

r 
ch

ild
ren

 an
d y

ou
ng

 ca
rer

s t
o e

ns
ure

 th
ey

 
rec

eiv
e a

pp
rop

ria
te 

lev
els

 of
 ad

vic
e a

nd
 

su
pp

ort
 ab

ou
t e

du
ca

tio
n, 

em
plo

ym
en

t a
nd

 
tra

ini
ng

 op
tio

ns
 

Se
rvi

ce
 M

an
ag

er 
Lo

ok
ed

 Af
ter

 
Ch

ild
ren

, C
hil

dre
n’s

 
Se

rvi
ce

 
 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

 
En

ha
nc

e t
he

 su
pp

ort
 of

 
yo

un
g d

isa
ble

d p
eo

ple
 in

 
the

ir t
ran

sit
ion

 fro
m 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s t

o A
du

lts
 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

Es
tab

lish
 an

 im
pro

ve
d s

ys
tem

 to
 be

tte
r s

ha
re 

inf
orm

ati
on

 ac
ros

s a
ge

nc
ies

 to
 en

su
re 

tim
ely

 
ide

nti
fic

ati
on

  a
nd

 th
e b

es
t p

os
sib

le 
ou

tco
me

s 
for

  y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

 w
ith

 di
sa

bil
itie

s  
 Fa

cili
tat

e p
ers

on
 ce

ntr
ed

 pl
an

nin
g f

or 
all

 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 w
ith

 di
sa

bil
itie

s i
n s

ch
oo

ls 
 

   Es
tab

lish
 a 

cro
ss

 di
rec

tor
ate

 tra
ns

itio
ns

 te
am

 
to 

en
su

re 
a s

ea
ml

es
s t

ran
sit

ion
 fo

r y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le 
wit

h d
isa

bil
itie

s 

Se
rvi

ce
 M

an
ag

er 
Le

arn
ing

 
Dis

ab
iliti

es
, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

 Dis
ab

led
 C

hil
dre

n’s
 

Int
eg

rat
ed

 Se
rvi

ce
 

Ma
na

ge
r, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s  

 Dis
ab

iliti
es

 Te
am

 
Ma

na
ge

r, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
  

   Se
pte

mb
er 

 
20

09
 

   Se
pte

mb
er 

20
10

 
 

Su
pp
or
tin
g 

Yo
un
g P
eo
ple
 in
 

the
 Ec
on
om
ic 

Ga
the

r d
ata

 on
 im

pa
ct 

of 
ec

on
om

ic 
do

wn
tur

n o
n 

yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 in

 Bo
rou

gh
 

Un
de

rta
ke

 co
mp

reh
en

siv
e g

ap
 an

aly
sis

 of
 th

e 
ev

ide
nc

e b
as

e r
eq

uir
ed

 to
 su

pp
ort

 th
e 

Ec
on

om
ic 

As
se

ss
me

nt 
Ac

ce
ss

 to
 

Em
plo

ym
en

t &
 

Inf
orm

ati
on

 an
d 

De
ce

mb
er 

20
09

 

Page 254



  
37

 

Eq
ua

litie
s, 

D&
R 

En
ha

nc
e t

he
 op

po
rtu

nit
ies

 
for

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 to

 ge
t 

qu
ali

ty 
wo

rk 
ex

pe
rie

nc
e i

n 
the

 bo
rou

gh
 

W
ork

 th
rou

gh
 TH

P D
ive

rsi
ty 

an
d E

qu
ali

ty 
Ne

tw
ork

 to
 ex

ten
d w

ork
 ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

op
po

rtu
nit

ies
 in

 lo
ca

l p
ub

lic 
se

cto
r 

Div
ers

ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 
Co

ord
ina

tor
, C

hie
f 

Ex
ec

uti
ve

’s 
 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

De
ve

lop
 th

e w
ork

ab
ility

 sk
ills

 
of 

yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 

Su
pp

ort
 yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 to
 de

ve
lop

 th
e s

kill
s a

ll 
em

plo
ye

rs 
wa

nt 
an

d t
o g

et 
qu

ali
fic

ati
on

s t
o 

pro
ve

 it 
Yo

uth
 an

d 
Co

mm
un

ity
 

Se
rvi

ce
s, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

Ma
rch

 
20

11
 

Do
wn
tur
n 

Inc
rea

se
 nu

mb
er 

of 
ap

pre
nti

ce
sh

ips
 in

 tra
dit

ion
al 

tra
de

s 
La

un
ch

 an
 ad

dit
ion

al 
60

0 A
pp

ren
tic

es
hip

s 
ac

ros
s p

ub
lic,

 co
mm

un
ity

 an
d v

olu
nta

ry 
pa

rtn
ers

 
Yo

uth
 an

d 
Co

mm
un

ity
 

Se
rvi

ce
s, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

Ma
rch

 
20

12
 

Pr
ov
isi
on
 of
 

cu
ltu
ral
 an
d 

lei
su
re 
ac
tiv
itie
s  

Inc
rea

se
 ra

ng
e o

f a
cti

vit
ies

 
av

ail
ab

le 
to 

yo
un

g w
om

en
 

De
ve

lop
 ac

tiv
itie

s f
or 

gir
ls 

an
d y

ou
ng

 w
om

en
 

as
 w

ell
 as

 op
po

rtu
nit

ies
 fo

r y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

fro
m 

dif
fer

en
t e

thn
ic 

ba
ck

gro
un

ds
 to

 pa
rtic

ipa
te 

in 
joi

nt 
ac

tiv
itie

s 
 De

live
r p

rog
ram

me
 as

 pa
rt o

f H
ea

lth
y T

ow
ns

 
to 

pro
vid

e w
om

en
 & 

gir
ls 

sw
im

mi
ng

 
pro

gra
mm

e c
om

me
nc

ing
 Ap

ril 
20

09
 -2

01
1  

    W
ork

ing
 w

ith
 M

us
lim

 W
om

en
’s 

Co
lle

cti
ve

 to
 

en
co

ura
ge

 em
plo

ym
en

t o
f M

us
lim

 w
om

en
 in

 
fro

ntl
ine

 le
isu

re 

Ch
ild

ren
 an

d 
Yo

un
g P

eo
ple

’s 
Inv

olv
em

en
t 

Ma
na

ge
r 

 Le
isu

re 
Co

ntr
ac

ts 
an

d P
art

ne
rsh

ip 
Ma

na
ge

r / 
Jo

int
 

He
ad

 of
 Sp

ort
s a

nd
 

Ph
ys

ica
l A

cti
vit

y, 
CL

C 
 He

ad
 of

 St
rat

eg
y &

 
Re

so
urc

es
, 

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo

ca
litie

s a
nd

 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

   Co
mm

en
ce

 
Ap

ril 
20

09
 

     Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

Page 255



  
38

 

Cu
ltu

re 
En

ha
nc

e s
up

po
rt f

or 
vu

lne
rab

le 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 to
 

pa
rtic

ipa
te 

in 
lei

su
re 

an
d 

cu
ltu

ral
 ac

tiv
itie

s 

Pr
ov

ide
 C

OO
L c

ard
s f

or 
yo

un
g c

are
rs 

to 
he

lp 
the

m 
ac

ce
ss

 le
isu

re 
an

d c
ult

ura
l a

cti
vit

ies
 

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d, 

Yo
uth

 an
d 

Co
mm

un
ity

 
Se

rvi
ce

s, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

En
ab

le 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 to
 

ac
ce

ss
 cu

ltu
ral

 ac
tiv

itie
s 

De
ve

lop
 a 

cu
ltu

ral
 of

fer
 fo

r a
ll c

hil
dre

n, 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le 
an

d t
he

ir f
am

ilie
s w

hic
h i

s r
efl

ec
ted

 in
 

the
 cu

rric
ulu

m,
 op

tim
isin

g t
he

 ad
dit

ion
al 

op
po

rtu
nit

ies
 pr

es
en

ted
 by

 be
ing

 pa
rt o

f th
e 

na
tio

na
l F

ind
 Yo

ur 
Ta

len
t p

rog
ram

me
 

He
ad

 of
 To

we
r 

Ha
ml

ets
 Ar

ts 
an

d 
Mu

sic
 Ed

uc
ati

on
 

Se
rvi

ce
, C

hil
dre

n’s
 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

By
 Ju

ly 
20

11
 

Im
pro

ve
 op

en
 sp

ac
e p

lay
 

op
po

rtu
nit

ies
  

Im
pro

ve
 an

d e
xte

nd
 28

 pl
ay

gro
un

ds
 in

 th
e 

bo
rou

gh
, o

ffe
rin

g m
ore

 po
sit

ive
 ac

tiv
itie

s f
or 

the
 0-

3 y
ea

r a
ge

 gr
ou

p a
nd

 th
eir

 fa
mi

lie
s 

thr
ou

gh
 th

e P
lay

 Pa
thf

ind
er 

He
ad

 of
 To

we
r 

Ha
ml

ets
 Ar

ts 
an

d 
Mu

sic
 Ed

uc
ati

on
 

Se
rvi

ce
, C

hil
dre

n’s
 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

By
 Ju

ly 
20

11
 

En
ha

nc
e r

an
ge

 of
 ac

tiv
itie

s 
av

ail
ab

le 
to 

old
er 

me
n 

De
live

r ra
ng

e o
f Y

ou
ng

 @
 H

ea
rt p

rog
ram

me
s 

tar
ge

ted
 at

 ov
er 

50
s i

nc
lud

es
 da

rts
, 

do
mi

no
es

, b
ow

ls 
 

Le
isu

re 
Co

ntr
ac

ts 
an

d P
art

ne
rsh

ip 
Ma

na
ge

r 
 Jo

int
 H

ea
d o

f 
Sp

ort
s a

nd
 

Ph
ys

ica
l A

cti
vit

y, 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 
 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

Page 256



  
39

 

A 
GR

EA
T 

PL
AC

E 
TO

 L
IV

E 
 Pr

ior
ity

 
Ob

jec
tiv

e 
Ac

tio
n 

By
 w

ho
m 

By
 w

he
n  

    
    

 
Re
du
ce
 

Ov
erc
ro
wd
ing
 

Inc
rea

se
 th

e s
up

ply
 of

 
aff

ord
ab

le 
fam

ily 
ho

us
ing

 
Ra

ise
 is

su
e w

ith
 R

SL
s t

hro
ug

h t
he

 H
ou

sin
g 

Fo
rum

 an
d r

ev
iew

 as
 pa

rt o
f H

ou
sin

g S
tra

teg
y 

an
d  

Le
ttin

gs
 Po

licy
 an

d S
erv

ice
 re

vie
w 

 
 

Vis
it 2

00
 ov

erc
row

de
d h

ou
se

ho
lds

 ac
ros

s  
To

we
r H

am
let

s, 
ad

vis
e t

he
m 

on
 th

e b
idd

ing
 

pro
ce

ss
 an

d h
ou

sin
g o

pti
on

s a
va

ila
ble

 to
 

the
m.

 M
on

ito
r o

utc
om

es
 by

 E&
D 

str
an

ds
 

 

Ho
us

ing
 St

rat
eg

y 
Te

am
, D

&R
 

  

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

  Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

Pu
bli

sh
 LD

F t
arg

ets
 fo

r a
ll n

ew
 dw

ell
ing

s b
uil

t 
to 

Lif
eti

me
 H

om
es

 St
an

da
rds

 w
ith

in 
the

 
An

nu
al 

Mo
nit

ori
ng

 R
ep

ort
 

Str
ate

gic
 Pl

an
nin

g, 
D&

R 
Ma

rch
 

20
10

 
De

ve
lop

 R
e-e

na
ble

me
nt 

Se
rvi

ce
 

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d O

lde
r 

Pe
op

le 
an

d 
Ho

me
les

sn
es

s, 
Ad

ult
s H

ea
lth

 an
d 

W
ell

be
ing

 

Oc
tob

er 
20

09
 

 

Im
pro

ve
 th

e e
xte

nt 
to 

wh
ich

 
old

er 
pe

op
le 

ca
n r

em
ain

 in
 

the
ir o

wn
 ho

me
 th

rou
gh

ou
t 

the
ir l

ife
tim

e 

Fu
rth

er 
de

ve
lop

me
nt 

of 
ex

tra
 ca

re 
sh

elt
er 

ho
us

ing
 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 

Ma
na

ge
r, O

lde
r 

Pe
op

le 
Ad

ult
s H

ea
lth

 an
d 

W
ell

be
ing

 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

 

Su
pp
or
tin
g 

ind
ep
en
de
nt 

liv
ing
 

Im
ple

me
nt 

tra
ns

for
ma

tio
n o

f 
So

cia
l C

are
 th

rou
gh

 
pe

rso
na

lisa
tio

n 
Int

rod
uc

e p
ers

on
al 

bu
dg

ets
 an

d R
es

ou
rce

 
All

oc
ati

on
 Sy

ste
m 

(R
AS

) 
Jo

int
 

Co
mm

iss
ion

ing
 

Ma
na

ge
r, L

ea
rni

ng
 

Dis
ab

iliti
es

 / H
ea

d 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

Page 257



  
40

 

of 
Fin

an
ce

, A
du

lts
 

He
alt

h a
nd

 
W

ell
be

ing
 

 
Int

rod
uc

e p
ers

on
al 

bu
dg

ets
 an

d R
es

ou
rce

 
All

oc
ati

on
 Sy

ste
m 

(R
AS

) 
 Mo

nit
or 

pe
rso

na
lisa

tio
n a

ge
nd

a a
nd

 its
 im

pa
ct 

on
 ol

de
r p

eo
ple

’s 
ch

oic
es

  

Im
ple

me
nt 

Tra
ns

for
ma

tio
n 

of 
So

cia
l C

are
 th

rou
gh

 
pe

rso
na

lisa
tio

n. 
 

Pu
t in

 pl
ac

e f
ina

nc
ial

 sy
ste

ms
 to

 fa
cili

tat
e 

int
rod

uc
tio

n o
f p

ers
on

al 
bu

dg
ets

, in
clu

din
g 

de
ve

lop
ing

 ne
w 

ap
pro

ac
h t

o b
ud

ge
t a

llo
ca

tio
n 

an
d p

lan
nin

g 

Jo
int

 
Co

mm
iss

ion
ing

 
Ma

na
ge

r, L
ea

rni
ng

 
Dis

ab
iliti

es
 & 

He
ad

 of
 Fi

na
nc

e, 
Ad

ult
s H

ea
lth

 an
d 

W
ell

be
ing

 
 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

En
ha

nc
e p

rov
isio

n o
f 

ad
vo

ca
cy

 an
d a

dv
ice

 to
 

old
er 

pe
op

le,
 pa

rtic
ula

rly
 

tho
se

 w
ho

 m
ay

 be
 

vu
lne

rab
le 

or 
‘ha

rd 
to 

rea
ch

’ 

De
ve

lop
 ap

pro
ac

h t
o u

niv
ers

al 
ad

vic
e, 

inf
orm

ati
on

 an
d a

dv
oc

ac
y s

erv
ice

 
 

Jo
int

 
Co

mm
iss

ion
ing

 
Ma

na
ge

r, L
ea

rni
ng

 
Dis

ab
iliti

es
 & 

He
ad

 of
 Fi

na
nc

e, 
Ad

ult
s H

ea
lth

 an
d 

W
ell

be
ing

 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
09

 

 

Im
pro

ve
 th

e a
cc

es
sib

ility
 of

 
pu

bli
c t

ran
sp

ort
ati

on
, 

pa
rtic

ula
rly

 in
 th

e r
un

 up
 to

 
the

 20
12

 O
lym

pic
 G

am
es

 

De
live

r a
cc

es
sib

ility
-dr

ive
n ‘

Ge
ttin

g A
rou

nd
’ 

da
y w

hic
h s

ee
ks

 to
 im

pro
ve

 di
sa

ble
d u

se
rs’

 
kn

ow
led

ge
 of

 th
e t

ran
sp

ort
 op

tio
ns

 in
 th

e 
Bo

rou
gh

. 

Tra
ve

l A
wa

ren
es

s 
Of

fic
er,

 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

Ou
t a
nd
 ab
ou
t 

En
ha

nc
e t

he
 pr

ov
isio

n o
f 

fre
e a

cc
es

sib
le 

pu
bli

c t
oil

ets
 

in 
the

 bo
rou

gh
 

Co
mp

let
e a

 fe
as

ibi
lity

 st
ud

y f
or 

the
 

int
rod

uc
tio

n o
f a

 C
om

mu
nit

y T
oil

ets
 sc

he
me

. 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d, 
En

vir
on

me
nta

l 
Co

ntr
ol,

 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

Page 258



  
41

 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 
En

su
re 

red
ev

elo
pm

en
t 

cre
ate

s ‘
sa

fe’
 en

vir
on

me
nts

 
pa

rtic
ula

rly
 at

 ni
gh

t 
Pr

ep
are

 an
d p

ub
lish

 N
igh

t T
im

e E
co

no
my

 
Str

ate
gy

  
Str

ate
gic

 Pl
an

nin
g, 

D&
R 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

 

Page 259



  
42

 

A 
SA

FE
 A

ND
 S

UP
PO

RT
IV

E 
CO

MM
UN

IT
Y 

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Ob
jec

tiv
e 

Ac
tio

n 
By

 w
ho

m 
By

 w
he

n  
    

    
 

Inc
rea

se
 ol

de
r a

nd
 yo

un
g 

pe
op

le’
s c

on
fid

en
ce

 to
 go

 ou
t 

aft
er 

da
rk 

Co
nd

uc
t fe

as
ibi

lity
 st

ud
y o

n v
isib

le 
en

for
ce

me
nt 

op
tio

ns
 fo

r o
ut-

of-
off

ice
 ho

urs
 at

 
pro

ble
m 

are
as

.   
 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

Re
du
cin
g F
ea
r 

of 
Cr
im
e 

Re
du

ce
 ol

de
r a

nd
 yo

un
g 

pe
op

le’
s f

ea
r o

f c
rim

e 
As

 ab
ov

e, 
inc

lud
ing

 co
mm

un
ica

tio
n s

tra
teg

y 
to 

en
su

re 
the

se
 gr

ou
ps

 ar
e t

arg
ete

d 

Co
mm

un
ity

 Sa
fet

y 
Se

rvi
ce

 C
CT

V &
 

Op
era

tio
ns

 Te
am

, 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 
 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

Ta
ck

le 
 ne

ga
tiv

e p
erc

ep
tio

ns
 

of 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

, p
art

icu
lar

ly 
the

ir a
ss

oc
iat

ion
 w

ith
 an

ti-
so

cia
l b

eh
av

iou
r 

W
ork

ing
 w

ith
 th

e C
om

mu
nic

ati
on

s T
ea

m 
off

ice
 an

d y
ou

th 
se

rvi
ce

s, 
we

 ac
tiv

ely
 pr

om
ote

 
po

sit
ive

 im
ag

ery
 of

 yo
un

g p
eo

ple
 in

 th
e m

ed
ia 

an
d c

am
pa

ign
s i

nc
lud

ing
 im

ag
es

 of
 di

sa
ble

d 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 

Sta
ke

ho
lde

r 
En

ga
ge

me
nt 

an
d 

Pa
rtic

ipa
tio

n 
Ma

na
ge

r, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s  
 

  Ma
rch

 
20

11
 

   

Ta
ck
lin
g A
nti
-

So
cia
l 

Be
ha
vio
ur
 

 Mo
nit

or 
im

pa
ct 

of 
an

ti-s
oc

ial
 

be
ha

vio
ur 

me
as

ure
s o

n 
yo

un
g m

en
, p

art
icu

lar
ly 

tho
se

 fro
m 

mi
no

rity
 et

hn
ic 

ba
ck

gro
un

ds
 

 Ge
ne

rat
e b

as
eli

ne
 da

ta 
for

 eq
ua

litie
s p

rof
ile

 
of 

vic
tim

s a
nd

 pe
rpe

tra
tor

s o
f a

nti
-so

cia
l 

be
ha

vio
ur 

 CC
TV

 & 
Op

era
tio

ns
 Te

am
, 

Co
mm

un
ity

 Sa
fet

y 
Se

rvi
ce

, 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 
 

 Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

 

Page 260



  
43

 

A 
HE

AL
TH

Y 
CO

MM
UN

IT
Y 

 Pr
ior
ity

 
Ob
jec
tiv
es
 

Ac
tio
ns

 
By
 w
ho
m 

By
 w
he
n  
    
 

Mo
nit

or 
the

 im
ple

me
nta

tio
n 

of 
 th

e D
ep

riv
ati

on
 of

 Li
be

rty
 

Sa
feg

ua
rds

, w
ork

ing
 in

 
pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w

ith
 PC

T 

Qu
art

erl
y m

on
ito

rin
g o

f b
es

t in
ter

es
t 

as
se

ss
me

nts
  

 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d 
Dis

ab
iliti

es
 an

d 
He

alt
h, 

AH
W

B 
Ma

rch
 

20
10

 

Inc
rea

se
 aw

are
ne

ss
 of

 
me

nta
l h

ea
lth

 is
su

es
 fo

r 
old

er 
an

d y
ou

ng
 pe

op
le 

En
su

re 
tha

t m
en

tal
 he

alt
h p

rom
oti

on
 is

 
em

be
dd

ed
 in

 th
e w

ork
 of

 C
hil

dre
n’s

 C
en

tre
s 

an
d t

hro
ug

h e
xte

nd
ed

 sc
ho

ols
 

   En
su

re 
pro

toc
ols

 su
pp

ort
 jo

int
 w

ork
ing

 ac
ros

s 
ch

ild
ren

’s 
an

d a
du

lts
’ m

en
tal

 he
alt

h s
erv

ice
s 

    

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Ce
ntr

es
 

Str
ate

gic
 M

an
ag

er 
/ 

Jo
int

 H
ea

d, 
Ex

ten
de

d S
erv

ice
s, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

 He
ad

 of
 Su

pp
ort

 fo
r 

Le
arn

ing
 Se

rvi
ce

 / 
Ma

na
ge

r C
hil

dre
n 

an
d A

du
lt M

en
tal

 
He

alt
h  

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

    Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

En
ha

nc
e m

ea
su

res
 to

 ta
ck

le 
the

 so
cia

l is
ola

tio
n o

f o
lde

r 
pe

op
le 

wit
h p

art
icu

lar
 fo

cu
s 

on
 LG

BT
 ol

de
r p

eo
ple

 

W
ork

 w
ith

 th
e O

lde
r P

eo
ple

’s 
Pa

rtn
ers

hip
 

Bo
ard

 an
d L

GB
T C

om
mu

nit
y F

oru
m 

to 
su

pp
ort

 th
e O

lde
r P

eo
ple

’s 
LG

BT
 G

rou
p 

Se
rvi

ce
 H

ea
d, 

Ol
de

r P
eo

ple
 an

d 
Ho

me
les

sn
es

s, 
Ad

ult
s H

ea
lth

 an
d 

W
ell

be
ing

 
 Div

ers
ity

 an
d 

Eq
ua

lity
 Te

am
, 

Ch
ief

 Ex
ec

uti
ve

’s 
 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

Me
nta
l a
nd
 

Em
oti
on
al 

He
alt
h 

Im
pro

ve
 th

e a
cc

es
sib

ility
 of

 
De

live
r s

erv
ice

s i
n m

ore
 ac

ce
ss

ibl
e s

ett
ing

s i
n 

Ch
ild

ren
 an

d 
Ma

rch
 

Page 261



  
44

 

 
me

nta
l h

ea
lth

 se
rvi

ce
s f

or 
yo

un
g p

eo
ple

 
the

 co
mm

un
ity

 su
ch

 as
 C

hil
dre

n’s
 C

en
tre

s, 
sc

ho
ols

 an
d G

P s
urg

eri
es

 
Ad

ole
sc

en
t M

en
tal

 
He

alt
h S

erv
ice

s, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
20

11
 

De
me
nti
a 

In 
pa

rtn
ers

hip
 w

ith
 PC

T a
nd

 
Ea

st 
Lo

nd
on

 N
HS

 
Fo

un
da

tio
n T

rus
t, d

ev
elo

p a
 

str
ate

gy
 to

 m
ee

t th
e n

ee
ds

 of
 

pe
op

le 
wit

h d
em

en
tia

 an
d 

the
ir c

are
rs,

 in
clu

din
g b

ett
er 

as
se

ss
me

nt,
 ea

rly
 di

ag
no

sis
 

an
d l

on
ge

r-te
rm

 su
pp

ort
 an

d 
ca

re 

Co
mp

let
e a

 D
em

en
tia

 St
rat

eg
y i

n l
ine

 w
ith

 th
e 

ne
w 

na
tio

na
l D

em
en

tia
 St

rat
eg

y 
Se

rvi
ce

 H
ea

d, 
Dis

ab
ility

 an
d 

He
alt

h, 
Ad

ult
s 

He
alt

h a
nd

 
W

ell
be

ing
  

De
ce

mb
er 

20
09

 

Im
pro

ve
 ac

ce
ss

 to
 le

isu
re 

fac
iliti

es
 

De
live

r ra
ng

e o
f Y

ou
ng

 @
 H

ea
rt p

rog
ram

me
s 

tar
ge

ted
 at

 ov
er 

50
s (

Co
mm

un
ity

 In
ve

stm
en

t 
Fu

nd
 Pr

og
ram

me
) 

Sp
ort

s 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

Te
am

, C
ult

ura
l 

Se
rvi

ce
s, 

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo

ca
litie

s a
nd

 
Cu

ltu
re 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

Ac
tiv
e 

op
po
rtu
nit
ies
 fo
r 

old
er 
pe
op
le 

En
ha

nc
e o

lde
r p

eo
ple

’s 
fee

lin
gs

 of
 sa

fet
y i

n o
pe

n 
sp

ac
es

 
Ide

nti
fic

ati
on

 of
 cr

im
e r

ed
uc

tio
n a

nd
 se

cu
rity

 
pri

ori
tie

s f
or 

pa
rks

 an
d o

pe
n s

pa
ce

s 
Pa

rks
 & 

Pla
y, 

Cu
ltu

ral
 Se

rvi
ce

s, 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 

Oc
tob

er 
20

09
 

Ta
ck
lin
g 

Ch
ild
ho
od
 

Ob
es
ity
 

Pr
ov

ide
 in

cre
as

ed
 su

pp
ort

 
for

 w
alk

ing
 an

d c
yc

lin
g 

Pr
ov

ide
 in

cre
as

ed
 an

d i
mp

rov
ed

 w
alk

ing
 an

d 
cy

clin
g r

ou
tes

 an
d m

ore
 su

pp
ort

 fo
r w

alk
ing

 
an

d c
yc

lin
g t

hro
ug

h H
ea

lth
y S

ch
oo

ls 
an

d 
co

mm
un

ity
 in

itia
tiv

es
 

 

Jo
int

 H
ea

d 
Ex

ten
de

d S
erv

ice
s, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s  

  

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

   

Page 262



  
45

 

De
ve

lop
me

nt 
an

d p
rog

res
sio

n o
f P

CT
-fu

nd
ed

 
Bik

e I
t p

roj
ec

t to
 en

co
ura

ge
 cy

clin
g t

o s
ch

oo
l, 

cu
rre

ntl
y i

n Y
ea

r 1
 of

 3 
ye

ar 
pro

gra
mm

e 
   De

ve
lop

me
nt 

of 
Sc

ho
ol 

Tra
ve

l P
lan

 pr
oc

es
s 

so
 th

at 
ea

ch
 an

d e
ve

ry 
sc

ho
ol 

ha
s a

 Tr
av

el 
Pla

n e
nc

ou
rag

ing
 su

sta
ina

ble
, h

ea
lth

y m
od

es
 

of 
tra

ve
l 

  Cy
cle

 tra
ini

ng
 pr

og
ram

me
 ro

lle
d o

ut 
to 

nu
me

rou
s s

ch
oo

ls 
ea

ch
 ye

ar 
in 

the
 Bo

rou
gh

 
(ap

pro
xim

ate
ly 

1,5
00

 pu
pil

s p
er 

ye
ar)

 
 

Tra
ve

l A
wa

ren
es

s 
Of

fic
er,

 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 
 Sc

ho
ol 

Tra
ve

l 
Ad

vis
or,

 
Co

mm
un

itie
s, 

Lo
ca

litie
s a

nd
 

Cu
ltu

re 
 Pr

oje
ct 

Ma
na

ge
r 

Sa
fet

y a
nd

 
Su

sta
ina

bil
ity

 / 
Tra

ve
l A

wa
ren

es
s 

Of
fic

er,
 

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo

ca
litie

s a
nd

 
Cu

ltu
re 

 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

    Ma
rch

 
20

11
 

    Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

   

Im
pro

ve
 th

e c
ho

ice
s o

f 
he

alt
hy

 fo
od

 av
ail

ab
le 

 
Of

fer
 he

alt
hie

r fo
od

 ch
oic

es
 in

 ch
ild

ren
’s 

ce
ntr

es
, s

ch
oo

ls,
 le

isu
re 

an
d c

om
mu

nit
y 

ce
ntr

es
, s

ho
ps

, c
afe

s, 
res

tau
ran

ts 
an

d t
ak

e-
aw

ay
s t

hro
ug

h i
nc

en
tiv

e a
nd

 aw
ard

 sc
he

me
s 

He
ad

 of
 C

on
tra

ct 
Se

rvi
ce

s, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
  

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
10

 

En
ha

nc
e t

he
 sk

ills
, 

kn
ow

led
ge

 an
d c

on
fid

en
ce

 of
 

fam
ilie

s t
o l

ive
 he

alt
hil

y 
Bu

ild
 he

alt
h i

nto
 ex

ist
ing

 an
d n

ew
 pa

ren
tin

g 
pro

gra
mm

es
 to

 bo
os

t s
kill

s, 
kn

ow
led

ge
 an

d 
co

nfi
de

nc
e a

nd
 in

flu
en

ce
 ho

me
 en

vir
on

me
nts

 
He

ad
 of

 Eq
ua

litie
s 

an
d P

are
nta

l 
En

ga
ge

me
nt 

/ 
Ma

rch
 

20
11

 

Page 263



  
46

 

Pr
oje

ct 
Ma

na
ge

r, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce

s 
 

 

Ex
pa

nd
 ta

rge
ted

 an
d 

sp
ec

ial
ist

 pr
ov

isio
n t

o 
su

pp
ort

 ch
ild

ren
 an

d f
am

ilie
s 

wit
h i

de
nti

fie
d w

eig
ht 

ma
na

ge
me

nt 
ne

ed
s 

Ex
pa

nd
 an

d b
uil

d o
n o

ur 
tar

ge
ted

 an
d 

sp
ec

ial
ist

 pr
ov

isio
n t

o s
up

po
rt c

hil
dre

n a
nd

 
fam

ilie
s w

ith
 id

en
tifi

ed
 w

eig
ht 

ma
na

ge
me

nt 
ne

ed
s, 

inc
lud

ing
 a 

ne
w 

ea
rly

 in
ter

ve
nti

on
 

se
rvi

ce
 fo

r fa
mi

lie
s w

he
re 

on
e o

r b
oth

 pa
ren

ts 
is 

ov
erw

eig
ht 

or 
ob

es
e 

Sk
ills

 fo
r F

am
ilie

s 
Co

ord
ina

tor
, 

Ch
ild

ren
’s 

Se
rvi

ce
s 

 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

 

Page 264



  
47

 

PR
OM

OT
IN

G 
AG

E 
EQ

UA
LI

TY
 A

S 
AN

 E
MP

LO
YE

R 
 Pr
ior
ity

 
Ob
jec
tiv
es
 

Ac
tio
ns

 
By
 w
ho
m 

By
 w
he
n  
    
 

En
su

re 
em

plo
ye

es
 an

d 
ma

na
ge

rs 
are

 aw
are

 of
 th

e 
Co

un
cil’

s p
oli

cy
 on

 re
ten

tio
n 

of 
sta

ff b
ey

on
d t

he
 ag

e o
f 6

5 

Inc
lud

e i
tem

 in
 M

an
ag

ers
 Br

ief
ing

 to
 re

mi
nd

 
ma

na
ge

rs 
an

d s
taf

f o
f c

on
ten

t o
f th

e C
ou

nc
il’s

 
Ag

e D
isc

rim
ina

tio
n p

oli
cy

 
 

HR
 M

an
ag

er,
 

Op
era

tio
ns

, 
Re

so
urc

es
 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
09

 

Fu
rth

er 
de

ve
lop

 th
e 

rep
res

en
tat

ion
 of

 di
ve

rse
 

ag
es

 in
 th

e C
ou

nc
il 

Ou
tlin

e p
rop

os
als

 in
 W

ork
for

ce
 to

 R
efl

ec
t th

e 
Co

mm
un

ity
 re

po
rt t

o C
ab

ine
t 

Jo
int

 As
sis

tan
t 

Dir
ec

tor
 of

 
Or

ga
nis

ati
on

al 
De

ve
lop

me
nt,

 
Re

so
urc

es
 

 

Ap
ril 

20
09

 

Pr
om

ote
 av

ail
ab

ility
 of

 
tra

ini
ng

 an
d p

rom
oti

on
 to

 al
l 

me
mb

ers
 of

 st
aff

 
Pu

bli
cis

e o
pp

ort
un

itie
s t

hro
ug

h r
eg

ula
r e

ma
ils 

to 
sta

ff o
n c

ou
rse

 av
ail

ab
ility

 an
d i

nc
lud

ing
 

ite
ms

 in
 Pu

llin
g T

og
eth

er 
an

d M
an

ag
ers

 
Br

ief
ing

 

Jo
int

 As
sis

tan
t 

Dir
ec

tor
 of

 
Or

ga
nis

ati
on

al 
De

ve
lop

me
nt,

 
Re

so
urc

es
 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

A 
Wo
rkf
or
ce
 to
 

Re
fle
ct 
the
 

Co
mm

un
ity
 

 

Ex
plo

re 
the

 re
as

on
s w

hy
 

ap
pli

ca
nts

 ag
ed

 21
- 2

4 y
ea

rs 
are

 no
t g

ett
ing

 sh
ort

 lis
ted

 fo
r 

rol
es

 

Re
vie

w 
an

d a
na

lys
e r

ec
rui

tm
en

t s
tat

ist
ics

 in
 

an
nu

al 
Eq

ua
lity

 Sc
he

me
s E

mp
loy

me
nt 

Mo
nit

ori
ng

 R
ep

ort
 an

d a
na

lys
is 

of 
fin

din
gs

 
an

d r
ec

om
me

nd
ati

on
s p

res
en

ted
 to

 C
ES

G.
 

HR
 M

an
ag

er,
 

Op
era

tio
ns

, 
Re

so
urc

es
 

Ma
rch

 
20

10
 

 

Page 265



Page 266

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Tower Hamlets 

Religion / Belief Equality Scheme 
2009-12 

Appendix One 

Page 267



 

 2 

Contents 
 
Executive Summary         3 
 
Introduction          4 
 
Religion/Belief Equality Legislation      6 
 
How we developed our Religion/Belief Equality Scheme   7 
 
Corporate Framework for Diversity and Equality    8 
 
The profile of religion/belief equality in Tower Hamlets    11 
 
Reasonable Adjustments        17 
 
The story so far         19 
 
Religion/Belief Equality Priorities 2009-12     20 
 

ONE TOWER HAMLETS       20 
 

A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY      21 
 

A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE      23 
 

A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY    23 
 

A HEALTHY COMMUNITY      25 
 
 
Promoting Religion/Belief Equality as an Employer    27 
 
Delivering the Religion/Belief Equality Scheme Objectives 2009-12  29 
 
 

Page 268



 

 3 

Executive Summary 
 
This is the Council's first Religion/Belief Equality Scheme and it aims to promote 
equality and eliminate discrimination for all Tower Hamlets residents and staff 
regardless of their religion or belief. We are a unique borough in terms of the 
pattern of religion/belief; over 80% of residents claim a religious belief while the 
third largest religion/belief category is people who have no religious belief. We 
also have the largest proportion of Muslim residents of any local authority in the 
country. The history of the borough as a jumping off point for new communities 
has contributed to the religious diversity of the area.  
 
Although this is our first Religion/Belief Equality Scheme the Council has a strong 
track record of work in this area. Our work on promoting community cohesion 
and involving communities has been widely recognised as best practice. The 
borough's Interfaith Forum has been supported by the Council since its 
establishment in 2004 and provides an effective mechanism for involving faith 
communities in shaping and scrutinising services as well as strengthening the 
links between communities. At an operational level Council services have worked 
with faith communities to respond to issues of common concern in areas as 
varied as child protection, domestic violence and recycling.  
 
This Equality Scheme identifies the Council's priorities for addressing inequality 
experienced by specific faith communities and people of non-religious belief in 
relation to the five Community Plan themes of: One Tower Hamlets; a 
Prosperous Community; a Safe & Supportive Community; a Healthy Community 
and; a Great Place to Live. It also identifies our priorities as an employer. 
 
This Equality Scheme also contains a set of principles which will guide our 
approach to delivering our commitment to tackling inequality and discrimination 
based on religion/belief: 
 

• To make Tower Hamlets a place where people of different backgrounds 
get on well together 

• To challenge discrimination in all its forms, in relation to all people who 
work, live or visit the borough 

• To create an inclusive workplace in which all staff feel their contribution is 
valued  

• To ensure that no individual or group is disadvantaged as a result of their 
religion or belief 

• To address inequality which arises from an individual or group’s religion or 
belief  

• To recognise the role of the faith communities in contributing to the 
wellbeing of people in borough and support them to fulfil this role 

 

Page 269



 

 4 

Introduction 
 
The Council’s vision and the vision of the Tower Hamlets Partnership is to 
improve the quality of life for everyone living and working in Tower Hamlets. 
 
Everyone should realise their full potential in Tower Hamlets. The 2020 Vision 
Community Plan outlines our aspiration of ‘One Tower Hamlets’. One Tower 
Hamlets is about reducing the inequalities and poverty that we see around us, 
strengthening cohesion and making sure our communities continue to live well 
together. Most of all, One Tower Hamlets is about recognising that we all have a 
part to play in making this a reality. 
 
One way of ensuring this vision is to focus our attention on inequalities 
experienced by our residents. The Council has been awarded Level 5 of the 
Equality Standard and is one of the best councils in the country for its equalities 
work. This religion/belief equality scheme, along with others for gender, disability, 
race, sexual orientation and age will enable us to provide services and develop 
policies and strategies which make sure that we provide for equality for all.  We 
plan to combine these schemes into a single Equalities scheme in 2010 to best 
serve the individual needs of each of our residents. This reflects the move 
nationally towards a Single Equalities Bill which recognises the whole experience 
of every person.  
 
We recognise that people may experience specific disadvantages due to their 
religion/belief. Misconceptions and prejudice about specific religions or beliefs 
and the people who hold them can lead to them being socially and economically 
disadvantaged, excluded and marginalised.  We believe that people of all faiths 
and none have the right to equality of opportunity and make a significant and 
valuable contribution to the community at large. As such, this first Religion/Belief 
Equality Scheme will focus on ensuring that we are able to respond appropriately 
to their needs. 
 
We are already doing significant work to tackle the particular inequalities faced 
by specific faith communities. One of the key ways in which this is evidenced is 
through the support given to the Interfaith Forum.  The Forum embraces almost 
300 organisations, meets every two months, has its own website, regular 
newsletter and organises a series of events in Interfaith Week. The Forum also 
plays an active role in other local groups and activities - on the Partnership 
Management Group and in the Race and Hate Crime Interagency Forum as well 
as providing a useful partner in monitoring ongoing community tensions. The 
Council also works with faith communities on a number of service issues, 
including: the Standing Advisory Committee on Religious Education (SACRE) 
which brings together representatives from all faiths to agree on the local 
curriculum for religious education; Children’s Services Working with Muslim 
Families sub-group of the local Safeguarding Children’s Board; Jewish Care 
provide day care services to older people in the Jewish community and; support 

Page 270



 

 5 

for a range of public events and activities throughout the year to promote 
understanding of all the borough's faith communities and includes annual events 
to mark St George's Day, Holocaust Memorial Day and Islam Awareness Week. 
 
This Religion/Belief Equality Scheme will ensure that religion/belief equality is 
delivered by multiple services across the Council. To this end we aim to put in 
place policies and services which enable everyone to access our services 
regardless of their religion/belief and to improve outcomes for all.  We also want 
to ensure that people of all faiths and none have choice and control in decisions 
affecting their lives. 
 
Key priorities 
Within each of the Council’s Equality Schemes we have identified three priority 
areas of inequality which require significant and sustained action across a 
number of Council services.  These priority areas provide the Council with some 
high level direction about where attention and resources need to be targeted to 
make real progress.    
 
In reaction to religion/belief inequality, these priorities are set out below and are 
explored further in this Equality Scheme. Linked to poverty all three sit at heart of 
inequality in Tower Hamlets.  To make a dramatic shift against the inequality of 
Tower Hamlets and make progress on the wide range of issues identified in each 
of Equality Schemes it is recommended that investment to address these four 
core inter-connected areas will lead that change.    
 

 
• Increase economic activity among Muslim women 
• Address shortage of suitable social housing which has a disproportionate 

effect on Muslim families 
• Increase the extent to which people of different faiths say they get on well 

together 
 

 
 
 

Page 271



 

 6 

Religion / Belief Equality Legislation  
 
The Employment Equality (Religion and Belief) Regulations came into force in 
December 2003 (at the same time as similar provisions covering sexual 
orientation; regulations against discrimination on grounds of age followed in 
2006). These Regulations make it unlawful for employers to discriminate on the 
grounds of religion & belief.  
 
The regulations in this field apply to discrimination on grounds of religion, or 
religious or philosophical belief (the requirement for philosophical beliefs to be 
similar to religious beliefs was removed by the passing of Part 2 of the Equality 
Act in 2006). They cover discrimination on grounds of 'perceived' as well as 
'actual' religion or belief, and the religion or belief of someone with whom the 
person associates. It is also illegal to discriminate on the grounds of religion or 
belief in the provision of goods, facilities and services, and the disposal and 
management of premises. 
 
The Human Rights Act (1998) sets out the right of everybody to have access to 
public services and the right to be treated fairly and with dignity.  It includes the 
right to being safe and protected from harm and the right to take an active part in 
your community and society which have particular implications for our work with 
young and older people.  It prohibits discrimination on a wide range of grounds 
and case law has extended this to include age.  
  
 

Page 272



 

 7 

How we developed our Religion/Belief Equality Scheme 
 
The development of our Scheme has been led by the Corporate Scrutiny & 
Equalities Team. This has been supported by officers from the Corporate 
Equalities Steering Group (CESG) who are the key equalities representatives 
from each Directorate. The development of the scheme has followed a clear 
project plan, the steps of which are outlined below: 
 
Gathering Baseline Information 
 
A comprehensive baseline exercise was undertaken using a combination of 
research and input from staff across the Council including analysis of 
demographic and statistical information, analysis of existing consultation and a 
review of relevant Equalities Impact Assessments (EqIAs). 
 
Consultation Exercises 
 
From the baseline information we were able to identify a number of areas for 
further examination and discussion. To test our findings and to gain further input 
as to which areas should be our priorities we undertook a number of consultation 
activities with residents, voluntary and statutory agencies and members of staff. 
This involved public events, online surveys, targeted consultation with specific 
communities. During the course of the consultation we engaged with all the major 
faith groups in the borough as well as people of non-religious beliefs.   
 
Setting Priorities and Objectives 
 
Using feedback from our consultation and baseline exercises, a number of key 
themes for priority and overarching activity have emerged. 
  

Page 273



 

 8 

Corporate Framework for Diversity and Equality 
 
Delivery framework 
Valuing diversity is one of four core values of Tower Hamlets Council. We will 
promote diversity and equality in everything we do to improve the life for 
everyone living, working and visiting Tower Hamlets. We will build upon this by 
working with the Tower Hamlets Partnership to provide accessible and 
responsive services that enable everyone to take part in the social, cultural and 
economic wealth of the borough. Achieving this is central to delivering the 
Council’s vision, is linked to the Strategic Plan priorities and objectives and forms 
a driving force within the Community Plan and key to creating a cohesive 
community.  
 
Our aims and values 
As a service provider we will:  

• Promote equality of opportunity and eliminate discrimination in the 
planning and delivery of our services in terms of age, disability, ethnicity, 
gender, sexual orientation, religion or belief, health and income status 

• Promote good relations between communities and address negative 
stereotyping of any groups 

• Ensure that all residents have equal opportunity to participate in the 
democratic process 

• Tackle harassment relating to a person’s age, disability, ethnicity, gender, 
sexual orientation, religion or belief, health and income status 

 
As an employer we will:  

• Develop, review and promote policies and practices that ensure equality of 
opportunity and eliminate discrimination for our workforce in all areas of 
employment (including recruitment, retention, learning and development, 
promotion, grievance, disciplinary and retirement) 

• Ensure that our workforce reflects the diverse nature of the borough 
 

We will recognise our community leadership role and use this to work towards a 
cohesive community in which inequality is tackled and equality promoted.  
 
Our commitment is supported by a number of legal duties that require us to 
promote equality and eliminate discrimination, including: 
 

•  Equal Pay Act 1970 
•  Sex Discrimination Act 1975 
•  Race Relations Act 1976 
•  Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 
•  Disability Discrimination Act 1995 
•  Disability Discrimination Act 2005 
•  Human Rights Act 1998 

Page 274



 

 9 

•  2004 Employment Regulations on Religion and Faith 
 
However under current legislation, the requirements to address inequality and 
discrimination and promote equality vary between equality ‘strand’.  For example, 
while under current legislation we are required to address discrimination against 
employees on the basis of all six equality strands, age, gender, ethnicity, sexual 
orientation, disability and religion / belief, it is only in relation to race, gender and 
disability that this duty extends to the provision of services and the active 
promotion of equality. We believe however that we have a strong moral and 
social duty to recognise that discrimination takes place and inequality exists for 
individuals and groups belonging to all of the six equality strands. We are 
therefore committed to going beyond the requirements laid down in law to 
address all six equality strands and to do everything that we can to challenge 
prejudice and discrimination and promote better understanding and respect 
between all people.  
 
To demonstrate our commitment to all six equality strands, the Council has gone 
beyond the legal requirement to produce Equality Schemes in relation to gender 
and disability and has published Schemes covering Religion/Belief, Age and 
Sexual Orientation equality. Each Scheme sets out what we know about the 
profile of our community in relation to the relevant strand and the nature of 
inequality experienced by people as a result of this element of their identity. The 
Schemes also contain a summary of the action which the Council and partners 
will undertake to address inequality and discrimination in relation to this equality 
strand.  
 
How we will deliver our commitment 
Tackling discrimination and promoting equality requires action at corporate, 
directorate, service, team and individual levels.  At a corporate level the six 
Equality Schemes and the overall Diversity and Equality Action Plan identifies 
priority areas for work on equalities across the organisation. The Diversity and 
Equality Action Plan is agreed by Cabinet annually and monitored by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee six-monthly along with a summary of progress 
against each of the Equality Schemes.  
 
Below we describe the processes and procedures we have put in place to embed 
the delivery of our commitment to promote equality in relation to all six strands 
within everything that we do as a Council: 
 

- Undertake equality impact assessments of both new and existing 
policies and services 

- Ensure that all our team plans incorporate relevant diversity and equality 
objectives and targets 

- Ensure all new staff participate in Council equality induction training 
processes 

- Ensure that our policies are compliant with equality legislation 

Page 275



 

 10 

- Involve communities, staff and stakeholders in the design, review and 
scrutiny of our services and employment practices 

- Increase the extent to which our workforce reflects the local 
community 

- Using our procurement powers to makes sure that organisations 
providing services on our behalf work in line with this policy 

- Monitoring the equality profile of people using and benefiting from our 
services to enable us to identify groups which are not accessing services 

- Provide information and access to our services in accessible ways 
 
 

Page 276



 

 11 

The profile of religion/belief in Tower Hamlets  
 
The consultation for the Religion/Belief Equality Scheme revealed a wide variety 
of views and opinions about the way in which the Council relates to faith 
communities and questions about religion/belief. These can be broadly drawn 
into the following three categories: 
 

• 'Instrumentalising' of faith based organisations to deliver government 
agendas and a failure to engage with faith communities on areas of 
importance to them. This view was frequently put forward by participants 
concerned that current models for faith communities to engage with public 
bodies required them to fit within certain predefined terms and this limited 
their independence and advocacy role. 

 
• That there is an over-anxiety among Council officers about proselytising 

and unreasonable requirements on faith based organisations to adopt 
secular language in order to be allowed to tender for contracts to provide 
services on behalf of the Council. Some participants pointed out that this 
approach was at odds with a parallel commitment to increase 'faith 
literacy' in the public sector and to recognise the important role faith 
communities play in responding to the welfare needs of communities.  

 
• That the Council is too close to faith communities and that this makes it 

difficult for people with no religious beliefs or who wish to keep their 
religious beliefs private, to be open about their beliefs  

 
The lack of consensus about the role of the Council in addressing issues of 
religion/belief and the fact that there was no discernable pattern in terms of which 
groups/individuals subscribed to which view, illustrates the unique nature of 
religion / belief as an equality strand. Despite this variety of views, there has 
emerged through consultation and research for the RBES a set of principles 
which should guide our approach to delivering our commitment to tackling 
inequality and discrimination based on religion/belief: 
 

• To make Tower Hamlets a place where people of different backgrounds 
get on well together 

 
• To challenge discrimination in all its forms, in relation to all people who 

work, live or visit the borough 
 

• To create an inclusive workplace in which all staff feel their contribution is 
valued  

 
• To ensure that no individual or group is disadvantaged as a result of their 

religion or belief 
 

Page 277



 

 12 

• To address inequality which arises from an individual or group’s religion or 
belief  

 
• To recognise the role of the faith communities in contributing to the 

wellbeing of people in borough and support them to fulfil this role 
 
 
Religion/belief in the community  
The profile of religion and belief in Tower Hamlets is very distinctive. During the 
2001 Census seventy eight percent of residents stated that they has a religious 
belief, which is significantly higher than the national average. The borough has 
the highest proportion of Muslim people of any local authority area in the country, 
at 36.4%. However, fourteen percent of people described themselves as having 
no religious belief, which makes them the third largest religion/belief group in the 
borough. The section below describes what we know about the demographic 
profile of individuals and groups of people who hold religious and non-religious 
beliefs in the borough, as well of those of no belief. It then goes onto describe 
some of the ways in which faith communities both past and present have 
contributed to and shaped the borough.  
 
Demographic profile of religion/belief groups 
The information in this section draws extensively on the findings of the 2001 
Census, it is therefore important to note that while these statistics provide the 
most comprehensive information available on the profile of religion and belief in 
the borough it is likely that this profile has changed in the last eight years as the 
population of the borough has changed and adapted. Information on the profile of 
religion/belief across London is taken from the Greater London Authority’s ‘Key 
Facts for Diverse Communities: Ethnicity and faith’ published in 2007.  
 
Buddhist community, approx. 1% 
The proportion of Buddhists living in Tower Hamlets is three times higher than 
the national average. The London Buddhist Centre in Bethnal Green is a major 
centre for the Buddhist community. The Centre and surrounding area is home to 
several residential Buddhist communities along with a number of associated 
businesses and organisations. The Centre is run by the Friends of the Western 
Buddhist Order and a large proportion of people who attend the centre are from a 
western European background. The Buddhist population however is spread 
across the borough, ranging from 0.44 percent of the population in St Dunstan’s 
and Stepney Green to 1.6 percent in Blackwall and Cubitt Town.  
 
Christian community, approx. 39% 
There are numerous Christian communities in the borough from a variety of 
theological and ethnic backgrounds.  
 
Obtaining accurate and up to date information about congregations is difficult as 
a number of newer Christian communities do not have dedicated accommodation 

Page 278



 

 13 

and may meet in churches belonging to other faith communities or in other 
informal venues. However the Interfaith Forum's database of faith organisations 
includes 134 Christian organisations, including a large number of Black-led 
churches, as well as Philippino and Vietnamese congregations. In addition we 
know that there are thirteen Catholic churches in the Tower Hamlets Deanery 
and in 2007 the total number of people attending Sunday Mass at these 
churches was just under five thousand. We also know twenty Anglican 
congregations in parishes in the borough. In addition there are Chaplaincies in 
Docklands, Barts & the London hospitals, the London Metropolitan University. 
There is an Anglican community based at the Royal Foundation of St Katherine. 
 
In terms of age the community is varied, with a larger proportion of older people 
than other faith communities. Christian communities are varied in terms of 
ethnicity with significant numbers of Roman Catholics from eastern Europe and 
Pentecostal Christians from African countries. 
 
Geographically the proportion of Christian people varies significantly across the 
borough, from eighteen percent in Spitalfields and Banglatown to sixty percent in 
Bow East.  
 
Hindu community, approx. 0.8% 
The Hindu community in the borough is proportionally one of the smallest in 
London. Within the borough Hindu people are geographically dispersed. The 
majority of Hindus in the borough come from Bangladesh - a fact which illustrates 
the importance of not relying on ethnicity as a proxy for religion/belief.  A smaller 
number of Hindus come from Pakistan, India and elsewhere.  The number of 
Hindus in the borough appears to be increasing as a result of increased 
migration.  
 
Data on the borough's Hindu population is limited, however London-wide data 
suggests that Hindu people tend to be younger than the capital average, with 
thirty six percent of the population falling into the 25-44 age group.  
 
Jewish community, approx. 0.93% 
There has been Jewish population in London since the eleventh century, 
however it was from 1881 that the rate of migration of Jewish people to the East 
End increased significantly. The capital's first Ashkenazi synagogue was built in 
Aldgate in 1722. By 1901 the Jewish population of Tower Hamlets was over 
50,000 and there were estimated to be 150 synagogues in the East End. 
Significant migration to north and east London has taken place over the last 
years. The remaining community is older than the borough average. 
 
Muslim community, approx. 36.4% 
Tower Hamlets has the largest proportion of Muslim people of any local authority 
area in the country. The 2001 Census shows that the vast majority of the Muslim 
population is Bangladeshi, however there are also significant numbers of Somali, 

Page 279



 

 14 

Algerian and Moroccan Muslims living in the borough as well as smaller numbers 
from Arab countries, the Indian subcontinent and eastern Europe1.  
 
In Tower Hamlets, 61% of the under 15 population are Muslim whereas 21% are 
Christian. In contrast, amongst the 50+ population 61% identify as Christian and 
19% as Muslim. 
 
The youthful profile of the Muslim community and the significant migration into 
the borough of Muslim people from other parts of Britain and the world make the 
Muslim community the fastest growing faith community in the borough2. 
 
Sikh community, approx. 0.35% 
The proportion of Sikhs living in Tower Hamlets is significantly smaller than the 
national proportion for England (0.67 percent). The majority of the population in 
the borough are from an Indian background.  There are large Sikh communities 
in neighbouring boroughs of Hackney, Newham and Walham Forest and some 
people from these areas travel into the borough to worship at the two Gurdwaras 
in the east of the borough.  
 
Data on the borough's Sikh population is limited, however London-wide data 
suggests that Sikhs living in the capital are slightly younger than the London 
average with half the proportion of pensioners, compared to other groups.  
 
People with non-religious beliefs 
The 2001 Census question on religion/belief provided limited data on non-
religious belief. People who did not wish to tick one of the religions included on 
the census form had to tick either “no religion” or not complete the section. The 
figure given for "No religion" therefore includes people who ticked 'None' on the 
religion question plus those who wrote in Jedi Knight, Agnostic, Atheist and 
Heathen and those who ticked 'Other' but did not write in any religion. In Tower 
Hamlets this was 18%, making it the third largest group, after Christianity and 
Islam.  
 
There is limited information on people with non-religious belief in the borough. 
London-wide figures suggest that people with non religious belief are more likely 
to live in cohabiting couple households than other Londoners, are slightly more 
likely to live in one person households and significantly less likely to live in 
married couple households. The age profile of people with no religious belief is 
distinctive in that significantly more people are between 25-44 than the London 
average, whereas there are significantly less older people than in other 
religion/belief groups.  
 
History of religion/belief in Tower Hamlets 
Historically the nature of new communities settling in the East End has partly 
                                                 
1 ‘New Communities in Tower Hamlets: Characteristics, trends and challenges’, Praxis (2007) 
2 Ibid. 

Page 280



 

 15 

been defined by their religion – French Huguenots (Calvinist Protestants), Irish 
Catholics, East European Jews, Bangladeshi Muslims are the most well known.  
For each group faith has been a driver to participation in public life, whether 
through charity work, community engagement or politics.  There is a strong 
tradition of faith–based charities locally which often pick up those people who 
may fall through the net of statutory provision.  Faith organisations are 
themselves either the owners or the guardians of a range of community assets 
including buildings, land and their congregations/communities.   
 
Buildings and land 
Many of the borough’s historic faith communities have erected buildings both as 
places of worship and to serve social needs of communities past and present. 
These historic buildings are often linked to green space. There are also non-
purpose built sites which have been used and adapted by faith communities to 
meet changing community needs. In 2007 English Heritage funded a research 
programme to map all places of worship in the borough and produced a guide to 
sites, both those in use and those now lying empty. This map can be found at: 
 
http://www.religionandplace.org.uk/ 
 
While many of these buildings are valuable assets, they are also a costly 
inheritance and meeting the costs of maintaining, adapting and repairing these 
often historic sites, many of which are listed, is a significant financial challenge 
for a number of faith communities.  Smaller and newer faith communities have 
different problems finding accommodation to meet their needs. As a joint 
Community Development Foundation/Home Office needs analysis report found in 
2006, "the need to find suitable accommodation for their worship and internal 
needs saps the energy for becoming involved in wider issues"3.  
 
Charitable work and giving 
There is a strong tradition of faith–based charities locally which often pick up 
those people who may fall through the net of statutory provision, both from their 
own faith communities and the wider population.  Such charities are a proportion 
of our local ‘third sector’.  The foundation of the Salvation Army in Whitechapel in 
the late nineteenth century is perhaps just one of the more famous examples of 
what this might mean.  A study by Praxis, a local voluntary organisation, 
published in 2007 on the needs of new communities in the borough noted the 
important role faith communities can play in providing new residents with links to 
wider communities, services and social suppor4t. 
 
Social and support services provided by faith communities in the borough are 
wide ranging and vary in terms of scale and formality. Examples of services 
include supplementary religious and non-religious education, drug treatment 
                                                 
3 ‘Needs Analysis of Capacity Building in Faith Communities in Tower Hamlets’, CDF/Home 
Office Research (2006) 
4 New Communities in Tower Hamlets: Characteristics, trends and challenges’, Praxis (2007) 

Page 281



 

 16 

services, English language classes to welfare advice and family conflict services.  

Page 282



 

 17 

Reasonable Adjustments 
 
This section provides guidance about factors to take into account when delivering 
a service, running an activity or event, providing funding or scheduling meetings 
to ensure that you promote equality and do not adversely affect any individual or 
group as a result of their religion or belief. It is important to note that these are 
intended to highlight some of the most common barriers to promotion of 
religion/belief equality, it is not a comprehensive guide to providing an equitable 
service and it is important that we take a proactive approach to identifying 
individual needs rather than presuming what we know the best solution. The key 
principle here is to ensure that it is clear that efforts will be made to 
accommodate needs and preferences based on religion or belief and encourage 
staff, service users or residents to discuss their needs where they feel there may 
be a barrier to their access or involvement in an activity. A participant in one of 
the RBES consultation events said: 
 

“I would like the Council to understand the importance of faith but not to 
presume they know all about it in terms of how I would like services 
provided, make no assumptions please!” 

 
Timing of activities and events 

• The timing of activities can affect who is able to attend. For many faith 
communities some days and times of year are considered holy and this 
may affect their ability to take part in activities run during that time. For 
example Friday lunchtimes are a key time for Muslims many of whom 
attend Jumma prayers at that time. Members of Jewish communities mark 
Shabbat from sundown on Friday to dusk on Saturday and many refrain 
from work during this time.  For Christians Sunday is the holy day and 
Eucharist services are held during the day.  

 
• A calendar of major religious festivals and events is produced each year 

by the Interfaith Forum and the Council’s Diversity and Equality Team, this 
is available at: 

 
http://www.faithintowerhamlets.com/default/1150.calendar/index.htm 
 

 Guidance: 
o When planning meetings, the following general principles should be 

followed: 
� Where the membership of the group is known, future 

meeting dates should be made available to all members of 
the group and members invited to indicate if they are unable 
to attend. 

� Where attendees of meetings are not known in advance, for 
example public meetings, dates of major religious festivals 
should be avoided. These dates can be found on the 

Page 283



 

 18 

Interfaith Calendar. 
 
Food and catering 

• Many people have religious and non-religious beliefs about which foods 
they are and are not able to eat.  

• When providing food, it is important that anyone taking part in the activity 
is invited to let you know if they have any specific dietary requirements as 
early on in the planning of the activity as possible.  

• If you are unable to contact attendees in advance of the meeting then 
steps can be taken to maximise the opportunities for attendees to eat, for 
example vegetarian food is more widely acceptable than meat. Where 
meat is provided it is important to recognise that Sikhs and some other 
meat eaters will not eat halal meat. Hindus do not eat beef. 

 
Further information about the food requirements of different faith 
communities can be found in the ACAS publication ‘Religion or Belief in 
the Workplace’: 

 
http://www.efbelief.org.uk/legal/ACAS%20Guide%20-
%20Religion%20and%20Belief.pdf 

 
 
 
 

Page 284



 

 19 

The story so far 
 
The Council has worked closely with faith communities and organisations for a 
number of years on a wide variety of issues of common concern from targeted 
projects to address inequality for specific communities to the promotion of 
community cohesion and service provision. Faith communities are represented at 
all levels of decision making within the Tower Hamlets Partnership.  
 
A number of projects and initiatives involving faith communities in the borough 
have been recognised as innovative by external bodies. For example the School 
Attendance Project run as a partnership between Children's Services and the 
London Muslim Centre was highlighted as a key area of work in the Council's 
Beacon award for Getting Closer to Communities in 2004. The Council supported 
Tower Hamlets Interfaith Forum has featured in a number of best practice 
publications by the IDeA and Interfaith Network of the UK. In 2008 the ‘Faith in 
the City’ project commissioned as part of the Council's Preventing Violent 
Extremism programme was awarded the Government Office for London award 
for innovation. 
 
Some examples of existing work with faith communities to tackle inequality and 
promote cohesion include: 
 

• The commissioning of Jewish Care to provided targeted day care services 
to older Jewish residents  

• The development of a 'Working with Muslim Families' sub-group of the 
Local Safeguarding Children Board to develop the capacity of local 
statutory and faith organisations to ensure high standards of child 
protection 

• The establishment of the Community Cohesion Contingency Planning and 
Tension Monitoring Group to bring together representatives of faith and 
community groups to identify and respond proactively to tension between 
communities  

• A training programme for Muslim women to qualify as football coaches, 
delivered by the Muslim Women's Collective 

 

Page 285



 

 20 

Understanding equality in the context of religion/belief in Tower 
Hamlets 
 
The section below describes what we know about how people of religious and 
non-religious belief and those of no belief experience inequality and 
disadvantage in Tower Hamlets. This section is organised according to the 
themes of the Tower Hamlets 2008-20 Community Plan and draws on the ten 
domains of inequality set out in the Equality Mapping Framework. 
 
ONE TOWER HAMLETS 
 
Capacity to enjoy individual, family and social life 
Throughout the consultation on the RBES people told us how much they valued 
the opportunity to celebrate religious festivals and to have these festivals 
recognised. Both within the Council and in the wider community, religious 
festivals are celebrated throughout the year. Staff told us that they were keen for 
recognition of these festivals to be formalised to ensure that the major festivals of 
all faith communities in the borough receive coverage and provide an opportunity 
for people of all faiths and none to learn about one another.  
 
Objectives 

• Recognise major religious festivals of all the borough's faith communities 
and ensure publicity enhances interfaith understanding 

 
Capacity to be and express yourself, and have self-respect 
In 2008 over seventy percent of people in Tower Hamlets felt that the borough is 
a place where people of different backgrounds get on well together5. However 
there were factors which some participants in the RBES consultation felt 
contributed to fear and could lead to people being treated without dignity or 
respect as a result of their religion or belief. Many participants highlighted the 
detrimental impact of negative press coverage of interfaith relations and incidents 
of tension between communities.  
 
For newer faith communities access to facilities for worship and social activities 
was highlighted as a major issue of concern. For some faith communities, 
including Hindus, a lack of place of worship means that they have to travel out of 
the borough to worship. For others a lack of resources mean that worship and 
community activities take place in inadequate buildings. This can lead to health 
and safety concerns and enforcement action being taken where building 
regulations are being breached.   
 
Objectives: 

• Tackle negative portrayal of faith communities and interfaith relations in 
                                                 
5 Tower Hamlets Annual Residents Survey, 2008 

Page 286



 

 21 

the media to reduce the potential for such coverage to increase tension 
between communities 

• Ensure that faith communities are able to access advice and support 
about maintaining places of worship as safe and sustainable buildings 

• Ensure that faith communities are able to access advice and support 
about using and adapting buildings for use as places of worship 

 
Capacity to participate in decision-making and have a voice and influence 
The RBES consultation revealed a number of different perspectives on the 
relationship between faith communities and local public authorities. A number of 
participants felt that the role of faith communities in decision making should be 
expanded and support provided to faith communities to play this advocacy and 
representation role on behalf of members. Others however felt it was important 
that faith communities maintained their independence from public authorities and 
that too close a relationship with the Council and other public bodies could 
compromise their ability to play an active role in civil society.  
 
A number of participants suggested that the role of faith communities within local 
decision making structures should be clarified to ensure that representatives are 
encouraged to reflect the interests not only of their own faith community but of 
the wider faith communities of the borough. For example the faith community 
representatives on the Tower Hamlets Partnership should be accountable not 
only to their own faith communities also to the wider Interfaith Forum, which is 
open to people of all faiths or none interested in interfaith activity and dialogue.  
 
Objectives: 

• Enable faith communities to work together to have a voice within local 
decision making structures, including the Tower Hamlets Partnership  

 
A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY 
 
Capacity to have the skills to participate in society 
Throughout the consultation for the RBES, participants identified opportunities for 
learning about the range of cultures and beliefs of people in the borough as a key 
priority. Schools and workplaces were identified as spaces where people of 
different faiths and backgrounds met and learnt about one another. Interfaith 
activities, including meetings of the borough’s Interfaith Forum and events such 
as the annual interfaith service to mark Holocaust Memorial Day, were also 
described in positive terms.  
 
The consultation also suggested that opportunities for interfaith dialogue and 
contact need to be extended to ensure that people are able to take part in these 
activities. Particular points raised included: 
• The need to develop opportunities for contact between faith communities and 

people with non-religious beliefs or no belief. 

Page 287



 

 22 

• The need to provide spaces for people who don’t speak English to take part in 
interfaith activities 

• The need include an interfaith dimension in work with those perpetrating faith 
hate crime and violent extremism.   

 
Consultation with staff within the Council suggested that activities designed to 
increase understanding of faith communities and religious belief should not focus 
on one religion or faith, but give information about the variety of faith 
communities in the borough. This would avoid any implication that one faith 
community is being favoured over another and support the Council’s aim to 
increase interfaith understanding and relationships between people.  
 
Objectives: 

• Increase opportunities for involvement of people with no or non-religious 
belief in faith and interfaith activities 

• Extend interfaith dimension of work with perpetrators of faith hate and 
violent extremism 

• Support the development of interfaith activities which engage people who 
don't speak English 

• Ensure that faith awareness activities funded by the Council are presented 
within an interfaith context to ensure that they contribute to better 
understanding and relations between people of different backgrounds in 
the borough 

 
 
Capacity to take part in productive and valued activities  
Worklessness 
In Tower Hamlets we have the second highest level of economically inactive 
working age women in the country, at forty nine percent.  The Greater London 
Authority has published research showing that across the capital Muslim people 
are almost twice as likely to be economically inactive compared to the average. 
Of the economically inactive group, Muslim people are more likely to be looking 
after a family or be studying than other groups6.   
 
There is significant evidence to indicate that Muslim women are particularly likely 
to be economically inactive and experience multiple barriers to accessing paid 
employment. In 2006 the Equal Opportunities Commission published research 
into the experiences of Muslim women in the workplace, which drew on 
interviews with women in Tower Hamlets7. The report concluded that Muslim 
women experience numerous barriers in entering and progressing in the labour 
market and this amounts to an area of significant inequality. The Tower Hamlets 
Employment Strategy sets out a framework to tackle some of these complex 
issues of employment and worklessness within the borough. 
                                                 
6 ‘Key Facts for Diverse Communities: Ethnicity and Faith’, Greater London Authority, (2007) 
7 ‘Moving on Up: Workplace Cultures Report’, Equal Opportunities Commission, (2007) 

Page 288



 

 23 

 
 
Volunteering and charitable work 
Levels of volunteering and charity work in Tower Hamlets are high. Faith-based 
community groups and voluntary organisations make up a significant proportion 
of these groups. In addition a significant proportion of people with religious belief 
in the borough give time and money to support the management of places of 
worship and faith related activities. For example, local residents are members of 
mosque management committees, stand as governors at faith schools in the 
borough and run voluntary activities such as Sunday schools. A report on 
mosques in the borough, published in 2008, identified worshipper donations as 
the major source of income for all mosques in the borough8.  
 
Objectives: 

• Reduce levels of economic inactivity among Muslim women in the 
borough through reducing barriers to employment 

 
 
A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE 
 
Capacity to enjoy a comfortable standard of living, with independence and 
security 
 
Housing 
In the borough the demand for social housing suitable for families far exceeds 
the available supply. The impact of this on communities is significant, with large 
numbers of families living in inadequate and poor quality housing. London-wide 
research by the Greater London Authority indicates that, due to the above 
average family size, Muslim, Hindu and Sikh families are more likely to live in 
overcrowded housing. Overcrowding can have adverse effects on health, 
educational achievement and indirectly lead to increased fear and experience of 
crime and anti-social behaviour. Local research undertaken with the cooperation 
of the borough’s Council of Mosques in 2008 identified a shortage of suitable 
housing as the primary issue of concern to local Imams and mosque 
management committee members9.  
 
Objectives: 

• Address shortage of suitable social housing which has a disproportionate 
effect on Muslim families 

 
 
A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY 
                                                 
8 ‘A window of opportunity: Developing a better understanding of the Muslim community in Tower 
Hamlets’, Agroni Research (2008) 
9 Ibid. 

Page 289



 

 24 

 
Physical security 
Crimes which are reported to the Police "where anyone, including the victim, 
believes the victim has been targeted because of their actual or perceived 
religion or belief" are recorded as faith hate crimes. In addition, incidents of anti-
social behaviour reported to the Council which do not constitute criminal offences 
but cause alarm, distress or harassment, or where anyone believes the victim 
has been targeted because of their actual or perceived religion or belief, are 
recorded as faith hate incidents.  
 
Local research has shown that victims of faith hate crime and incidents are more 
likely to be repeat victims than other victims of crime10. Furthermore, they often 
experience feelings of not being able to escape the reason they are victimised, 
and that people may question the seriousness of the offence or incident.  
 
There were five faith hate crimes in Tower Hamlets reported to the Police in 
2007; in 2008 this increased to fourteen and increases were identified around 
religious festivals and incidents of international tension. However there is 
evidence of significant under reporting of faith hate crime in the borough and 
actual figures are likely to be much higher. There is a complex relationship 
between race and faith hate, with evidence suggesting that offenders may be 
driven by religious intolerance but display this intolerance in racist language, as 
opposed to identifying a specific faith.  In general people seem to be more 
comfortable reporting race as opposed to faith hate crime.  
 
Qualitative research carried out by the Council's Community Safety service in 
2007 suggested that significant numbers of faith hate incidents go unreported. 
For example, at focus groups female Muslim participants described almost daily 
faith-related abuse and intimidation and young women reported repeated 
experiences of faith-related intolerance including having hijabs pulled off, verbal 
abuse and damage to personal property11.  
 
A review of reported faith hate crimes suggests that individuals, buildings and 
events are the most frequent targets and crimes include criminal damage, 
assault and actual bodily harm. 
 
There are several factors which affect the vulnerability of people of faith and faith 
communities to hate crime.  
 
Location 
Many places of worship are identifiable as such and are therefore at risk of faith 
hate attacks. In the past this has included graffiti and desecration of religious 
symbols or artefacts. Furthermore many of these buildings are historic and 
making changes to improve security is both costly and may threaten the 
                                                 
10 ‘Faith Hate Crime Workshop Report’, Tower Hamlets Community Safety Service (2007) 
11 Ibid. 

Page 290



 

 25 

character of the original building. Many of the borough’s Anglican churches also 
have churchyards which are publicly accessible open spaces in which incidents 
of anti-social behaviour and vandalism have been reported both to the Police, 
Council and Interfaith Forum. 
 
Visibility 
Religious dress also appears to increase vulnerability to hate crime. A 2007 
report on hate crime in the borough highlighted experiences of harassment and 
intimidation of Muslim women who wore the hijab or niqaab; Christian clergy 
wearing clerical dress as well as Rabbis walking in and out of synagogues and 
people collecting for religious charities12.  
 
Objectives: 

• Improve the security of places of worship to reduce vandalism and risk of 
faith hate incidents in and around places of worship 

• Improve security arrangements for religious festivals and events to reduce 
incidents of faith hate  

• Undertake targeted work to increase reporting of faith hate  
 
 
A HEALTHY COMMUNITY 
 
The capacity to be healthy 
Access to sports facilities and activities was a key issue identified by faith 
communities through the consultation for the RBES. There were two key 
concerns raised: 

1 Timing of sports and leisure activities has an impact on faith 
communities with some activities only being available during holy days or 
times, for example Sunday mornings for Christian communities, Friday 
lunchtimes for Muslim residents and on Saturdays for Jewish people. 

2 Provision of gender specific activities and facilities enables Muslim 
women who do not want to take part in mixed-gender sporting activities to 
get involved in sports activities. However while there are facilities 
providing some gender specific activities in the borough, these are limited 
due to a lack of trained female sports staff to supervise these activities. 

 
Support services  
Faith communities play a significant role in providing support services for 
individuals and communities to promote wellbeing and provide support to those 
experiencing hardship and crisis. During the consultation for the RBES we came 
across numerous examples of faith communities providing support to vulnerable 
people, including those with mental health conditions, older people, drug users 
and the homeless. This support is provided in a variety of ways, from informal 
voluntary activities such as befriending to services provided by faith based 
                                                 
12 ‘Faith Hate Crime Workshop Report’, Tower Hamlets Community Safety Service (2007) 

Page 291



 

 26 

organisations on behalf of and funded by public authorities.  
 
There was also significant variation in who activities were intended to benefit, 
with some groups offering support principally to members of their own faith 
community, whilst others set out to meet needs of local people of all faiths and 
none. The diversity of the population in Tower Hamlets and the history of 
changing communities has led many faith communities to reach beyond their 
immediate memberships and respond creatively to the needs of the communities 
around them.  
 
Responses to the RBES consultation revealed a wide variety of opinions and 
perceptions about the attitudes of the Council and other public bodies to working 
with and funding faith based organisations. This wide spectrum of views about 
the way in which the Council should engage with faith communities and people of 
faith is matched by a variety of opinions about the adequacy of Council 
resourcing of faith communities and the relationship between the public, private 
and social roles of faith communities and organisations.  
 
Objectives: 

• Increase availability of women-only activities at local sport and leisure 
centres 

• Ensure that services providing sports, leisure and recreational activities 
address the potential for people of religious beliefs to have restricted 
access to activities held at specific times 

• Review procurement framework to ensure that funding based 
organisations are provided with clear information about the parameters 
and requirements of funding streams and are supported to comply with the 
Council’s Valuing Diversity policy  

 

Page 292



 

 27 

Promoting religion / belief equality as an employer 
 
Internal consultation with Council staff revealed a variety of opinions about the 
way in which religion/belief should be regarded in the workplace. There was a 
strong feeling that the workplace played an important role in bringing people of 
different backgrounds together to build positive relationships and many people 
stated their willingness to help colleagues to understand their religion or belief. 
However participants also identified some factors which they felt had a 
detrimental affect on their ability to be open about their own religion or belief in 
the workplace which included: world events which lead to a negative portrayal of 
certain faith communities in the media; the use of language which is offensive to 
some faith communities in the workplace and; a feeling that some faith groups 
got more publicity and resources than others.  
 
There was significant support for more interfaith events in the Council as these 
provided opportunities for staff to learn about the variety of religions/beliefs in the 
borough in a well managed and safe environment.  
 
The information below describes the representation of people of specific 
religion/beliefs employed by the Council in 2007. It should be noted that this data 
has only been collected since 2006 and there are significant gaps in the 
information. We have no data on the religion/belief of twenty six percent of staff 
and a further ten percent declined to provide the information when asked. 
Expanding our understanding of the profile of religion/belief among staff is a key 
commitment in this Scheme. 
 

Number and (%) of staff in each pay band 
Religion Less 

£20,000 
£20-
39,000 

£40-
59,000 

£60-
79,000 

£80,000+ 
Total 
number of 
staff 

Buddhist 8 19 5 0 0 32 
Christian 457 (28) 1083 (34) 171 (34) 12 (29) 10 (30) 1733 
Hindu 13 45 5 1 0 64 
Jewish 5 19 3 0 1 28 
Muslim  211 (13) 487 (15) 39 (8) 2 (5) 1 (3) 740 
Sikh 5 26 2 0 0 33 
None 87 (5) 327 (10) 125 (25) 17 (41) 12 (36) 568 
Other 59 160 22 0 0 241 
Decline 
to state 

72 (4) 376 (12) 62 (13) 4 (9) 3 (9) 517 
No data 711 (44) 613 (19) 59 (12) 5 (12) 6 (20) 1394 
Total 1628 3155 493 41 33 5350 
 
 
In terms of overall representation, the proportion of Christians and Muslims in the 
workforce is similar to the proportion in the local working age population. The 
proportion of people of no belief however is lower at ten percent than the 

Page 293



 

 28 

comparable borough figure of eighteen percent. The figures relating to other faith 
groups are too small to draw conclusive comparisons. If we analyse 
representation at various pay grades however, the picture is different. The 
proportion of Christian staff remains fairly consistent at all grades at between 28-
34%. Muslim staff, by contrast are more likely to have jobs falling in the less that 
£20,000 and £20-29,000 pay bands, with proportionately fewer Muslim staff 
having jobs in the top three pay bands, at 8%, 5% and 3% respectively. The 
reverse appears to be true of people of no belief who make up just five percent of 
staff in the lowest pay band, increasing to 10%, 25%, 41% and 36% of staff in the 
higher pay bands.  
 
Objectives: 
 

• Ensure awareness amongst staff of facilities for reflection and prayer are 
accessible to all staff of religious and non-religious belief 

• Strengthen interfaith understanding between staff and involve staff of all 
religions and none in relevant decision making and policy development 

• Develop a dress code policy for Council staff which incorporates clear 
guidance to ensure that decisions about dress do not lead to direct or 
indirect discrimination of individuals based on religion or belief 

• Address evidence of inequality or disadvantage experienced by staff as a 
result of their religion/belief  

• Develop the ability of staff working with vulnerable people to understand 
and assess religion/belief related needs and preferences  

 

Page 294



  
29

 

De
liv

eri
ng

 th
e R

eli
gio

n/B
eli

ef 
Eq

ua
lity

 S
ch

em
e o

bje
cti

ve
s, 

20
09

-12
 

 Pr
ior

ity
  

Ob
jec

tiv
e 

Ac
tio

n 
By

 w
ho

m 
By

 w
he

n  
    

    
O

NE
 T

O
W

ER
 H

AM
LE

TS
 

De
ve
lop

 th
e r

ole
 of
 th
e I
nte

rfa
ith
 Fo

rum
 as

 a 
ke
y n

etw
ork

 fo
r e

ng
ag
ing

 w
ith
 fa

ith
 

co
mm

un
itie

s a
t a
ll le

ve
l o
f th

e T
HP

 w
ith
 

mo
de
l a
gre

ed
 by

 Ap
ril 
09
 an

d i
mp

lem
en
ted

 by
 

Ma
rch

 20
10
 

Pa
rtic

ipa
tio
n 
an
d 

En
ga
ge
me

nt 
Te

am
, 

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
litie

s 
an
d 

Cu
ltu
re 

Ap
ril 
20
09
 

To
 pa

rtic
ipa

te 
in 
de
cis

ion
 

ma
kin

g a
nd
 

ha
ve
 a 

vo
ice

 
an
d i
nfl
ue
nc
e 

En
ab
le 

fai
th 

co
mm

un
itie

s 
to 

wo
rk 

tog
eth

er 
to 

ha
ve
 a

 
vo
ice

 w
ith
in 

loc
al 

de
cis

ion
 

ma
kin

g 

En
su
re 

tha
t p

roc
es
se
s f
or 

co
ns
ult
ing

 an
d 

en
ga
gin

g y
ou
ng
 pe

op
le 
ac
tiv
ely

 en
ga
ge
 

pe
op
le 
of 
dif
fer

en
t fa

ith
 an

d t
ha
t th

is 
is 

mo
nit
ore

d. 
 

Yo
uth

 S
erv

ice
s, 

Ch
ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce
s 

De
ce
mb

er 
20
10
 

Pr
od
uc
tio
n o

f g
uid

an
ce
 fo

r fa
ith
 co

mm
un
itie

s 
on
 D
ev
elo

pm
en
t a
nd
 Bu

ild
ing

 C
on
tro

l 
reg

ula
tio
ns
 an

d a
dv
ice

 as
 pa

rt o
f o

ve
ral
l 

rev
iew

 of
 pl
an
nin

g g
uid

an
ce
 no

tes
 

  

 Co
ns
erv

ati
on
 

an
d 

De
sig

n 
Te

am
, D

&R
 

 Se
pte

mb
er 

20
09
 

W
ork

 w
ith
 En

gli
sh
 H
eri
tag

e t
o d

ev
elo

p a
 

Su
pp
ort

 O
ffic

er 
pro

jec
t to

 as
sis

t h
ist
ori
c 

pla
ce
s o

f w
ors

hip
 to

 m
ain

tai
n t
he
ir b

uil
din

gs
 in
 

a s
afe

 an
d a

cc
es
sib

le 
co
nd
itio

n 
 

Div
ers

ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s  

 Co
ns
erv

ati
on
 

an
d D

es
ign

 
Te

am
, D

&R
 

   Ma
rch

 20
10

 

To
 be

 an
d 

ex
pre

ss
 

yo
urs

elf
 an

d 
ha
ve
 se

lf-
res

pe
ct 

En
su
re 

fai
th 

co
mm

un
itie

s a
re 

ab
le 

to 
ac
ce
ss
 a

dv
ice

 a
nd
 

su
pp
ort

 
ab
ou
t 

us
ing

 
an
d 

ad
ap
tin
g b

uil
din

gs
 fo

r u
se
 as

 
pla

ce
s o

f w
ors

hip
  

Pr
od
uc
e g

uid
an
ce
 on

 us
e o

f C
ou
nc
il 

ma
na
ge
d a

nd
 ow

ne
d c

om
mu

nit
y f
ac
iliti

es
 by

 
As

se
t 

ma
na
ge
me

nt 
De

ce
mb

er 
20
09
 

Page 295



  
30

 

 
 

fai
th-

rel
ate

d g
rou

ps
 to

 en
co
ura

ge
 in
cre

as
ed
 

sh
ari
ng
 of

 sp
ac
e b

y f
ait
h a

nd
 co

mm
un
ity
 

gro
up
s 

 

Te
am

, D
&R

 
  

 A 
PR

O
SP

ER
O

US
 C

O
M

M
UN

IT
Y 

Re
du
ce
 le
ve
ls 
of 

ec
on
om

ic 
ina

cti
vit
y a

mo
ng
 M
us
lim

 
wo

me
n i
n t
he
 bo

rou
gh
 

thr
ou
gh
 re

du
cin

g b
arr

ier
s t
o 

em
plo

ym
en
t 

Co
ns
ide

r th
e E

vid
en
ce
 ba

se
. R

es
ea
rch

 th
e 

ba
rrie

rs 
tha

t w
om

en
 fa
ce
 ga

ini
ng
 ac

ce
ss
 to
 

em
plo

ym
en
t to

 ga
in 
an
 un

de
rst
an
din

g o
f th

e 
un
de
rly
ing

 re
as
on
s a

nd
 de

ve
lop

 st
rat

eg
ies

 fo
r 

ad
dre

ss
ing

 ne
ed
 

Ac
ce
ss
 to
 

Em
plo

ym
en
t a
nd
 

Div
ers

ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
D&

R 

Ma
rch

 20
10

 

Re
co
gn
ise

 m
ajo

r re
lig
iou

s 
fes

tiv
als

 of
 th
e b

oro
ug
hs
 fa

ith
 

co
mm

un
itie

s a
nd
 en

su
re 

pu
bli
cit
y e

nh
an
ce
s i
nte

rfa
ith
 

un
de
rst
an
din

g 

Pr
od
uc
e a

 co
rpo

rat
e c

ale
nd
ar 

of 
ma

jor
 

rel
igi
ou
s f
es
tiv
als

 an
d e

ns
ure

 th
at 
the

se
 ar

e 
rec

og
nis

ed
 bo

th 
in 
the

 C
ou
nc
il’s

 in
ter

na
l 

co
mm

un
ica

tio
n c

ha
nn
els

 an
d i
n E

as
t E

nd
 Li
fe 

Div
ers

ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

 
Co

mm
un
ica

tio
ns
 

Te
am

, C
hie

f 
Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
09
 

To
 en

ga
ge
 in
 

pro
du
cti
ve
 an

d 
va
lue

d a
cti
vit
ies

 Ta
ck
le 
ne
ga
tiv
e p

ort
ray

al 
of 

fai
th 

co
mm

un
itie

s a
nd
 

int
erf

ait
h r

ela
tio
ns
 in
 th
e 

me
dia

 to
 re

du
ce
 th
e p

ote
nti
al 

for
 su

ch
 co

ve
rag

e t
o 

inc
rea

se
 co

mm
un
ity
 te
ns
ion

 

Inc
lud

e C
om

mu
nic

ati
on
s o

n C
om

mu
nit
y 

Co
he
sio

n C
on
tin
ge
nc
y P

lan
nin

g a
nd
 Te

ns
ion

 
Mo

nit
ori
ng
 G
rou

p m
ee
tin
g a

ge
nd
as
 an

d 
en
su
re 

ac
tio
ns
 ar

e i
nc
lud

ed
 to
 re

sp
on
d t
o a

ll 
ne
ga
tiv
e c

ov
era

ge
 

Div
ers

ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

 
Co

mm
un
ica

tio
ns
 

Te
am

, C
hie

f 
Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 

Ap
ril 
20
09
 

 A 
G

RE
AT

 P
LA

CE
 T

O
 L

IV
E 

To
 en

joy
 a 

co
mf
ort

ab
le 

sta
nd
ard

 of
 

livi
ng
, w

ith
 

ind
ep
en
de
nc
e 

an
d s

ec
uri
ty 

Ad
dre

ss
 th
e s

ho
rta

ge
 of
 

so
cia

l h
ou
sin

g s
uit
ab
le 
for

 
fam

ilie
s  

 

Ra
ise

 is
su
e w

ith
 R
SL

s t
hro

ug
h t
he
 H
ou
sin

g 
Fo

rum
 an

d r
ev
iew

 as
 pa

rt o
f H

ou
sin

g S
tra

teg
y 

an
d  
Le
ttin

gs
 Po

licy
 an

d S
erv

ice
 re

vie
w 
 

 
Vis

it 2
00
 ov

erc
row

de
d h

ou
se
ho
lds

 ac
ros

s L
B 

To
we

r H
am

let
s, 
ad
vis

e t
he
m 

on
 th
e b

idd
ing

 

Ho
us
ing

 St
rat

eg
y 

Te
am

, D
&R

 
  

Ma
rch

 20
10
 

   Ma
rch

 20
10

 

Page 296



  
31

 

pro
ce
ss
 an

d h
ou
sin

g o
pti
on
s a

va
ila
ble

 to
 

the
m.

 M
on
ito
r o

utc
om

es
 by

 E&
D 
str
an
ds
 

 
La
ck
 of
 op

po
rtu

nit
ies

 fo
r 

pe
op
le 
wit

h n
on
-re

lig
iou

s 
be
lie
fs 
to 
tak

e p
art

 in
 

int
erf

ait
h a

nd
 va

lui
ng
 

div
ers

ity
 ac

tiv
itie

s 

De
ve
lop

 pr
og
ram

me
 fo
r e

ng
ag
em

en
t o
f 

pe
op
le 
of 
no
n-r

eli
gio

us
 be

lie
fs 
in 
Int
erf

ait
h 

Fo
rum

 ac
tiv
itie

s  
Div

ers
ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 

Ma
rch

 20
10

 

Inc
orp

ora
te 

int
erf

ait
h a

cti
vit
ies

 w
ith
in 
the

 
pro

jec
ts 
fun

de
d t
hro

ug
h t

he
 Pr

ev
en
tin
g 

Vio
len

t E
xtr
em

ism
 pr

og
ram

me
 

Div
ers

ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 

Ju
ne
 20

09
 

Ex
ten

d i
nte

rfa
ith
 di
me

ns
ion

 
of 

wo
rk 
wit

h p
erp

etr
ato

rs 
of 

fai
th 
ha
te 
an
d v

iol
en
t 

ex
tre

mi
sm

 
De

ve
lop

 m
ec
ha
nis

ms
 fo
r in

vo
lvin

g f
ait
h 

lea
de
rs 
in 
Re

sto
rat

ive
 Ju

sti
ce
 ac

tiv
itie

s  
 

Co
mm

un
ity
 

Sa
fet

y S
erv

ice
, 

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
litie

s a
nd
 

Cu
ltu
re 

 Div
ers

ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 
 De

ce
mb

er 
20
10
 

Su
pp
ort

 de
ve
lop

me
nt 
of 

int
erf

ait
h a

cti
vit
ies

 w
hic

h 
en
ga
ge
 pe

op
le 
wh

o d
on
’t 

sp
ea
k E

ng
lish

 

De
ve
lop

 pr
og
ram

me
 fo
r e

ng
ag
em

en
t o
f 

pe
op
le 
of 
wh

o d
o n

ot 
sp
ea
k E

ng
lish

 in
 

Int
erf

ait
h F

oru
m 
ac
tiv
itie

s 
Div

ers
ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 
 Ma

rch
 20

10
 

Int
erf

ait
h W

ee
k e

ve
nts

 to
 re

co
gn
ise

 th
e 

va
rie
ty 
of 

fai
ths

 w
ith
in 
the

 bo
rou

gh
 an

d 
inc

lud
e s

pe
cif
ic 
inf
orm

ati
on
 ab

ou
t th

e v
ari
ety

 
of 

rel
igi
on
s/b

eli
efs

 in
 th
e b

oro
ug
h 

Div
ers

ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 
 No

ve
mb

er 
20
09
 

To
 ha

ve
 sk

ills
 

to 
pa
rtic

ipa
te 
in 

so
cie

ty 

En
su
re 

tha
t fa

ith
 aw

are
ne
ss
 

ac
tiv
itie

s f
un
de
d b

y t
he
 

Co
un
cil 

are
 pr

es
en
ted

 w
ith
in 

an
 in
ter

fai
th 
co
nte

xt 
to 

en
su
re 

tha
t th

ey
 co

ntr
ibu

te 
to 

be
tte
r u

nd
ers

tan
din

g a
nd
 

Pr
od
uc
e g

uid
an
ce
 fo
r R

eli
gio

n/B
eli
ef 

aw
are

ne
ss
 ev

en
ts 
to 
en
su
re 

tha
t th

ey
 su

pp
ort

 
Div

ers
ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
No

ve
mb

er 
20
09
 

Page 297



  
32

 

 
rel
ati
on
s b

etw
ee
n p

eo
ple

 of
 

dif
fer

en
t b
ac
kg
rou

nd
s 

the
 C
ou
nc
il’s

 ov
era

rch
ing

 co
mm

itm
en
t to

 
Va

lui
ng
 D
ive

rsi
ty 
an
d c

rea
tin
g a

n i
nc
lus

ive
 

wo
rkp

lac
e 

 

Ch
ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 
 

   A 
SA

FE
 A

ND
 S

UP
PO

RT
IV

E 
CO

M
M

UN
IT

Y 
Im

pro
ve
 th
e s

ec
uri
ty 
of 

pla
ce
s o

f w
ors

hip
 to

 re
du
ce
 

va
nd
ali
sm

 an
d t
he
 ris

k o
f 

fai
th 
ha
te 
inc

ide
nts

 of
 fa
ith
 

ha
te 
 

Fo
rw
ard

 pl
an
 of

 re
lig
iou

s f
es
tiv
al 
ev
en
ts 
be
 

de
ve
lop

ed
 an

d m
on
ito
red

 by
 C
om

mu
nit
y 

Co
he
sio

n C
on
tin
ge
nc
y P

lan
nin

g a
nd
 Te

ns
ion

 
Mo

nit
ori
ng
 G
rou

p a
nd
 or

ga
nis

ing
 gr

ou
ps
 

off
ere

d a
ss
ist
an
ce
 to

 un
de
rta

ke
 ef
fec

tiv
e r

isk
 

as
se
ss
me

nts
 an

d p
ut 

in 
pla

ce
 pr

op
ort

ion
ate

 
me

as
ure

s 

Div
ers

ity
 & 

Eq
ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 
 

an
d 

To
we

r H
am

let
s 

Po
lice

 Ev
en
ts 

Of
fic
e 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
09
 

Im
pro

ve
 th
e s

ec
uri
ty 
of 

pla
ce
s o

f w
ors

hip
 to

 re
du
ce
 

va
nd
ali
sm

 an
d r

isk
 of
 fa
ith
 

ha
te 
inc

ide
nts

  

Ch
urc

hy
ard

 Se
cu
rity

 W
ork

ing
 G
rou

p t
o 

ov
ers

ee
 se

cu
rity

 im
pro

ve
me

nts
 to
 al
l 

ch
urc

hy
ard

s 
Div

ers
ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

  
Co

mm
un
ity
 

Sa
fet

y S
erv

ice
, 

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
litie

s a
nd
 

Cu
ltu
re 

Ap
ril 
20
09
 

To
 liv

e i
n 

ph
ys
ica

l 
se
cu
rity

 

En
su
re 

vic
tim

s o
f re

po
rte

d 
fai
th 
ha
te 
are

 su
pp
ort

ed
 an

d 
inc

rea
se
 aw

are
ne
ss
 of
 

rep
ort

ing
 m
ec
ha
nis

ms
  

 

To
 m
ain

tai
n a

nd
 de

ve
lop

 th
e T

hir
d P

art
y 

Re
po
rtin

g P
roj
ec
t to

 in
cre

as
e r

ep
ort

ing
 of

 
ha
te 
inc

ide
nts

 an
d f
os
ter

 ef
fec

tiv
e j
oin

t 
wo

rki
ng

 am
on
gs
t p
art

ne
r a

ge
nc
ies

 in
vo
lve

d 
wh

ere
 10

0%
 of
 Th

ird
 Pa

rty
 R
ep
ort

s m
on
ito
red

 
an
d a

cti
on
ed
 (b

as
eli
ne
 of

 18
). 

 Im
ple

me
nt 

rec
om

me
nd
ati
on
s f
rom

 H
ate

 

Cr
im
e P

oli
cy
 & 

Pa
rtn

ers
hip

 
Te

am
, 

Co
mm

un
ity
 

Sa
fet

y S
erv

ice
, 

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
litie

s a
nd
 

Cu
ltu
re 

Ma
rch

 20
10
 

an
d a

nn
ua
l 

up
da
te 

Page 298



  
33

 

 
Cr
im
e V

ict
im
’s 
Ne

ed
s R

es
ea
rch

 R
ep
ort

 fo
r 

inc
rea

se
d s

ati
sfa

cti
on
 w
ith
 se

rvi
ce
s b

y v
ict
im
s 

of 
ha
te 

cri
me

 m
ea
su
red

 th
rou

gh
 sa

tis
fac

tio
n 

qu
es
tio
nn
air
es
. 

 Aw
are

ne
ss
 ca

mp
aig

n p
rom

oti
ng
 cl
ea
r 

me
ss
ag
es
 th
at 
To

we
r H

am
let
s i
s N

o P
lac

e f
or 

Ha
te 

inc
lud

ing
 H
om

op
ho
bic

 H
ate

 – 
10
0%

 
inc

rea
se
 in
 si
gn
 up

 to
 N
PF

H 
Ple

dg
e (

ba
se
lin
e 

of 
50
), 2

4 o
utr

ea
ch
 ac

tiv
itie

s (
inc

lud
ing

 fa
ith
 

co
mm

un
itie

s a
nd
 ev

en
ts)
 an

d E
va
lua

tio
n 

Re
po
rt.  

To
 w
ork

 w
ith
 pa

rtn
ers

 to
 en

su
re 

10
0%

 of
 

ide
nti
fie
d p

erp
etr

ato
rs 
of 
fai
th 
ha
te 
inc

ide
nts

 
rep

ort
ed
 to
 th
e C

ou
nc
il a

re 
ac
tio
ne
d. 

 
 

Ha
te 

Inc
ide

nts
 Pa

ne
l - 
Co

ord
ina

tio
n o

f m
ult
i-

ag
en
cy
 pa

ne
l w

hic
h e

ns
ure

s a
 co

ord
ina

ted
 

res
po
ns
e t

o a
ll f
ait
h h

ate
 in
cid

en
ts 
rep

ort
ed
 to
 

Co
un
cil.

 
 

To
 w
ork

 w
ith
 pa

rtn
ers

 in
 en

su
rin
g f
ait
h h

ate
 

inc
ide

nts
 ar

e r
ec
ord

ed
 ef
fec

tiv
ely

. 
 

 
W
ork

 w
ith
 fa

ith
 co

mm
un
itie

s 
to 

en
su
re 

tha
t y
ou
ng
 pe

op
le 

are
 pr

ote
cte

d f
rom

 th
e r

isk
 of

 
se
xu
al 
ex
plo

ita
tio
n 

Ac
t o

n t
he
 co

ns
ult
ati
on
 th

at 
ha
s t
ak
en
 pl
ac
e 

wit
h l
oc
al 
fai
th 
co
mm

un
itie

s t
o i
nfo

rm
 th
e m

ult
i 

ag
en
cy
 re

sp
on
se
 an

d s
up
po
rt s

tra
teg

ies
 

Se
rvi
ce
 

Ma
na
ge
r, C

hil
d 

Pr
ote

cti
on
 an

d 
Re

vie
win

g, 
Ch

ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce
s 

Ma
rch

 20
10

 

Page 299



  
34

 

 A 
HE

AL
TH

Y 
CO

M
M

UN
IT

Y 
Inc

rea
se
 av

ail
ab
ility

 of
 

wo
me

n-o
nly

 ac
tiv
itie

s a
t lo

ca
l 

sp
ort

 an
d l
eis

ure
 ce

ntr
es
 

Pr
og
ram

me
 as

 pa
rt o

f H
ea
lth
y T

ow
ns
 to
 

pro
vid

e w
om

en
 & 

gir
ls 
sw

im
mi
ng
 pr

og
ram

me
 

co
mm

en
cin

g A
pri
l 2
00
9 -

20
11
 

Sp
ort

s 
De

ve
lop

me
nt 

Te
am

, C
ult
ura

l 
Se

rvi
ce
s, 

Co
mm

un
itie

s, 
Lo
ca
litie

s a
nd
 

Cu
ltu
re 

Ma
rch

 20
10

 

Pr
od
uc
tio
n o

f G
uid

an
ce
 on

 R
ea
so
na
ble

 
Ad

jus
tm
en
ts 
in 
rel
ati
on
 to

 R
eli
gio

n a
nd
 Be

lie
f 

to 
inc

lud
e i
nfo

rm
ati
on
 on

 co
ns
ide

rat
ion

s 
rel
ati
ng
 to

 tim
ing

 of
 ac

tiv
itie

s 

Div
ers

ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 
  Ap

ril 
20
09
 

En
su
re 

tha
t s
erv

ice
s 

pro
vid

ing
 sp

ort
s, 
lei
su
re 

an
d 

rec
rea

tio
na
l a
cti
vit
ies

 
ad
dre

ss
 th
e p

ote
nti
al 
for

 
pe
op
le 
of 
rel
igi
ou
s b

eli
efs

 to
 

ha
ve
 re

str
ict
ed
 ac

ce
ss
 to
 

ac
tiv
itie

s h
eld

 at
 sp

ec
ific

 
tim

es
 

De
ve
lop

ing
 a 

gu
ide

 fo
r y
ou
th 

wo
rke

rs 
on
 ho

w 
to 

en
ab
le 
yo
un
g p

eo
ple

 to
 en

ga
ge
 w
ith
 

dif
fer

en
t fa

ith
s a

nd
 cu

ltu
res

  
 

Yo
uth

 Se
rvi
ce
, 

Ch
ild
ren

’s 
Se

rvi
ce
s 

Ma
rch

 20
10

 

To
 be

 he
alt
hy
 

Su
pp
ort

 fa
ith
 ba

se
d 

org
an
isa

tio
ns
 to
 w
ork

 w
ith
in 

a p
art

ne
rsh

ip 
fra

me
wo

rk 
to 

pro
vid

e s
erv

ice
s t
ha
t m

ee
t 

the
 ne

ed
s o

f lo
ca
l p
eo
ple

 
an
d s

up
po
rt t

he
 C
ou
nc
il’s

 
Va

lui
ng
 D
ive

rsi
ty 
po
licy

 

Re
vie

w 
pro

cu
rem

en
t fr

am
ew

ork
 to

 en
su
re 

tha
t fu

nd
ing

 ba
se
d o

rga
nis

ati
on
s a

re 
pro

vid
ed
 

wit
h c

lea
r in

for
ma

tio
n a

bo
ut 

the
 pa

ram
ete

rs 
an
d r

eq
uir
em

en
ts 
of 
fun

din
g s

tre
am

s a
nd
 ar

e 
su
pp
ort

ed
 to
 co

mp
ly 
wit

h t
he
 C
ou
nc
il’s

 
Va

lui
ng
 D
ive

rsi
ty 
po
licy

  
 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Pr
oc
ure

me
nt 

Te
am

, 
Re

so
urc

es
 

Ma
rch

 20
10

 

      

Page 300



  
35

 

AS
 A

N 
EM

PL
O

YE
R En
su
re 

aw
are

ne
ss
 a

mo
ng
st 

sta
ff o

f fa
cili

tie
s f

or 
ref

lec
tio
n 

an
d p

ray
er 

are
 ac

ce
ss
ibl
e t

o 
all
 st

aff
 of

 re
lig
iou

s a
nd
 no

n-
rel
igi
ou
s b

eli
ef 

 

Re
mi
nd
 m
an
ag
ers

 an
d s

taf
f o
f th

e a
va
ila
bil
ity
 

of 
pra

ye
r ro

om
s a

nd
 th
ere

 lo
ca
tio
n i
n C

ou
nc
il 

bu
ild
ing

s. 
Co

rpo
rat

e H
R,
 

Re
so
urc

es
 

Se
pte

mb
er 

20
09
 

Str
en
gth

en
 in
ter

fai
th 

un
de
rst
an
din

g b
etw

ee
n s

taf
f 

an
d i
nv
olv

e s
taf

f o
f a

ll 
rel
igi
on
s a

nd
 no

ne
 in
 

rel
ev
an
t d

ec
isio

n m
ak
ing

 an
d 

po
licy

 de
ve
lop

me
nt 

 

Es
tab

lish
 an

 in
ter

fai
th 
sta

ff f
oru

m 
to 
ac
t a
s a

 
ref

ere
nc
e g

rou
p f
or 

co
ns
ult
ati
on
 on

 
pra

ye
r/re

fle
cti
on
 sp

ac
e a

nd
 in
ter

fai
th 
ev
en
ts 

Div
ers

ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s 

 Co
rpo

rat
e H

R,
 

Re
so
urc

es
 

Ma
rch

 20
10

 

Mo
nit
or 

ke
y h

um
an
 re

so
urc

es
 pe

rfo
rm

an
ce
 

ind
ica

tor
s a

nd
 w
ork

for
ce
 pr

ofi
le 
in 
ter

ms
 of
 

the
 re

lig
ion

/be
lie
f p

rof
ile
 of

 pe
op
le 
inv

olv
ed
 on

 
an
 an

nu
al 
ba
sis

 

Fro
m 

Ap
ril 

20
09
 

Pr
om

ote
 to

 a
ll 
sta

ff 
a 

firm
 c

om
mi
tm
en
t t

o 
pro

vid
ing

 su
pp
ort

 w
he
n t

he
y e

xp
eri
en
ce
 fa

ith
 

rel
ate

d 
pre

jud
ice

 o
r d

iffi
cu
ltie

s 
wit

h 
clie

nts
, 

cu
sto

me
rs 
or 

se
rvi
ce
s u

se
rs 

Ma
rch

 20
10

 

Ad
dre

ss
 ev

ide
nc
e o

f 
ine

qu
ali
ty 
or 

dis
ad
va
nta

ge
 

ex
pe
rie
nc
ed
 by

 st
aff
 as

 a 
res

ult
 of

 th
eir
 re

lig
ion

/be
lie
f 

De
ve
lop

 a 
dre

ss
 co

de
 po

licy
 fo

r C
ou
nc
il s

taf
f 

wh
ich

 in
co
rpo

rat
es
 cl

ea
r g

uid
an
ce
 to

 e
ns
ure

 
tha

t d
ec
isio

ns
 a

bo
ut 

dre
ss
 d

o 
no
t l

ea
d 

to 
dir
ec
t o

r i
nd
ire
ct 

dis
cri
mi
na
tio
n 
of 

ind
ivid

ua
ls 

ba
se
d o

n r
eli
gio

n o
r b

eli
ef 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

HR
, 

Re
so
urc

es
 

Ma
rch

 20
10

 

W
ork

for
ce
 to

 
Re

fle
ct 
the

 
Co

mm
un
ity
 

De
ve
lop

 th
e a

bil
ity
 of

 st
aff
 

wo
rki
ng

 w
ith
 vu

lne
rab

le 
pe
op
le 
to 
un
de
rst
an
d a

nd
 

as
se
ss
 re

lig
ion

/be
lie
f re

lat
ed
 

RB
ES

 R
ea
so
na
ble

 Ad
jus

tm
en
ts 
on
 th
e 

gro
un
ds
 of
 re

lig
ion

/be
lie
f g

uid
an
ce
 

  

Div
ers

ity
 an

d 
Eq

ua
lity

 Te
am

, 
Ch

ief
 Ex

ec
uti
ve
’s  

 

Ap
ril 
20
09
 

Page 301



  
36

 

 
ne
ed
s a

nd
 pr

efe
ren

ce
s 

 

Page 302



 

 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Tower Hamlets  
Sexual Orientation Equality Scheme 

2009-2012 
 

Appendix 1 

Page 303



 

 2 

Contents 
 
Introduction          2 
 
Sexual Orientation Equality Legislation      5 
 
How we developed our Sexual Orientation  Equality Scheme   6 
 
Corporate Framework for Diversity and Equality     7 
 
The profile of sexual orientation in Tower Hamlets     10 
 
Reasonable Adjustments        11 
 
The Story So Far         12 
 
 
Sexual Orientation Equality Priorities 2009-12     12 
 

ONE TOWER HAMLETS       13 
 

A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY      17 
 

A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE       20 
 

A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY     21 
 

A HEALTHY COMMUNITY       24 
 
 
Promoting Sexual Orientation Equality as an Employer    26 
 
Delivering the Sexual Orientation Equality Scheme Objectives 2009-12  28 

Page 304



 

 3 

 
 Introduction  
 
The Council’s vision and the vision of the Tower Hamlets Partnership is to 
improve the quality of life for everyone living and working in Tower Hamlets. 
We want a thriving community in which people feel at ease with one another, 
benefiting from higher levels of achievement and increasing employment 
opportunities, where people experience a higher standard of living and good 
health and enjoy a safe and accessible environment together with a wide 
range of cultural, leisure and learning opportunities. Our inclusive vision is of a 
community that draws strengths from its differences. We want to eliminate any 
barriers that prevent people accessing the opportunities and life chances on 
offer. We want to engage with all our communities to celebrate their rich 
diversity and also to work through the tension that this diversity can 
sometimes bring. 
 
This Sexual Orientation Equality Scheme outlines the Council’s commitment 
to make sure that equality for lesbian, gay and bisexual (LGB) people is at the 
centre of its work when developing a policy or strategy, providing a service, or 
employing people.  We recognise that society has negative attitudes, 
stereotypes and myths about LGB people, and that these attitudes and beliefs 
can lead to LGB being socially and economically disadvantaged, excluded 
and marginalised. We believe that LGB people have the right to equality and 
opportunity and make a significant and valuable contribution to the community 
at large. This scheme shows how the Council with its partners will ensure that 
it eliminates LGB discrimination and harassment and promotes equality for all 
regardless of their sexual orientation. 
 
The Council recognises that LGB people choose a range of terms to describe 
themselves and their community. The Council has chosen to call this 
document the Sexual Orientation Equality Scheme, as it is the most widely 
accepted umbrella term used in lesbian, gay and bisexual politics. 
 
Transgendered people may face similar negative social attitudes and 
injustices to LGB people, and the Council recognises and supports their rights 
too. However, it is important to underline that sexuality and gender identity are 
different and that each faces its own set of legal and social issues. Whilst this 
document serves transgendered people who may identify as lesbian, gay or 
bisexual, the Gender Equality Scheme provides more specific information on 
how the Council will support transgendered people. 
 
Within each of the Council’s Equality Schemes we have identified three 
priority areas of inequality which require significant and sustained action 
across a number of Council services. These priority areas provide the Council 
with some high level direction about where attention and resources need to be 
targeted to make real progress.    
 
In relation to sexual orientation inequality, these priorities are set out below 
and are explored further in this Equality Scheme. Linked to poverty all three sit 
at heart of inequality in Tower Hamlets.  To make a dramatic shift against the 

Page 305



 

 4 

inequality of Tower Hamlets and make progress on the wide range of issues 
identified in each of Equality Schemes it is recommended that investment to 
address these core inter-connected areas will lead that change.    
 
 

• Work with partners to tackle LGB discrimination in the workplace 
• Challenge homophobia and homophobic bullying in schools. Almost 

two thirds of young LGB pupils have experienced direct bullying in 
schools. 

• Reduce homophobic hate crime in the borough and promote 
understanding, awareness and respect for LGB people. 

 
In addition, research undertaken for this scheme has highlighted the limited 
information that we hold regarding LGB people. Collecting more information 
will enable us to improve our knowledge of the specific needs of LGB people 
and provide them with appropriate services.

Page 306



 

 5 

Sexual Orientation Equality Legislation  
 
LGB people have benefited from many recent changes in the law. These 
changes have provided the local LGB population with a greater degree of 
legal protection and have helped to promote their well-being and sense of 
equality. A significant number of these changes have had a direct impact on 
the Council and its roles as service provider, community leader and employer.  
Some of the key requirements are as follows:  
  
The Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2003  
These cover direct and indirect discrimination, victimisation and harassment in 
employment and vocational training on the grounds of sexual orientation. 
Employees who believe that they have been discriminated against on the 
grounds of sexual orientation are able to take their cases to employment 
tribunals. This applies to all aspects of employment and training, including 
recruitment, promotion, terms and conditions and dismissals.  
 
The Civil Partnership Act 2004  
The growing recognition of same-sex couples in law has placed new 
requirements on the Council. The 2004 Act affects many different areas, 
including pension rights, Housing and Council Tax Benefits, social services 
provision, customer service information and birth and death registration.  
  
The Equality Act (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2007  
The developments above have been consolidated by the Equality Act (Sexual 
Orientation) Regulations 2007, which prohibit discrimination on the grounds of 
sexual orientation in the provision of goods, facilities and services, in 
education and in the exercise of public functions, which covers almost any 
activity in which the Council is engaged. The Regulations make it unlawful to:  
 
• Refuse to provide goods, facilities and services on grounds of sexual 

orientation  
• Provide goods, facilities and services of a different quality on grounds of 

sexual orientation  
• Provide goods, facilities and services in a different manner on grounds of 

sexual orientation  
• Provide goods, facilities and services on different terms on grounds of 

sexual orientation 
 
The Regulations also apply to pupil admissions and access to education 
services.  
 
The Single Equality Bill is expected to replace the separate equality duties on 
public authorities covering race, disability and gender with a single equality 
duty, which will also extend to gender reassignment, age, sexual orientation 
and religion or belief.  This will place a legal obligation on local authorities to 
promote sexual orientation.  
 

Page 307



 

 6 

How we developed the Sexual Orientation Equality Scheme  
 
To develop the Schemes a comprehensive baseline exercise was undertaken 
using a combination of research and input from staff across the Council. Key 
activities that were undertaken included: analysis of statistical information, 
analysis of local and national research; consultation with services and teams, 
and a review of existing Equalities Impact Assessments (EqIAs). 
 
Due to significant gaps in local information about LGB people two specific 
pieces of research were commissioned into the needs of LGBT people in the 
borough, and the specific needs of older LGBT people to inform this Scheme. 
This research was overseen by a subgroup of the Tower Hamlets LGBT 
Community Forum.  Additionally wider consultation was undertaken with 
residents through street surveys, an Internet survey and consultation with staff 
about their views and experiences of the Council as an LGB employer. The 
results of an anonymous Stonewall questionnaire to all staff also informed this 
Scheme. 
 
Using the results of the research, feedback from our consultation and baseline 
exercises, a number of key themes for priority and overarching activity have 
been set. 
 

Page 308



 

 7 

The Corporate Framework for Diversity and Equality  
 
Delivery framework 
Valuing diversity is one of four core values of Tower Hamlets Council. We 
promote diversity and equality in everything we do to improve the life for 
everything living, working and visiting Tower Hamlets. We build upon this by 
working with the Tower Hamlets Partnership to provide accessible and 
responsive services that enable everyone to take part in the social, cultural 
and economic wealth of the borough. Achieving this is central to delivering the 
Council’s vision, is linked to the Strategic Plan priorities and objectives and 
forms a driving force within the Community Plan and key to creating a 
cohesive community.  
 
Our aims and values 
As a service provider we will:  

• Promote equality of opportunity and eliminate discrimination in the 
planning and delivery of our services in terms of age, disability, 
ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, religion or belief, health and 
income status  

• Promote good relations between communities and address negative 
stereotyping of any groups  

• Ensure that all residents have equal opportunity to participate in the 
democratic process  

• Tackle harassment relating to a person’s age, disability, ethnicity, 
gender, sexual orientation, religion or belief, health and income status 

 
As an employer we will:  

• Develop, review and promote policies and practices that ensure 
equality of opportunity and eliminate discrimination for our workforce in 
all areas of employment (including recruitment, retention, learning and 
development, promotion, grievance, disciplinary and retirement)  

• Ensure that our workforce reflects the diverse nature of the borough 
 

We will recognise our community leadership role and use this to work towards 
a cohesive community in which inequality is tackled and equality promoted.  
 
Our commitment is supported by a number of legal duties that require us to 
promote equality and eliminate discrimination, including: 
 

•     Equal Pay Act 1970 
•     Sex Discrimination Act 1975 
•     Race Relations Act 1976 
•     Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 
•     Disability Discrimination Act 1995 
•     Disability Discrimination Act 2005 
•     Human Rights Act 1998 
•     Employment Regulations on Religion and Faith 2004 
•     Employment Regulations on Sexual Orientation 2003 
•     Civil Partnership Act 2004 

Page 309



 

 8 

• Equality Act (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2007 
• Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 Act 
• Childrens Act (2004) 

 
However under current legislation, the requirements to address inequality and 
discrimination and promote equality vary between equality ‘strand’.  For 
example, while under current legislation we are required to address 
discrimination against employees on the basis of all six equality strands, age, 
gender, ethnicity, sexual orientation, disability and religion / belief, it is only in 
relation to race, gender and disability that this duty extends to the provision of 
services and the active promotion of equality. We believe however that we 
have a strong moral and social duty to recognise that discrimination takes 
place and inequality exists for individuals and groups belonging to all of the six 
equality strands. We are therefore committed to going beyond the 
requirements laid down in law to address all six equality strands and to do 
everything that we can to challenge prejudice and discrimination and promote 
better understanding and respect between all people.  
 
To demonstrate our commitment to all six equality strands, the Council has 
gone beyond the legal requirement to produce Equality Schemes in relation to 
race, gender and disability and has published Schemes covering 
Religion/Belief, Age and Sexual Orientation equality. Each Scheme sets out 
what we know about the profile of our community in relation to the relevant 
strand and the nature of inequality experienced by people as a result of this 
element of their identity. The Schemes also contain a summary of the action 
which the Council and partners will undertake to address inequality and 
discrimination in relation to this equality strand.  
 
How we will deliver our commitment 
 
Tackling discrimination and promoting equality requires action at corporate, 
directorate, service, team and individual levels.  At a corporate level the six 
Equality Schemes and the overall Diversity and Equality Action Plan identifies 
priority areas for work on equalities across the organisation. The Diversity and 
Equality Action Plan is agreed by Cabinet annually and monitored by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee six-monthly, along with a summary of 
progress on each of the Schemes. 
 
Below we describe the processes and procedures we have put in place to 
embed the delivery of our commitment to promote equality in relation to all six 
strands within everything that we do as a Council: 
 

• Undertake equality impact assessments of both new and existing 
policies and services 

• Ensure that all our team plans incorporate relevant diversity and 
equality objectives and targets 

• Ensure all new staff participate in Council equality induction training 
processes 

• Ensure that our policies are compliant with equality legislation 
• Involve communities, staff and stakeholders in the design, review 

Page 310



 

 9 

and scrutiny of our services and employment practices 
• Increase the extent to which our workforce reflects the local 

community 
• Using our procurement powers to makes sure that organisations 

providing services on our behalf work in line with this policy 
• Monitor the equality profile of people using and benefiting from our 

services to enable us to identify groups which are not accessing 
services 

• Involve all sectors of our community in the design, review and 
scrutiny of our service delivery and employment practices 

• Provide information and access to our services in accessible ways 
 
 
 

Page 311



 

 10 

The Profile of Sexual Orientation in Tower Hamlets 
 

 
It is difficult to estimate the size and profile of the LGB community in the 
borough as sexual orientation was not a specific category in the last Census. 
A national survey indicates that LGB people make up around 10% of the 
population in London and although the Census did not ask specific questions 
around sexual orientation, it did ask about those who were living in same sex 
couples. 1 This revealed that the borough has the fifth largest reported number 
of cohabiting same sex couples nationally, and the fourth largest in London. 
The thriving commercial night life also indicates that a significant number of 
LGB people living outside the area have a connection with the borough. 
 
Tower Hamlets has a population of 239,000 residents. Over the next 10 to 15 
years the borough is expected to see the largest and fastest population 
growth in London. Our rough 10% estimate indicates that there are potentially 
23,900 LGB people living in Tower Hamlets.  
 
We also know that LGB people are represented in all sections of our 
community in terms of gender, ethnicity, age, faith and disability.   In line with 
our overall population it is likely that we have an ethnically diverse LGB 
population - just over half the population is white British, a third is Bangladeshi 
and the rest of the population is made up of a large number of much smaller 
but significant ethnic minority communities including African, Caribbean, 
Somali, Indian, and Chinese populations. Additionally, with almost 30% of the 
population being under the age of 19, there is a high likelihood that borough 
has a large proportion of young LGB people, as almost 30% of the population 
is under the age of 19.  With 78% percent of residents in the last Census 
declaring that they have a religious belief many LGB people are likely to have 
a religious belief or have been brought up in a family with religious beliefs.  
 

                                                
1 National Survey of Sexual Attitudes and Life Style (NASSL), 2000 

Key Facts 
• We have limited information regarding our LGB community 
• It is likely that 10% of our population is LGB, indicating that there are 

potentially 23,900 LGB residents in our borough 
• Our LGB community will reflect the diversity of our communities 

Page 312



 

 11 

Reasonable Adjustments  
 
This section provides guidance about factors to take into account when 
delivering a service, running an activity or event, providing funding or 
scheduling meetings to ensure that you promote equality and do not adversely 
affect any individual or group as a result of their sexual orientation. It is 
important to note that these are intended to highlight some of the most 
common barriers to promotion of sexual equality, it is not a comprehensive 
guide to providing an equitable service and it is important that we take a 
proactive approach to identifying individual needs rather than presuming what 
we know the best solution. The key principle here is to ensure that it is clear 
that efforts will be made to accommodate needs and preferences based on 
sexual orientation and encourage staff, service users or residents to discuss 
their needs where they feel there may be a barrier to their access or 
involvement in an activity.  
  
� Don’t make assumptions – You cannot immediately see someone’s sexual 

orientation in the same way that you can a person’s skin colour and 
because many LGB people are not comfortable in being ‘out’ in the 
community they may appear invisible as far as our statistics are 
concerned. Therefore it is easy to forget or assume that they are not using 
our services. In fact it is important to intelligently assume the opposite and 
ensure that services are LGB inclusive - we estimate that roughly 10% of 
London’s population is LGB this means that a significant percentage of our 
service users are likely to be LGB whether we are aware of it or not.  

 
� Ask the question – Without recording information about who is using our 

services we cannot possibly know whether we are providing services that 
are equally accessible to all. That is why, with the exception of young 
people under the age of 16, it is mandatory for all services to undertake 
equality monitoring across all six strands including sexual orientation. The 
more likely invisibility of LGB people provides an added importance to 
asking the question. We understand that some staff find it difficult to ask 
the sexual orientation monitoring question and users can sometimes be 
offended by being asked the question. Service users are more likely to feel 
comfortable about answering the question if they understand why it is 
being asked, that is why we have produced postcards that help staff to 
explain the reasons behind equality monitoring. A copy of the corporate 
equality monitoring guidelines and postcard can be found on the Council’s 
Internet. 

 
� It’s not just about sex – Being LGB is about more than defining ones 
sex life. It shapes the way people have experienced life, their identity, 
attitudes and needs in all areas of their lives. It is common for people to 
assume that being LGB is just about defining ones sex life and therefore fail to 
recognise that LGB service needs and experiences might be different to 
others. It is important understand that being LGB influences many aspects of 
a persons life and that like everyone people have multiple identities that 
services need to understand.

Page 313



 

 12 

The Story So Far  
Although this is the Council’s first sexual orientation equality scheme, the 
Council has a strong record of working with partners, the local community and 
staff to tackle sexual orientation inequality.  This is recognised in our 
continuous improvement from 28th to 17th and now 7th place in the Stonewall 
Workplace Equality index 2009.  
 
In 2003 a groundbreaking piece of research into the needs of LGBT 
communities in the borough led to the formation of the Tower Hamlets LGBT 
Community Forum. The Forum, which brings together a wide range of public 
and third sector organisations with the LGB community, represents a borough 
wide commitment this agenda.  It provides a platform for local people to 
challenge services on issues that affect their lives; homophobia, health and 
education are just some of the important issues explored in 2008.  
 
The lives and contribution of LGBT people are recognised and celebrated in 
one of the largest programme of activities for LGBT History Month in London.  
Each year the Council supports the forum to coordinate a programme of 
events ranging from history walks to film events.  The highlight of 2007 was 
the production of ‘Out in Time’ an exhibition about LGBT history of the East 
End. In 2008 the Council funded the now thriving LGBT parent support group 
Rainbow Parents.  In 2009, in light of a recent homophobic attack in the 
borough, a borough wide ‘No Place for Homophobic Hate’ campaign was 
championed on billboards and advertising stands across the borough.   
  
For a number of years an annual schools conference has been held at the 
beginning of History Month to support schools to challenge homophobia and 
promote equality. 'No Outsiders', a project that and creates more inclusive 
primary school environments by providing books and other resources to help 
kids to learn about families with two mums and two dads is being funded by 
the Council in a number of schools in the borough.  
 
The Council takes a zero tolerance approach to homophobic hate crime 
and works in partnership with local agencies including the Police LGBT 
and community organisations, taking an integrated and coordinated 
approach to tackling all forms of hate. To ensure effective support for 
victims of homophobic crime, a Victim Support Homophobic and 
Transphobic Crime Worker is commissioned to provide specialist support 
to victims of LGBT crime and same sex domestic violence.  
The borough has a shared aim to build ‘One Tower Hamlets’: a place where 
people from different backgrounds work together to tackle inequalities and 
make the borough a better place.  In a borough where faith plays an important 
role, the space for dialogue on issues of sexuality and faith has also been 
created to promote cohesion 
 
The strength of this Scheme is the strong tradition and of commitment to 
equality that underpins it.  

Page 314



 

 13 

Sexual Orientation Equality Priorities 2009-12 
 
The Tower Hamlets 2020 Community Plan vision is to ‘improve the quality of 
life for everyone who lives and works in the borough’.  The priorities of this 
Scheme have been aligned to the five Community Plan themes to ensure that 
LGB equality is at the centre our work to achieve this vision. Set out in this 
section are the key LGB equality priorities that have emerged from research 
and consultation with residents, Council staff and services together with 
analysis of national research and information. 
 
 

Page 315



 

 14 

ONE TOWER HAMLETS 
 
Celebrate Diversity & Promote Cohesion 
 
Attitudes towards LGB people have changed significantly over the past 
decade. Research tells us that most people support the equal legal treatment 
of lesbians and gay men, and want to see anti-gay discrimination addressed. 2 
We often hear that there is intolerance of gay people among faith communities 
but research tells us that the vast majority of religious people (83 per cent) 
believe that gay people should not be discriminated against and that people of 
faith are no more likely to be prejudiced than anyone else.  
 
Laws have played an important role in combating anti-gay prejudice but as we 
know from our experience of challenging racism and other forms of prejudice 
and discrimination real change comes about when difference is not simply 
tolerated but when it is valued and respected.  To achieve this it is important 
to raise the visibility of LGB communities and celebrate their contributions and 
achievements as these are often not seen or heard in the mainstream media.  
 

Objectives:  
 
• Recognise the contributions and celebrate the lives of LGB people in 

Tower Hamlets through communications, arts and events  
• Develop knowledge and understanding and promote respect for different 

ways of life. Challenge prejudice and discrimination towards LGB people 
• Ensure that LGB people are visible in our media and publications and 

portray realistic and positive images of lesbian and gay people  
• Ensure that community cohesion projects build trust, understanding and 

positive relationships between LGB people and wider community in the 
borough 

 
 
 
 
 
                                                
2 Living Together: British attitudes towards lesbian and gay people. (2007) Stonewall 

CASE STUDY: FAITH AND SEXUALITY DEBATE 
 
To mark International Day against Homophobia a lunchtime discussion and 
question time event was held on the subject of faith and sexual orientation. 
. 
The event was developed in liaison with the LGBT and Muslim staff forums. 
It was chaired by the Chair of Tower Hamlets LGBT Forum and the council 
invited a range of people from different faith and LGBT organisations to 
speak. The event was widely advertised across the council to draw in non-
LGBT staff. It was a great success with more than 100 people on 
attendance and generated a constructive and positive debate. 
 

Page 316



 

 15 

Improve the involvement and participation of LGB people in decision 
making  
 
In our borough there are a wide range structures and process for consultation 
and involvement with local residents but it is difficult to know how well LGB 
people are represented in these processes.   Most respondents in our local 
survey felt that the Council is doing a good job but were less likely to feel that 
the Council involves LGB people than the population as a whole in decision 
making.  
  
A recent equality impact assessment of our consultation and participation 
arrangements identified that LGB issues are infrequently raised at 
consultation events. LGB people may find it more difficult to raise these issues 
at events. Therefore it is important that consultation and engagement 
processes are inclusive of, and actively engage LGB people to ensure that 
their needs do inform the design and delivery of services. 
 
A large percentage of respondents also said that they were uninvolved in the 
local community but expressed an interest in volunteering, particularly within 
the LGB community.  
 

 
Objectives 
 
� Ensure that consultation and engagement processes are inclusive of, and 

actively engage, LGB people 
� Improve the monitoring of LGB people participating in consultation and 

participation activities 
� Strengthen the capacity of local councillors to engage the local LGB 

community and get them actively involved in their neighbourhoods and 
local decision making.  

� Develop LGB specific volunteering opportunities for local LGB people  
 
Support a stronger LGB community 
 
In Tower Hamlets there is a thriving gay social scene and many LGB people 
socialise in gay pubs and clubs in the borough. Apart from socialising in other 
neighbouring boroughs and Central London many (46%) say that they 
socialise on the Internet.  When asked what kinds of places they would like to 
see for socialising locally there was a mix of responses that highlighted a 
demand for different types of environments for different sections of the 

CASE STUDY: TOWER HAMLETS LGBT COMMUNITY FORUM 
The Tower Hamlets LGBT Forum was established in October 2006 and 
works to engage the LGBT community in the borough, helping it to shape 
the services that local residents receive. Members of the LGBT Forum 
include Tower Hamlets Council, the PCT, police and local community and 
voluntary organisations. The LGBT Forum enables local residents to raise 
concerns and problems that they are experiencing in the borough and to 
work with partners to resolve these issues. 

Page 317



 

 16 

community.  Responses included more venues for black gay men, gay 
community centres, non-gay pubs to be more accepting, baby friendly venues, 
women’s bar/café and more social opportunities for LGB parents and carers.  
 
We know that LGB people can be particularly at risk of experiencing 
loneliness and isolation. Within the community some groups of people such as 
LGB parents, older and younger LGB people and those from a BME 
background or those who have a faith may be particularly isolated. Older 
lesbians, gay men and bisexuals are 2.5 times as likely to live alone as 
heterosexual people. Our local study shows that many residents rely on other 
LGB people for friendship and support.  The internet is a particular source of 
support for our LGB residents. We need to develop a stronger community 
support structure which responds to the needs of specific sections of the LGB 
community that may be particularly isolated.  
 
Objectives 
 
• Continue to support Tower Hamlets LGBT Community Forum as a central 

community resource, developing it to better support different sections of 
the LGB community.  

• Develop dialogue and better partnership working between existing LGB 
groups in the borough to strengthen their capacity. 

• Ensure that the allocation of mainstream community grants are inclusive of 
LGB projects and initiatives and used to address gaps in LGB community 
support  

• Improve the level appropriate LGB information and advice and support 
available to LGB people in Tower Hamlets.  Ensure that appropriate 
information, advice and support it available for LGB people who may be 
particularly isolated such as older and young LGB people, those from a 
BME background or who have a faith, and LGB parents 

• Provide information, advice and social support using the Internet 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 318



 

 17 

A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 
LGB Equality in the workplace   
 
For many LGB people, the recent changes in employment legislation which 
make it illegal to discriminate against LGB people at work has not changed 
the culture of working environments enough to enable them to be open about 
their sexuality and be themselves at work.  
 
It is estimated that as many as one in five LGB people still feel unable to 
reveal their sexual orientation. Many people still suffer discrimination at work; 
The Gay British Crime survey conducted by Stonewall identified that one in 
ten respondents was a victim of an incident committed by a work colleague.  
27% of respondents of our local study said that they had experienced 
harassment or discrimination at work because of their sexual orientation.  Of 
these 62% had experienced homophobic jokes, 41% said that they had been 
ignored because of their sexuality, and 38% had experienced verbal abuse.  
 
In Tower Hamlets we want LGB people to feel valued and comfortable about 
being out in the workplace. As one of the borough’s largest employers the 
Council has worked with the Stonewall Workplace Equality Index to develop 
an inclusive LGB friendly environment and established good employment 
practice.  As a result the Council is proud to have moved up from 28th to 17th 
to 7th place in the Index of top gay friendly employers over the past three 
years.  More detailed information about our work to promote LGB equality as 
an employer is set out in the Employer section. 
 
The Council will continue to strengthen its own LGB equality employment 
practices and in its leadership capacity will work with other employers to 
improve sexual orientation equality in the workplace across the borough. 
 
Objectives  
 
� Continue to develop an LGB friendly organisational culture 
� Ensure that senior and political figures visibly communicate and champion 

sexual orientation equality to all staff across the organisation 
� Promote good LGB employment practice amongst local partners and 

encourage them to join the Stonewall WEI  
� In the procurement of services ensure suppliers and partner organisations 

have sexual orientation inclusive policies  
 

Page 319



 

 18 

Education for All  
 
 
Schools have a crucial role to play in tackling homophobia and promoting 
sexual orientation equality.  Homophobia in schools negatively affects all 
children, the views, opinions and behaviours of all pupils formulated today are 
likely to be carried into adulthood. The experiences of young LGB people at 
school today are likely to impact the rest of their lives. 
 
A Stonewall study into the experiences of young LGB people in Britain’s 
schools provides a picture of what school might be like for many of our LGB 
young people. It found that almost two thirds of young LGB pupils have 
experienced direct bullying.  92% of those bullied have been verbally abused, 
41% have been physically assaulted and almost all said that they were 
learning in an environment where homophobic language is commonplace. 
Bullying can also take the form of text or cyber bullying. The study found that 
the majority of young people felt that there was neither an adult at home nor 
school who they can talk to about being gay because they did not want 
anyone at home or school to know that they are gay. 
 
Lesbian, gay and bisexual pupils reported that half of teachers never respond 
to homophobic language when they witness it and three in five of all pupils 
never intervene when they hear homophobic language, but instead become 
bystanders. 
 
The impact of homophobic bullying is that young LGB people do not feel safe 
in school, over a third said that they were unhappy and reported that they do 
not like going to school as a result. LGB young people find it hard to be 
accepted at school and feel unable to be themselves. Most find that it impacts 
on their school work and half of those who have experienced homophobic 
bullying have skipped school because of it.  
 
In terms of the curriculum most LGB pupils say that they have never been 
taught about lesbian and gay people or seen lesbian and gay issues 
addressed in class. Over half do not like playing team sport. Most young 
people reported to have no access to any information at school about lesbian 
and gay issues.  
 
Outside of school only 15 per cent of young lesbian, gay and bisexual people 
have attended a gay youth group. Young people who attend such groups are 
much more likely to feel that there is an adult at home they can talk to about 
being gay and 32 per cent more likely to feel there is an adult at school they 
can talk to.   
 
Lesbian and gay pupils are more likely to feel positive about school if their 
school has explicitly stated that homophobic bullying is against the rules. In 
schools that have said homophobic bullying is wrong, gay young people are 
60 per cent more likely not to have been bullied. 
 

Page 320



 

 19 

 
 
Objectives 
 
• Develop steps to prevent and respond to homophobic bullying in schools 

including explicit homophobic bullying policies 
• Provide staff with training to help them respond to, and prevent, 

homophobic bullying and support LGB pupils 
• Provide LGB pupils with the information and support that they need. 
• Extend our current initiatives in schools to continue integrating sexual 

orientation into the curriculum in a positive and constructive way 
• Celebrate progress so that all pupils, parents, governors and staff know 

and understand the progress that is being made and so that other schools 
can learn from best practice  

• Encourage school engagement with LGB parents and encourage LGB 
parents to become school governors.  

• Provide LGB inclusive youth provision   
 

CASE STUDY: NO OUTSIDERS PROJECT AND STEP OUT 
 
Several schools are involved in the ‘No Outsiders’ project which aims to 
tackle homophobia in primary schools by exploring issues of sexual 
orientation through the use of age-appropriate resource packs which 
feature material that includes lesbian and gay people and same-sex 
parents. 
 
Children’s Services support Step Out, our youth group for LGBT young 
people. This group provides advice and support and a social space for our 
young people. 

Page 321



 

 20 

A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE 
 
Capability to enjoy a comfortable standard of living, with independence 
and security 
 
Stonewall highlight homelessness and harassment as two significant issues 
affecting the LGB community. There is a lack of specific research into the 
housing experiences of LGB people. 
However, we do know that young LGB people are at particular risk of 
experiencing homelessness and its associative problems as they may be 
thrown out from their family home or decide to leave home to escape 
homophobia. Sexuality can be a direct cause of homelessness for young LGB 
people, they can be thrown out of their home or decide to leave home to 
escape homophobia. Coming to terms with their sexuality and the withdrawal 
of love and support from family and friends can lead to emotional or mental 
health difficulties, such as low self-esteem, depression and self-harming 
behaviour.  They may also begin to use alcohol or drugs to try to cope with or 
block out issues arising from being LGB and homeless. It is important to 
recognise the vulnerability of LGB young people to homelessness.  
LGB people can be harassed and victimized in their own home by neighbours 
or people who live in their area. Recent Stonewall research found that nearly 
one in six victims experienced a homophobic hate incident perpetrated by one 
or more offenders who live in the local area. Harassment can include name-
calling, graffiti, criminal damage and over time even seemingly small incidents 
can cause extreme distress and fear, with people often too frightened to leave 
their own home. Many LGB people find it difficult to report these kind of 
incidents as homophobic hate as it forces them to be open about their 
sexuality.  Housing providers have an important role to play in supporting LGB 
people to live safely in their homes and neighbourhoods. 
 
Objectives  

• Ensure that housing providers engage with lesbian and gay residents  
• Ensure that Anti Social Behaviour procedures are clear about how to 

deal with homophobia and enable LGB residents to report homophobia 
anonymously 

• Ensure that housing allocations policies and succession policies are 
compliant with the law on sexual orientation 

• Develop understanding of homelessness amongst LGB young people 
as a vulnerable group Ensure that spatial strategies take into account 
the needs of LGB people 

 
 

Page 322



 

 21 

A SAFE & SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY  
 
“We want Tower Hamlets to be a place where LGB residents and visitors 
feel safe and confident in their homes and on the streets. Our services 
will ensure that LGB people are protected from risk of harm and are 
enabled to live a full and independent life.” 
 
Enabling LGB people to live safely without fear or prejudice has to be the 
basic foundation of our work to promote sexual orientation equality. A recent 
Stonewall study identified that one in five lesbian and gay people in Britain 
have been a victim of one or more homophobic hate crimes or incidents in the 
last three years3. Over a third did not report hate incidents to the police 
because they did not believe they could or would do anything about them. 
Black and minority ethnic (BAME) LGB people are more likely to have 
experienced physical assault and lesbians are more likely to be were insulted 
or harassed because of their sexual orientation than gay men. Nearly one in 
six victims experienced a homophobic hate incident perpetrated by one or 
more offenders who live in the local area and one in ten was a victim of an 
incident committed by a work colleague. 
 
47% of respondents in our local study said that they had been the victim of a 
homophobic incident, 79% had experienced verbal abuse, 41% threatening 
behaviour and 21% have experienced physical violence. 63% did not report 
the incident to the police, of which 37% felt that the Police could not do 
anything about it, 37% did not think it was serious enough and 14% feared a 
homophobic reaction.   
 
A zero tolerance approach towards homophobic hate crime is taken in our 
borough. The Council works in partnership with local agencies including the 
Police and community organisations through the Race and Hate Inter Agency 
Forum (RHIAF) to take a holistic approach which involves protecting and 
supporting victims, deterring perpetrators and preventing hate crime by raising 
awareness and challenging prejudice. The current ‘No Place for Hate’ 
campaign aims to increase reporting of hate crime and includes targeted work 
to support the LGB community.  
 
Case Study – Victim Support Homophobic and Transphobic Crime Worker 
 
Adam Beresford is Tower Hamlets current Homophobic and Transphobic 
Crime Worker based at Victim Support.  Adam’s role was commissioned by 
the Tower Hamlets Race and Hate Inter-Agency Forum in recognition that 
victims of homophobic crime need specialist support.  Adam works with the 
Council’s Community Safety Team and Police LGBT liaison officer to provide 
one-to-one support to victims of LGBT crime and same sex domestic violence. 
He also undertakes community development and outreach work in the 
community.  
 
 
                                                
3 Homophobic Hate Crime: The Gay British Crime Survey,  Stonewall, 2008 

Page 323



 

 22 

Objectives 
 
We will continue to challenge homophobic hate crime by:  
 

• Encouraging LGB people to report hate incidents and tailoring our work 
to engage lesbians, families of LGB people, BME and young LGB 
people 

• Encourage heterosexuals to report homophobic hate crimes and 
incidents 

• Educating and inform lesbian and gay people about homophobic hate 
incidents 

• Strengthening  recording mechanisms 
• Tackling homophobic bullying in schools  
• Providing support and information to victims of hate crime and incidents 
• Working with employers to tackle hate crime  
• Working with the wider community to raise awareness and challenge 

homophobic prejudice 
 
Supporting LGB Families  
 
We want Tower Hamlets to be a place where LGB individuals and families are 
recognised, respected and supported.  
 
Like most families, LGB families do not fit any single stereotype. They may: 
- include children; 
- these children may or may not live with their LGB parents; 
- these children may or may not be the genetic children of LGB parents; 
- may be living with their families who may or may not know about their 
sexuality; 
- LGB people may have no contact with their birth families 
- live alone, with a partner or with close friends 
 
For these reasons recognising, respecting and supporting LGB families in all 
their varieties is important.  
 
There are no national official figures detailing the number of LGBT parents, 
but some studies have estimated that approximately one in five LGBT people 
are parents, co-parents or have children.4  14% of respondents in our local 
study reported that they have children, 19% said that they plan to have 
children and 27%% said that they would be interested in fostering or adoption. 
 53% of respondents’ children live with them.   
 
Choosing to become parents is a much more difficult process for LGB people, 
not just because of the prejudice that exists around LGB parenting but also 
because of the processes of adoption, surrogacy and artificial insemination. 
Nine in ten LGB people expect to face barriers to becoming foster parents 
because they are lesbian or gay. 
 
                                                
4 Beyond Barriers, Stonewall Scotland 2002 

Page 324



 

 23 

While many gay and lesbian people struggle with the decision of whether or 
not to be open about their sexuality, gay and lesbian parents must make this 
same decision while taking into account the possible repercussions for their 
children. LGB parents and their children are often subject to prejudice 
because of their sexual orientation and can be very isolated.   18% of 
respondents who are parents said that their children have had negative 
experiences as a result of their parent’s sexuality.  Three in ten think they 
would be treated worse than heterosexuals if they wanted to enrol their child 
into a primary school or secondary school. 5 
 
The changes in society’s attitudes towards LGB people means that LGB 
people are increasingly likely to explore their sexuality at an earlier age, with 
the overwhelming majority we surveyed coming out aged 25 or younger. We 
recognise that this is the first generation of young people where it is much 
more likely for young LGB people to feel comfortable about coming out as and 
who are the first to navigate what it is like to be young and gay. 39% said that 
they came out between 16-19 years of age and 21% said that they came out 
between 12 -16 years of age. For young people, discovering and coming to 
terms with their sexuality is often a difficult and emotional time in their lives 
and they need extra support and acceptance to counteract feelings of 
alienation, exclusion, isolation and sometimes condemnation. If rejected by 
their families LGB young people are vulnerable to homelessness or being 
taken into care. Positive parental and family support of their sexuality is critical 
for young people. Families of LGB people can also be isolated and find it 
difficult to understand their child’s or relative’s sexuality, as such supporting 
family members to understand and support LGB people is important.   

Objectives 
 

• Ensure that fostering and adoption services are promoted to the LGB 
community and appropriate support is provided to LGB parents wishing 
to foster or adopt 

• Support LGB Parents and make available appropriate information, 
advice and support for LGB people thinking about becoming parents 

• Support LGB young people discovering or coming to terms with their 
sexuality 

• Support parents and families of LGB people  

                                                
5 Serves You Right 

CASE STUDY: RAINBOW PARENTS 
Rainbow Parents is a support and social group for lesbian and gay parents. 
Rainbow Parents was launched in 2008 as part of that year’s LGBT History 
Month. The group has since gone from strength to strength and during 2009 LGBT 
History Month it co-ordinated a range of LGBT parenting workshops. The group 
also holds a weekly LGBT parents play session at the Eve Armsby Childrens 
Centre. 

Page 325



 

 24 

A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 
Equal access to health and social care 
 
LGB people have the same health and social care needs as heterosexual 
people but their access to services can be different. Local LGB people would 
like to see their needs more effectively considered in the design and delivery 
of health and social care services.  
 
Many LGB people say that they do not feel comfortable disclosing their sexual 
orientation to doctors and health professionals for fear of receiving poorer 
treatment, prejudice and discrimination.6 19% of respondents from the local 
needs survey felt unable to tell GPs/ health services about their sexual identity 
and 10% said that they had faced homophobia in trying to access GPs or 
health centres.  
 
Studies show that LGB people are more likely to suffer from poor mental 
health, psychological distress and are more likely to experience substance 
use disorders despite less than 50% visiting a GP or counsellor in relation to 
their health problems. 46% of respondents in the Tower Hamlets survey said 
that they had experienced depression, 7% had self harmed and 20% had 
experienced suicidal thoughts.   Gay and bisexual men remain the group at 
the greatest risk of getting infected with HIV in the UK. They are also at higher 
risk from sexually transmitted diseases.  
 
Unlike heterosexual adults many LGB adults and in particular older people do 
not necessarily expect to be cared for by members of their family or kin and 
may have greater need for social care.  This is because LGB people are twice 
as likely to be single, 2.5 times more likely to live alone and 4.5 times as likely 
to have no children. Despite the greater demand many LGB older people are 
reluctant to access social care in fear of negative responses from institutions.  
These include fear of homophobic attitudes and behaviour of staff, a lack of 
awareness about the specific needs of LGB adults, hostility from other service 
users, being unable to maintain friendships with other gay adults or to 
maintain a relationship with a partner and general feelings of social isolation 
and not fitting in.  Key to achieving appropriate services for LGB people is 
good practice that personalises support for them. 
 
Objectives  
 

• Improve understanding of LGB specific health and social care needs, 
including those of older LGB people in Tower Hamlets and ensure they 
better inform the design and delivery of health and social services.  
This work should include attention in the following areas: 
� The needs of older LGB people  
� Mental health  
� HIV 
� Access and inclusiveness of primary care services 

                                                
6 Serves You Right - Stonewall 

Page 326



 

 25 

• Recognise the barriers that older LGB people face in accessing social 
care services and provide sensitive and appropriate care to LGB adults 
and older people. 

• Provide LGB awareness training to care staff. 
• Ensure that current personalisation agenda is responsive to the needs 

of LGB people 
 
 
 

Page 327



 

 26 

 
 Promoting LGB equality as an employer  
 
The Council is committed to promoting LGB equality as an employer and is 
proud to rank 7th place in the Stonewall Workplace Equality Index of top 100 
gay friendly employers. We have strengthened our capacity to deliver on this 
commitment by bringing together the PCT and Council HR functions and have 
established a joint Workforce to Reflect the Community Strategy. 
 
Recruitment and Selection 
 
The council aims to positively promote the council as an employer and attract 
and select the best people for jobs so as to build a quality workforce which 
reflects the community. All Council recruitment adverts carry the Stonewall 
logo and additional advertising is included in the gay press so communicate to 
all potential applicants that the Council is a gay friendly and encourage LGB 
people to apply.  In order to ensure that all forms of discrimination are 
eradicated, monitoring on the basis of sexual orientation and analysis is 
undertaken in respect of recruitment activity as well as levels of retention 
across age ranges.   
 
Progression and Career Development  
 
There council is committed to investing in and developing all employees and 
reviews the progression of employees within the organisation through the 
grade ranges monitor equality of opportunity.  The Council provides a 
comprehensive range of leadership and management development 
programmes open to all staff leading to awards from the Institute of 
Leadership and Management. These programmes are aim to support 
managers and aspiring managers to gain qualifications whilst developing their 
potential to work in leadership and management posts.  
 
Training and Development  
 
The ability to build on or acquire new skills within an employee’s job is a key 
feature of the Council’s learning and development programme and the 
Corporate Induction.  A wide range of learning opportunities are provided and 
employees are supported in learning through their work as the Council 
believes that investment in employees shows through in the quality of work 
and  a high level of staff engagement. Consequently, the uptake of learning 
and development events is recorded by sexual orientation to ensure that 
every employee has access to continuous professional development.   
 
The Council’s corporate learning and development programme includes a 
wide range of diversity and equality training, all of which cover all six equality 
strands including sexual orientation equality.  The programme also includes 
specific training sexuality awareness designed to: increase awareness of 
issues facing staff and customers who are LGB; improve understanding of 
how to provide services that are responsive to the needs of LGB customers; 
and combat discrimination and harassment on the grounds of sexuality. 

Page 328



 

 27 

 
Working conditions and Working Environment  
 
The Council has policies and procedures in place to promote equality of 
opportunity and to address circumstances where an employee believes that 
they have been disadvantaged.   All employee benefits offered by the Council 
such as pensions and paternity leave are accessible to all staff regardless of 
sexual orientation. Our Combating Harassment and Discrimination Procedure 
explicitly recognises anti-gay bulling and harassment and communicates zero-
tolerance to this behaviour.  
 
In order to ensure that managers and employees are aware of their 
responsibilities in working with diversity and progressing equalities in the 
workplace incorporating regulations relating to Sexual Orientation; regular 
learning opportunities are offered to employees.  The Council’s 2007 staff 
survey showed that 65% of LGB staff felt that Tower Hamlets had improved 
the way it provides equality of opportunity to the different equality groups. 
 
Additionally, there is an LGBT Staff Forum which meets on a quarterly basis 
and is supported by Corporate Human Resources and the Diversity and 
Equalities Team.  The purpose of the LGBT Staff Forum is to give LGBT 
employees a means of raising collective issues in relation to their employment 
and provide a means for the Council to consult on employment policies and 
practices to help ensure that the Council has the mechanisms in place to 
recruit and retain LGBT staff. 
 
 
Objectives  
• Continue to train staff and managers to keep them up-to-date with 

employment legislation and terms and conditions as they apply to lesbian 
and gay staff and to improve their confidence to promote sexual orientation 
equality in the workplace and in the delivery of services.  

� Continue to impact assess all new and existing policies to ensure they are 
inclusive and when reviewing policies, ensure the language used explicitly 
communicates equality, diversity and are inclusive of lesbian and gay staff. 

� Continue to monitor, analyse and report on sexual orientation in staff 
attitude surveys and at all stages of the employment cycle from 
recruitment through to exit.  

� Review bullying and harassment policies and promote them to all staff, 
ensuring they communicate a zero tolerance to homophobic bullying. 

� Continue to support the Council’s LGBT Staff Forum to provide LGB staff 
with a safe place to raise staff issues.  

� Organise and promote LGB awareness raising events and activities for 
non-LGB staff to challenge prejudice and homophobia. 

� Recognise and celebrate the contributions of LGB people through events 
during LGBT History Month and throughout the year.  

� Ensure that the Council’s counselling service provides LGB sensitive 
counselling offering LGB counsellors or LGB trained counsellors.  

Page 329



  
28

 

  
De

liv
eri

ng
 th

e S
ex

ua
l O

rie
nta

tio
n E

qu
ali

ty 
Sc

he
me

 ob
jec

tiv
es

, 2
00

9-1
2 

 Dr
aw
ing
 o
n 
the
 fin

din
gs
 o
utl
ine
d 
ab
ov
e, 
we
 h
av
e 
ide
nti
fie
d 
a 
nu
mb
er 
of 
ke
y a

rea
s i
n 
wh
ich
 th
e 
Co
un
cil 
alo
ng
 w
ith
 its
 p
art
ne
rs 

ne
ed
s t
o t
ak
e a

cti
on
 to
 en

su
re 
tha
t w
e p

rom
ote
 eq

ua
lity
 fo
r e
ve
ryo
ne
 liv
ing
, w
ork
ing
 or
 vi
sit
ing
 T
ow
er 
Ha
ml
ets
 re
ga
rdl
es
s o
f th

eir
 

se
xu
al 
ori
en
tat
ion
.  T

his
 ac
tio
n p
lan
 ou
tlin
es
 w
ha
t w
e w

ill u
nd
ert
ak
e o
ve
r th

e n
ex
t th
ree
 ye
ars
. 

 ON
E 

TO
W

ER
 H

AM
LE

TS
 A

CT
IO

NS
 

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Ob
jec

tiv
es
 

Ac
tio

ns
 

By
 w
ho

m 
By

 
wh

en
    

    
 

Re
co
gn
ise
 th
e c
on
trib
uti
on
s a
nd
 ce
leb
rat
e t
he
 

live
s o
f L
GB

 pe
op
le 
in 
To
we
r H
am
let
s t
hro
ug
h 

co
mm

un
ica
tio
ns
, a
rts
 an
d e
ve
nts
  

De
ve
lop
 kn
ow
led
ge
 an
d u
nd
ers
tan
din
g a
nd
 

pro
mo
te 
res
pe
ct 
for
 di
ffe
ren

t w
ay
s o
f li
fe.
  

Co
nti
nu
e t
o u
se
 Ea

st 
En
d L
ife
 

to 
rec
og
nis
e t
he
 co
ntr
ibu
tio
ns
 

of 
LG
B p

eo
ple
 in
 To

we
r 

Ha
ml
ets
 an
d p
rom

ote
 

un
de
rst
an
din
g a
nd
 re
sp
ec
t fo
r 

LG
B p

eo
ple
. 

 Co
nti
nu
e t
o d
eli
ve
r a
 

pro
gra

mm
e o
f a
rts
 an
d e
ve
nts
 

tha
t is
 in
clu
siv
e o
f L
GB
 pe
op
le 

inc
lud
ing
 sp
ec
ific
 an
nu
al 

ev
en
ts 
for
 LG

BT
 H
ist
ory
 M
on
th 
 

 

He
ad
 of
 

Co
mm

un
ica
tio
ns
 

     Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s  

On
go
ing
 

Ch
all
en
ge
 pr
eju
dic
e a
nd
 di
sc
rim
ina
tio
n t
ow
ard

s 
LG
B p

eo
ple
. 

Se
e  
ac
tio
ns
 un
de
r S
afe
 an
d 

Su
pp
ort
ive
  

 
 

Ce
leb

rat
e 

Di
ve
rsi

ty 
& 

Pr
om

ote
 

Co
he

sio
n 

 

En
su
re 
tha
t L
GB

 pe
op
le 
are

 vi
sib
le 
in 
ou
r m

ed
ia 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o e
ns
ure

 th
at 
im
ag
e 

Sta
ke
ho
lde
rs 

Ma
rch
 

Page 330



  
29

 

 
an
d p
ub
lica

tio
ns
 an
d p
ort
ray
 re
ali
sti
c a
nd
 

po
sit
ive
 im
ag
es
 of
 le
sb
ian
 an
d g
ay
 pe
op
le.
   

ba
nk
s a
re 
inc
lus
ive
 of
 LG

B 
pe
op
le 
an
d o
ur 
pu
bli
ca
tio
ns
 

an
d a
dv
ert
isin

g p
ort
ray
 re
ali
sti
c 

an
d p
os
itiv
e i
ma
ge
s o
f L
GB

 
pe
op
le.
 

 Us
e E

as
t E
nd
 to
 pr
om
ote
 

po
sit
ive
 im
ag
es
 of
 LG

B p
eo
ple
 

in 
the
 bo
rou
gh
 

En
ga
ge
me
nt 
& 

Pa
rtic
ipa
tio
n 

Ma
na
ge
r 

   He
ad
 of
 

Co
mm

un
ica
tio
ns
  20

10
 

 
En
su
re 
tha
t c
om
mu
nit
y c
oh
es
ion
 pr
oje
cts
 bu
ild
 

tru
st,
 un
de
rst
an
din
g a
nd
 po
sit
ive
 re
lat
ion
sh
ips
 

be
tw
ee
n L
GB

 pe
op
le 
an
d w

ide
r c
om
mu
nit
y i
n 

the
 bo
rou

gh
.  

Re
vie
w 
co
mm

un
ity
 co
he
sio
n 

pri
nc
ipl
es
 to
 em

be
d O

ne
 To

we
r 

Ha
ml
ets
 in
 se
rvi
ce
 de
live

ry 
an
d 

de
ve
lop
me
nt:
 Le
arn

ing
 fro

m 
ex
ist
ing
 co
mm

un
ity
 co
he
sio
n 

ini
tia
tiv
es
 as
se
ss
ed
 to
 de
ve
lop
 

pro
po
sa
ls 
for
 en
su
rin
g t
ha
t 

co
he
sio
n i
s e
vid
en
ce
d a
nd
 

em
be
dd
ed
 in
to 
se
rvi
ce
 

pla
nn
ing
 an
d d
eli
ve
ry 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d: 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s  
Se
pt 

20
09
 

En
su
re 
tha
t c
on
su
lta
tio
n a
nd
 en
ga
ge
me
nt 

pro
ce
ss
es
 ar
e i
nc
lus
ive
 of
, a
nd
 ac
tiv
ely
 en
ga
ge
 

LG
B p

eo
ple
. 

De
ve
lop
 th
e r
ole
 of
 th
e L
GB

T 
Co
mm

un
ity
 Fo

rum
 as
 a 
ke
y 

ne
tw
ork
 th
at 
lin
ks
 up
 LG

B 
org

an
isa
tio
ns
 an
d i
s c
on
ne
cte
d 

to 
the
 To

we
r H
am
let
s 

Pa
rtn
ers
hip
.   

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Se
pt 

20
09
 

Im
pr
ov

e t
he

 
inv

olv
em

en
t 

an
d 

pa
rti
cip

ati
on

 of
 

LG
B 
pe

op
le 

in 
de

cis
ion

 m
ak
ing

  
 

Im
pro

ve
 th
e m

on
ito
rin
g o
f L
GB

 pe
op
le 

pa
rtic
ipa
tin
g i
n c
on
su
lta
tio
n a
nd
 pa
rtic
ipa
tio
n 

ac
tiv
itie
s 

Im
pro

ve
 m
on
ito
rin
g o
f s
ex
ua
l 

ori
en
tat
ion
 in
 TH

P a
cti
vit
ies
  

He
ad
 

Pa
rtic
ipa
tio
n &

 
En
ga
ge
me
nt 

Te
am
 

Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

Page 331



  
30

 

Str
en
gth
en
 th
e c
ap
ac
ity
 of
 lo
ca
l c
ou
nc
illo
rs 
to 

en
ga
ge
 th
e l
oc
al 
LG
B c

om
mu
nit
y a
nd
 ge
t th
em
 

ac
tiv
ely
 in
vo
lve
d i
n t
he
ir n
eig
hb
ou
rho
od
s a
nd
 

loc
al 
de
cis
ion
 m
ak
ing
.  

Es
tab
lish

 an
 LG

B M
em
be
r 

Ch
am
pio
n. 
 

 W
ork
 w
ith
 th
e L
GB

T 
Co
mm

un
ity
 Fo

rum
 to
 es
tab
lish

 
be
tte
r c
om
mu
nic
ati
on
 be
tw
ee
n 

LG
B r
es
ide
nts
 an
d c
ou
nc
illo
rs 

 De
live

r L
GB

 aw
are

ne
ss
 

tra
ini
ng
  fo
r c
ou
nc
illo
rs 
 

 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

 

De
ve
lop
 vo
lun
tee
rin
g o
pp
ort
un
itie
s f
or 
loc
al 
LG
B 

pe
op
le 
 

W
ork
 w
ith
 th
e L
GB

T 
Co
mm

un
ity
 Fo

rum
 an
d T

ow
er 

Ha
ml
ets
 Pa

rtn
ers
hip
 to
 

de
ve
lop
 a 
vo
lun
tee
rin
g 

op
po
rtu
nit
ies
 fo
r L
GB

T 
res
ide
nts
  

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o s
up
po
rt T

ow
er 
Ha
ml
ets
 LG

BT
 

Co
mm

un
ity
 Fo

rum
 as
 a 
ce
ntr
al 
co
mm

un
ity
 

res
ou
rce
, d
ev
elo
pin
g i
t to
 be
tte
r s
up
po
rt 

dif
fer
en
t s
ec
tio
ns
 of
 th
e L
GB

 co
mm

un
ity
.  

Re
cru
it L
GB

T C
om
mu
nit
y 

Fo
rum

 En
ga
ge
me
nt 
Wo

rke
r to

 
de
ve
lop
 an
d c
oo
rdi
na
te 
the
 

Fo
rum

  

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

De
ve
lop
 di
alo
gu
e a
nd
 be
tte
r p
art
ne
rsh
ip 

wo
rki
ng
 be
tw
ee
n e
xis
tin
g L
GB

 gr
ou
ps
 in
 th
e 

bo
rou

gh
 to
 st
ren
gth
en
 th
eir
 ca
pa
cit
y. 

Es
tab
lish

 a 
co
mp
reh
en
siv
e 

da
tab
as
e o
f L
GB

 or
ga
nis
ati
on
s 

in 
the
 bo
rou
gh
 an
d i
nv
olv
e 

the
m 
in 
the
 w
ork
 of
 th
e L
GB

T 
Co
mm

un
ity
 Fo

rum
   

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

Su
pp

or
t a

 
str

on
ge

r L
GB

 
co

mm
un

ity
 

 

En
su
re 
tha
t th
e a
llo
ca
tio
n o
f m
ain
str
ea
m 

co
mm

un
ity
 gr
an
ts 
are

 in
clu
siv
e o
f L
GB

 pr
oje
cts
 

an
d i
nit
iat
ive
s a
nd
 us
ed
 to
 ad
dre

ss
 ga
ps
 in
 LG

B 
Mo
nit
or 
an
d r
ep
ort
 on
 th
e 

all
oc
ati
on
 of
 m
ain
str
ea
m 
gra

nts
 

to 
LG
B p

roj
ec
ts 
to 
CE
SG

 
Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

Page 332



  
31

 

co
mm

un
ity
 su
pp
ort
  

an
nu
all
y  

 
Im
pro

ve
 th
e l
ev
el 
ap
pro
pri
ate
 LG

B i
nfo
rm
ati
on
 

an
d a
dv
ice
 an
d s
up
po
rt a

va
ila
ble
 to
 LG

B p
eo
ple
 

in 
To
we
r H
am
let
s. 
 En

su
re 
tha
t a
pp
rop
ria
te 

inf
orm

ati
on
, a
dv
ice
 an
d s
up
po
rt i
t a
va
ila
ble
 fo
r 

LG
B p

eo
ple
 w
ho
 m
ay
 be
 pa
rtic
ula
rly
 is
ola
ted
 

su
ch
 as
 ol
de
r a
nd
 yo
un
ge
r L
GB

 pe
op
le,
 th
os
e 

fro
m 
a B

ME
 ba
ck
gro

un
d o
r w
ho
 ha
ve
 a 
fai
th,
 

an
d L
GB

 pa
ren
ts.
  

Pr
ov
ide
 in
for
ma
tio
n, 
ad
vic
e a
nd
 so
cia
l s
up
po
rt 

us
ing
 th
e I
nte
rne

t. 

De
ve
lop
 th
e T

ow
er 
Ha
ml
ets
 

LG
BT
 C
om
mu
nit
y F
oru
m 

W
eb
sit
e a
s a
 co
mp
reh
en
siv
e 

hu
b o
f in
for
ma
tio
n f
or 
LG
B 

co
mm

un
itie
s. 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

 A 
PR

OS
PE

RO
US

 C
OM

MU
NI

TY
 A

CT
IO

NS
 

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Ob
jec

tiv
es
 

Ac
tio

ns
 

By
 w
ho

m 
By

 
wh

en
    

    
 

LG
B 
Eq

ua
lity

 in
 

the
 w
or
kp

lac
e  

 
 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o d
ev
elo
p  
an
 LG

B f
rie
nd
ly 

org
an
isa
tio
na
l c
ult
ure

 
Cr
ea
te 
the
 op
po
rtu
nit
y f
or 
dia
log
ue
 

aro
un
d i
ss
ue
s o
f s
ex
ua
l o
rie
nta
tio
n 

wit
h a
ll s
taf
f in
 th
e o
rga

nis
ati
on
  - 

de
live

r a
 m
ini
mu
m 
of 
tw
o c
ou
nc
il 

wid
e e
ve
nts
 

 Tra
in 
ma
na
ge
rs 
to 
im
pro
ve
 th
eir
 

co
nfi
de
nc
e i
n p
rom

oti
ng
 LG

B 
eq
ua
lity
 in
 th
e w

ork
pla
ce
. 

 Fu
rth
er 
en
ha
nc
e t
he
 C
ou
nc
ils 
wo
rk 

in 
rel
ati
on
 to
 th
e S

ton
ew
all
 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

Page 333



  
32

 

Div
ers
ity
 C
ha
mp
ion
s P

rog
ram

me
  

En
su
re 
tha
t s
en
ior
 an
d p
oli
tic
al 
fig
ure

s v
isib

ly 
co
mm

un
ica
te 
an
d c
ha
mp
ion
 se
xu
al 

ori
en
tat
ion
 eq
ua
lity
 to
 al
l s
taf
f a
cro
ss
 th
e 

org
an
isa
tio
n 

Es
tab
lish

 M
em
be
r c
ha
mp
ion
 fo
r 

LG
B e

qu
ali
ty 
 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

Pr
om
ote
 go
od
 LG

B e
mp
loy
me
nt 
pra

cti
ce
 

am
on
gs
t lo
ca
l p
art
ne
rs 
an
d e
nc
ou
rag

e t
he
m 

to 
joi
n t
he
 St
on
ew
all
 W
EI 
 

De
live

r a
 LG

BT
 Eq

ua
lity
 

W
ork
pla
ce
 C
on
fer
en
ce
 fo
r lo
ca
l 

org
an
isa
tio
ns
  

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

In 
the
 pr
oc
ure
me
nt 
of 
se
rvi
ce
s e
ns
ure

 
su
pp
lie
rs 
an
d p
art
ne
r o
rga

nis
ati
on
s h
av
e 

se
xu
al 
ori
en
tat
ion
 in
clu
siv
e p
oli
cie
s  

Re
vie

w 
pro

cu
rem

en
t fr

am
ew

ork
 to

 
en

su
re 

tha
t o

ur 
su

pp
lie

rs 
are

 re
qu

ire
d 

to 
de

mo
ns

tra
te 

tha
t th

ey
 do

 no
t 

dis
cri

mi
na

te 
on

 th
e b

as
is 

of 
se

xu
al 

ori
en

tat
ion
 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Pr
oc
ure
me
nt 

Te
am
 

Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

Ed
uc

ati
on

 fo
r 

Al
l 

  

De
ve
lop
 st
ep
s t
o p
rev
en
t a
nd
 re
sp
on
d t
o 

ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
bu
llyi
ng
 in
 sc
ho
ols
 in
clu
din
g 

ex
pli
cit
 ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
bu
llyi
ng
 po
lici
es
 

 

Aw
are

ne
ss
 ra
isin

g o
f th
e r
an
ge
 of
 

su
pp
ort
 av
ail
ab
le 
to 
pa
ren

ts 
an
d 

ca
rer
s v
ia 
rev
ise
d i
nfo
rm
ati
on
 

lea
fle
t o
n h
ow
 to
 ta
ck
le 
bu
llyi
ng
 

an
d d
isc
rim
ina
tio
n. 

10
0%

 ac
tio
n a
nd
 m
on
ito
rin
g o
f a
ll 

rep
ort
ed
 ca
se
s o
f h
om
op
ho
bic
 

bu
llyi
ng
. 

10
% 
inc
rea
se
 in
 re
po
rtin
g o
f 

dis
cri
mi
na
tor
y i
nc
ide
nts
 in
 Sc

ho
ols
 

inc
lud
ing
 ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
bu
llyi
ng
. 

30
 Sc

ho
ols
 to
 pa
rtic
ipa
te 
in 
on
e 

da
y w

ork
sh
op
s o
n b
ull
yin
g a
nd
 

dis
cri
mi
na
tio
n a
nd
 im
pa
ct 
of 
pu
pil
s 

Be
ha
vio
ur 

Im
pro

ve
me
nt 

Pr
og
ram

me
 

Ma
na
ge
r/ 
He
ad
 

of 
Eq
ua
litie

s &
 

Pa
ren

tal
 

En
ga
ge
me
nt/
 

Sta
ke
ho
lde
r 

En
ga
ge
me
nt 
& 

Pa
rtic
ipa
tio
n 

Ma
na
ge
r/D
ev
elo

pm
en
t M
an
ag
er 

for
 Sc

ho
ols
 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ini
tia
tiv
e 

  

Ma
rch
 

20
11
 

Page 334



  
33

 

be
ha
vio
ur 
on
 ot
he
rs.

 

Inc
rea

se
d a
wa
ren

es
s o
f re

po
rtin
g 

ho
mo
ph
ob
ia 
via
 ne
w 
we
bs
ite
 

lau
nc
he
d i
n A

pri
l 2
00
9. 
 

Pr
ov
ide
 su
pp
ort
 to
 sc
ho
ol 

co
ord

ina
tor
s t
o u
se
 th
e n
ew
 

inc
ide
nts
 re
po
rtin
g f
orm

 as
 it 

inc
lud
es
 ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
bu
llyi
ng

 

De
ve
lop
 a 
ne
w 
inf
orm

ati
on
 le
afl
et 

for
 yo
un
g p
eo
ple
 to
 in
for
m 
the
m 
of 

ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
bu
llyi
ng
 po
lici
es
 an
d 

the
 av
ail
ab
ility
 of
 th
e b
ull
yin
g h
elp
 

lin
e. 

   Be
ha
vio
ur 

Im
pro

ve
me
nt 

Pr
og
ram

me
 

Ma
na
ge
r 

 

Pr
ov
ide
 st
aff
 w
ith
 tra

ini
ng
 to
 he
lp 
the
m 

res
po
nd
 to
, a
nd
 pr
ev
en
t, h
om
op
ho
bic
 

bu
llyi
ng
 an
d s
up
po
rt L

GB
 pu
pil
s. 

Ev
alu
ati
on
 an
d p
os
sib
le 
rol
l o
ut 
to 

fur
the
r 8
 Sc

ho
ols
 of
 pi
lot
 N
o 

Ou
tsi
de
rs 
Pr
oje
ct 
wit
h a
im
 of
 st
aff
 

fee
lin
g c
on
fid
en
t in
 de
ali
ng
 w
ith
 

ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
bu
llyi
ng
.  

He
ad
 of
 

Eq
ua
litie

s &
 

Pa
ren

tal
 

En
ga
ge
me
nt 

Su
e M

cC
au
ley
 

 

Pr
ov
ide
 LG

B p
up
ils 
wit
h t
he
 in
for
ma
tio
n a
nd
 

su
pp
ort
 th
at 
the
y n
ee
d. 

Mo
nit
or 
us
e o
f h
elp
lin
e a
nd
 LG

B 
ca
lls.
 

 En
su
re 
AM

P w
eb
sit
e p
rov
ide
s 

inf
orm

ati
on
 ab
ou
t L
GB

 se
rvi
ce
s f
or 

yo
un
g p
eo
ple
 

En
su
re 
ne
w 
Fa
mi
ly 
Inf
orm

ati
on
 

Be
ha
vio
ur 

Im
pro

ve
me
nt 

Pr
og
ram

me
 

Ma
na
ge
r 

 He
ad
 of
 Yo

uth
 & 

Co
mm

un
ity
 

Se
rvi
ce
 

 

Page 335



  
34

 

Se
rvi
ce
s i
nc
lud
es
 LG

B i
nfo
rm
ati
on
 
 Sta

ke
ho
lde
rs 

En
ag
ag
em
en
t &
 

Pa
rtic
ipa
tio
n M

gr 
Ex
ten
d o
ur 
cu
rre
nt 
ini
tia
tiv
es
 in
 sc
ho
ols
 to
 

co
nti
nu
e i
nte
gra

tin
g s
ex
ua
l o
rie
nta
tio
n i
nto
 

the
 cu
rric
ulu
m 
in 
a p
os
itiv
e a
nd
 co
ns
tru
cti
ve
 

wa
y 

 

Ev
alu
ati
on
 an
d p
os
sib
le 
rol
l o
ut 
to 

fur
the
r 8
 Sc

ho
ols
 of
 pi
lot
 N
o 

Ou
tsi
de
rs 
Pr
oje
ct 
wit
h a
im
 of
 st
aff
 

fee
lin
g c
on
fid
en
t in
 de
ali
ng
 w
ith
 

ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
bu
llyi
ng
.  

He
ad
 of
 

Eq
ua
litie

s &
 

Pa
ren

tal
 

En
ga
ge
me
nt 

 

Ce
leb
rat
e p
rog

res
s s
o t
ha
t a
ll p
up
ils,
 

pa
ren

ts,
 go
ve
rno

rs 
an
d s
taf
f k
no
w 
an
d 

un
de
rst
an
d t
he
 pr
og
res
s t
ha
t is
 be
ing
 m
ad
e 

an
d s
o t
ha
t o
the
r s
ch
oo
ls 
ca
n l
ea
rn 
fro
m 
be
st 

pra
cti
ce
.  

An
nu
al 
an
ti-b
ull
yin
g c
on
fer
en
ce
 

an
d L
GB

T H
ist
ory
 m
on
th 
ce
leb
rat
e 

su
cc
es
se
s 

Be
ha
vio
ur 

Im
pro

ve
me
nt 

Pr
og
ram

me
 

Ma
na
ge
r 

 He
ad
 of
 

Eq
ua
litie

s &
 

Pa
ren

tal
 

En
ga
ge
me
nt 

 

Pr
ov
ide
 su
pp
ort
 to
 le
sb
ian
 an
d g
ay
 sc
ho
ol 

sta
ff  

 
Dis
cu
ss
 th
e c
rea
tio
n o
f a
 LG

B s
taf
f 

gro
up
 pr
oje
ct 
to 
rai
se
 aw

are
ne
ss
 

for
 sc
ho
ols
 an
d u
nio
n r
ep
s. 

Ja
cin
ta 
Ga
ss
on
  

 

En
co
ura
ge
 sc
ho
ol 
en
ga
ge
me
nt 
wit
h L
GB

 
pa
ren

ts 
an
d e
nc
ou
rag

e L
GB

 pa
ren
ts 
to 

be
co
me
 sc
ho
ol 
go
ve
rno

rs.
  

Pu
bli
cis
e t
he
 Pa

ren
t a
nd
 

Co
mm

un
ity
 go
ve
rno

r p
art
ne
rsh
ip 

tra
ini
ng
 fo
r L
GB

 pa
ren

ts 
int
ere

ste
d 

in 
be
co
mi
ng
 go
ve
rno

rs.
 

Lis
a Z

yc
ho
wic
z 

 

 

Pr
ov
ide
 LG

B i
nc
lus
ive
 yo
uth
 pr
ov
isio

n  
 

Fu
rth
er 
de
ve
lop
 lin
ks
 w
ith
 St
ep
 

Fo
rw
ard

 LG
BT
 Yo

uth
 G
rou

p  
 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

 

Page 336



  
35

 

A 
GR

EA
T 

PL
AC

E 
TO

 L
IV

E 
AC

TI
ON

S 
 Pr
ior

ity
 

Ob
jec

tiv
es
 

Ac
tio

ns
 

By
 w
ho

m 
By

 
wh

en
    

    
En
su
re 
tha
t h
ou
sin
g p
rov
ide
rs 
en
ga
ge
 w
ith
 

les
bia
n a
nd
 ga
y r
es
ide
nts
.  

En
su
re 
tha
t A
nti
 So

cia
l B
eh
av
iou
r p
roc
ed
ure

s a
re 

cle
ar 
ab
ou
t h
ow
 to
 de
al 
wit
h h
om
op
ho
bia
 an
d 

en
ab
le 
LG
B r
es
ide
nts
 to
 re
po
rt h

om
op
ho
bia
 

an
on
ym
ou
sly
. 

Pr
og
res
s t
hro

ug
h t
he
 TH

 
Ho
us
ing
 Fo

rum
 to
 pr
om
ote
 

cla
rity
 w
ith
in 
all
 pr
ov
ide
rs 

po
lici
es
 w
ith
 re
ga
rd 
to 

Ho
mo
ph
ob
ia 

D&
R 
Ho
us
ing
 

Str
ate
gy
 

Se
pt 

20
10
 

En
su
re 
tha
t h
ou
sin
g a
llo
ca
tio
ns
 po
lici
es
 an
d 

su
cc
es
sio
n p
oli
cie
s a
re 
co
mp
lia
nt 
wit
h t
he
 la
w 
on
 

se
xu
al 
ori
en
tat
ion
 

Inc
lud
e a
s p
art
 of
 Le
ttin
gs
 

Re
vie
w 
to 
be
 co
mp
let
ed
 

20
09
/10
 

 

Str
ate
gic
 

Ho
us
ing
 

Ma
na
ge
r 

Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

To
 en

joy
 a 

co
mf

or
tab

le 
sta

nd
ard

 of
 

liv
ing

, w
ith

 
ind

ep
en

de
nc

e 
an

d s
ec
ur
ity

  
 

De
ve
lop
 un
de
rst
an
din
g o
f h
om
ele
ss
ne
ss
 am

on
gs
t 

LG
B y

ou
ng
 pe
op
le 
as
 a 
vu
lne
rab

le 
gro

up
 

W
ork
 w
ith
 ho
me
les
sn
es
s 

se
rvi
ce
s a
nd
 ho
us
ing
 pr
ov
ide
rs 

to 
ex
plo
re 
ex
pe
rie
nc
es
 of
 

ho
me
les
sn
es
s a
mo
ng
st 
yo
un
g 

LG
B p

eo
ple
 in
 To

we
r H
am
let
s  

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

 
En
su
re 
tha
t s
pa
tia
l s
tra
teg
ies
 ta
ke
 in
to 
ac
co
un
t 

the
 ne
ed
s o
f L
GB

 pe
op
le 

Co
mp
let
e T

ow
n C

en
tre
 Sp

ati
al 

Str
ate
gy
 an
d N

igh
t T
im
e 

Ec
on
om
y S

tra
teg
y a
nd
 en
su
re 

the
 ne
ed
s o
f th
e L
GB

T 
co
mm

un
itie
s a
re 
co
ns
ide
red

 

Str
ate
gic
 

Pla
nn
ing
 

Se
pt 
09
 

 

Page 337



  
36

 

A 
SA

FE
 A

ND
 S

UP
PO

RT
IV

E 
CO

MM
UN

IT
Y 

AC
TI

ON
S 

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Ob
jec

tiv
es
 

Ac
tio

ns
 

By
 w
ho

m 
By

 
wh

en
    

    
En
co
ura
ge
 LG

B p
eo
ple
 to
 re
po
rt h

ate
 in
cid
en
ts 

an
d t
ail
ori
ng
 ou
r w
ork
 to
 en
ga
ge
 le
sb
ian
s, 
fam

ilie
s 

of 
LG
B p

eo
ple
, B
ME

 an
d y
ou
ng
 LG

B p
eo
ple
 

En
co
ura
ge
 he
ter
os
ex
ua
ls 
to 
rep
ort
 ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 

ha
te 
cri
me
s a
nd
 in
cid
en
ts 

Ed
uc
ate
 an
d i
nfo
rm
 le
sb
ian
 an
d g
ay
 pe
op
le 
ab
ou
t 

ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
ha
te 
inc
ide
nts
 

Str
en
gth
en
  re

co
rdi
ng
 m
ec
ha
nis
ms
 

Pr
ov
ide
 su
pp
ort
 an
d i
nfo
rm
ati
on
 to
 vi
cti
ms
 of
 ha
te 

cri
me
 an
d i
nc
ide
nts
 

W
ork
 w
ith
 em

plo
ye
rs 
to 
tac
kle
 ha
te 
cri
me
  

Ca
pa

bil
ity

 to
 liv

e 
in 

ph
ys
ica

l 
se
cu

rit
y 

  

W
ork
 w
ith
 th
e w

ide
r c
om
mu
nit
y t
o r
ais
e 

aw
are

ne
ss
 an
d c
ha
lle
ng
e h
om
op
ho
bic
 pr
eju
dic
e 

Ra
ce
 an

d H
ate

 In
ter

ag
en

cy
 

Fo
ru
m 

(R
HI
AF

) A
cti

on
 Pl

an
 

se
ts 

ou
t h

ow
 th

e p
art

ne
rsh

ip 
wi
ll t

ac
kle

 H
om

op
ho

bia
. K

ey
 

ac
tio

ns
 fo

r t
he

 H
CP

PT
 ar

e a
s 

fol
low

s: 
 

 Ma
int
ain
 an
d d
ev
elo
p t
he
 Th

ird
 

Pa
rty
 R
ep
ort
ing
 Pr
oje
ct 
to 

inc
rea

se
 re
po
rtin
g o
f h
ate
 

inc
ide
nts
 an
d f
os
ter
 ef
fec
tiv
e 

joi
nt 
wo
rki
ng
 am

on
gs
t p
art
ne
r 

ag
en
cie
s i
nv
olv
ed
 w
he
re 
10
0%
 

of 
Th

ird
 Pa

rty
 R
ep

or
ts 

mo
nit
ore

d a
nd
 ac
tio
ne
d 

(ba
se
lin
e o
f 1
8).
 

 If f
un
din
g c
on
firm

ed
 

co
mm

iss
ion
 sp
ec
ial
ist
 ha
te 

cri
me
 vi
cti
m 
su
pp
ort
 se
rvi
ce
s 

wh
ere

 10
0%

 of
 ha
te 
inc
ide
nts
 

rep
ort
ed
 to
 Po

lice
 ar
e 

co
nta
cte
d a
nd
 50
% 
en
ga
ge
d 

wit
h s
erv
ice
 an
d o
utr
ea
ch
 w
ith
 

LB
TH
 C
SS
 

Ha
te 
Cr
im
e 

Po
licy
 & 

Pa
rtn
ers
hip
 

Te
am
 

 

Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

Page 338



  
37

 

 
LG
BT
 co
mm

un
itie
s, 
loc
al 

bu
sin
es
se
s a
nd
 fa
mi
lie
s. 

 If f
un
din
g c
on
firm

ed
 m
ain
tai
n 

an
d d
ev
elo
p t
he
 N
o P

lac
e f
or 

Ha
te 
Ch
am
pio
ns
 Pr
oje
ct 
wh
ere

 
3 t
arg

ete
d h
ate
 cr
im
e t
rai
nin
g, 

wo
rks
ho
ps
 an
d o
utr
ea
ch
 

ac
tiv
itie
s d
eli
ve
red

 pe
r 

Ch
am
pio
n. 

 Im
ple
me
nt 
rec
om
me
nd
ati
on
s 

fro
m 

Ha
te 

Cr
im

e V
ict

im
’s 

Ne
ed

s R
es
ea
rch

 R
ep

or
t fo

r 
inc
rea

se
d s
ati
sfa
cti
on
 w
ith
 

se
rvi
ce
s b
y v
ict
im
s o
f h
ate
 

cri
me
 m
ea
su
red

 th
rou
gh
 

sa
tis
fac
tio
n q
ue
sti
on
na
ire
s. 

 Co
nti
nu
e t
o d
eli
ve
r a
wa
ren

es
s 

ca
mp
aig
n  
 pr
om
oti
ng
 cl
ea
r 

me
ss
ag
es
 th
at 
To
we
r H
am
let
s 

is 
No
 Pl
ac
e f
or 
Ha
te 
inc
lud
ing
 

Ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
Ha
te 
– 1
00
% 

inc
rea

se
 in
 si
gn
 up
 to
 N
PF
H 

Ple
dg
e (
ba
se
lin
e o
f 5
0),
 24
 

ou
tre
ac
h a
cti
vit
ies
 (in
clu
din
g 

LG
BT
 co
mm

un
itie
s a
nd
 ev
en
ts)
 

an
d E

va
lua
tio
n R

ep
ort
. 

 

 
 

Page 339



  
38

 

To
 w
ork
 w
ith
 pa
rtn
ers
 to
 en
su
re 

10
0%

 of
 id
en
tifi
ed
 pe
rpe
tra
tor
s 

of 
ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
ha
te 
inc
ide
nts
 

rep
ort
ed
 to
 th
e C

ou
nc
il a
re 

ac
tio
ne
d. 
 

 To
 w
ork
 w
ith
 pa
rtn
ers
 to
 en
su
re 

42
% 
sa
nc
tio
n d
ete
cti
on
 ra
te 
for
 

pe
rpe

tra
tor
s o
f h
om
op
ho
bic
 

ha
te 
(Th

is 
tar
ge
t is
 to
 be
 

ac
hie
ve
d b
y t
he
 Po

lice
). 

 Ha
te 
Inc
ide
nts
 Pa

ne
l - 

Co
ord

ina
tio
n o
f m
ult
i-a
ge
nc
y 

pa
ne
l w
hic
h e
ns
ure

s a
 

co
ord

ina
ted
 re
sp
on
se
 to
 al
l 

ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
ha
te 
inc
ide
nts
 

rep
ort
ed
 to
 C
ou
nc
il. 

 W
ork
 w
ith
 pa
rtn
ers
 in
 en
su
rin
g 

ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 
ha
te 
inc
ide
nts
 ar
e 

rec
ord

ed
 ef
fec
tiv
ely
. 

 

 
 

 

En
su
re 
tha
t fo
ste
rin
g a
nd
 ad
op
tio
n s
erv
ice
s a
re 

pro
mo
ted
 to
 th
e L
GB

 co
mm

un
ity
 an
d a
pp
rop
ria
te 

su
pp
ort
 is
 pr
ov
ide
d t
o L
GB

 pa
ren
ts 
wis
hin
g t
o 

fos
ter
 or
 ad
op
t. 

Th
e S

tak
eh
old
er 
En
ga
ge
me
nt 

an
d P

art
icip

ati
on
 Te

am
 ha
ve
 

clo
se
 lin
ks
 w
ith
 th
e F

os
ter
ing
 

an
d A

do
pti
on
 Se

rvi
ce
 an
d w

ill 
ac
tiv
ely
 pr
om
ote
 th
es
e s
erv
ice
s 

thr
ou
gh
 th
e F

am
ily 
Inf
orm

ati
on
 

Se
rvi
ce
 an
d C

hil
dre
n’s
 C
en
tre
s 

Sta
ke
ho
lde
rs 

En
ag
ag
em
en
t 

& Pa
rtic
ipa
tio
n 

Mg
r, (
CS
) 

 

On
go
ing
  

Page 340



  
39

 

Su
pp
ort
 LG

B P
are

nts
 an
d m

ak
e a
va
ila
ble
 

ap
pro
pri
ate
 in
for
ma
tio
n, 
ad
vic
e a
nd
 su
pp
ort
 fo
r 

LG
B p

eo
ple
 th
ink
ing
 ab
ou
t b
ec
om
ing
 pa
ren
ts.
 

Th
e S

tak
eh
old
er 
En
ga
ge
me
nt 

an
d P

art
icip

ati
on
 Te

am
 ha
ve
 

clo
se
 lin
ks
 w
ith
 th
e F

os
ter
ing
 

an
d A

do
pti
on
 Se

rvi
ce
 an
d w

ill 
ac
tiv
ely
 pr
om
ote
 th
es
e s
erv
ice
s 

thr
ou
gh
 th
e F

am
ily 
Inf
orm

ati
on
 

Se
rvi
ce
 an
d C

hil
dre
n’s
 C
en
tre
s 

 

Se
rvi
ce
 

Ma
na
ge
r, 

Fa
mi
ly 

Su
pp
ort
 & 

Pr
ote
cti
on
 

 Se
rvi
ce
 

Ma
na
ge
r, 

Re
so
urc
es
 

(C
S)
 

On
go
ing
 

Su
pp
ort
 LG

B y
ou
ng
 pe
op
le 
dis
co
ve
rin
g o
r c
om
ing
 

to 
ter
ms
 w
ith
 th
eir
 se
xu
ali
ty 

W
ork
 w
ith
 LG

BT
 C
om
mu
nit
y 

Fo
rum

 an
d S

tep
 Fo

rw
ard

 LG
BT
 

Yo
uth
 G
rou
p t
o e
ns
ure
 th
at 

inf
orm

ati
on
 is
 av
ail
ab
le.
  

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s  
Se
pt 

20
10
 

 

Su
pp
ort
 pa
ren

ts 
an
d f
am
ilie
s o
f L
GB

 pe
op
le 
 

Pr
ov
ide
 su
pp
ort
 to
 R
ain
bo
w 

Pa
ren

ts 
– L
GB

T P
are

nt 
Su
pp
ort
 

Gr
ou
p 

 

He
ad
 of
 

Eq
ua
litie

s &
 

Pa
ren

tal
 

En
ga
ge
me
nt 

On
go
ing
 

Page 341



  
40

 

A 
HE

AL
TH

Y 
CO

MM
UN

IT
Y 

AC
TI

ON
S 

 Pr
ior

ity
 

Ob
jec

tiv
es
 

Ac
tio

ns
 

By
 w
ho

m 
By

 
wh

en
    

    
Im
pro

ve
 un
de
rst
an
din
g o
f L
GB

 sp
ec
ific
 he
alt
h 

an
d s
oc
ial
 ca
re 
ne
ed
s, 
inc
lud
ing
 th
os
e o
f o
lde
r 

LG
B p

eo
ple
 in
 To

we
r H
am
let
s a
nd
 en
su
re 
the
y 

be
tte
r in
for
m 
the
 de
sig
n a
nd
 de
live

ry 
of 
he
alt
h 

an
d s
oc
ial
 se
rvi
ce
s. 
 Th

is 
wo
rk 
sh
ou
ld 
inc
lud
e 

att
en
tio
n i
n t
he
 fo
llo
win

g a
rea

s: 
• 

Th
e n
ee
ds
 of
 ol
de
r L
GB

 pe
op
le 
 

• 
Me
nta
l h
ea
lth
  

• 
HI
V 

• 
Ac
ce
ss
 an
d i
nc
lus
ive
ne
ss
 of
 pr
im
ary
 ca
re 

se
rvi
ce
s 

 

W
ork
ing
 in
 pa
rtn
ers
hip
 w
ith
 

PC
T, 
ref
res
h J
oin
t S
tra
teg
ic 

Ne
ed
s A

na
lys
is,
 in
clu
din
g a
 

sp
ec
ific
 fo
cu
s o
n u
nd
er-

rep
res
en
ted
 gr
ou
ps

 

   

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d 

Co
mm

iss
ion
ing
 

& S
tra
teg
y 

Ju
ly 

20
10
 

Re
co
gn
ise
 th
e b
arr
ier
s t
ha
t o
lde
r L
GB

 pe
op
le 

fac
e i
n a
cc
es
sin
g s
oc
ial
 ca
re 
se
rvi
ce
s a
nd
 

pro
vid
e s
en
sit
ive
 an
d a
pp
rop

ria
te 
ca
re 
to 
LG
B 

ad
ult
s a
nd
 ol
de
r p
eo
ple
.   

De
live

r a
 co
nfe
ren

ce
 ba
se
d o
n 

the
 fin
din
gs
 of
 th
e O

lde
r L
GB

 
Ne
ed
s R

es
ea
rch
 R
ep
ort
 an
d 

wo
rk 
wit
h s
erv
ice
s t
o e
xp
lor
e 

the
 is
su
es
 ra
ise
d. 

 Su
pp
ort
 th
e w

ork
 of
 Ag

e 
Co
nc
ern

 LG
B G

rou
p. 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d 

Sc
rut
iny
 & 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
  Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d 

Ol
de
r P
eo
ple
 & 

Ho
me
les
sn
es
s 

Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

Pr
ov
ide
 LG

B a
wa
ren

es
s t
rai
nin
g t
o c
are

 st
aff
. 

 
De
ve
lop
 sa
feg
ua
rdi
ng
 tra

ini
ng
 

pro
gra

mm
e w

ith
 le
arn

ing
 an
d 

de
ve
lop
me
nt.
 

 
 

Eq
ua

l a
cc
es
s t

o 
he

alt
h a

nd
 

so
cia

l c
are

 
 

En
su
re 
tha
t c
urr
en
t p
ers
on
ali
sa
tio
n a
ge
nd
a i
s 

Pr
om
ote
 an
d i
nc
rea

se
 th
e u
se
 

Jo
int
 

Ma
rch
 

Page 342



  
41

 

res
po
ns
ive
 to
 th
e n
ee
ds
 of
 LG

B p
eo
ple
 

 
of 
Dir
ec
t P
ay
me
nt 
an
d 

pe
rso
na
lisa

tio
n t
o p
rom

ote
 

ch
oic
e a
nd
 co
ntr
ol.
 

Co
mm

iss
ion
ing
 

Mg
r L
ea
rni
ng
 

Dis
ab
iliti
es
 

20
10
 

 

Inv
olv
e L
GB

 pe
op
le 
in 
he
alt
h a
nd
 so
cia
l c
are

 
se
rvi
ce
s t
hro

ug
h t
o e
ns
ure

 th
at 
it i
s w

ork
ing
 fo
r 

the
m.
 

Im
pro

ve
 re
pre

se
nta
tio
n o
f L
GB

 
pe
op
le 
on
 Lo
ca
l In
vo
lve
me
nt 

Ne
tw
ork
 an
d d
ev
elo
p l
ink
s 

be
tw
ee
n t
he
 N
etw

ork
 an
d t
he
 

LG
BT
 C
om
mu
nit
y F
oru
m 

He
ad
 

Pa
rtic
ipa
tio
n &

 
En
ga
ge
me
nt 

Te
am
 

 Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s  

Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

 

Page 343



  
42

 

PR
OM

OT
IN

G 
AG

E 
EQ

UA
LI

TY
 A

S 
AN

 E
MP

LO
YE

R 
AC

TI
ON

S 
 Pr
ior

ity
 

Ob
jec

tiv
es
 

Ac
tio

ns
 

By
 w
ho

m 
By

 w
he

n 
    

   
Co
nti
nu
e t
o t
rai
n s
taf
f a
nd
 m
an
ag
ers
 to
 ke
ep
 

the
m 
up
-to
-da
te 
wit
h e
mp
loy
me
nt 
leg
isla

tio
n a
nd
 

ter
ms
 an
d c
on
dit
ion
s a
s t
he
y a
pp
ly 
to 
les
bia
n 

an
d g
ay
 st
aff
 an
d t
o i
mp
rov
e t
he
ir c
on
fid
en
ce
 to
 

pro
mo
te 
se
xu
al 
ori
en
tat
ion
 eq
ua
lity
 in
 th
e 

wo
rkp
lac
e a
nd
 in
 th
e d
eli
ve
ry 
of 
se
rvi
ce
s. 
 

Inc
lud
e a
pp
rop

ria
te 
tra
ini
ng
 

co
nte
nt 
as
 pa
rt o

f th
e C

ou
nc
il’s
 

Le
arn

ing
 an
d D

ev
elo
pm
en
t 

Pr
og
ram

me
. 

 En
su
re 
ne
w 
ma
na
ge
rs 

ind
uc
tio
n i
nc
lud
es
 br
ief
ing
s o
n 

ke
y H

R 
po
lici
es
 an
d g
oo
d 

pra
cti
ce
 

 

Jo
int
 As

sis
tan
t 

Dir
ec
tor
 

Or
ga
nis
ati
on
al 

De
ve
lop
me
nt,
 

W
ork
for
ce
 

Str
ate
gy
 & 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
 

On
-go

ing
 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o i
mp
ac
t a
ss
es
s a
ll n
ew
 an
d e
xis
tin
g 

po
lici
es
 to
 en
su
re 
the
y a
re 
inc
lus
ive
 an
d w

he
n 

rev
iew

ing
 po
lici
es
, e
ns
ure

 th
e l
an
gu
ag
e u
se
d 

ex
pli
cit
ly 
co
mm

un
ica
tes
 eq
ua
lity
, d
ive
rsi
ty 
an
d 

are
 in
clu
siv
e o
f le
sb
ian
 an
d g
ay
 st
aff
. 

Ca
rry
 H
R 
3 y
ea
r p
rog

ram
me
 of
 

Eq
ua
lity
 Im
pa
ct 
As
se
ss
me
nts
. 

 Co
ns
ult
 w
ith
 st
aff
 fo
rum

 as
 an
d 

inf
orm

 gr
ou
p o
f a
ny
 fin
din
gs
 

an
d r
ec
om
me
nd
ati
on
s a
s 

ap
pro
pri
ate
 

 

He
ad
 of
 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Hu
ma
n 

Re
so
urc
es
 

On
-go

ing
 

Pr
om

ote
 LG

B 
eq

ua
lity

 as
 an

 
em

plo
ye
r 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o m

on
ito
r, a

na
lys
e a
nd
 re
po
rt o

n 
se
xu
al 
ori
en
tat
ion
 in
 st
aff
 at
titu
de
 su
rve
ys
 an
d a
t 

all
 st
ag
es
 of
 th
e e
mp
loy
me
nt 
cy
cle
 fro

m 
rec
rui
tm
en
t th
rou

gh
 to
 ex
it. 
 

Inc
lud
e L
GB

 da
ta 
in 
an
nu
al 

Eq
ua
lity
 Sc

he
me
s E

mp
loy
me
nt 

Mo
nit
ori
ng
 R
ep
ort
 an
d a
na
lys
is 

of 
fin
din
gs
 an
d 

rec
om
me
nd
ati
on
s p
res
en
ted
 to
 

CE
SG

. 
 

He
ad
 of
 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Hu
ma
n 

Re
so
urc
es
  

   

On
-go

ing
 

An
nu
all
y 

     

Page 344



  
43

 

Un
de
rta
ke
 a 
co
mp
ari
so
n o
f 

res
po
ns
es
 fro

m 
LG
B s

taf
f in
 

20
09
 st
aff
 su
rve
y c
om
pa
red

 to
 

20
07
 an
d r
ep
ort
 to
 st
aff
 fo
rum

. 

Jo
int
 As

sis
tan
t 

Dir
ec
tor
 

Or
ga
nis
ati
on
al 

De
ve
lop
me
nt,
 

W
ork
for
ce
 

Str
ate
gy
 & 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
 

Ma
rch
 

20
10
 

Re
vie
w 
bu
llyi
ng
 an
d h
ara

ss
me
nt 
po
lici
es
 an
d 

pro
mo
te 
the
m 
to 
all
 st
aff
, e
ns
uri
ng
 th
ey
 

co
mm

un
ica
te 
a z
ero

 to
ler
an
ce
 to
 ho
mo
ph
ob
ic 

bu
llyi
ng
. 

Pr
od
uc
e F

air
 Em

plo
ym
en
t 

Po
licy
, p
ub
lici
se
 its
 

im
ple
me
nta
tio
n a
nd
 br
ief
 

ma
na
ge
rs 

He
ad
 of
 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Hu
ma
n 

Re
so
urc
es
 

De
ce
mb
er 

20
09
 

Co
nti
nu
e t
o s
up
po
rt t
he
 C
ou
nc
il’s
 LG

BT
 St
aff
 

Fo
rum

 to
 pr
ov
ide
 LG

B s
taf
f w
ith
 a 
sa
fe 
pla
ce
 to
 

rai
se
 st
aff
 is
su
es
.  

 

Co
ord

ina
te 
an
d s
up
po
rt 

qu
art
erl
y L
GB

T S
taf
f F
oru

m 
me
eti
ng
s  

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
On
-go

ing
 

Or
ga
nis
e a
nd
 pr
om
ote
 LG

B a
wa
ren

es
s r
ais
ing
 

ev
en
ts 
an
d a
cti
vit
ies
 fo
r n
on
-LG

B s
taf
f to
 

ch
all
en
ge
 pr
eju
dic
e a
nd
 ho
mo
ph
ob
ia 
 

Inc
rea

se
 aw

are
ne
ss
 of
 LG

B 
iss
ue
s b
y o
rga

nis
ing
 ev
en
ts 
for
 

sta
ff a
nd
 in
clu
din
g a
pp
rop

ria
te 

co
nte
nt 
in 
Ma
na
ge
rs 
Br
ief
ing
 

an
d P

ull
ing
 To

ge
the
r 

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
 He
ad
 of
 

Co
rpo

rat
e 

Hu
ma
n 

Re
so
urc
es
 

On
-go

ing
 

 

Re
co
gn
ise
 an
d c
ele
bra
te 
the
 co
ntr
ibu
tio
ns
 of
 

LG
B p

eo
ple
 th
rou

gh
 ev
en
ts 
du
rin
g L
GB

T H
ist
ory
 

Mo
nth
 an
d t
hro
ug
ho
ut 
the
 ye
ar.
  

Pla
n s
ch
ed
ule
 of
 ev
en
ts 
for
 

LG
BT
 H
ist
ory
 M
on
th 
ea
ch
 ye
ar 

  

Se
rvi
ce
 H
ea
d, 

Sc
rut
iny
 an
d 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
 He
ad
 of
 

On
-go

ing
 

Page 345



  
44

 

 
Co
rpo

rat
e 

Hu
ma
n 

Re
so
urc
es
 

 
En
su
re 
tha
t th
e C

ou
nc
il’s
 co
un
se
llin
g s
erv
ice
 

pro
vid
es
 LG

B s
en
sit
ive
 co
un
se
llin
g o
ffe
rin
g L
GB

 
co
un
se
llo
rs 
or 
LG
B t
rai
ne
d c
ou
ns
ell
ors
.  

Pr
ov
isio

n t
o c
on
tin
ue
 to
 be
 

inc
lud
ed
 in
 fu
tur
e E

mp
loy
ee
 

As
sis
tan
ce
 Pr
og
ram

me
 

co
ntr
ac
ts 
an
d t
rai
ne
d 

co
un
se
llo
rs 
Oc
cu
pa
tio
na
l 

He
alt
h r
efe
r e
mp
loy
ee
s t
o 

Jo
int
 As

sis
tan
t 

Dir
ec
tor
 

Or
ga
nis
ati
on
al 

De
ve
lop
me
nt,
 

W
ork
for
ce
 

Str
ate
gy
 & 

Eq
ua
litie

s 
 

On
-go

ing
 

 

Page 346


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 UNRESTRICTED MINUTES
	6.1 Amendments to the Council's Lettings Policy (CAB 138/089)
	6.2 Local Authority Carbon Management Programme (CAB 139/089)
	Carbon Mgt Programme Appendix 1

	6.3 Communities, Localities & Cultural Services Directorate Capital Programme 2009/2010  (CAB 140/089)
	CLC Capital Programme Appendices

	8.1 Commission into the Public Safety of Young People in Tower Hamlets (CAB 141/089)
	Commission Appendix 1

	8.2 Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children's Board Annual Report 2008/9, Business Plan 2007/10, Summary of Lord Laming's report and outcome of Serious Case Review Evaluations (CAB 142/089)
	LSCB Appendix 1
	LSCB Appendix 2

	10.1 Age, Race, Religion/Belief and Sexual Orientation Equality Schemes 2009-2012 (CAB 143/089)
	Equality Schemes Appendix 1
	Equality Schemes Appendix 1a
	Equality Schemes Appendix 1b
	Equality Schemes Appendix 1c


